UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

Washington, D.C. 20549

FORM 8-K

CURRENT REPORT
Pursuant to Section 13 or 15(d)
of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934

Date of Report (Date of earliest event reported): April 20, 2021

GARRETT MOTION INC.

(Exact Name of Registrant as Specified in its Charter)

Delaware (State or other jurisdiction of incorporation)

Emerging growth company \square

1-38636 (Commission File Number)

Registrant's telephone number, including area code: +41 21 695 30 00

82-4873189 (I.R.S. Employer Identification Number)

La Pièce 16, Rolle, Switzerland (Address of principal executive offices)

new or revised financial accounting standards provided pursuant to Section 13(a) of the Exchange Act. □

1180 (Zip Code)

Check the appropriate box below if the Form 8-K filing is intended to simultaneously satisfy the filing obligation of the registrant under any of the following provisions: Written communications pursuant to Rule 425 under the Securities Act (17 CFR 230.425) П Soliciting material pursuant to Rule 14a-12 under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14a-12) Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 14d-2(b) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.14d-2(b)) П Pre-commencement communications pursuant to Rule 13e-4(c) under the Exchange Act (17 CFR 240.13e-4(c)) Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: Trading Name of each exchange Title of each class Symbol(s) on which registered None None None Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is an emerging growth company as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act of 1933 (§230.405 of this chapter) or Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (§240.12b-2 of this chapter).

If an emerging growth company, indicate by check mark if the registrant has elected not to use the extended transition period for complying with any

Item 7.01 Regulation FD Disclosure.

As previously reported, on September 20, 2020 (the "Petition Date"), Garrett Motion Inc. (the "Company") and certain of its subsidiaries (collectively, the "Debtors") each filed a voluntary petition for relief under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York (the "Bankruptcy Court"). The Debtors' Chapter 11 cases (the "Chapter 11 Cases") are being jointly administered under the caption "In re Garrett Motion Inc., 20-12212." As previously announced, on March 12, 2021, the Debtors filed an amended Chapter 11 plan of reorganization (the "Plan") and an amended disclosure statement with the Bankruptcy Court. Also as previously announced, on April 9, 2021, as contemplated by the Plan, the Company filed a supplement to the Plan (the "Plan Supplement") with the Bankruptcy Court.

On April 20, 2021, the Company filed amended versions of the Plan (the "Amended Plan") and the Plan Supplement (the "Amended Plan Supplement"). The Amended Plan reflects, among other things, revised treatment of Section 510(b) Claims (as defined in the Amended Plan) and certain other technical changes and corrections. The Amended Plan Supplement reflects updates and other changes and corrections to certain of the draft documentation filed with the Plan Supplement.

The Amended Plan, Amended Plan Supplement and other filings with the Bankruptcy Court related to the Chapter 11 Cases are available electronically at www.kccllc.net/garrettmotion. This website address contains third-party content and is provided for convenience only. Third-party content is the responsibility of the third party, and the Company disclaims liability for such content.

Information contained in the Amended Plan is subject to change, whether as a result of amendments or supplements to the Amended Plan, third-party actions, or otherwise, and should not be relied upon by any party. The foregoing description of the Amended Plan and Amended Plan Supplement does not purport to be complete and is subject to, and qualified in its entirety by reference to, the full text of the Amended Plan and Amended Plan Supplement, which are attached as Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2, respectively, to this Current Report on Form 8-K and are incorporated herein by reference.

A hearing to consider confirmation of the Amended Plan is scheduled to be held before the Bankruptcy Court on April 23, 2021. The Debtors' performance and obligations under the Amended Plan are subject to approval by the Bankruptcy Court and other customary closing conditions.

The information furnished pursuant to this Item 7.01, including Exhibits 99.1 and 99.2, shall not be deemed "filed" for purposes of Section 18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") or otherwise subject to the liabilities under that Section and shall not be deemed to be incorporated by reference into any filing of the Company under the Securities Act of 1933 or the Exchange Act.

Cautionary Information Regarding Trading in the Company's Securities.

The Company's securityholders are cautioned that trading in the Company's securities during the pendency of the Chapter 11 Cases is highly speculative and poses substantial risks. Trading prices for the Company's securities may bear little or no relationship to the actual recovery, if any, by holders thereof in the Company's Chapter 11 Cases. Accordingly, the Company urges extreme caution with respect to existing and future investments in its securities.

Forward-Looking Statements.

This Current Report on Form 8-K and the exhibit hereto may contain "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. All statements, other than statements of fact, that address activities, events or developments that the Company or the Company's management intend, expect, project, believe or anticipate will or may occur in the future are forward-looking statements. Although the Company believes forward-looking statements are based upon reasonable assumptions, such statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties, and other factors, which may cause the actual results or performance of the Company to be materially different from any future results or performance expressed or implied by such forward-looking statements. Such risks and uncertainties include, but are not limited to those described in the Company's annual report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2020, as well as the Company's other filings with the Securities and Exchange Commission, under the headings "Risk Factors" and "Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements." You are cautioned not to place undue reliance on these forward-looking statements, which speak only as of the date of this document. Forward-looking statements are not guarantees of future performance, and actual results, developments and business decisions may differ from those envisaged by the Company's forward-looking statements.

Non-Solicitation

This Current Report on Form 8-K shall not constitute an offer to sell or a solicitation of an offer to buy securities, and shall not constitute an offer, solicitation or sale in any jurisdiction in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be unlawful prior to registration or qualification under the securities laws of that jurisdiction.

Item 9.01 Financial Statements and Exhibits.

Exhibit No.	Description
99.1	Debtors' Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, dated April 20, 2021.
99.2	Plan Supplement Pursuant to the Debtors' Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code, dated April 20, 2021.
104	Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

SIGNATURE

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned hereunto duly authorized.

Date: April 21, 2021

Garrett Motion Inc.
By: /s/ Jerome Maironi

Jerome Maironi

Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Corporate

Secretary

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

COUNTERED DISTRICT OF NEW TORK		
In re	x Chapter 11	
GARRETT MOTION INC., et al.,1	: Case No. 20-12212 (MEW)	
Debtors.	: Jointly Administered	
	:	
	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	
	X	

DEBTORS' AMENDED JOINT PLAN OF REORGANIZATION UNDER CHAPTER 11 OF THE BANKRUPTCY CODE

Andrew G. Dietderich Brian D. Glueckstein Alexa J. Kranzley Benjamin S. Beller

SULLIVAN & CROMWELL LLP

125 Broad Street

New York, New York 10004 Telephone: (212) 558-4000 Facsimile: (212) 558-3588

Counsel to the Debtors

Dated: April 20, 2021

The last four digits of Garrett Motion Inc.'s tax identification number are 3189. Due to the large number of debtor entities in these Chapter 11 Cases, which are being jointly administered, a complete list of the Debtors and the last four digits of their federal tax identification numbers is not provided herein. A complete list of such information may be obtained on the website of the Debtors' claims and noticing agent at http://www.kccllc.net/garrettmotion. The Debtors' corporate headquarters is located at La Pièce 16, Rolle, Switzerland.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1.	INTRO	DUCTION	1
2.	DEFINI 2.1 2.2 2.3 2.4 2.5	TIONS AND RULES OF INTERPRETATION Definitions Rules of Interpretation Computation of Time References to Monetary Figures Consent Rights	2 23 24 24 24
3.	ADMIN 3.1 3.2 3.3 3.4 3.5 3.6 3.7	Administrative Expense Claims Professional Fee Claims Professional Fee Claims DIP Claims Treatment of Priority Tax Claims Ad Hoc Lender Group Expenses, Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent Expenses and Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee Expenses Statutory Fees Payable Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1930 Payment of Transaction Expenses	25 25 26 27 28 28 29 29
4.		IFICATION AND TREATMENT OF OTHER CLAIMS AND INTERESTS Separate Plan Summary of Classes and Treatment of Claims Against and Interests in the Debtors Treatment of Claims and Interests	31 31 31 32
5.	ACCEP 5.1 5.2 5.3 5.4 5.5	TANCE OR REJECTION OF THE PLAN Voting of Claims or Interests Acceptance by Impaired Classes Elimination of Vacant Classes Special Provisions Regarding Unimpaired Claims Confirmation Pursuant to Section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code	39 39 39 39 39 40
6.	IMPLES 6.1 6.2 6.3 6.4 6.5 6.6 6.7 6.8	Operations Between the Confirmation Date and Effective Date Sources of Cash for Plan Distributions Purchase of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock by Plan Sponsors Rights Offerings of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock Plan Support Agreement and Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement Honeywell Settlement and Make-Whole Settlement Acceleration of Vested Options and Assumption of Outstanding Equity Awards New Preferred Stock	41 41 41 41 41 42 42 43 44

	6.9	Exemption from Registration	44
	6.10	Registration Rights Agreement	46
	6.11	Exit Facilities	46
	6.12	Management Incentive Plan	47
	6.13	Dilution of GMI Common Stock After the Effective Date	47
	6.14	Organizational Existence	48
	6.15 6.16	Retention of Professionals Cancellation of Evicting Interests, Existing Indebtedness and Related Agreements	48 48
	6.17	Cancellation of Existing Interests, Existing Indebtedness and Related Agreements Additional Implementing Transactions	49
	6.18	Section 1146 Exemption from Certain Transfer Taxes and Recording Fees	49
	6.19	Insurance Policies	50
	6.20	Preservation of Causes of Action	50
	6.21	Effectuating Documents and Further Transactions	50
	6.22	Pension Plan	51
7.	Pr∩v	ISIONS REGARDING GOVERNANCE OF THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS	52
, •	7.1	Organizational Action	52
	7.2	Organizational Documents	52
	7.3	Directors and Officers of the Reorganized Debtors	53
8.	EXEC	UTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES	54
	8.1	Assumption and Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	54
	8.2	Objections to and Cure of Defaults for Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases	54
	8.3	Modifications, Amendments, Supplements, Restatements or Other Agreements	55
	8.4	Indemnification and Reimbursement Obligations	55
	8.5	Reservation of Rights	55
9.	Prov	ISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS	56
	9.1	Distribution Agents	56
	9.2	Timing and Delivery of Distributions	56
	9.3	Manner of Payment Under Plan	58
	9.4	Undeliverable Distributions	60
	9.5	Reversion	60
	9.6	Claims or Interests Paid by Third Parties Setoffs	60
	9.7 9.8	No Postpetition Interest on Claims	61 61
	9.9	No Payment Over the Full Amount	61
4.0		·	
10.		AS ADMINISTRATION PROCEDURES	62
	10.1 10.2	Administration Responsibilities Estimation of Claims	62 62
		Estimation of Claims Expundement and Disallowance of Paid Satisfied Amended Duplicated or Superseded Claims or Interests	62

	10.4 Amendments to Proofs of Claim10.5 No Distributions Pending Allowance	62 63
	10.6 Distributions After Allowance	63
11.	EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION 11.1 Vesting of Assets 11.2 Compromise and Settlement of Claims and Controversies 11.3 Subordinated Claims 11.4 Release of Liens 11.5 Discharge 11.6 General Unsecured Claims 11.7 Term of Injunction or Stays 11.8 Release by the Debtors 11.9 Exculpation 11.10 Voluntary Release by Holders of Claims and Interests 11.11 Injunction 11.12 Scope of Releases 11.13 Honeywell and Debtor Mutual Release 11.14 Preservation of Causes of Action	64 64 64 65 65 66 66 67 67 69 70
12.	CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO EFFECTIVENESS OF THE PLAN 12.1 Conditions to Effectiveness 12.2 Waiver of Conditions to Confirmation or Effectiveness	72 72 73
13.	MODIFICATION, REVOCATION OR WITHDRAWAL OF THE PLAN 13.1 Plan Modifications 13.2 Effect of Confirmation on Modification 13.3 Revocation or Withdrawal of the Plan and Effects of Non-Occurrence of Confirmation or Effective Date	74 74 74 75
14.	RETENTION OF JURISDICTION BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT	76
15.	MISCELLANEOUS 15.1 Expedited Tax Determination 15.2 Plan Supplement 15.3 Additional Documents 15.4 Exhibits; Schedules; Plan Supplement 15.5 Claims Against Other Debtors 15.6 Nonseverability 15.7 Governing Law 15.8 Dissolution of Committees 15.9 Binding Effect	79 79 79 79 79 79 79 80 80
	15.10 Notices	81
	15.11 Reservation of Rights15.12 No Stay of Confirmation Order15.13 Waiver or Estoppel	84 84 85

15.14	Successors and Assigns	85
15.15	Entire Agreement	85
15.16	Conflicts	85
15.17	Post-Effective Date Service	85

1. <u>Introduction</u>

Garrett Motion Inc., a Delaware corporation ("<u>GMI</u>"), and its debtor Affiliates, as debtors-in-possession in the above-captioned Chapter 11 Cases (together with GMI, the "<u>Debtors</u>"), propose the following joint plan of reorganization (including the Plan Supplement and all other exhibits and schedules hereto and as may be modified, amended or supplemented in accordance with the terms hereof, the "<u>Plan</u>") pursuant to section 1121(a) of the Bankruptcy Code. Each Debtor is a proponent of the Plan for purposes of section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code. The Chapter 11 Cases have been consolidated for procedural purposes only and are being jointly administered pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court. The Plan constitutes a separate Plan for each of the Debtors, and the classification of Claims and Interests set forth herein shall apply separately to each of the Debtors. Capitalized terms used and not otherwise defined shall have the meanings ascribed to such terms in Section 2.

2. DEFINITIONS AND RULES OF INTERPRETATION

2.1 Definitions

Except as otherwise provided herein, each capitalized term used in the Plan shall have the meaning set forth below:

- 2.1.1 "1145 Eligible Holder" has the meaning set forth in the 1145 Rights Offering Procedures.
- 2.1.2 "1145 Offered Shares" has the meaning set forth in the 1145 Rights Offering Procedures.
- 2.1.3 "1145 Rights Offering" means the offering of 1145 Subscription Rights in accordance with the 1145 Rights Offering Procedures.
- 2.1.4 "1145 Rights Offering Procedures" means the procedures with respect to the 1145 Rights Offering authorized pursuant to the Solicitation Procedures Order.
- 2.1.5 "1145 Subscription Rights" means the rights to subscribe for and acquire Convertible Series A Preferred Stock on the Effective Date pursuant to the 1145 Rights Offering.
 - 2.1.6 "Accredited Investor Eligible Holder" has the meaning set forth in the Accredited Investor Rights Offering Procedures.
 - 2.1.7 "Accredited Investor Offered Shares" has the meaning set forth in the Accredited Investor Rights Offering Procedures.
- 2.1.8 "<u>Accredited Investor Rights Offering</u>" means the offering of Accredited Investor Subscription Rights in accordance with the Accredited Investor Rights Offering Procedures.
- 2.1.9 "<u>Accredited Investor Rights Offering Procedures</u>" means the procedures with respect to the Accredited Investor Rights Offering authorized pursuant to the Solicitation Procedures Order.
- 2.1.10 "<u>Accredited Investor Subscription Rights</u>" means the rights to subscribe for and acquire Convertible Series A Preferred Stock on the Effective Date pursuant to the Accredited Investor Rights Offering.
- 2.1.11 "Additional Investors" means Attestor Value Master Fund LP; The Baupost Group, L.L.C., acting on behalf of certain managed funds; Cyrus Capital Partners, L.P., solely in its capacity as investment manager to and on behalf of certain managed funds and accounts; FIN Capital Partners LP acting to behalf of certain managed funds; Hawk Ridge Capital Management LP acting to behalf of certain managed funds; IngleSea Capital acting on behalf of certain managed funds or accounts; Keyframe Capital Partners, L.P., solely in its capacity as investment manager to and on behalf of certain managed funds; Newtyn Management, LLC on behalf of its advisee funds; Sessa Capital (Master), L.P.; and Whitebox Multi-Strategy Partners, L.P.

- 2.1.12 "Ad Hoc Lender Group" has the meaning set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement.
- 2.1.13 "Ad Hoc Lender Group Expenses" means, collectively, all reasonable and documented fees and expenses of (i) Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, as counsel to the Ad Hoc Lender Group, (ii) PJT Partners LP, as financial advisor to the Ad Hoc Lender Group, and (iii) any other professional retained by the Ad Hoc Lender Group in accordance with the Final DIP Order.
- 2.1.14 "<u>Administrative Expense Claim</u>" means any Claim for the costs and expenses of administration of the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to section 327, 328, 330, 503(b), 507(a)(2), 507(b) or 1114(e)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code, including: (i) the actual and necessary costs and expenses incurred after the Petition Date and through the Effective Date of preserving the Estates and operating the businesses of the Debtors, (ii) Professional Fee Claims, (iii) all fees and charges assessed against the Estates pursuant to sections 1911-1932 of chapter 123 of title 28 of the United States Code, and (iv) all requests for compensation or expense reimbursement for making a substantial contribution in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to sections 503(b)(3), (4) and (5) of the Bankruptcy Code to the extent such request is granted by the Bankruptcy Court.
- 2.1.15 "<u>Administrative Expense Claim Bar Date</u>" means the date that is 30 calendar days after notice of entry of the Effective Date, which notice shall set forth such deadline and be served on all parties known by the Debtors to hold or to potentially hold Administrative Expense Claims; *provided* that the deadline for filing requests for payment of Administrative Expense Claims arising under section 503(b)(9) of the Bankruptcy Code shall be the Bar Date.
- 2.1.16 "Affiliate" has the meaning set forth in section 101(2) of the Bankruptcy Code. With respect to any Person that is not a Debtor, the term "Affiliate" shall apply to such Person as if the Person were a Debtor.
- 2.1.17 "Allowed" means, with respect to any Claim or Interest, except as otherwise provided herein: (i) a Claim or Interest arising before the Effective Date (a) as to which a Proof of Claim has been filed in the Chapter 11 Cases, which has not been withdrawn and as to which no objection has been filed by the applicable deadlines set forth in the Plan, the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules, or as determined by the Bankruptcy Court, or (b) that is allowed or determined by a Final Order of a court of competent jurisdiction, (ii) any Claim or Interest that is agreed to, compromised, settled or otherwise resolved pursuant to the authority of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, (iii) any Claim or Interest expressly allowed in the Plan or by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, or (iv) any Interest registered in the ownership register or otherwise on the Debtors' books and records, maintained by, or on behalf of, the Debtors as of the Confirmation Date; *provided*, *however*, that notwithstanding the foregoing, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall retain all claims and defenses with respect to Allowed Claims that are Reinstated, or otherwise Unimpaired pursuant to the Plan (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Administrative Expense Claims not paid prior to the Effective Date). "Allow" and "Allowance" shall have correlative meanings.

- 2.1.18 "Amortization" shall have the meaning set forth in the Plan Support Agreement.
- 2.1.19 "Applicable Premium" has the meaning set forth in the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture.
- 2.1.20 "Avoidance Action" means any and all avoidance, recovery, subordination or other claim, action or remedy that may be brought by or on behalf of the Debtors or their Estates or other authorized parties-in-interest under the Bankruptcy Code or applicable non-bankruptcy law, including actions or remedies under sections 502, 510, 542, 544, 545, 547 through and including 553 and 724(a) of the Bankruptcy Code or under similar local, state, federal or foreign statutes and common law, including fraudulent transfer laws.
 - 2.1.21 "Backstop Commitment Fee Allocation" has the meaning set forth in the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement.
 - 2.1.22 "Backstop Commitment Fee Shares" has the meaning set forth in the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement.
 - 2.1.23 "Bankruptcy Code" means title 11 of the United States Code, 11 U.S.C. § 101 et seq.
- 2.1.24 "Bankruptcy Court" means the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York having jurisdiction over the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 2.1.25 "Bankruptcy Rules" means the Federal Rules of Bankruptcy Procedure and the general, local and chambers rules of the Bankruptcy Court as applicable to the Chapter 11 Cases and as amended from time to time.
- 2.1.26 "Bar Date" means the dates established by the Bankruptcy Court by which Proofs of Claim must have been filed with respect to such Claims, pursuant to: (a) the *Order Establishing Deadlines for Filing Proofs of Claim Against Certain Debtors and Approving Form and Manner of Notice Thereof* [D.I. 323], entered by the Bankruptcy Court on November 4, 2020; (b) the *Order Establishing Deadlines for Filing Proofs of Claim Against Certain Debtors and Approving Form and Manner of Notice Thereof* [D.I. 550], entered by the Bankruptcy Court on December 15, 2020; (c) the *Order Establishing Deadline for Filing Securities Proofs of Claim With Respect to Garrett Motion Inc. Common Stock and Approving Form and Manner of Notice Thereof* [D.I. 560], entered by the Bankruptcy Court on December 17, 2020; (d) any further orders of the Bankruptcy Court establishing separate deadlines for filing Proofs of Claim; or (e) the Plan.
 - 2.1.27 "Borrowers" means Swiss Borrower, TLB Borrower and Co-Borrower.

- 2.1.28 "Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, a Sunday, a "legal holiday" (as defined in Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a)) or any other day on which banking institutions in New York, New York are required or authorized to close by law or executive order.
 - 2.1.29 "Cash" or "\$" means the legal tender of the United States of America or equivalents thereof.
- 2.1.30 "Cash-Out Consideration" means Cash in an amount equal to \$6.25 per share of Existing Common Stock properly delivered for cancellation under the Cash-Out Option.
- 2.1.31 "<u>Cash-Out Option</u>" means the right available to each Holder of Existing Common Stock, as described in Section 4.3.11 of the Plan, to elect to receive its Cash-Out Consideration in full and final satisfaction of its Existing Common Stock.
- 2.1.32 "Cause of Action" means any action, claim, cause of action, controversy, proceeding, reimbursement claim, affirmative defense, demand, right, Lien, indemnity, guaranty, suit, obligation, liability, loss, damage, remedy, judgment, account, defense, offset (including setoff or recoupment rights), power, privilege, license and franchise of any kind or character whatsoever, known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, Contingent or non-contingent, matured or unmatured, suspected or unsuspected, liquidated or unliquidated, disputed or undisputed, secured or unsecured, and assertable directly or derivatively, whether arising before, on or after the Petition Date, in contract or in tort, in law or in equity or pursuant to any other theory of law. For the avoidance of doubt, Cause of Action includes: (i) any right of setoff, counterclaim or recoupment and any claim for breach of contract or for breach of duties imposed by law or in equity, (ii) the right to object to or otherwise contest Claims or Interests, (iii) any claim pursuant to section 362 or chapter 5 of the Bankruptcy Code, (iv) any Avoidance Action, (v) any claim or defense, including fraud, mistake, duress and usury, and any other defenses set forth in section 558 of the Bankruptcy Code, and (vi) any claim under any state or foreign law, including any fraudulent transfer or similar claim.
 - 2.1.33 "Centerbridge" means Centerbridge Partners, L.P.
 - 2.1.34 "Certificate" means any instrument evidencing a Claim or an Interest.
- 2.1.35 "<u>Chapter 11 Cases</u>" means (i) when used with reference to a particular Debtor, the chapter 11 case pending for that Debtor under chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code in the Bankruptcy Court and (ii) when used with reference to all Debtors, the jointly administered chapter 11 cases pending for the Debtors in the Bankruptcy Court.
 - 2.1.36 "Claim" means a "claim" as defined in section 101(5) of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 2.1.37 "Claims Register" means the official register of Claims maintained by the Notice and Claims Agent.
 - 2.1.38 "Class" means a class of Claims or Interests classified by Section 4 of the Plan pursuant to section 1122(a) of the Bankruptcy Code.

- 2.1.39 "Co-Borrower" means Garrett Borrowing LLC.
- 2.1.40 "Committees" means the Equity Committee and the UCC.
- 2.1.41 "Commitment Parties" has the meaning set forth in the Plan Support Agreement.
- 2.1.42 "Company Entity" means a Debtor or any Affiliate of a Debtor.
- 2.1.43 "Confirmation" means the entry of the Confirmation Order on the docket of the Chapter 11 Cases.
- 2.1.44 "<u>Confirmation Date</u>" means the date upon which the Bankruptcy Court enters the Confirmation Order on the docket of the Chapter 11 Cases, within the meaning of Bankruptcy Rules 5003 and 9021.
- 2.1.45 "<u>Confirmation Hearing</u>" means the hearing held by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to section 1128(a) of the Bankruptcy Code to consider Confirmation of the Plan, as such hearing may be, or may have been, continued from time to time.
- 2.1.46 "<u>Confirmation Order</u>" means the order of the Bankruptcy Court entered confirming the Plan pursuant to section 1129 of the Bankruptcy Code, which such order shall be consistent in all respects with the Plan Support Agreement and Restructuring Support Agreement and otherwise be in form and substance reasonably acceptable to (a) the Requisite Consenting Lenders, (b) the Commitment Parties as and to the extent required by the Plan Support Agreement and (c) the UCC.
 - 2.1.47 "Consenting Lenders" has the meaning set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement.
- 2.1.48 "Consenting Noteholders" means those certain holders of Senior Subordinated Notes that are or become party to the Plan Support Agreement.
- 2.1.49 "<u>Contingent</u>" means, when used in reference to a Claim, any Claim the liability for which attaches or is dependent upon the occurrence or happening of, or is triggered by, an event that has not yet occurred as of the date on which such Claim is sought to be estimated or on which an objection to such Claim is filed, whether or not such event is within the actual or presumed contemplation of the holder of such Claim and whether or not a relationship between the holder of such Claim and the applicable Debtor now or hereafter exists or previously existed.
- 2.1.50 "<u>Convertible Series A Certificate of Designation</u>" means that certain Convertible Series A Certificate of Designation described in the Plan Supplement and setting forth the terms governing the Convertible Series A Preferred Stock.

- 2.1.51 "Convertible Series A Preferred Stock" means the convertible series A preferred stock of New GMI having the terms set forth in the Convertible Series A Certificate of Designation to be issued on the Effective Date pursuant to the Plan.
- 2.1.52 "<u>Coordination Agreement</u>" means that certain Coordination Agreement, dated as of October 13, 2020, by and among Centerbridge, Oaktree, and Honeywell, together with all schedules, annexes and exhibits attached thereto, and as may be amended, restated, amended and restated, extended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
 - 2.1.53 "Creditor" means any holder of a Claim against any of the Debtors.
- 2.1.54 "<u>Cure Cost</u>" means the amounts, including, where applicable, an amount of \$0.00, required to cure any and all monetary defaults under an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease (or such lesser amounts as may be agreed upon by the parties to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease) that is to be assumed by the Debtors pursuant to section 365 or 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 2.1.55 "Current Directors" means the directors of the board of GMI immediately prior to the Effective Date.
- 2.1.56 "D&O Insurance Policies" means any Insurance Policies for directors', managers', officers' and any other Insured (as defined in such policy) entities' liability (including employment practices liability and fiduciary liability) maintained on behalf of the Debtors prior to the Effective Date.
- 2.1.57 "Debt Commitment Letters" means, collectively, (a) that certain commitment letter, dated as of December 21, 2020, together with the exhibits and attachments thereto (as each may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its terms), by and among JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., Royal Bank of Canada, RBC Capital Markets, LLC, Deutsche Bank AG New York Branch, Deutsche Bank Securities, Inc., Fifth Third Bank, National Association, KeyBanc Capital Markets Inc., KeyBank National Association, and Gearbox FinCo LLC related to the Exit Facilities, and (b) the commitment letters that such banks or financial institutions delivered to the Plan Sponsors prior thereto in connection with the Exit Facilities.
 - 2.1.58 "Debtor Released Claims" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.8 of the Plan.
 - 2.1.59 "Debtor Releases" has the meaning set forth in Section 11.8 of the Plan.
 - 2.1.60 "Debtors" has the meaning set forth in the Introduction hereto.
 - 2.1.61 "<u>Definitive Documents</u>" has the meaning set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement.

- 2.1.62 "<u>DIP Agent</u>" means Citibank N.A. as administrative agent and collateral agent for the lenders under the DIP Credit Agreement and any successor agent appointed in accordance with the terms of the DIP Credit Agreement.
- 2.1.63 "<u>DIP Claims</u>" means any Claim against any of the Debtors arising out of or related to the DIP Facility or the DIP Facility Documents, including any outstanding principal, accrued and unpaid interest and fees, costs, expenses, reimbursement obligations, premiums and all other amounts that are outstanding obligations under the DIP Facility Documents.
- 2.1.64 "<u>DIP Credit Agreement</u>" means that certain Senior Secured Super-Priority Debtor-in-Possession Credit Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2020, by and among GMI, as borrower, each lender party thereto from time to time, and the DIP Agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, including all exhibits and annexes thereto.
- 2.1.65 "<u>DIP Facility</u>" means that certain senior secured superpriority debtor-in-possession credit facility governed by the DIP Facility Documents.
- 2.1.66 "<u>DIP Facility Documents</u>" means the DIP Credit Agreement, together with all other agreements, documents, filings and instruments delivered or entered into in connection with the DIP Credit Agreement or the DIP Facility, including the DIP Guarantee Agreement, the DIP U.S. Collateral Agreement, any other pledge, guarantee and collateral agreements, financing statements, perfection documents, intercreditor agreements, subordination agreements, fee letters and security documents, each as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its terms.
- 2.1.67 "<u>DIP Guarantee Agreement</u>" means that certain Debtor-in-Possession Guarantee Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2020, by and among each of the Guarantors from time to time party thereto and the DIP Agent, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its terms.
 - 2.1.68 "DIP Required Lenders" has the meaning set forth in the Final DIP Order.
- 2.1.69 "<u>DIP Secured Parties</u>" means, collectively, the DIP Agent and the lenders, issuing banks, arrangers and other secured parties under the DIP Facility.
- 2.1.70 "<u>DIP U.S. Collateral Agreement</u>" means that certain Debtor-in-Possession U.S. Collateral Agreement, dated as of October 9, 2020, by and among GMI, the other U.S. Subsidiary Loan Parties party thereto from time to time (as defined therein) and the DIP Agent, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its terms.
- 2.1.71 "<u>Disclosure Statement</u>" means the disclosure statement for the Plan, including all exhibits, appendices and schedules thereto, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, as approved by the Bankruptcy Court.

- 2.1.72 "<u>Disputed</u>" means, with respect to any Claim or Interest, a Claim or Interest or any portion thereof that is not Allowed but that has not been disallowed by a Final Order.
- 2.1.73 "<u>Distribution Agent</u>" means any Person or Entity designated or retained by the Debtors (prior to the Effective Date) or the Reorganized Debtors (after the Effective Date), without the need for any further order of the Bankruptcy Court, to serve as distribution agent under the Plan.
- 2.1.74 "<u>Distribution Date</u>" means any date, including the Effective Date, on which a distribution to a holder of an Allowed Claim or an Allowed Interest is contemplated to be made under the Plan and as more fully set forth in Section 9.2 of the Plan.
 - 2.1.75 "DTC" means The Depository Trust Company.
- 2.1.76 "<u>Effective Date</u>" means the first Business Day on or after the Confirmation Date on which the conditions to the effectiveness of the Plan specified in Section 12.1 of the Plan have been either satisfied or waived as set forth herein.
 - 2.1.77 "Eligible Holders" means the 1145 Eligible Holders and the Accredited Investor Eligible Holders.
 - 2.1.78 "Entity" means an "entity" as defined in section 101(15) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 2.1.79 "Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement" means that certain Replacement Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2021, as may be amended or modified from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof and the Plan Support Agreement (subject to the applicable consent rights of the Commitment Parties provided in the Plan Support Agreement), among GMI, the other Debtors party thereto, and the Equity Backstop Parties thereto.
 - 2.1.80 "Equity Backstop Party" shall have the meaning set forth in the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement.
- 2.1.81 "Equity Commitment Letters" means those commitment letters to purchase shares of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock at a purchase price of \$668.8 million in Cash, in the aggregate, executed, collectively, by the Equity Commitment Parties in connection with the Plan Support Agreement, as may be amended, modified, or replaced by the agreement of the Debtors and the Equity Commitment Parties in accordance with the Plan Support Agreement.
- 2.1.82 "<u>Equity Commitment Parties</u>" means the Plan Sponsors or their affiliated funds and accounts that have committed, severally and not jointly, to the Equity Commitment Letters.

- 2.1.83 "<u>Equity Committee</u>" means the official committee of equity security holders of the Debtors appointed in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to section 1102 of the Bankruptcy Code, as may be reconstituted from time to time.
 - 2.1.84 "ERISA" means Title IV of the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974, as amended, 29 U.S.C. §§ 1301-1461.
- 2.1.85 "Estate" means, with respect to each Debtor, the estate created as to such Debtor in its Chapter 11 Case pursuant to section 541 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 2.1.86 "Exculpated Parties" means (i) the Debtors, (ii) the Reorganized Debtors, (iii) the UCC and its members, in their capacities as such, (iv) the Equity Committee and its members, in their capacities as such, (v) the Commitment Parties, (vi) the Prepetition Credit Agreement Secured Parties, (vii) the DIP Secured Parties, (viii) the Exit Facilities Parties, (ix) the Equity Backstop Parties, (x) the Equity Commitment Parties, (xi) the Senior Subordinated Notes Paying Agent, (xiii) Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A., as Registrar and Transfer Agent, and (xiv) with respect to each entity named in (i) through (xiii), such entity's Affiliates and such entity's and its Affiliates' respective managers, members, partners, investors, other equity holders, whether direct or indirect, and directors, officers, employees, consultants, agents, predecessors, successors, heirs, executors and assigns, attorneys, financial advisors, restructuring advisors, investment bankers, accountants and other professionals or representatives solely when acting in any such capacities.
- 2.1.87 "Executory Contract" means a contract to which one or more of the Debtors is a party and that is subject to assumption or rejection pursuant to section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 2.1.88 "Excluded Ordinary Course Claims" means all Claims of the Debtors and any of their Affiliates, on the one hand, and all Claims of Honeywell and any of its Affiliates, on the other hand, arising under any assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or otherwise arising prior to the Effective Date in the ordinary course of their business dealings. Excluded Ordinary Course Claims shall include, among other Claims, all Claims under the Employee Matters Agreement, Intellectual Property Agreement, Trademark License Agreement, Transition Services Agreement, or Cash Repatriation Agreement (each as defined in the Honeywell Proofs of Claim).
 - 2.1.89 "Existing Common Stock" means the existing issued and outstanding common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of GMI.
- 2.1.90 "Exit Facilities" means, collectively, "Credit Facilities" as that term is defined in the Plan Support Agreement, to be provided under the Exit Facilities Documents with an aggregate outstanding funded amount on the Effective Date not to exceed the Exit Facilities Debt Cap.
 - 2.1.91 "Exit Facilities Debt Cap" means an amount equal to \$1,400 million.

- 2.1.92 "Exit Facilities Documents" means the definitive documents governing the Exit Facilities.
- 2.1.93 "Exit Facilities Parties" means, collectively, any administrative agent, the collateral agent, arranger, joint bookrunner, or lender under the Exit Facilities.
- 2.1.94 "Final DIP Order" means the Final Order (I) Authorizing Debtors to (A) Obtain Postpetition Financing and (B) Use Cash Collateral, (II) Granting Liens and Providing Claims with Superpriority Administrative Expenses Status, (III) Granting Adequate Protection to the Prepetition Secured Parties, (IV) Modifying the Automatic Stay, (V) Scheduling a Final Hearing and (VI) Granting Related Relief [D.I. 281], as may be amended or modified from time to time by order of the Bankruptcy Court with the consent of the DIP Required Lenders and Requisite Consenting Lenders.
- 2.1.95 "Final Order" means, as applicable, an order or judgment of the Bankruptcy Court or other court of competent jurisdiction with respect to the relevant subject matter that has been entered on the docket maintained by the clerk of such court, which has not been reversed, vacated, stayed, modified or amended, and as to (i) which the time to appeal, petition for *certiorari* or move for a new trial, reargument or rehearing has expired, and as to which no appeal, petition for *certiorari* or other proceedings for a new trial, reargument or rehearing is pending or has been timely taken or (ii) if an appeal, writ of *certiorari*, new trial, reargument or rehearing has been sought, such order or judgment shall have been affirmed by the highest court to which such order was appealed, or *certiorari* shall have been denied, or a new trial, reargument or rehearing shall have been denied or resulted in no modification of such order or judgment, or such appeal, petition for *certiorari* or move for a new trial, reargument or rehearing shall have otherwise been dismissed with prejudice, and the time to take any further appeal, petition for *certiorari* or move for a new trial, reargument or rehearing shall have expired; *provided*, *however*, no order or judgment shall fail to be a "Final Order" solely because of the possibility that a motion pursuant to section 502(j) or 1144 of the Bankruptcy Code or under Rule 60 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure or Federal Bankruptcy Rule 9024 has been or may be filed with respect to such order or judgment.
- 2.1.96 "General Unsecured Claim" means any Claim against any of the Debtors that is not an Administrative Expense Claim, Priority Tax Claim, Other Priority Claim, Other Secured Claim, DIP Claim, Prepetition Credit Agreement Claim, Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claim, Honeywell Plan Claim, Intercompany Claim, Section 510(b) Claim or a Claim for any Cure Cost.
 - $2.1.97\ \mbox{``}\underline{GMI''}$ has the meaning set forth in the Introduction hereto.
 - 2.1.98 "GMI Common Stock" means the common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of New GMI.
 - 2.1.99 "GMI Common Stock Rights" means the GMI Options, GMI RSUs, GMI PSUs and GMI CPSUs.

- 2.1.100 "GMI CPSU" means each outstanding performance unit under the Stock Incentive Plan.
- 2.1.101 "GMI Option" means each outstanding option to purchase shares of GMI Common Stock under the Stock Incentive Plan.
- 2.1.102 "GMI PSU" means each outstanding performance stock unit under the Stock Incentive Plan.
- 2.1.103 "GMI RSU" means each outstanding restricted stock unit under the Stock Incentive Plan.
- 2.1.104 "Governmental Unit" means a "governmental unit" as defined in section 101(27) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 2.1.105 "Holder" means an Entity holding a Claim or an Interest, as applicable.
- 2.1.106 "Honeywell" means Honeywell International Inc., its Affiliates, and their respective officers, directors, professional advisors, consultants and related Persons.
- 2.1.107 "<u>Honeywell Adversary Proceeding</u>" means the adversary proceeding captioned *Garrett Motion Inc. et al.* v. *Honeywell International Inc. et al.*, Adv. Pro. No. 20-01223-MEW and all claims, objections and Causes of Action asserted therein, as stayed by the *Stipulation and Order to Stay Proceedings* [D.I. 36].
- 2.1.108 "<u>Honeywell Estimation Proceeding</u>" means the proceedings to estimate Honeywell's claims governed by the *Order Establishing Procedures for the Estimation of Claims of Honeywell et al. Against the Debtors* [D.I. 540], as stayed by the *Stipulation and Order to Stay Proceedings* [D.I. 737].
- 2.1.109 "Honeywell Indemnification Guarantee Agreement" means that certain Indemnification Guarantee Agreement, dated September 27, 2018, by and among Honeywell ASASCO 2 Inc., Garrett ASASCO Inc., and the other Guarantors party thereto, as may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time prior to the date hereof.
- 2.1.110 "Honeywell Indemnity Agreement" means, collectively: (i) that certain Indemnification and Reimbursement Agreement, dated September 12, 2018 (as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time), by and among Honeywell ASASCO Inc., Honeywell ASASCO 2 Inc. and Honeywell International Inc.; and (ii) that certain Contribution and Assignment Agreement, dated September 14, 2018 (as amended, restated, amended and restated, supplemented, or otherwise modified from time to time), by and between Honeywell ASASCO Inc. and Garrett ASASCO Inc., as each may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time prior to the date hereof.

- 2.1.111 "<u>Honeywell Indemnity Documents</u>" means the Honeywell Indemnity Agreement together with the Honeywell Indemnification Guarantee Agreement, and any related documents thereto, as each may be amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time prior to the date hereof.
 - 2.1.112 "Honeywell Litigation" means the Honeywell Adversary Proceeding and the Honeywell Estimation Proceeding.
- 2.1.113 "<u>Honeywell Plan Claims</u>" means any Claim held by Honeywell or any of its Affiliates arising under, derived from, based on, or relating to the Honeywell Terminated Agreements or the potential contingent, unliquidated contractual Claims and Causes of Action identified in the Honeywell Proofs of Claim; *provided*, for the avoidance of doubt, that Honeywell Plan Claims shall not include (a) any Excluded Ordinary Course Claim or (b) the payment of Honeywell's Transaction Expenses as set forth in Section 3.7 of the Plan and in the Plan Support Agreement.
- 2.1.114 "<u>Honeywell Proofs of Claim</u>" means the proofs of claim filed by Honeywell against the Debtors with Claim Numbers 276 through 316.
- 2.1.115 "Honeywell Settlement" means the full and final settlement and compromise of all Honeywell Plan Claims and the Honeywell Litigation, in consideration for the treatment of the Honeywell Plan Claims under the Plan (including the involvement of the Plan Sponsors in the Reorganized Debtors' capital structure and their ownership of the Convertible Series A Preferred Stock in the amounts contemplated by the Plan Support Agreement) and the inclusion of (a) Honeywell and its related Persons as Exculpated and Released Parties under the Plan and (b) the mutual releases set forth in Section 11.13 of the Plan.
 - 2.1.116 "Honeywell Terminated Agreements" means (i) the Honeywell Indemnity Documents and (ii) the Tax Matters Agreement.
- 2.1.117 "Impaired" means, with respect to any Class of Claims or Interests, a Class of Claims or Interests that is impaired within the meaning of section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 2.1.118 "<u>Insurance Policy</u>" and, collectively, the "<u>Insurance Policies</u>" means each of the insurance policies issued to or for the benefit of any Debtor(s) or any of their predecessors-in-interest at any time and any agreements, documents or instruments related thereto, including the D&O Insurance Policies and any other insurance policy for directors', managers' and officers' liability.
- 2.1.119 "Insurer" means any company or other entity that issued an Insurance Policy, any third-party administrator, and any respective predecessors and/or affiliates thereof.
- 2.1.120 "<u>Intercompany Claim</u>" means any Claim held by a Debtor against any other Company Entity or by a Company Entity against a Debtor.

- 2.1.121 "Intercompany Interest" means any Interest held by a Debtor in a Company Entity or by a Company Entity in a Debtor.
- 2.1.122 "Intercreditor Agreement" means that certain Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of September 27, 2018, by and among GMI, as Holdings, Garrett LX I S.à r.l., as Lux Notes Issuer, Garrett LX II S.à r.l., as LuxCo 2, Garrett LX III S.à r.l., as Lux Borrower, Garrett Motion Sàrl (f/k/a Honeywell Technologies Sàrl), as Swiss Borrower, Garrett Borrowing LLC, as U.S. Co-Borrower and as U.S. Co-Notes Issuer, the other Debtors and Grantors party thereto, the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent, as Senior Secured Administrative Agent, Senior Secured Collateral Agent and a Senior Priority Representative for the Senior Secured Parties, Deutsche Trustee Company Limited, as Senior Subordinated Notes Trustee and a Senior Subordinated Priority Representative for the Senior Subordinated Notes Secured Parties, Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, as Senior Subordinated Collateral Agent for the Senior Subordinated Notes Secured Parties, the Intra-Group Lenders from time to time party thereto, Honeywell ASASCO 2, Inc., as Honeywell Indemnity, and each additional Representative from time to time party thereto, as may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
- 2.1.123 "<u>Interest</u>" means any equity security within the meaning of section 101(16) of the Bankruptcy Code or any other equity or ownership interest, including, without limitation, all issued, unissued, authorized or outstanding limited liability company membership interests (including common and preferred) or other equity interests, together with any warrants, options, convertible securities, liquidating preferred securities or contractual rights to purchase or acquire any such equity interests at any time and all rights arising with respect thereto.
 - 2.1.124 "IRC" means the Internal Revenue Code.
 - 2.1.125 "Lien" means a "lien" as defined in section 101(37) of the Bankruptcy Code.
 - 2.1.126 "Local Rules" means the Local Bankruptcy Rules for the Southern District of New York.
- 2.1.127 "Make-Whole Litigation" means the adversary proceeding captioned *Garrett Borrowing LLC v. Deutsche Trustee Company Limited*, 1:20-ap-01319 (Bankr. S.D.N.Y.), and all claims, objections and Causes of Action asserted therein, as stayed by the *Stipulation and Order to Stay Proceedings* [D.I. 12].
- 2.1.128 "<u>Make-Whole Settlement</u>" means the full and final settlement and compromise of the Make-Whole Litigation, in consideration for the treatment under the Plan of the Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims arising under, derived from, or based on the Applicable Premium.
 - 2.1.129 "Management Side Letter Recipient" means each individual required to execute a Management Side Letter.

- 2.1.130 "Management Side Letters" means side letters to be entered into on or prior to the Effective Date between New GMI and members of the Debtors' senior management team holding GMI Common Stock Rights (and such other holders of GMI Common Stock Rights as may be mutually agreed by the Debtors and the Plan Sponsors, Honeywell and the Requisite Additional Investors) setting forth certain retention terms applicable to the proceeds of the GMI Common Stock Rights received pursuant to the Plan, which letters will be in form and substance acceptable to the Plan Sponsors, Honeywell, and the Requisite Additional Investors.²
 - 2.1.131 "New Board" means the board of directors of New GMI appointed as of the Effective Date.
- 2.1.132 "New GMI" means GMI, as reorganized pursuant to and under the Plan, and any successor thereto, by merger, consolidation or otherwise, on or after the Effective Date.
 - 2.1.133 "New Preferred Stock" means the Convertible Series A Preferred Stock and the Series B Preferred Stock.
 - 2.1.134 "Notice and Claims Agent" means the Debtors' notice and claims agent, Kurtzman Carson Consultants LLC.
 - 2.1.135 "Oaktree" means Oaktree Capital Management, L.P.
 - 2.1.136 "Offered Shares" means the 1145 Offered Shares and the Accredited Investor Offered Shares.
- 2.1.137 "Other Priority Claim" means a Claim entitled to priority in right of payment pursuant to section 507(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, other than an Administrative Expense Claim or a Priority Tax Claim.
- 2.1.138 "<u>Other Secured Claim</u>" means any Secured Claim or portion thereof, other than a Secured Tax Claim, a Prepetition Credit Agreement Claim, Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claim or DIP Claim.
 - 2.1.139 "PBGC" means the Pension Benefit Guaranty Corporation.
- 2.1.140 "Pension Plan" means the Garrett Motion Inc. Pension Plan, which is a single-employer defined benefit pension plan covered by ERISA covering approximately 1,300 participants, with GMI as the contributing sponsor, and for which the PBGC has asserted that each of the Debtors is either a contributing sponsor of the Pension Plan or a member of the contributing sponsor's controlled group within the meaning of 29 U.S.C. §§ 1301(a)(13), (14) and thus jointly and severally liable.

Management Side Letters to provide for repayment of 100% of the net proceeds received with respect to the cash-out of the GMI Common Stock Rights upon a resignation without Good Reason or a termination by New GMI for Cause, in each case, prior to the first anniversary of the Effective Date, Definitions of Good Reason and Cause will be set forth in the Management Side Letters and consistent with the definitions set forth in the Garrett Motion Inc. Severance Plan for Designated Officers.

- 2.1.141 "Person" means a "person" as defined in section 101(41) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 2.1.142 "Petition Date" means, with respect to a Debtor, the date on which such Debtor commenced its Chapter 11 Cases.
- 2.1.143 "Plan" has the meaning set forth in the Introduction hereto.
- 2.1.144 "Plan Sponsors" means Oaktree and Centerbridge (each, acting solely in its capacity as an investment advisor on behalf of certain funds and accounts and wholly-owned entities of such funds and accounts).
- 2.1.145 "<u>Plan Supplement</u>" means one or more compilations of documents and forms of documents, instruments, schedules and exhibits to the Plan, as each such document, agreement, instrument, schedule and exhibit and form thereof may be altered, restated, modified or replaced from time to time, including subsequent to the filing of any such documents. Each such document, agreement, instrument, schedule or exhibit, or form thereof, is referred to herein as a "Plan Supplement."
- 2.1.146 "Plan Support Agreement" means that certain Second Amended and Restated Plan Support Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2021 by and among the Debtors and the Commitment Parties, together with all schedules, annexes and exhibits attached thereto, and as may be amended, restated, amended and restated, extended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
- 2.1.147 "<u>Plan Term Sheet</u>" means the term sheet setting forth certain terms and conditions of the Restructuring Transactions, attached as Exhibit A to the Plan Support Agreement, together with all schedules, annexes and exhibits and as may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
- 2.1.148 "Prepetition Credit Agreement" means that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of September 27, 2018, by and among GMI, as holdings, Garrett LX III S.à r.l., as Lux Borrower, Garrett Borrowing LLC, as U.S. Co-Borrower, Garrett Motion Sàrl (f/k/a Honeywell Technologies Sàrl), as Swiss Borrower, the Lenders and Issuing Banks party thereto and the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent, as Administrative Agent, as amended, restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its terms.
- 2.1.149 "<u>Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent</u>" means JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as Administrative Agent under the Prepetition Credit Agreement, and any successor agent appointed in accordance with the terms of the Prepetition Credit Agreement.
- 2.1.150 "<u>Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent Expenses</u>" means the reasonable and documented compensation, fees, expenses, disbursements, advancements, indemnity claims, and any amounts due to the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent, including, without limitation,

attorneys' and agents' fees, expenses, and disbursements incurred by the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent, whether prior to or after the Petition Date and whether prior to or after consummation of the Plan, and reasonable fees and expenses incurred in connection with disbursements made pursuant to the Plan or the cancellation and discharge of the Prepetition Credit Agreement Documents and all documents related thereto, in each case to the extent payable or reimbursable under the Prepetition Credit Agreement.

- 2.1.151 "Prepetition Credit Agreement Claim" means any Claim arising out of or related to the Prepetition Credit Agreement Documents.
- 2.1.152 "Prepetition Credit Agreement Documents" means the Prepetition Credit Agreement and any Prepetition Credit Agreement Guarantee together with all other agreements, documents, filings and instruments delivered or entered into in connection with the Prepetition Credit Agreement or any Prepetition Credit Agreement Guarantee, including any pledge and collateral agreements, financing statements, perfection documents, intercreditor agreements, subordination agreements, fee letters, security documents and hedge agreements, each as amended restated, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time in accordance with its terms.
- 2.1.153 "Prepetition Credit Agreement Guarantee" means any guarantee of any obligation arising under the Prepetition Credit Agreement Documents.
- 2.1.154 "Prepetition Credit Agreement Secured Parties" means, collectively, the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent, the Holders of Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims, and all other lenders, issuing banks, arrangers and other secured parties under the Prepetition Credit Agreement Documents.
- 2.1.155 "<u>Priority Tax Claim</u>" means a Claim (whether secured or unsecured) of a Governmental Unit against any Debtor entitled to priority pursuant to section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 2.1.156 "Pro Rata" means, as applicable, with respect to an Allowed or estimated Claim or Interest, the percentage represented by a fraction (i) the numerator of which shall be an amount equal to such Allowed or estimated Claim or Interest and (ii) the denominator of which shall be an amount equal to the aggregate amount of Allowed and estimated Claims or Interests in the same Class as such Claim or Interest, except in cases where Pro Rata is used in reference to multiple Classes, in which case Pro Rata means the portion that such Holder's Claim or Interest in a particular class bears to the aggregate amount of all Allowed and estimated Claims or Interests in such multiple Classes.
- 2.1.157 "Professional" means a Person or Entity: (i) employed in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to a Bankruptcy Court order in accordance with sections 327 or 1103 of the Bankruptcy Code and to be compensated for services rendered prior to the Effective Date, pursuant to section 327, 328, 329, 330 or 331 of the Bankruptcy Code, or (ii) for which compensation and reimbursement has been awarded by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to section 503(b)(4) of the Bankruptcy Code.

- 2.1.158 "<u>Professional Fee Claim</u>" means any Claim of a Professional seeking an award by the Bankruptcy Court of compensation for services rendered or reimbursement of expenses incurred through and including the Effective Date under sections 330, 331, 503(b)(2), 503(b)(3), 503(b) (4) or 503(b)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 2.1.159 "<u>Professional Fee Escrow Account</u>" means an account to be funded by the Debtors on or prior to the Effective Date in an amount equal to the Professional Fee Reserve Amount.
- 2.1.160 "<u>Professional Fee Reserve Amount</u>" means the estimate, as determined in accordance with Section 3.2.3 of the Plan, of the aggregate amount of unpaid Professional Claims for all Professionals through the Effective Date.
 - 2.1.161 "Proof of Claim" means a proof of claim against a Debtor filed by a holder of a Claim against any Debtor.
 - 2.1.162 "PSA Investors" means, collectively, the Plan Sponsors and the Equity Backstop Parties.
- 2.1.163 "PSA Professionals" means, collectively: (a) Milbank LLP, as legal counsel to the Plan Sponsors, and Houlihan Lokey Capital, Inc., as financial advisor to the Plan Sponsors; (b) Kirkland & Ellis LLP, as legal counsel to Honeywell, and TRS Advisors LLC and Centerview Partners LLC as financial advisors to Honeywell; (c) Jones Day, as legal counsel to each Additional Investor, and Rothschild & Co. as financial advisor to each Additional Investor; (d) Fried, Frank, Harris, Shriver & Jacobson LLP, as legal counsel to The Baupost Group, LLC, and Ducera Partners LLC, as financial advisor to The Baupost Group, LLC; and (e) Ropes & Gray LLP, as legal counsel to the Consenting Noteholders, and Moelis & Co., as financial advisor to the Consenting Noteholders.
- 2.1.164 "Registration Rights Agreement" means the registration rights agreement described in the Plan Supplement with respect to the Convertible Series A Preferred Stock.
- 2.1.165 "Reinstated" means, with respect to any Claim or Interest, that such Claim or Interest shall be rendered Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 2.1.166 "Related Party" means ,with respect to any person or entity, each and all of such person's or entity's current and former affiliates, and such entities' and their current and former predecessors, successors and assigns, subsidiaries, direct or indirect equity holders (regardless of whether such interest are held directly or indirectly), affiliates, managed accounts or funds, directors, managers, officers and each of their current and former officers, directors, managers, principals, shareholders, members, equityholders, partners, employees, agents, advisory board members, financial advisors, attorneys, accountants, investment bankers, consultants, representatives, management companies, fund advisors and investment and other professionals, and each of the foregoing Person's respective heirs, executors, estates, successors, assigns and nominees.

- 2.1.167 "Released Parties" means (i) the Exculpated Parties and (ii) each of their respective current and former directors, officers, equity holders (regardless of whether such interests are held directly or indirectly), affiliated investment funds or investment vehicles, employees, consultants, agents, affiliates, parents, subsidiaries, members, managers, predecessors, successors, heirs, executors and assigns, participants, subsidiaries, managed accounts or funds, partners, limited partners, general partners, principals, fund advisors, attorneys, financial advisors, restructuring advisors, investment bankers, accountants and other professionals or representatives solely when acting in any such capacities.
- 2.1.168 "Releasing Parties" means (i) the Released Parties, (ii) all holders of Claims or Interests that vote to accept the Plan, (iii) all holders of Claims or Interests that vote to reject the Plan but elect on their ballot to opt into the voluntary release by holders of Claims and Interests, (iv) all holders of Claims and Interests not described in the foregoing clauses (i) through (iii) who elect to opt into the voluntary release by holders of Claims and Interests; and (v) with respect to each entity named in (i) through (iv), such entity's Affiliates and such entity's and its Affiliates' respective managers, members, partners, investors, other equity holders, whether direct or indirect, and directors, officers, employees, consultants, agents, predecessors, successors, heirs, executors and assigns, attorneys, financial advisors, restructuring advisors, investment bankers, accountants and other professionals or representatives solely when acting in any such capacities; *provided* that in each case only those Holders of Existing Common Stock that vote to accept the Plan or opt into the voluntary release shall be Releasing Parties.
- 2.1.169 "Reorganized Debtor" means a Debtor, as reorganized pursuant to and under the Plan, or any applicable successor(s) thereto, by asset purchase, merger, consolidation or otherwise, on or after the Effective Date.
 - 2.1.170 "Requisite Additional Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Plan Support Agreement.
 - 2.1.171 "Requisite Consenting Lenders" has the meaning set forth in the Restructuring Support Agreement.
 - 2.1.172 "Requisite Consenting Noteholders" has the meaning set forth in the Plan Support Agreement.
 - 2.1.173 "Restructuring Documents" shall have the meaning set forth in the Plan Support Agreement.
- 2.1.174 "Restructuring Support Agreement" means that certain Restructuring Support Agreement, dated as of September 20, 2020, by and among GMI, the Debtors party thereto and the Consenting Lenders party thereto, as amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time, including all exhibits and annexes thereto.
 - $2.1.175 \ \hbox{$"\underline{Restructuring\ Transactions"}$ has the meaning set forth in Section 6.12 hereof.}$

- 2.1.176 "Rights Offerings" means the 1145 Rights Offering and the Accredited Investor Rights Offering.
- 2.1.177 "Rights Offering Procedures" means the 1145 Rights Offering Procedures and the Accredited Investor Rights Offering Procedures.
- 2.1.178 "Schedules" means, collectively, the schedules of assets and liabilities, schedules of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases, and statements of financial affairs filed by the Debtors pursuant to section 521 of the Bankruptcy Code, as such schedules may be or may have been amended, modified, or supplemented from time to time.
 - 2.1.179 "SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.
- 2.1.180 "Section 510(b) Claim" means any Claim against GMI arising from or related to Existing Common Stock having the same priority as Existing Common Stock pursuant to section 510(b) of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 2.1.181 "Secured Claim" means a Claim that is (i) secured by a Lien on property in which an Estate has an interest or that is subject to setoff under section 553 of the Bankruptcy Code, to the extent of the value of the Claim Holder's interest in the Estate's interest in such property or to the extent of the amount subject to setoff, as applicable, as determined pursuant to section 506(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, or (ii) Allowed pursuant to the Plan as a Secured Claim.
- 2.1.182 "<u>Secured Tax Claim</u>" means any Secured Claim that, absent its secured status, would be entitled to priority in right of payment under section 507(a)(8) of the Bankruptcy Code (determined irrespective of time limitations), including any related Secured Claim for penalties.
- 2.1.183 "<u>Securities Act</u>" means the Securities Act of 1933, as now in effect or hereafter amended, and the rules and regulations of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission promulgated thereunder.
 - 2.1.184 "Security" means a security as defined in section 2(a)(1) of the Securities Act.
- 2.1.185 "Series A Investor Rights Agreement" means the investors rights agreement described in the Plan Supplement with respect to the Convertible Series A Preferred Stock.
- 2.1.186 "Series B Certificate of Designation" means that certain Series B Certificate of Designation described in the Plan Supplement and setting forth the terms governing the Series B Preferred Stock.
- 2.1.187 "Series B Preferred Stock" means the series B preferred stock of New GMI having the terms set forth in the Series B Certificate of Designation to be issued on the Effective Date pursuant to the Plan.

- 2.1.188 "Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture and the Senior Subordinated Notes Guarantee.
- 2.1.189 "Senior Subordinated Notes" means the 5.125% senior notes, due 2026, outstanding under the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture.
- 2.1.190 "Senior Subordinated Notes Guarantee" means any guarantee of any obligation arising under the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture.
- 2.1.191 "Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture" means that certain Indenture, dated as of September 27, 2018, among GMI, as Parent, Garrett LX I S.à r.l., as Issuer, Garrett Borrowing LLC, as Co-Issuer, the guarantors named therein, Deutsche Trustee Company Limited, as Trustee, Deutsche Bank AG, as Security Agent and Paying Agent, and Deutsche Bank Luxembourg S.A., as Registrar and Transfer Agent, pursuant to which the Senior Subordinated Notes were issued, as may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
- 2.1.192 "<u>Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee</u>" means Deutsche Trustee Company Limited, as indenture trustee of the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture, and any successor trustee appointed in accordance with the terms of the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture.
- 2.1.193 "Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee Expenses" means the reasonable and documented compensation, fees, expenses, disbursements, advancements, indemnity claims, and any amounts due to the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee, including, without limitation, attorneys' and agents' fees, expenses, and disbursements incurred by the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee, whether prior to or after the Petition Date and whether prior to or after consummation of the Plan, and reasonable fees and expenses incurred in connection with disbursements made pursuant to the Plan or the cancellation and discharge of the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture and all documents related thereto, in each case to the extent payable or reimbursable under the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture.
- 2.1.194 "Senior Subordinated Notes Paying Agent" means Deutsche Bank AG, London Branch, in its capacity as Security Agent and Paying Agent under the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture.
- 2.1.195 "Solicitation Procedures Order" means the Order (I) Approving the Disclosure Statement and Form and Manner of Notice of Disclosure Statement Hearing; (II) Establishing a Voting Record Date for the Plan; (III) Approving Solicitation Packages and Procedures for the Distribution Thereof; (IV) Approving the Forms of Ballots; (V) Establishing Procedures for Voting on the Plan; and (VI) Establishing Notice and Objection Procedures for the Confirmation of the Plan [D.I. 1016].
 - 2.1.196 "Stock Incentive Plan" means the Garrett Motion Inc. Stock Incentive Plan existing on the Petition Date.

- 2.1.197 "Stock Register" means the ownership register of GMI Common Stock maintained by, or behalf of, the Debtors.
- 2.1.198 "Subscription Rights" means the 1145 Subscription Rights and the Accredited Investor Subscription Rights.
- 2.1.199 "Swiss Borrower" means Garrett Motion Sàrl.
- 2.1.200 "<u>Tax Matters Agreement</u>" means that certain Tax Matters Agreement, dated September 12, 2018, by and among Honeywell International Inc., GMI, Honeywell ASASCO Inc. and Honeywell ASASCO 2 Inc., as may be amended, supplemented or otherwise modified from time to time.
 - 2.1.201 "TLB Borrower" means Garrett LX III S.à r.l.
- 2.1.202 "<u>Transaction Expenses</u>" mean, collectively, all reasonable and documented fees and expenses of the PSA Professionals that are reimbursable under the Plan Support Agreement (regardless of when such fees are or were incurred).
- 2.1.203 "<u>Unsubscribed Shares</u>" means any Offered Shares that are not purchased by 1145 Eligible Holders or Accredited Investor Eligible Holders in the Rights Offerings.
 - 2.1.204 "U.S. Trustee" means the Office of the United States Trustee for the Southern District of New York.
- 2.1.205 "<u>U.S. Trustee Fees</u>" mean fees arising under 28 U.S.C. § 1930(a)(6) and, to the extent applicable, accrued interest thereon arising under 31 U.S.C. § 3717.
- 2.1.206 "<u>UCC</u>" means the official committee of unsecured creditors of the Debtors appointed in the Chapter 11 Cases pursuant to section 1102 of the Bankruptcy Code, as may be reconstituted from time to time.
- 2.1.207 "<u>Unclaimed Distribution</u>" means any distribution under the Plan on account of an Allowed Claim or Interest to a Holder that has not: (i) accepted a particular distribution or, in the case of a distribution made by check, negotiated such check, (ii) given written notice to the Distribution Agent of an intent to accept a particular distribution, (iii) responded in writing to the request of the Distribution Agent for information necessary to facilitate a particular distribution, or (iv) taken any other action necessary to facilitate such distribution.
- 2.1.208 "<u>Unexpired Lease</u>" means a lease to which one or more of the Debtors is a party and that is subject to assumption or rejection under section 365 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- 2.1.209 "<u>Unimpaired</u>" means, with respect to a Class of Claims or Interests, a Class of Claims or Interests that is not impaired within the meaning of such term in section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

- 2.1.210 "United States of America," "United States" or "U.S." means the United States of America and its federal agencies.
- 2.1.211 "Voting Record Date" means the record date for voting on the Plan, which shall be March 15, 2021.

2.2 Rules of Interpretation

For the purposes of this Plan: (i) in the appropriate context, each term, whether stated in the singular or the plural, shall include both the singular and the plural, and pronouns stated in the masculine, feminine or neuter gender shall include the masculine, feminine and the neuter gender, (ii) any reference herein to the word "including" or any word of similar import shall be read to mean "including without limitation," (iii) unless otherwise specified, all references herein to "Sections" are references to Sections hereof or hereto, (iv) unless otherwise specified, the words "herein," "hereof" and "hereto" refer to the Plan in its entirety rather than a particular portion of the Plan, (v) captions and headings to Sections are inserted for the convenience of reference only and are not intended to be a part of or to affect the interpretation of the Plan, (vi) unless otherwise specified herein, the rules of construction set forth in section 102 of the Bankruptcy Code shall apply, (vii) unless otherwise specified, all references herein to exhibits are references to exhibits in the Plan Supplement, (viii) all references to docket numbers of documents filed in the Chapter 11 Cases are references to the docket numbers under the Bankruptcy Court's Case Management/Electronic Case Files system, (ix) all references to statutes, regulations, orders, rules of courts and the like shall mean as amended from time to time, and as applicable to the Chapter 11 Cases, unless otherwise stated, (x) any reference herein to a contract, agreement, lease, plan, policy, document or instrument being in a particular form or on particular terms and conditions means that the same shall be substantially in that form or substantially on those terms and conditions, (xi) any reference herein to a contract, agreement, lease, plan, policy, document or instrument or schedule or exhibit thereto, whether or not filed, shall mean the same as amended, restated, modified or supplemented from time to time in accordance with the terms hereof or thereof, (xii) any effectuating provisions may be interpreted by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, with the consent of the Plan Sponsors, Honeywell, the Requisite Consenting Lenders, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders and the Requisite Additional Investors (as provided in the Plan Support Agreement or the Restructuring Support Agreement, as applicable), in such a manner that is consistent with the overall purpose and intent of the Plan, all without further Bankruptcy Court order, provided that the Debtors shall promptly provide notice of an interpretation to the UCC within two days after agreeing to such interpretation and that any interpretation that results in the impairment of General Unsecured Claims or relates to Article 8 of this Plan (including all applicable deadlines and applicable definitions) shall only be effective upon the consent of the UCC (which shall not be unreasonably withheld) or further order of the Bankruptcy Court, (xiii) any reference to an Entity as a Holder of a Claim or Interest includes that Entity's successors and permitted assigns, (xiv) references to "shareholders," "directors" and/or "officers" shall also include "members" and/or "managers," as applicable, as such terms are defined under the applicable limited liability company laws, (xv) except as otherwise expressly provided in this Plan, where this Plan contemplates that any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, shall take any action, incur any obligation, issue any security or adopt, assume, execute or deliver any contract, agreement,

lease, plan, policy, document or instrument on or prior to the Effective Date, the same shall be duly and validly authorized by the Plan and effective against and binding upon such Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, on and after the Effective Date without further notice to, order of or other approval by the Bankruptcy Court, action under applicable law, regulation, order or rule, or the vote, consent, authorization or approval of the board of directors of any Debtor or any other Entity, and (xvi) except as otherwise provided in the Plan, anything required to be done by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, on the Effective Date may be done on the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter.

2.3 Computation of Time

In computing any period of time prescribed or allowed by the Plan, unless otherwise expressly provided, the provisions of Bankruptcy Rule 9006(a) shall apply. If any payment, distribution, act or deadline under the Plan is required to be made or performed or occurs on a day that is not a Business Day, then the making of such payment or distribution, the performance of such act or the occurrence of such deadline shall be deemed to be on the next succeeding Business Day, but shall be deemed to have been completed or to have occurred as of the required date.

2.4 References to Monetary Figures

All references in the Plan to monetary figures shall refer to currency of the United States of America unless otherwise expressly provided.

2.5 Consent Rights

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, (i) any and all consent rights of all parties to the Plan Support Agreement or the Restructuring Support Agreement under such agreements with respect to the form and substance of this Plan, all exhibits to the Plan, the Plan Supplement, the proposed form of Confirmation Order, and any other Restructuring Documents or Definitive Documents, including any amendments, restatements, supplements, or other modifications to such agreements and documents, and any consents, waivers, or other deviations under or from any such documents, as more fully set forth in the Plan Support Agreement or the Restructuring Support Agreement, as applicable, are incorporated herein by this reference and shall be fully enforceable as if stated in full herein, (ii) to the extent provided in the Plan Support Agreement, any action or inaction that may be taken by the Debtors hereunder shall be reasonably acceptable to (a) the Plan Sponsors, (b) Honeywell, (c) solely to the extent such action or inaction adversely affects the Additional Investors, the Requisite Additional Investors, and (d) solely to the extent such action or inaction adversely affects the Consenting Noteholders, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and (iii) to the extent provided in the Restructuring Support Agreement or Plan Support Agreement, any action or inaction that may be taken by the Debtors hereunder shall be reasonably acceptable to the Requisite Consenting Lenders. Failure to reference herein any right, privilege or obligation provided for by the Plan Support Agreement or Restructuring Support Agreement shall not impair any such right, privilege or obligation.

3. ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSE CLAIMS, PROFESSIONAL FEE CLAIMS, DIP CLAIMS, PRIORITY TAX CLAIMS AND STATUTORY FEES

3.1 Administrative Expense Claims

3.1.1 Treatment of Administrative Expense Claims

Except to the extent that the applicable Holder of an Allowed Administrative Expense Claim agrees to less favorable treatment with the Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, each Holder of an Allowed Administrative Expense Claim shall receive, on account of such Allowed Administrative Expense Claim has not been paid in full during the course of the Chapter 11 Cases, payment in full in Cash (i) on or as soon as reasonably practicable after the later of the Effective Date and the date such Claim is Allowed, (ii) if such Allowed Administrative Expense Claim is for goods and services provided to the Debtors in the ordinary course of business, in accordance with the terms and conditions of the applicable transaction documentation or course of business dealings with the applicable Debtor, (iii) as otherwise may be agreed upon by such Holder and the applicable Debtor or, after the Effective Date, Reorganized Debtor, or (iv) as otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court.

3.1.2 Filing Administrative Expense Claims

Absent order of the Bankruptcy Court to the contrary, and except for Transaction Expenses, all requests for payment of Administrative Expense Claims that accrued on or before the Effective Date (other than on account of Professional Fee Claims and U.S. Trustee Fees) must be filed with the Notice and Claims Agent and served on counsel for the Debtors by the Administrative Expense Claim Bar Date. Any Holder of an Administrative Expense Claim who is required to, but does not, file and serve a request for payment of such Administrative Expense Claim pursuant to the procedures specified in the Confirmation Order on or prior to the Administrative Expense Claim Bar Date shall be forever barred, estopped and enjoined from asserting such Administrative Expense Claim against the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors or their respective property, and such general Administrative Expense Claim shall be deemed discharged as of the Effective Date.

Following the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, in their sole discretion, shall have exclusive authority to settle Administrative Expense Claims without further Bankruptcy Court approval.

Unless the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors or any other Entity object to a timely filed and properly served Administrative Expense Claim by the 90th calendar day after the Effective Date, subject to further extensions and/or exceptions as may be ordered by the Bankruptcy Court upon motion on notice to all parties filing a notice of appearance and request for service pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002 in the Chapter 11 Cases, such Administrative Expense Claim shall be deemed Allowed in the amount requested. If the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors or any other Entity object to an Administrative Expense Claim, the parties may confer to try to reach a settlement and, failing that, the Bankruptcy Court shall determine

whether such Administrative Expense Claim should be Allowed and, if so, in what amount. Notwithstanding the foregoing, requests for payment of Administrative Expense Claims need not be filed for Administrative Expense Claims that (i) are for goods or services provided to the Debtors in the ordinary course of business, (ii) previously have been Allowed by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, (iii) are for Cure Costs, (iv) are on account of postpetition taxes (including any related penalties or interest) owed by the Debtors to any Governmental Unit, or (v) the Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, have otherwise agreed in writing do not require such a filing.

3.2 Professional Fee Claims

3.2.1 Final Fee Applications

All final requests for payment of Professional Fee Claims shall be filed and served no later than 30 days after the Effective Date. The Bankruptcy Court shall determine the Allowed amounts of such Professional Fee Claims. Any objections to Professional Fee Claims must be filed and served on the Debtors and the requesting party no later than 30 days after service of the final request for payment of Professional Fee Claims.

Except to the extent that the applicable Holder of an Allowed Professional Fee Claim agrees to less favorable treatment with the Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, each Holder of a Professional Fee Claim that has been approved by the Bankruptcy Court shall be paid in full in Cash.

3.2.2 Professional Fee Escrow Account

On or prior to the Effective Date, the Debtors shall fund the Professional Fee Escrow Account with Cash equal to the aggregate Professional Fee Reserve Amount for all Professionals. The Professional Fee Escrow Account shall be maintained in trust for the Professionals. Such funds in the Professional Fee Escrow Account shall not constitute property of the Debtors' Estates, except as otherwise expressly set forth in the last sentence of this paragraph. The amount of Professional Fee Claims owing to the Professionals on and after the Effective Date shall be paid in Cash to such Professionals from funds held in the Professional Fee Escrow Account, without interest or other earnings therefrom, as soon as reasonably practicable after such Claims are Allowed by a Bankruptcy Court order; *provided* that the Debtors' obligation with respect to Professional Fee Claims will not be limited nor be deemed to be limited in any way to the balance of funds held in the Professional Fee Escrow Account. When all Allowed Professional Fee Claims have been paid in full, amounts remaining in the Professional Fee Escrow Account, if any, shall revert to the Reorganized Debtors, without any further notice to, action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court or by any other Entity.

3.2.3 Professional Fee Reserve Amount

To receive payment for unbilled fees and expenses incurred through and including the Effective Date, the Professionals shall estimate their accrued Professional Fee Claims prior to and as of the Confirmation Date, along with an estimate of fees and expenses to be incurred

through and including the Effective Date, and shall deliver such good-faith estimates to the Debtors and counsel to the Plan Sponsors, Honeywell, and the Additional Investors by no later than seven days before the Effective Date; *provided*, *however*, that such estimates shall not be considered an admission or limitation with respect to the fees and expenses of such Professional. If a Professional does not provide such estimate, the Debtors may estimate the unbilled fees and expenses of such Professional. The total amount so estimated shall comprise the Professional Fee Reserve Amount. To the extent the Professional Fee Reserve Amount is not sufficient to pay all Allowed Professional Fee Claims in full, the remaining aggregate amount of the Allowed Professional Fee Claims shall be paid by the Debtors.

3.2.4 Post-Effective Date Fees and Expenses

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, from and after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors may, in the ordinary course of business and without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, pay in Cash the legal, professional or other fees and expenses related to the implementation and consummation of the Plan incurred by the Reorganized Debtors or any Professional following the Effective Date. Upon the Effective Date, any requirement that Professionals comply with sections 327 through 331 and 1103 of the Bankruptcy Code in seeking retention or compensation for services rendered after such date shall terminate, and each Reorganized Debtor may employ and pay any Professional for services rendered or expenses incurred after the Effective Date in the ordinary course of business without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

3.3 DIP Claims

All DIP Claims shall be Allowed in the full amount due and owing under the DIP Facility Documents and the Final DIP Order. For the avoidance of doubt, the DIP Claims shall not be subject to any avoidance, reduction, setoff, recoupment, recharacterization, subordination (equitable, contractual or otherwise), counterclaim, defense, disallowance, impairment, objection or any challenges under applicable law or regulation.

Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed DIP Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, on the Effective Date, each Holder of an Allowed DIP Claim shall receive Cash equal to the full amount of its Allowed DIP Claims in full and final satisfaction of such Claims. Distributions to Holders of DIP Claims shall be deemed completed when made to (or at the direction of) the DIP Agent, which shall be deemed to be the Holder of such Claims for purposes of distributions to be made hereunder. Once received by the DIP Agent, distributions shall be made as soon as practicable to the Holders of Allowed DIP Claims in accordance with the DIP Agreement. If the DIP Agent is unable to make, or consents to the Reorganized Debtors making, such distributions, the Reorganized Debtors, with the DIP Agent's cooperation, shall make such distributions to the extent practicable to do so.

Upon the indefeasible payment and satisfaction in full of all Allowed DIP Claims, and termination of all commitments made and incurred pursuant to the DIP Credit Agreement, the DIP Facility Documents and all Liens and security interests granted pursuant to the DIP Facility Documents, whether in the Chapter 11 Cases or otherwise, shall automatically terminate and be of no further force or effect, and all obligations of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, arising out of or related to the DIP Claims shall be automatically discharged and released, in each case, without further action by the DIP Agent or the DIP Lenders. The DIP Agent and the DIP Lenders shall take all actions to effectuate and confirm such termination, release, and discharge as reasonably requested by the Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, in each case at the sole expense of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable.

3.4 Treatment of Priority Tax Claims

Except to the extent that the applicable Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim has been paid by the Debtors before the Effective Date, or such Holder agrees to less favorable treatment, each Holder of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim shall receive, on account of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim, at the option of the Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, (i) payment in full in Cash made on (a) or as soon as reasonably practicable after the Effective Date or (b) the date such payment is due in the ordinary course of business, (ii) regular installment payments in accordance with section 1129(a)(9)(C) of the Bankruptcy Code, or (iii) such other amounts and in such other manner as may be determined by the Bankruptcy Court to provide the Holder of such Allowed Priority Tax Claim deferred Cash payments having a value, as of the Effective Date, equal to such Allowed Priority Tax Claim.

The Reorganized Debtors shall have the right, in their sole discretion, to pay any Allowed Priority Tax Claim or any remaining balance of an Allowed Priority Tax Claim (together with accrued but unpaid interest) in full at any time after the Effective Date without premium or penalty.

3.5 Ad Hoc Lender Group Expenses, Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent Expenses and Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee Expenses

Any outstanding and unpaid Ad Hoc Lender Group Expenses incurred, or estimated to be incurred, up to and including the Effective Date shall be paid in full in Cash on the Effective Date without the requirement to file a fee application with the Bankruptcy Court or comply with any guidelines of the U.S. Trustee, and, subject to the Final DIP Order, without any requirement for review or approval by the Bankruptcy Court or any Entity. All Ad Hoc Lender Group Expenses to be paid on the Effective Date shall be estimated, as necessary, prior to and as of the Effective Date and such estimate shall be delivered to the Debtors; *provided* that such estimate shall not be considered an admission or limitation with respect to such Ad Hoc Lender Group Expenses. In addition, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors shall continue to pay the Ad Hoc Lender Group Expenses, as necessary, after the Effective Date when due and payable in the ordinary course solely to the extent related to implementation, consummation and defense of the Plan, whether incurred before, on or after the Effective Date, without any requirement for review or approval by the Bankruptcy Court or any Entity.

Any outstanding and unpaid Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent Expenses incurred, or estimated to be incurred, up to and including the Effective Date, shall be paid in full in Cash on the Effective Date without the requirement to file a fee application with the Bankruptcy Court or comply with any guidelines of the U.S. Trustee, and, subject to the Final DIP Order, without any requirement for review or approval by the Bankruptcy Court or any Entity. All Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent Expenses to be paid on the Effective Date shall be estimated, as necessary, prior to and as of the Effective Date and such estimate shall be delivered to the Debtors; *provided* that such estimate shall not be considered an admission or limitation with respect to such Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent Expenses.

Any outstanding and unpaid Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee Expenses incurred, or estimated to be incurred, up to and including the Effective Date, shall be paid in full in Cash on the Effective Date without the requirement to file a fee application with the Bankruptcy Court or comply with any guidelines of the U.S. Trustee, and, subject to the Final DIP Order, without any requirement for review or approval by the Bankruptcy Court or any Entity. All Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee Expenses to be paid on the Effective Date shall be estimated, as necessary, prior to and as of the Effective Date and such estimate shall be delivered to the Debtors; *provided* that such estimate shall not be considered an admission or limitation with respect to such Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee Expenses.

3.6 Statutory Fees Payable Pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1930

All fees due and payable pursuant to section 1930 of Title 28 of the U.S. Code prior to the Effective Date shall be paid by the Debtors on the Effective Date. After the Effective Date, the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors shall be jointly and severally liable to pay any and all such fees when due and payable. The Debtors shall file all quarterly reports due prior to the Effective Date when they become due, in a form reasonably acceptable to the U.S. Trustee. After the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall file with the Bankruptcy Court quarterly reports when they become due, in a form reasonably acceptable to the U.S. Trustee, which reports shall include a separate schedule of disbursements made by the Distribution Agent during the applicable period, attested to by an authorized representative of the Distribution Agent. Notwithstanding the substantive consolidation of the Debtors called for in the Plan, each and every one of the Debtors and the Reorganized Debtors shall remain obligated to pay quarterly fees to the U.S. Trustee until the earliest of that particular Debtor's case being closed, dismissed or converted to a case under Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code.

3.7 Payment of Transaction Expenses

On the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall, to the extent invoiced at least two days prior to the Effective Date (which invoice may include good faith estimates of Transaction Expenses to be incurred by a PSA Professional through the Effective Date), pay the Transaction Expenses, in each case, whether accrued prepetition or postpetition, to the extent not otherwise paid during the Chapter 11 Cases; *provided* that any estimated Transaction Expenses shall not be considered an admission or limitation with respect to such PSA Professional's fees and expenses; *provided*, *further*, for the avoidance of doubt, no invoices shall be required to include itemized time detail. The Transaction Expenses shall be payable without the requirement to (a) file retention applications, fee applications, or any other applications in the Chapter 11 Cases, or (b) comply with any guidelines of the U.S. Trustee. The Transaction Expenses shall be Allowed in full as Administrative Claims upon incurrence, and shall not be subject to any offset, defense, counterclaim, reduction, or credit.

The Transaction Expenses described in this Section 3.7 shall (1) not be subject to the Administrative Claims Bar Date and (2) be payable without an application to the Bankruptcy Court and without notice and a hearing.

4. CLASSIFICATION AND TREATMENT OF OTHER CLAIMS AND INTERESTS

Pursuant to sections 1122 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, all Claims and Interests, except for Claims addressed in Section 3 of the Plan, are classified for all purposes as set forth in this Section 4. A Claim or Interest shall be deemed classified in a particular Class only to the extent that the Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of that Class, and shall be deemed classified in a different Class to the extent that any remainder of such Claim or Interest qualifies within the description of such different Class. A Claim or Interest is in a particular Class only to the extent that such Claim or Interest is Allowed in that Class and has not been paid or otherwise satisfied prior to the Effective Date. For any Claim or Interest where a Proof of Claim has been filed, upon payment or satisfaction of such Claim or Interest and notice of such payment or satisfaction to the Holder of such Claim or Interest, such Claim or Interest may be adjusted or expunged on the Claims Register without a claims objection having to be filed and without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

Except as otherwise specifically provided for in the Plan, the Confirmation Order or other order of the Bankruptcy Court, or required by applicable non-bankruptcy law, in no event shall any Holder of an Allowed Claim be entitled to receive payments that in the aggregate exceed the Allowed amount of such Holder's Claim.

4.1 <u>Separate Plan</u>

The Plan constitutes a separate Plan for each Debtor, and the classification of Claims and Interests set forth herein shall apply separately to each of the Debtors. Certain of the Debtors may not have Claims or Interests in a particular Class, and such Claims or Interests shall be treated as set forth herein. For all purposes under the Plan, each Class will contain sub-Classes for each Debtor, except that Classes 10 and 11 shall be vacant at each Debtor other than GMI. Tabulation of votes accepting or rejecting the Plan shall be conducted on a Debtor-by-Debtor basis.

4.2 Summary of Classes and Treatment of Claims Against and Interests in the Debtors

The following table designates the Classes of Claims against and Interests in the Debtors, as applicable, and specifies which of those Classes are (i) Impaired or Unimpaired by the Plan and (ii) entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan in accordance with section 1126 of the Bankruptcy Code or presumed to accept or deemed to reject the Plan.³ All of the potential Classes for the Debtors are set forth herein. Certain of the Debtors may not have Claims or Interests in one or more particular Classes, and such Classes of Claims or Interests shall be treated as set forth in Section 5.3 of the Plan. For all purposes under the Plan, each Class will contain sub Classes for each Debtor, except that Class 10 shall be vacant at each Debtor other than GMI. Tabulation of votes accepting or rejecting the Plan shall be conducted on a Debtor-by-Debtor basis.

The information in the table is provided in summary form, and is qualified in its entirety by Section 4.3 of the Plan.

Class	Designation	Status	Voting Rights
	Other Secured Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote
1			(Presumed to Accept)
	Other Priority Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote
2			(Presumed to Accept)
	Secured Tax Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote
3			(Presumed to Accept)
4	Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
5	Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims	Impaired or Unimpaired	Entitled to Vote
6	Honeywell Plan Claims	Impaired	Entitled to Vote
	General Unsecured Claims	Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote
7			(Presumed to Accept)
	Intercompany Claims	Impaired or Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote
			(Presumed to Accept or Deemed to
8			Reject)
	Intercompany Interests	Impaired or Unimpaired	Not Entitled to Vote
			(Presumed to Accept or Deemed to
9			Reject)
	Section 510(b) Claims	Impaired	Not Entitled to Vote
10			(Deemed to Reject)
11	Existing Common Stock	Impaired	Entitled to Vote

4.3 Treatment of Claims and Interests

4.3.1 Class 1 – Other Secured Claims

- i. Classification: Class 1 consists of all Other Secured Claims.
- ii. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for its Allowed Other Secured Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Other Secured Claim shall receive, at the option of the Plan Sponsors: (A) payment in full in Cash; (B) delivery of the collateral securing its Allowed Other Secured Claim and payment of any interest required under section 506(b) of the Bankruptcy Code; (C) Reinstatement of its Allowed Other Secured Claim; or (D) such other treatment rendering its Allowed Other Secured Claim Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.

iii. *Voting:* Claims in Class 1 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Other Secured Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. No Holder of Other Secured Claims is entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

4.3.2 Class 2 – Other Priority Claims

- i. Classification: Class 2 consists of all Other Priority Claims.
- ii. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Other Priority Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for its Allowed Other Priority Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Other Priority Claim shall receive, at the option of the Plan Sponsors, payment in full in Cash or such other treatment rendering its Allowed Other Priority Claim Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- iii. *Voting:* Claims in Class 2 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Other Priority Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. No Holder of an Other Priority Claim is entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

4.3.3 Class 3 - Secured Tax Claims

- Classification: Class 3 consists of all Secured Tax Claims.
- ii. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of a Secured Tax Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for its Allowed Secured Tax Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Secured Tax Claim shall receive, at the option of the Plan Sponsors: (A) payment in full in Cash of the unpaid portion of such Holder's Allowed Secured Tax Claim on the later of the Effective Date and such date such Secured Tax Claim becomes an Allowed Secured Tax Claim, or (B) equal semi-annual Cash payments commencing as of the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter and continuing for five years from the Petition Date, in an aggregate amount equal to such Allowed Secured Tax Claim, together with interest at the applicable rate under non bankruptcy law, subject to the option of the Reorganized Debtors to prepay some or all of such Allowed Secured Tax Claim at any time during such time period.

iii. *Voting*: Claims in Class 3 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of a Secured Tax Claim is conclusively presumed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. No Holder of a Secured Tax Claim is entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

4.3.4 Class 4 - Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims

- i. Classification: Class 4 consists of all Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims.
- ii. *Allowance*: Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims shall be Allowed as Secured Claims in the aggregate principal amount of no less than \$1,466,710,090,4 *plus* accrued and unpaid interest at the non-default contractual rate up to and including the Effective Date, *plus* additional interest of 1.00% per annum on all outstanding principal and other overdue amounts under the Prepetition Credit Agreement Documents (which amount shall be calculated as simple interest (without any compounding)) from the Petition Date to the Effective Date, *plus* all unpaid costs, fees and expenses outstanding under the Prepetition Credit Agreement Documents as of the Effective Date. For the avoidance of doubt, the Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims shall not be subject to any avoidance, reduction, setoff, recoupment, recharacterization, subordination (equitable, contractual or otherwise), counterclaim, defense, disallowance, objection, or any challenges under applicable law or regulation and any adequate protection payments received during the Chapter 11 Cases on account of a Prepetition Credit Agreement Claim shall not be applied to reduce the principal amount of such Claim unless otherwise ordered by the Court.
- iii. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Prepetition Credit Agreement Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release and discharge of and in exchange for its Allowed Prepetition Credit Agreement Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Prepetition Credit Agreement Claim shall receive on the Effective Date payment in Cash in an amount equal to such Holder's Allowed Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims.
- iv. *Voting*: Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Prepetition Credit Agreement Claim is entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

⁴ This amount assumes a 1.18 USD to EUR currency exchange rate and is subject to Section 9.3.4 of the Plan.

4.3.5 Class 5 - Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims

- . *Classification*: Class 5 consists of all Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims.
- ii. Allowance: Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims shall be Allowed in the aggregate principal amount of €350,000,000, plus accrued and unpaid interest to and including the Effective Date at the non-default contract rate (excluding any interest on account of the Applicable Premium), plus all unpaid costs, fees and expenses outstanding under the Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture as of the Effective Date (excluding the Applicable Premium), plus \$15,000,000 on account of Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims arising under, derived from, or based on the Applicable Premium (to be allocated to each Holder of a Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claim Pro Rata based on the principle amount of its Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claim). For the avoidance of doubt, the Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims shall not be subject to any avoidance, reduction, setoff, recoupment, recharacterization, subordination (equitable, contractual or otherwise), counterclaim, defense, disallowance, objection, or any challenges under applicable law or regulation and any adequate protection payments received during the Chapter 11 Cases on account of a Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claim shall not be applied to reduce the principal amount of such Claim unless otherwise ordered by the Court.
- iii. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release and discharge of and in exchange for its Allowed Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claim shall receive payment in full in Cash on the Effective Date of such Holder's Allowed Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claim.
- iv. *Voting*: Claims in Class 5 are Impaired or Unimpaired. Holders of Allowed Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims will be conditionally solicited.

4.3.6 Class 6 - Honeywell Plan Claims

- i. Classification: Class 6 consists of all Honeywell Plan Claims.
- Treatment: In full and final satisfaction, settlement, release and discharge of and in exchange for each of its Allowed Honeywell

Plan Claims, Honeywell shall receive: (a) a payment of \$375 million in Cash on the Effective Date (which payment shall be allocated first to the Allowed Honeywell Plan Claims arising from the Tax Matters Agreement up to the full amount owing under that agreement) and (b) the Series B Preferred Stock issued on the Effective Date.

iii. *Voting*: Claims in Class 6 are Impaired. Each Holder of an Allowed Honeywell Plan Claim is entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

4.3.7 Class 7 - General Unsecured Claims

- i. *Classification*: Class 7 consists of all General Unsecured Claims.
- ii. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim agrees to less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release and discharge of and in exchange for its Allowed General Unsecured Claim, each Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim shall receive, at the option of the Plan Sponsors: (a) Reinstatement of such Allowed General Unsecured Claim pursuant to section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code; (b) payment in full in Cash (including payment of postpetition interest at a rate sufficient to render such Allowed General Unsecured Claim Unimpaired) on the later of (i) the Effective Date or as soon as reasonably practicable thereafter or (ii) the date such payment is due in the ordinary course of business in accordance with the terms and conditions of the particular transaction giving rise to such Allowed General Unsecured Claim; or (c) such other treatment rendering such Allowed General Unsecured Claim Unimpaired in accordance with section 1124 of the Bankruptcy Code.
- iii. *Voting*: Claims in Class 7 are Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Allowed General Unsecured Claim is conclusively deemed to have accepted the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) of the Bankruptcy Code. No Holder of a General Unsecured Claim is entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

4.3.8 Class 8 - Intercompany Claims

- i. Classification: Class 8 consists of all Intercompany Claims.
- ii. *Treatment*: Each Allowed Intercompany Claim shall be either Reinstated or cancelled and released without any distribution, as reasonably agreed between the Debtors, Honeywell, the Plan Sponsors, and the Requisite Additional Investors.

iii. *Voting*: Claims in Class 8 are Impaired or Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Intercompany Claim is conclusively deemed to have accepted or rejected the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) or 1126(g) of the Bankruptcy Code. No Holder of an Intercompany Claim is entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

4.3.9 <u>Class 9 – Intercompany Interests</u>

- i. Classification: Class 9 consists of all Intercompany Interests.
- ii. *Treatment*: Each Allowed Intercompany Interest shall be either Reinstated or cancelled and released without any distribution, as reasonably agreed between the Debtors, Honeywell, the Plan Sponsors, and the Requisite Additional Investors.
- iii. *Voting*: Interests in Class 9 are Impaired or Unimpaired. Each Holder of an Intercompany Interest is conclusively deemed to have accepted or rejected the Plan pursuant to section 1126(f) or 1126(g) of the Bankruptcy Code. No Holder of an Intercompany Interest is entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

4.3.10 Class 10 - Section 510(b) Claims

- i. *Classification*: Class 10 consists of all Holders of Section 510(b) Claims.
- ii. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of an Allowed Section 510(b) Claim agrees to a less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, and discharge of and in exchange for its Allowed Section 510(b) Claim, each Holder of an Allowed Section 510(b) Claim, if any, shall be entitled to receive, (x) its Pro Rata share of the aggregate Cash payments received or recoverable from any Insurance Policies on account of any Allowed Section 510(b) Claims and (y) solely to the extent that such payments are less than the amount of its Allowed 510(b) Claim, payment in full of the remaining amount of its Allowed 510(b) Claim, at the option of the Reorganized Debtors, in Cash or a number of shares of GMI Common Stock at a value of \$6.25 per share.
- iii. *Voting*: Claims in Class 10 are impaired. Because no Section 510(b) Claims have yet become Allowed Claims, no Holder of a Section 510(b) Claim is entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan. Each Holder of an Allowed Section 510(b) Claim is conclusively presumed to have rejected the Plan pursuant to section 1126(g) of the Bankruptcy Code

4.3.11 Class 11 - Existing Common Stock

- . Classification: Class 11 consists of any and all Holders of Existing Common Stock.
- ii. *Treatment*: Except to the extent that a Holder of Existing Common Stock agrees to a less favorable treatment, in full and final satisfaction, compromise, settlement, release, discharge and cancellation of and in exchange for its shares of Existing Common Stock either, each Holder of Existing Common Stock shall receive (a) its Pro Rata share (determined with respect to all Holders of Existing Common Stock) of the Subscription Rights and (b) either (i) a number of shares of GMI Common Stock equal to the number of shares of Existing Common Stock held by such Holder, or (ii) if such Holder of Existing Common Stock timely exercises its Cash-Out Option, its Cash-Out Consideration, *provided*, *however*, that any Holder of Existing Common Stock that timely exercises its Cash-Out Option may not exercise its Subscription Rights, and any delivery of a Subscription Form or any consideration will be deemed null and void and not accepted (and such consideration promptly returned to the Holder of Existing Common Stock).
- iii. *Voting*: Interests in Class 11 are Impaired. Each Holder of Existing Common Stock is entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

5. ACCEPTANCE OR REJECTION OF THE PLAN

5.1 Voting of Claims or Interests

Each Holder of a Claim or Interest in an Impaired Class that is entitled to vote on the Plan as of the Voting Record Date pursuant to Section 4 of the Plan shall be entitled to vote to accept or reject the Plan.

5.2 Acceptance by Impaired Classes

Pursuant to sections 1126(c) and (d) of the Bankruptcy Code, and except as otherwise provided in section 1126(e) of the Bankruptcy Code, (i) an Impaired Class of Claims shall have accepted the Plan if the Holders of at least two-thirds in dollar amount and more than one-half in number of the Claims of such Class entitled to vote that actually vote on the Plan have voted to accept the Plan and (ii) an Impaired Class of Interests shall have accepted the Plan if the Holders of at least two-thirds in dollar amount of such Class entitled to vote that actually vote on the Plan have voted to accept the Plan. Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims (Class 4), Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims (Class 5), Honeywell Plan Claims (Class 6) and Holders of Existing Common Stock (Class 11) are or may be Impaired, and the votes of Holders of Claims or Interests in such Classes will be solicited. Section 510(b) Claims (Class 9) are Impaired and deemed to reject the Plan, and Claims in such Class will not be solicited. No other votes from any other classes of Claims or Interests will be solicited. If Holders of Claims or Interests in a particular Impaired Class of Claims or Interests were given the opportunity to vote to accept or reject the Plan, but no Holders of Claims or Interests in such Impaired Class voted to accept or reject the Plan, then such Class shall be deemed to have accepted the Plan.

5.3 Elimination of Vacant Classes

Any Class of Claims or Interests that does not have a Holder of an Allowed Claim or Allowed Interest or a Claim or Interest temporarily Allowed by the Bankruptcy Court solely for voting purposes as of the date of the Confirmation Hearing shall be deemed eliminated from the Plan solely for purposes of (i) voting to accept or reject the Plan and (ii) determining acceptance or rejection of the Plan by such Class pursuant to section 1129(a) (8) of the Bankruptcy Code.

5.4 Special Provisions Regarding Unimpaired Claims

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, nothing herein shall be deemed to affect, diminish, or impair the Debtors' or the Reorganized Debtors' rights and defenses, both legal and equitable, with respect to any Reinstated Claim or Unimpaired Claim, including legal and equitable defenses to setoffs or recoupment against Reinstated Claims or Unimpaired Claims; and, except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, nothing herein shall be deemed to be a waiver or relinquishment of any claim, Cause of Action, right of setoff, or other legal or equitable defense which the Debtors now have or had immediately prior to the Petition Date, against or with respect to any Claim that is Unimpaired by the Plan. Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, the Reorganized Debtors shall have, retain, reserve,

and be entitled to assert all such claims, Causes of Action, rights of setoff, and other legal or equitable defenses which the Debtors now have or had immediately prior to the Petition Date fully as if the Chapter 11 Cases had not been commenced, and all of the Reorganized Debtors' legal and equitable rights with respect to any Reinstated Claim or Claim that is Unimpaired by this Plan may be asserted after the Confirmation Date and the Effective Date to the same extent as if the Chapter 11 Cases had not been commenced. Unless Allowed, Claims that are Unimpaired shall remain Disputed Claims under the Plan.

5.5 Confirmation Pursuant to Section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code

If there is one or more rejecting Class of Claims or Interests, the Debtors shall seek Confirmation pursuant to section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to any such rejecting Class or Classes. Subject to Sections 13 and 15.4 of the Plan, the Debtors (subject to the consent of the Plan Sponsors, Honeywell, the Requisite Additional Investors and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders (each, as provided in the Plan Support Agreement), and the Consenting Lenders (as provided in the Restructuring Support Agreement or Plan Support Agreement) reserve the right to amend the Plan to the extent that Confirmation pursuant to section 1129(b) of the Bankruptcy Code requires modification, including by modifying the treatment applicable to a Class of Claims or Interests to render such Class of Claims or Interests Unimpaired to the extent permitted by the Bankruptcy Code and the Bankruptcy Rules.

6. IMPLEMENTATION OF THE PLAN

6.1 Operations Between the Confirmation Date and Effective Date

During the period from the Confirmation Date through and until the Effective Date, the Debtors may continue to operate their businesses as debtors-in-possession in the ordinary course in a manner consistent with past practice in all material respects, and as otherwise necessary to consummate the Plan in accordance with the Plan Support Agreement and Restructuring Support Agreement, subject to all applicable orders of the Bankruptcy Court.

6.2 Sources of Cash for Plan Distributions

Cash payments or distributions to be made hereunder shall be funded from the existing Cash of the Debtors and the Cash proceeds of (a) the purchase of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock by (i) the Plan Sponsors pursuant to the Plan Support Agreement, (ii) the Equity Backstop Parties pursuant to the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, and (iii) Holders of Existing Common Stock pursuant to the Rights Offerings, and (b) the Exit Facilities.

6.3 Purchase of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock by Plan Sponsors

On the Effective Date, the Plan Sponsors shall purchase, and New GMI shall issue to the Plan Sponsors, a number of shares of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock at a purchase price of \$668.8 million in Cash, in the aggregate, consistent with and subject to the terms of the Plan Support Agreement and the Equity Commitment Letters. On the Effective Date, New GMI and the Plan Sponsors shall be deemed to be parties to, or the Convertible Series A Preferred Stock shall otherwise be governed by, the Convertible Series A Certificate of Designation, without the need for execution by the Plan Sponsors.

6.4 Rights Offerings of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock

The Debtors will implement the Rights Offerings in accordance with the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement and the Rights Offering Procedures. The 1145 Rights Offering shall consist of a distribution of 1145 Subscription Rights to acquire Convertible Series A Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$399,357,136.50, with each 1145 Eligible Holder having the right to subscribe for one share of Convertible Series A Stock for a per share price of \$5.25 for each share of Existing Common Stock held by such 1145 Eligible Holder as of the Record Date, in accordance with the Solicitation Procedures Order. The Accredited Investor Rights Offering shall consist of a distribution of Accredited Investor Subscription Rights to acquire Convertible Series A Preferred Stock for an aggregate purchase price of approximately \$179,291,722.55, with each Accredited Investor Eligible Holder having the right to subscribe for a pro rata amount of Accredited Investor Offered Shares, in accordance with the Solicitation Procedures Order. The 1145 Eligible Holders eligible to exercise their 1145 Subscription Rights in the 1145 Rights Offering will include only those holders of Existing Common Stock as of the Record Date that do not exercise their Cash-Out Option. The Accredited Investor Eligible Holders eligible to exercise their Accredited Investor Subscription Rights in the Accredited Investor Rights Offering will include only those holders of Existing Common Stock that (i) do not exercise their Cash-Out Option and (ii) are "accredited investors" within the meaning of Rule 501 under Regulation D of the Securities Act and have provided the certifications and verifying documentation required under the Accredited Investor Rights Offering Procedures.

The Equity Backstop Parties have agreed to (i) exercise their Subscription Rights received in the Rights Offerings, (ii) exercise their Subscription Rights received on account of the Backstop Commitment Fee Allocation, and (iii) purchase (on a several and not joint basis) all of the Offered Shares of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock subject to the Rights Offerings that are not purchased by other Eligible Holders, in each case, as set forth in the Plan Support Agreement and Plan Term Sheet and subject to and in accordance with the terms of the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement.

On the Effective Date, New GMI, the Equity Backstop Parties, and the Eligible Holders of Existing Common Stock that exercise their Subscription Rights in the Rights Offerings shall be deemed to be parties to or the Convertible Series A Preferred Stock shall otherwise be governed by the Convertible Series A Certificate of Designations, without the need for execution by such parties.

6.5 Plan Support Agreement and Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement

To the extent not previously approved pursuant to an order of the Bankruptcy Court authorizing entry into the Plan Support Agreement, the Equity Commitment Letters, and the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, entry into each of the Plan Support Agreement, the Equity Commitment Letters, and the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement shall be authorized by the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to the Confirmation Order and the Debtors shall continue to perform thereunder and comply therewith in all respects through and including the Effective Date.

6.6 <u>Honeywell Settlement and Make-Whole Settlement</u>

Confirmation of the Plan shall constitute the approval of the Honeywell Settlement under section 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date. The Honeywell Settlement is inseverable from the Plan and Honeywell has agreed to the Honeywell Settlement solely in the context of, and the Honeywell Settlement is predicated on the occurrence of the Effective Date of, (a) the Plan and (b) Centerbridge and Oaktree serving as Plan Sponsors and PSA Investors. The entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval of the Honeywell Settlement under section 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code in connection with the Plan and Bankruptcy Rule 9019, as well as a finding by the Bankruptcy Court that, taking into consideration and in the context of the global resolution of multiple Claims, Causes of Action, and disputes among the Debtors and Honeywell, and the value of the Plan to the Debtors and their Estates, taken as a whole, the Honeywell Settlement is fair, equitable, reasonable, and in the best interests of the Debtors and their Estates. On the Effective Date, the Honeywell Litigation shall be deemed dismissed with prejudice.

Confirmation of the Plan shall constitute the approval of the Make-Whole Settlement under section 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019, subject to the occurrence of the Effective Date. The entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval of the Make-Whole Settlement under section 1123(b)(3) of the Bankruptcy Code in connection with the Plan and Bankruptcy Rule 9019, as well as a finding by the Bankruptcy Court that, taking into consideration and in the context of the resolution of the Make-Whole Litigation, and the value of the Plan to the Debtors and their Estates, taken as a whole, the Make-Whole Settlement is fair, equitable, reasonable, and in the best interests of the Debtors and their Estates. On the Effective Date, the Make-Whole Litigation shall be deemed dismissed with prejudice.

6.7 Acceleration of Vested Options and Assumption of Outstanding Equity Awards

Immediately prior to the effectiveness of the Plan, (a) outstanding GMI Options will accelerate and vest in full (to the extent not yet vested), (b) vested GMI Options (including those GMI Options that vested prior to the Effective Date under their terms) shall be deemed exercised on a net settled basis, and (c) the shares of GMI Common Stock that would be provided upon the exercise of such GMI Options shall be deemed outstanding as of the Effective Date. Each deemed Holder of GMI Common Stock in respect of such exercised GMI Options shall be deemed to have exercised its Cash-Out Option with respect to such shares of GMI Common Stock. GMI Options that are "out of the money" shall be cancelled for no consideration. Additionally, immediately prior to the effectiveness of the Plan, outstanding GMI PSUs, GMI CPSUs and GMI RSUs will accelerate and vest pursuant to the terms of the applicable award agreements except that GMI CPSUs (which are held by non-insiders of the Debtors) (and, for the avoidance of doubt, GMI PSUs) will vest at target performance without proration (rather than actual performance with proration as provided in the GMI CPSU award agreements) in order to treat the holders of CPSUs consistently with the terms of the Stock Incentive Plan and other GMI Common Stock Rights holders. Such vested GMI RSUs and GMI PSUs, as applicable, will each entitle each Holder thereof to the number of shares of GMI Common Stock underlying each such award, in each case determined in accordance with the terms of the applicable award agreement, and the shares of GMI Common Stock that vest as a result thereof shall be deemed outstanding as of the Effective Date and each such Holder shall be deemed to have exercised its Cash-Out Option with respect to such shares of GMI Common Stock (and therefore, be entitled to a cash payment of \$6.25 (or such equivalent amount in a foreign currency) per underlying share (i.e., the Cash-Out Consideration)). Such vested GMI CPSUs will each entitle the Holder thereof to an amount in Cash de

The foregoing treatment shall be subject to the terms of the Management Side Letters. As a condition to each Management Side Letter Recipient's receipt of proceeds in connection with the foregoing, such individual must first execute his or her Management Side Letter. The aggregate amount payable in connection with the foregoing shall not exceed \$11,500,000. GMI shall not issue, award or grant any additional equity-based or equity-linked incentive awards prior to the Effective Date.

6.8 New Preferred Stock

On the Effective Date, New GMI's governing documents shall have provided for the issuance of authorized New Preferred Stock and New GMI shall issue or reserve for issuance a sufficient number of shares of New Preferred Stock as required to make distributions pursuant to the Plan. The shares of New Preferred Stock issued in connection with the Plan and any shares of GMI Common Stock issuable upon conversion of such shares of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock, including in connection with the consummation of the Rights Offerings and the transactions contemplated by the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, shall be authorized without the need for further corporate action or without any further action by any Person and, once issued, shall be duly authorized, validly issued, fully paid and non-assessable.

6.9 Exemption from Registration

The Debtors believe that, subject to certain exceptions described below, various provisions of the Securities Act, the Bankruptcy Code and applicable state securities laws ("<u>Blue Sky Laws</u>") exempt from federal and state securities registration requirements (a) the offering, issuance, exchange, distribution or sale of Securities pursuant to the Plan and (b) subsequent transfers of such Securities.

Except with respect to any Person that is an underwriter as defined in section 1145(b) of the Bankruptcy Code or an "affiliate" as defined in the Securities Act, as applicable, the issuance of the Subscription Rights to 1145 Eligible Holders and Accredited Investor Eligible Holders, the issuance of 1145 Offered Shares to 1145 Eligible Holders in the 1145 Rights Offering pursuant to the 1145 Rights Offering Procedures, the issuance of the Backstop Commitment Fee Shares to the Equity Backstop Parties in accordance with the terms of the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, the issuance of Series B Preferred Stock to Honeywell and the issuance of GMI Common Stock to Holders of Existing Common Stock under Article IV of the Plan shall be exempt from registration under Section 5 of the Securities Act (and any applicable Blue Sky Laws) under section 1145(a)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code. In addition, the issuance to Accredited Investor Eligible Holders of Accredited Investor Offered Shares in the Accredited Investor Rights Offering Procedures and the issuance of shares of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock (including Unsubscribed Shares) to the PSA Investors pursuant to the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement and the Plan Support Agreement shall be exempt from registration under Section 5 of the Securities Act in reliance upon the registration exemption provided in Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act (including, with respect to the Accredited Investor Offered Shares issued under the Accredited Investor Rights Offering, Rule 506 of Regulation D thereunder).

To the extent section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code is applicable, the Securities to be issued under the Plan (a) are not "restricted securities" as defined in Rule 144(a)(3) under the Securities Act, and (b) are freely tradable and transferable by any initial recipient thereof that (i) is not an "affiliate" of the Debtors as defined in Rule 144(a)(1) under the Securities Act, (ii) has not been such an "affiliate" within 90 days of such transfer, and (iii) is not an entity that is an "underwriter" as defined in Section 1145(b) of the Bankruptcy Code. In addition, securities

governed by section 1145 of the Bankruptcy Code generally may be able to be resold without registration under applicable Blue Sky Laws pursuant to various exemptions provided by the respective Blue Sky Laws of the various states; however, the availability of such exemptions cannot be known unless individual states' Blue Sky Laws are examined, and recipients of Securities are advised to consult with their own legal advisors as to the availability of any such exemption from registration in any given instance. Should New GMI elect on or after the Effective Date to reflect any ownership of the Securities to be issued under the Plan through the facilities of DTC, New GMI need not provide any further evidence other than the Plan or the Confirmation Order with respect to the treatment of the Securities to be issued under the Plan under applicable securities laws. DTC shall be required to accept and conclusively rely upon the Plan and Confirmation Order in lieu of a legal opinion regarding whether the Securities to be issued under the Plan are exempt from registration and/or eligible for DTC book-entry delivery, settlement, and depository services. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no entity (including, for the avoidance of doubt, DTC) may require a legal opinion regarding the validity of any transaction contemplated by the Plan, including, for the avoidance of doubt, whether the Securities to be issued under the Plan are exempt from registration and/or eligible for DTC book-entry delivery, settlement, and depository services.

To the extent Securities are issued pursuant to the Plan in reliance on section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act (including, with respect to the issuance of the Accredited Investor Offering Shares in the Accredited Investor Rights Offering, Rule 506 of Regulation D thereunder), the offering, issuance, exchange, or distribution of such Securities pursuant to the Plan shall be conducted in a manner that is exempt from, among other things, the registration requirements of section 5 of the Securities Act. Section 4(a)(2) of the Securities Act exempts transactions not involving a public offering, and Regulation D provides a safe harbor under section 4(a)(2) for transactions that meet certain requirements, including that the investors participating therein qualify as "accredited investors" within the meaning of Rule 501 under Regulation D of the Securities Act ("Accredited Investors"). The Accredited Investor Rights Offering is structured to be available only to Holders who certify that they are Accredited Investors and who submit documentation allowing verification of their status as Accredited Investors. Any such Securities shall be "restricted securities" as defined in Rule 144(a) (3) under the Securities Act and shall only be transferable if registered under the Securities Act or if transferred pursuant to an exemption from the registration requirements of the Securities Act and other applicable securities laws.

Should New GMI elect on or after the Effective Date to reflect any ownership of the Securities to be issued under the Plan through the facilities of DTC, New GMI need not provide any further evidence other than the Plan or the Confirmation Order with respect to the treatment of the Securities to be issued under the Plan under applicable securities laws. DTC shall be required to accept and conclusively rely upon the Plan and Confirmation Order in lieu of a legal opinion regarding whether the Securities to be issued under the Plan are exempt from registration and/or eligible for DTC book-entry delivery, settlement, and depository services. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, no entity (including, for the avoidance of doubt, DTC) may require a legal opinion regarding the validity of any transaction contemplated by the Plan, including, for the avoidance of doubt, whether the Securities to be issued under the Plan are exempt from registration and/or eligible for DTC book-entry delivery, settlement, and depository services.

New GMI shall take such steps as are reasonably necessary to list the GMI Common Stock on a national exchange.

6.10 Registration Rights Agreement and Series A Investor Rights Agreement

On the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall enter into and perform and execute and deliver the Registration Rights Agreement and the Series A Investor Rights Agreement and take all actions required by the Registration Rights Agreement and the Series A Investor Rights Agreement, subject to and in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Plan Support Agreement and the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement.

6.11 Exit Facilities

On the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall enter into and perform and execute and deliver the Exit Facilities Documents to which such Reorganized Debtor is contemplated to be a party on the Effective Date. The Reorganized Debtors shall borrow under such Exit Facilities and use the proceeds of such borrowings for any purpose permitted thereunder, including to fund distributions under and in accordance with the Plan, and ongoing business operations, and for general corporate purposes and working capital needs. Without limiting the foregoing, the Reorganized Debtors shall pay, as and when due, all fees, expenses, losses, damages, indemnities and other amounts, including any applicable refinancing premiums and applicable exit fees, provided under the DIP Facilities Documents related to the DIP Facilities and/or the Exit Facilities Documents relating to such Exit Facilities.

Confirmation of the Plan shall be deemed (a) approval of the Exit Facilities and all transactions contemplated hereby and thereby, and all actions to be taken, undertakings to be made, and obligations to be incurred by the Reorganized Debtors in connection therewith, including the payment of all fees, expenses, losses, damages, indemnities and other amounts provided for by the Exit Facilities Documents, and (b) authorization for the Reorganized Debtors to enter into and perform under the Exit Facilities Documents. The Exit Facilities Documents shall constitute legal, valid, binding and authorized obligations of the Reorganized Debtors, enforceable in accordance with their terms. The financial accommodations to be extended pursuant to the Exit Facilities Documents are being extended, and shall be deemed to have been extended, in good faith, for legitimate business purposes, are reasonable, shall not be subject to avoidance, recharacterization or subordination (including equitable subordination) for any purposes whatsoever, and shall not constitute preferential transfers, fraudulent conveyances or other voidable transfers under the Bankruptcy Code or any other applicable non-bankruptcy law.

On the Effective Date, all of the liens and security interests to be granted in accordance with the Exit Facilities Documents (a) shall be deemed to be approved; (b) shall be legal, binding and enforceable liens on, and security interests in, the collateral granted under respective Exit Facilities Documents in accordance with the terms of the Exit Facilities Documents; (c)(i) shall be deemed perfected on the Effective Date, and (ii) the priorities of such

liens and security interests shall be as set forth in the respective Exit Facilities Documents, in the case of this clause (ii), subject only to such liens and security interests as may be permitted under the Exit Facilities Documents; and (d) shall not be subject to avoidance, recharacterization, or subordination (including equitable subordination) for any purposes whatsoever and shall not constitute preferential transfers, fraudulent conveyances or other voidable transfers under the Bankruptcy Code or any applicable non-bankruptcy law. The Reorganized Debtors and the secured parties (and their designees and agents) under such Exit Facilities Documents shall make all filings and recordings, and to obtain all governmental approvals and consents to establish and perfect such liens and security interests under the provisions of the applicable state, provincial, federal or other law (whether domestic or foreign) that would be applicable in the absence of the Plan and the Confirmation Order (it being understood that perfection of the liens and security interests granted under the Exit Facilities Documents shall occur automatically by virtue of the entry of the Confirmation Order and funding on or after the Effective Date, and any such filings, recordings, approvals and consents shall not be necessary or required), and will thereafter cooperate to make all other filings and recordings that otherwise would be necessary under applicable law to give notice of such liens and security interests to third parties. To the extent that any Holder of a Secured Claim that has been satisfied or discharged pursuant to the Plan, or any agent for such Holder, has filed or recorded any liens and/or security interests to secure such Holder's Secured Claim, then as soon as practicable on or after the Effective Date, such Holder (or the agent for such Holder), at the Reorganized Debtors' expense, shall take any and all steps requested by the Debtors, Reorganized Debtors or any administrative agent under the Exit Facilities Documents that are necessary to cancel and/or extinguish such liens and/or security interests (it being understood that such liens and security interests held by Holders of Secured Claims that are satisfied on the Effective Date pursuant to the Plan shall be automatically canceled/or extinguished automatically on the Effective Date by virtue of the entry of the Confirmation Order).

6.12 Management Incentive Plan

Following the Effective Date, a management incentive plan shall provide for GMI Common Stock or similar interests in New GMI to be reserved for directors, officers, or employees of the Reorganized Debtors, as determined by the New Board.

6.13 Dilution of GMI Common Stock After the Effective Date

All GMI Common Stock shall be subject to dilution by (i) the issuance of GMI Common Stock in respect of Section 510(b) Claims, if any, (ii) any management incentive plan established by New GMI following the Effective Date, (iii) the conversion of any Convertible Series A Preferred Stock following the Effective Date, and (iv) any issuance of GMI Common Stock (other than in connection with the Plan) that is validly effectuated by New GMI following the Effective Date, including in connection with any conversion of any shares of Convertible Series A Preferred Stock into GMI Common Stock.

6.14 Organizational Existence

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, each Debtor shall, as a Reorganized Debtor, continue to exist after the Effective Date as a separate legal Entity, each with all the powers of a corporation or other form of organization, as applicable, under the laws of its respective jurisdiction of organization and without prejudice to any right to alter or terminate such existence (whether by merger or otherwise) under the law of the applicable state or other jurisdiction.

6.15 Retention of Professionals

The Reorganized Debtors shall have the right to retain the services of attorneys, accountants, and other professionals on their own behalf that, in the discretion of the Reorganized Debtors, are necessary to assist the Reorganized Debtors in the performance of their duties and to administer the Plan. The payment of the reasonable and documented fees and expenses of the retained professionals of the Reorganized Debtors shall not be subject to the approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

6.16 Cancellation of Existing Interests, Existing Indebtedness and Related Agreements

On the Effective Date, except as otherwise specifically provided for in this Plan, all rights of any Holder of Interests in the Debtors, including, without limitation, options or warrants to purchase Interests, or obligating the Debtors to issue, transfer or sell Interests of the Debtors, shall be cancelled.

Upon the indefeasible payment in full in Cash of its Allowed Prepetition Credit Agreement Claim or Allowed Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claim, each Holder of such Allowed Claim shall be deemed to have surrendered its respective loan or note, and all such surrendered loans, notes, loan documents and indentures shall be deemed to be cancelled as to the Debtors pursuant to this Section 6.16 of the Plan, except to the extent otherwise provided herein. Such Claims shall be cancelled solely with respect to the Debtors, and such cancellation shall not alter the obligations or rights of any non-Debtor third parties vis-à-vis one another with respect to such Claims.

Upon the indefeasible payment in full in Cash of all Allowed Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims and Allowed Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims, or promptly thereafter, Holders of such Allowed Claims shall deliver to the Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, any termination statements, instruments of satisfaction, or releases of all security interests with respect to its Allowed Claim that may reasonably be required in order to terminate any related financing statements, mortgages, mechanic's liens, or *lis pendens*, and take any and all other steps reasonably requested by the Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, that are necessary to cancel and/or extinguish any Liens or security interests securing such Holder's Claim; *provided*, *however*, that the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall be solely responsible for all costs and expenses associated with any of the foregoing actions or requests.

Except as otherwise set forth herein, upon the indefeasible payment in full in Cash of all Allowed Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims and Allowed Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims, the Prepetition Credit Agreement Documents and Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture, respectively, shall terminate, except as necessary to (i) enforce the rights and Claims of the respective agent or trustee vis-à-vis the applicable lenders or holders and any parties other than the Debtors, including, for avoidance of doubt, pursuant to the Intercreditor Agreement, (ii) allow the respective agent or trustee to receive distributions under the Plan and to distribute them to the applicable lenders or holders in accordance with the terms of the applicable documents, and (iii) preserve any rights of the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent and Senior Subordinated Notes Paying Agent to payment of outstanding fees, expenses and indemnification obligations as against any money or property distributable to Holders of Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims or Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims under the Prepetition Credit Agreement Documents and Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture, respectively.

If the record Holder of Senior Subordinated Notes is DTC or its nominee or another securities depository or custodian thereof, and such Senior Subordinated Notes are represented by a global security held by or on behalf of DTC or such other securities depository or custodian, then each Holder of the applicable Senior Subordinated Notes shall be deemed to have surrendered such Holder's note, debenture, or other evidence of indebtedness upon surrender of such global security by DTC or such other securities depository or custodian thereof.

6.17 Additional Implementing Transactions

On the Effective Date, the applicable Debtors shall, in accordance with the Plan Support Agreement and Restructuring Support Agreement and subject to the consent rights of the Commitment Parties and Consenting Lenders, respectively, thereunder, enter into any transaction and shall take any actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effect the transactions described herein, including, as applicable, the issuance of all securities, notes, instruments, certificates and other documents required to be issued pursuant to the Plan, one or more intercompany mergers, consolidations, amalgamations, arrangements, continuances, restructurings, conversions, dispositions, dissolutions, transfers, liquidations, spinoffs, intercompany sales, purchases, or other corporate transactions, including, without limitation, any Restructuring Transaction contemplated by the Plan Support Agreement or Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement (collectively, the "Restructuring Transactions").

6.18 Section 1146 Exemption from Certain Transfer Taxes and Recording Fees

Pursuant to, and to the fullest extent permitted by, section 1146(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, any transfers from the Debtors to the Reorganized Debtors or to any other Entity, pursuant to, in contemplation of, or in connection with the Plan (including any transfer pursuant to: (i) the issuance, distribution, transfer, or exchange of any debt, equity security, or other interest in the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors; (ii) the creation, modification, consolidation, assumption, termination, refinancing and/or recording of any mortgage, deed of trust or other security interest, or the securing of additional indebtedness by such or other means; (iii) the making, assignment or recording of any lease or sublease; (iv) the grant of collateral as

security for any or all of the New Exit Facilities; or (v) the making, delivery or recording of any deed or other instrument of transfer under, in furtherance of, or in connection with, the Plan, including any deeds, bills of sale, assignments or other instrument of transfer executed in connection with any transaction arising out of, contemplated by, or in any way related to the Plan) shall not be subject to any document recording tax, stamp tax, conveyance fee, intangibles or similar tax, mortgage tax, real estate transfer tax, sales and use tax, mortgage recording tax, Uniform Commercial Code filing or recording fee, regulatory filing or recording fee, or other similar tax or governmental assessment, and the appropriate state or local government officials or agents shall, and shall be directed to, forgo the collection of any such tax, recordation fee or government assessment and to accept for filing and recordation any of the foregoing instruments or other documents without the payment of any such tax, recordation fee or government assessment. The Bankruptcy Court shall retain specific jurisdiction with respect to these matters.

6.19 Insurance Policies

All Insurance Policies (including tail coverage liability insurance), surety bonds, and indemnity agreements entered into in connection with surety bonds to which any Debtor is a party as of the Effective Date shall be deemed to be and treated as Executory Contracts and shall be assumed by the applicable Debtor or Reorganized Debtor and shall continue in full force and effect thereafter in accordance with their respective terms. Nothing in the Plan, including any releases, shall diminish or impair the enforceability of any Insurance Policies or other policies of insurance that may cover insurance claims or other claims against the Debtors or any other Person and such policies shall continue in full force and effect after the Effective Date in accordance with their respective terms.

6.20 Preservation of Causes of Action

Except as otherwise provided in Section 11 or the other provisions of the Plan, as of the Effective Date, each Cause of Action of the Debtors shall be preserved and, along with the exclusive right to enforce such Cause of Action, shall vest exclusively in the applicable Reorganized Debtor. Unless a Cause of Action is expressly waived, relinquished, released or compromised in the Plan or an order of the Bankruptcy Court, the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, expressly reserve such Cause of Action for later adjudication and, accordingly, no doctrine of *res judicata*, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim preclusion, estoppel (judicial, equitable or otherwise), laches or other preclusion doctrine shall apply to such Cause of Action as a consequence of the Confirmation, the Plan, the vesting of such Cause of Action in the Reorganized Debtors, any order of the Bankruptcy Court or these Chapter 11 Cases. **No Person may rely on the absence of a specific reference in the Plan or the Disclosure Statement to any Cause of Action against them as an indication that the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, will not pursue such Cause of Action.**

6.21 Effectuating Documents and Further Transactions

The Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, may take all actions to execute, deliver, file or record such contracts, instruments, releases and other agreements or documents, and take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate and implement the provisions of the Plan. The secretary and any assistant secretary of each Debtor or Reorganized Debtor shall be authorized to certify or attest to any of the foregoing actions.

Prior to, on or after the Effective Date (as appropriate), all matters provided for pursuant to the Plan that would otherwise require approval of the shareholders, directors or members of the Debtors shall be deemed to have been so approved and shall be in effect prior to, on or after the Effective Date (as appropriate), pursuant to applicable law, and without any requirement of further action by the shareholders, directors, managers or partners of the Debtors, or the need for any approvals, authorizations, actions or consents.

On the Effective Date, the organizational documents of the Reorganized Debtors shall become effective without further action from any Person or Entity, and shall be binding and enforceable upon each of the parties thereto.

6.22 Pension Plan.

Upon the Effective Date, New GMI shall be deemed to have assumed the Pension Plan and shall comply with all applicable statutory provisions of ERISA and the IRC, including, but not limited to, satisfying the minimum funding standards pursuant to 26 U.S.C. §§ 412, 430, and 29 U.S.C. §§ 1082, 1083; paying the PBGC premiums in accordance with 29 U.S.C. §§ 1306 and 1307; and administering the Pension Plan in accordance with its terms and the provisions of ERISA and the IRC. In the event that the Pension Plan terminates after the Effective Date, New GMI and each of its controlled group members will be responsible for the liabilities imposed by Title IV of ERISA.

Notwithstanding any provision of the Plan, the Confirmation Order or the Bankruptcy Code (including section 1141 thereof) to the contrary, neither the Plan, the Confirmation Order, nor the Bankruptcy Code shall be construed as discharging, releasing, exculpating, or relieving any applicable Person or Entity from any liability or responsibility with respect to the Pension Plan under any law, governmental policy, or regulatory provision. PBGC and the Pension Plan shall not be enjoined or precluded from enforcing such liability or responsibility against any such Person or Entity as a result of any of the provisions of the Plan, the Confirmation Order, or the Bankruptcy Code. All proofs of claim filed by PBGC shall be deemed withdrawn upon the Effective Date.

7. PROVISIONS REGARDING GOVERNANCE OF THE REORGANIZED DEBTORS

7.1 Organizational Action

On and after the Effective Date, the adoption, filing, approval, and ratification, as necessary, of all limited liability company, corporate, or related actions contemplated hereby for each of the Reorganized Debtors shall be deemed authorized and approved in all respects. Without limiting the foregoing, such actions may include: (i) the adoption of the organizational documents of the Reorganized Debtors, (ii) the nomination, election, or appointment, as the case may be, of officers, directors, managers, board of managers, or managing members for New GMI (or the other Reorganized Debtors), (iii) the issuance of the Securities contemplated by the Plan, (iv) the Restructuring Transactions to be effectuated pursuant to the Plan and (v) the qualification of any Reorganized Debtors as foreign corporations if and wherever the conduct of business by such entities requires such qualifications, in each case, consistent with the Plan Support Agreement.

All matters provided for herein involving the organizational structure of any Debtor or any Reorganized Debtor, or any limited liability company or corporate action required by any Debtor or any Reorganized Debtor in connection with the Plan, shall be deemed to have occurred and shall be in effect, without any requirement of further action by the security holders or directors of such Debtor or Reorganized Debtor or by any other stakeholder or any other corporate action.

On and after the Effective Date, the appropriate officers of each Reorganized Debtor and members of the board of directors, board of managers, or equivalent body of each Reorganized Debtor are authorized and directed to issue, execute, deliver, file, and record any and all agreements, documents, securities, deeds, bills of sale, conveyances, releases, and instruments contemplated by the Plan in the name of and on behalf of such Reorganized Debtor and to take such actions as may be necessary or appropriate to effectuate and further evidence the terms and conditions of the Plan.

7.2 Organizational Documents

The organizational documents of the Reorganized Debtors, including the certificate of incorporation and bylaws of New GMI, shall be amended or adopted or deemed amended or adopted as may be required to be consistent with the provisions of the Plan (including the Plan Supplement) and the Bankruptcy Code including, among other purposes, to authorize the new Interests in the Reorganized Debtors (including as provided in the governance documents of the Reorganized Debtors). After the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors may amend and restate their certificates of incorporation, bylaws, certificates of formation, operating agreements or other analogous organizational documents, as applicable, as permitted by the terms thereof and applicable law and may file amended and restated certificates of incorporation (or other formation documents, if applicable) with the Secretary of State in any appropriate jurisdiction.

7.3 <u>Directors and Officers of the Reorganized Debtors</u>

On the Effective Date, the management, control and operation of each Reorganized Debtor shall become the general responsibility of the board of managers, directors, members or managing members, as applicable, of such Reorganized Debtor or other governing body as provided in the applicable governing documents.

On the Effective Date, the term of the Current Directors shall expire, such Current Directors shall cease to hold office or have any authority from or after such time, and such Current Directors shall be replaced by the New Board. The New Board shall initially consist of nine directors elected or nominated in accordance with the Plan Support Agreement and the Series A Investor Rights Agreement.

The classification and composition of the New Board shall be consistent with applicable non-bankruptcy law and the terms of the New GMI's governing documents. In the Plan Supplement, to the extent known, the Debtors will disclose, pursuant to section 1129(a)(5) of the Bankruptcy Code, the identity and affiliations of the Persons proposed to serve on the New Board. The New Board members shall serve from and after the Effective Date in accordance with applicable non-bankruptcy law and the terms of the New GMI's governing documents.

Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained in the Plan, confirmation of the Plan shall not discharge, impair or otherwise modify any advancement, indemnity or other obligations of the D&O Insurance Policies. In addition, after the Effective Date, none of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors shall terminate or otherwise reduce the coverage under the D&O Insurance Policies with respect to conduct occurring prior to the Effective Date, and all directors and officers of the Debtors who served in such capacity at any time prior to the Effective Date shall be entitled from the insurers to the full benefits of any such policy for the full term of such policy regardless of whether such directors and officers remain in such positions after the Effective Date.

As of the Effective Date, each Reorganized Debtor shall be authorized to procure and maintain directors' and officers' liability insurance policies for the benefit of its respective directors, officers, members, trustees and managers in the ordinary course of business.

8. EXECUTORY CONTRACTS AND UNEXPIRED LEASES

8.1 Assumption and Rejection of Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

All Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases other than the Honeywell Terminated Agreements will be deemed assumed, and the Honeywell Terminated Agreements that are Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases will be deemed rejected as of the Effective Date in accordance with sections 365 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code, pursuant to the Honeywell Settlement.

Entry of the Confirmation Order by the Bankruptcy Court shall constitute an order approving the assumptions or rejections of such Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases as set forth in the Plan, all pursuant to sections 365(a) and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and effective on the occurrence of the Effective Date. Each Executory Contract and Unexpired Lease assumed pursuant to the Plan or by Bankruptcy Court order shall revest in and be fully enforceable by the applicable contracting Reorganized Debtor in accordance with its terms, except as such terms may have been modified by the Debtors and the applicable counterparty, or by order of the Bankruptcy Court. To the maximum extent permitted by law, to the extent any provision in any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease assumed pursuant to the Plan restricts or prevents, or purports to restrict or prevent, or is breached or deemed breached by, the assumption of such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease (including any "change of control" provision), then such provision shall be deemed modified such that the transactions contemplated by the Plan shall not entitle any party thereto (whether a Debtor, Reorganized Debtor, or non-Debtor Entity) to terminate such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or to exercise any other default-related rights with respect thereto.

8.2 Objections to and Cure of Defaults for Assumed Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases

To the extent a monetary default exists under an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease proposed to be assumed pursuant to the Plan, such monetary default shall be satisfied, pursuant to section 365(b)(1) of the Bankruptcy Code, by payment of the applicable Cure Cost by the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, on the Effective Date or promptly thereafter, in the ordinary course of business, or on such other terms as the parties to such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease may otherwise agree.

Objections to the assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or any applicable Cure Cost shall be made in accordance with the Solicitation Procedures Order.

Assumption of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease pursuant to the Plan or otherwise shall result in the full release and satisfaction of any Claims held by the non-Debtor Entity party thereto against, or defaults, including defaults of provisions restricting the change in control or ownership interest composition or other bankruptcy-related defaults, by, the applicable Debtor(s) arising under any assumed Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease at any time prior to the effective date of the assumption; *provided*, *however*, that the counterparty to such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease may seek additional amount(s) on account of any defaults occurring between the filing of the notice of assumption and the occurrence of the Effective Date of the Plan.

Any Proofs of Claim filed with respect to an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that has been assumed shall be deemed disallowed and expunged, without further notice to or action, order, or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

8.3 Modifications, Amendments, Supplements, Restatements or Other Agreements

Unless otherwise provided in the Plan, each Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that is assumed shall include all modifications, amendments, supplements, restatements or other agreements that in any manner affect such Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, including easements, licenses, permits, rights, privileges, immunities, options, rights of first refusal and any other interests, unless any of the foregoing agreements has been previously rejected or repudiated or is rejected or repudiated under the Plan.

Modifications, amendments, supplements, and restatements to prepetition Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases that have been executed by the Debtors during the Chapter 11 Cases shall not be deemed to alter the prepetition nature of the Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease, or the validity, priority or amount of any Claims or Interests that may arise in connection therewith.

8.4 Indemnification and Reimbursement Obligations

On and from the Effective Date, and except as prohibited by applicable law or subject to the limitations set forth herein, the Reorganized Debtors shall be deemed to have assumed all indemnification obligations currently in place for the Debtors' directors, officers, managers, employees, attorneys, other professionals, and agents, whether in the bylaws, certificates of incorporation (or other formation documents), board resolutions, employment contracts or other agreements of the Debtors.

8.5 Reservation of Rights

Nothing contained in the Plan, nor the Debtors' delivery of a notice of proposed assumption of a contract or lease to the applicable contract and lease counterparties, shall constitute an admission by the Debtors that any such contract or lease is in fact an Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease or that any Debtor or Reorganized Debtor would have any liability thereunder.

Notwithstanding any non-bankruptcy law to the contrary, the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve and do not waive any right to receive, or any continuing obligation of a counterparty to provide, warranties or continued maintenance obligations on goods previously purchased, or services previously received, by the contracting Debtors from counterparties to rejected Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases.

9. PROVISIONS GOVERNING DISTRIBUTIONS

9.1 <u>Distribution Agents</u>

The Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, shall have the authority, each in their or its sole discretion, to enter into agreements with one or more Distribution Agents to facilitate the distributions required hereunder. To the extent the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, determine to utilize a Distribution Agent to facilitate any distributions, such Distribution Agent would first be required to: (i) affirm its obligation to facilitate the prompt distribution of any recoveries or distributions required under the Plan, and (iii) waive any right or ability to set off, deduct from or assert any Lien or other encumbrance against the distributions required under the Plan to be distributed by such Distribution Agent.

The Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, may pay to the Distribution Agents all of their reasonable and documented fees and expenses without the need for any approvals, authorizations, actions or consents of the Bankruptcy Court or otherwise. The Distribution Agents shall submit detailed invoices to counsel to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors for all fees and expenses for which the Distribution Agents seek reimbursement, and the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall pay those amounts that they, in their sole discretion, deems reasonable, and shall object in writing to those fees and expenses, if any, that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, object to all or any portion of the amounts requested to be reimbursed in a Distribution Agent's invoice, the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and such Distribution Agent shall endeavor, in good faith, to reach mutual agreement on the amount of the appropriate payment of such disputed fees and/or expenses. In the event that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, and a Distribution Agent are unable to resolve any differences regarding disputed fees or expenses, either party shall be authorized to move to have such dispute heard by the Bankruptcy Court.

9.1.1 Powers of the Distribution Agent

The Distribution Agent shall be empowered to: (i) effect all actions and execute all agreements, instruments and other documents necessary to perform its duties under the Plan, (ii) make all distributions contemplated hereby, (iii) employ professionals to represent it with respect to its responsibilities, and (iv) exercise such other powers as may be vested in the Distribution Agent by order of the Bankruptcy Court, pursuant to the Plan, or as deemed by the Distribution Agent to be necessary and proper to implement the provisions hereof.

9.2 Timing and Delivery of Distributions

9.2.1 <u>Timing</u>

Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, distributions to be made under the Plan shall be made on (a) the later of (i) the Effective Date or (ii) the date that a Claim or Interest becomes an Allowed Claim or Interest, or (b) such other date that is determined by the Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, in accordance with the Plan. The Reorganized Debtors may commence distributions to beneficiaries of the Estates at any time after the Effective Date, subject to the terms of the Plan and the Confirmation Order.

9.2.2 De Minimis Distributions

Notwithstanding any other provision of the Plan, none of the Reorganized Debtors nor the Distribution Agent shall have any obligation to make any distributions under the Plan with a value of less than \$50, unless a written request therefor is received by the Distribution Agent from the relevant recipient within 120 days after the later of (i) the Effective Date and (ii) the date such Claim or Interest becomes an Allowed Claim or Interest. *De minimis* distributions for which no such request is timely received shall revert to the Reorganized Debtors. Upon such reversion, the relevant Allowed Claim or Interest of less than \$50 (and any Claim or Interest on account of such missed distributions) shall be automatically deemed satisfied, discharged, and forever barred, notwithstanding any federal or state escheat laws to the contrary. For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 9.2.2 shall not apply to Distributions to any Holder of Existing Common Stock who timely exercises its Cash-Out Option.

9.2.3 Record Date and Delivery of Distributions

Distributions shall only be made to the record holders of Allowed Claims and Interests as of the Confirmation Date, except as to Holders of Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims, Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims, and DIP Claims whose distribution is to be administered by the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent, Senior Subordinated Notes Paying Agent and DIP Agent, respectively, which distributions shall be deposited with the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent, Senior Subordinated Notes Paying Agent, and DIP Agent, respectively, for distribution to Holders of Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims, Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims and DIP Claims, respectively, in accordance with the provisions of this Plan and the terms of the governing agreement. The Debtors or Reorganized Debtors shall reimburse the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent, Senior Subordinated Notes Paying Agent and DIP Agent for any reasonable and documented fees and expenses (including the reasonable and documented fees and expenses of its counsel and agents) incurred on or after the Effective Date solely in connection with any actions requested or required by the Reorganized Debtors or as otherwise necessary for the making of distributions hereunder. All such fees and expenses shall be paid upon presentment of such invoices and without the need for any approvals, authorizations, actions or consents of the Bankruptcy Court or otherwise. Distributions on account of Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims, Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims and DIP Claims to be administered by the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent, Senior Subordinated Notes Paying Agent and DIP Agent, respectively, shall be deemed completed upon delivery to the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent, Senior Subordinated Notes Paying Agent and DIP Agent, as applicable. On the Confirmation Date, the Claims Register and the Stock Register shall be closed and the Distribution Agent shall be authorized and entitled to recognize only those Holders of Claims or Interests listed on the Claims Register or Stock Register as of the close of business on the Confirmation Date. If a Claim or Interest is transferred 20 or fewer days before the Confirmation Date, the Distribution Agent, at the direction of the Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, shall make distributions to the transferee only to the extent practical, and, in any event, only if the relevant transfer form contains an unconditional and explicit certification and waiver of any objection to the transfer by the transferor.

If any dispute arises as to the identity of a Holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest that is entitled to receive a distribution pursuant to the Plan, the Distribution Agent may, in lieu of making such distribution to such Entity, make the distribution into an escrow account until the disposition thereof is determined by Final Order or by written agreement among the interested parties to such dispute.

Except as otherwise provided herein, the Distribution Agent, at the direction of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, shall make all distributions required under the Plan to Holders of Allowed Claims or Interests. Except as otherwise provided herein, and notwithstanding any authority to the contrary, distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims or Interests shall be made to Holders of record as of the Confirmation Date by the Distribution Agent, as appropriate: (i) to the signatory set forth on any Proof of Claim filed by such Holder or other representative identified therein (or at the last known address of such Holder if no Proof of Claim is filed or if the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, or the Distribution Agent have been notified in writing of a change of address), or (ii) at the address set forth in any written notice of change of address delivered to the Notice and Claims Agent. The Reorganized Debtors, the Distribution Agent and the Notice and Claims Agent shall not incur any liability whatsoever on account of the delivery of any distributions under the Plan.

9.3 Manner of Payment Under Plan

9.3.1 Cash Payments

At the Distribution Agent's option, any Cash payment may be made by check, wire transfer or any other customary payment method.

9.3.2 Allocation of Plan Distributions Between Principal and Interest

To the extent that any Claim entitled to a distribution under the Plan is based upon any obligation or instrument that is treated for U.S. federal income tax purposes as indebtedness of any Debtor and accrued but unpaid interest thereon, such distribution shall be allocated first to the principal amount of the Claim (as determined for federal income tax purposes) and then, to the extent the consideration exceeds the principal amount of the Claim, to accrued but unpaid interest.

9.3.3 Compliance Matters

In connection with the Plan, to the extent applicable, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors and the Distribution Agent shall comply with all tax withholding and reporting requirements imposed on them by any federal, state, local or foreign tax law, and all distributions pursuant hereto shall be subject to such withholding and reporting requirements. Notwithstanding any provision in the Plan to the contrary, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors and the Distribution Agent shall be authorized to take all actions necessary or appropriate to

comply with such withholding and reporting requirements, including withholding in kind, liquidating a portion of the distributions to be made under the Plan to generate sufficient funds to pay applicable withholding taxes, withholding distributions pending receipt of information necessary to facilitate such distributions, or establishing any other mechanisms they believe are reasonable and appropriate. For purposes of the Plan, any withheld amount (or property) shall be treated as if paid to the applicable claimant. Each Reorganized Debtor reserves the right to allocate all distributions made under the Plan in compliance with all applicable wage garnishments, alimony, child support and other spousal awards, liens and encumbrances. Distributions in full or partial satisfaction of Allowed Claims shall be allocated first to trust fund-type taxes, then to other taxes, and then to the principal amount of Allowed Claims, with any excess allocated to unpaid interest that has accrued on such Claims.

9.3.4 Foreign Currency Exchange Rate

Except as otherwise provided herein or in an order of the Bankruptcy Court, or as agreed to by any Holder and either the Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, any Claim or Interest (other than Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims and Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims) asserted in a currency other than U.S. dollars shall be automatically deemed converted, as of the Effective Date, to the equivalent U.S. dollar value using the exchange rate on the first Business Day prior to the Petition Date, as quoted at 4:00 p.m. (New York time), at the mid-range spot rate of exchange for the applicable foreign currency as published in *The Wall Street Journal*, National Edition, on the first Business Day after the Petition Date; *provided* that instead of such automatic conversion, the Debtors may instead elect, subject to the consent of the Plan Sponsors, to make payments on account of any such Claim or Interest pursuant to the Plan in the applicable foreign currency.

Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims and Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims shall be paid in the applicable currency provided in the applicable Prepetition Credit Agreement Documents or Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture, respectively, and otherwise pursuant to the terms of the Plan.

9.3.5 Fractional Payments and Distributions

Whenever the Plan would otherwise call for, with respect to a particular Entity, payment of a fraction of a dollar, the actual payment shall reflect a rounding of such fraction to the nearest whole dollar (up or down), with half dollars being rounded down. To the extent that Cash to be distributed under the Plan remain undistributed as a result of the aforementioned rounding, such Cash shall be treated as an Unclaimed Distribution.

9.3.6 Fractional Shares

No fractional shares of GMI Common Stock shall be distributed under the Plan. When any distribution pursuant to the Plan on account of an Allowed Interest would otherwise result in the issuance or delivery of a number of shares of GMI Common Stock that is not a whole number, the actual distribution of shares of GMI Common Stock shall be rounded to the next lower whole number with no further payment or other distribution therefor. The total number of shares of GMI Common Stock to be distributed to holders of Allowed Interests shall be adjusted downward as necessary to account for the rounding provided in this Section 9.3.6.

9.4 <u>Undeliverable Distributions</u>

In the event that any distribution to any Holder is returned as undeliverable, or no address for such Holder is found in the Debtors' records, no further distribution to such Holder shall be made unless and until the Reorganized Debtors or the Distribution Agent is notified in writing of the thencurrent address of such Holder, at which time such distribution shall be made to such Holder not less than 30 days thereafter. Undeliverable distributions shall remain in the possession of the Reorganized Debtors or the Distribution Agent until such time as such distribution becomes deliverable or such distribution reverts to the Reorganized Debtors, or is cancelled pursuant to Section 9.5 herein, and shall not be supplemented with any interest, dividends or other accruals of any kind.

9.5 Reversion

Any distribution under the Plan, including distributions made by the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent or the Senior Subordinated Notes Paying Agent in accordance with Section 9.2.3 herein, that is an Unclaimed Distribution for a period of six months thereafter, shall be deemed unclaimed property under section 347(b) of the Bankruptcy Code, and such Unclaimed Distribution shall revest in the Reorganized Debtors. Upon such revesting, the Claim or Interest of any Holder or its successors and assigns with respect to such property shall be cancelled, discharged and forever barred, notwithstanding any applicable federal or state escheat, abandoned, or unclaimed property laws to the contrary. The provisions of the Plan regarding undeliverable distributions and Unclaimed Distributions shall apply with equal force to distributions that are issued by the Reorganized Debtors or the Distribution Agent made pursuant to any indenture or Certificate, notwithstanding any provision in such indenture or Certificate to the contrary and notwithstanding any otherwise applicable federal or state escheat, abandoned or unclaimed property law.

Nothing contained herein shall require the Reorganized Debtors or the Distribution Agent to attempt to locate any Holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest whose distribution is declared an undeliverable or an Unclaimed Distribution.

9.6 Claims or Interests Paid by Third Parties

No distributions under the Plan shall be made on account of an Allowed Claim that is payable under one of the Debtors' Insurance Policies until the Holder of such Allowed Claim has exhausted all remedies with respect to such Insurance Policy.

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, payments to Holders of Claims covered by an Insurance Policy and otherwise payable under the Plan shall be made from the proceeds of such Insurance Policy in accordance with the provisions of any such applicable Insurance Policy. Nothing contained in the Plan shall constitute or be deemed a waiver of any Cause of Action that the Debtors or any Entity may hold against any other Entity, including Insurers, nor shall anything contained herein constitute or be deemed a waiver by such insurers of any rights or defenses, including coverage defenses, held by Insurers.

To the extent a Creditor receives a distribution on account of a Claim or Interest and also receives payment from a party that is not a Debtor, Reorganized Debtor or Distribution Agent on account of such Claim or Interest, such Creditor shall, within 30 calendar days of receipt thereof, repay and/or return the distribution to the Reorganized Debtor to the extent the Creditor's total recovery on account of such Claim or Interest from the third party and under the Plan exceeds the amount of the Claim or Interest as of the date of any such distribution under the Plan.

9.7 Setoffs

Except as otherwise provided herein, a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, or as agreed to by the Holder and the Reorganized Debtors, each as applicable, pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code (including section 553 thereof), applicable non-bankruptcy law, or such terms as may be agreed to by the Holder and the Reorganized Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors may, without any further notice to, or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, set off against any Allowed Claim or Interest and the distributions to be made on account of such Allowed Claim or Interest (before any distribution is made on account of such Allowed Claim or Interest), any claim, right and Cause of Action of any nature that the Reorganized Debtors, each as applicable, may hold against the Holder of such Allowed Claim or Interest, to the extent such claim, right or Cause of Action against such Holder has not been otherwise compromised or settled on or prior to the Effective Date (whether pursuant to the Plan or otherwise); *provided* that neither the failure to effect such a setoff nor the allowance of any Claim or Interest pursuant to the Plan shall constitute a waiver or release by the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors of any such Claims or Interests, rights and Causes of Action that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors may possess against or in such Holder. In no event shall any Holder of a Claim or Interest be entitled to set off any Claim or Interest against any Claim or Interest, right, or Cause of Action of a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, as applicable, unless such Holder has filed a Proof of Claim in these Chapter 11 Cases preserving such setoff and a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court has been entered, authorizing and approving such setoff.

9.8 No Postpetition Interest on Claims

Unless otherwise specifically provided for in the Plan, the Final DIP Order or the Confirmation Order, required by applicable law, or agreed to by the Debtors or, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, no Holder of a Claim or Interest against the Debtors shall be entitled to interest accruing on or after the Petition Date with respect to such Claim or Interest, notwithstanding any dispute or other delay with respect to any distribution.

9.9 No Payment Over the Full Amount

In no event shall a Holder of a Claim or Interest receive more than the full payment of such Claim or Interest. To the extent any Holder has received payment in full with respect to a Claim or Interest, such Claim or Interest shall be expunged without an objection to such Claim or Interest having been filed and without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

10. CLAIMS ADMINISTRATION PROCEDURES

10.1 Administration Responsibilities

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan, after the Effective Date the Reorganized Debtors shall have the sole authority to (i) file, withdraw or litigate to judgment objections to Claims or Interests, (ii) settle or compromise any Disputed Claim without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, and (iii) administer and adjust, or cause to be administered and adjusted, the Claims Register to reflect any such settlements or compromises without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court. Nothing in this Section 10.1 shall limit the ability under the Bankruptcy Code of any party-in-interest to object to any Claim or Interest unless otherwise ordered by the Bankruptcy Court.

10.2 Estimation of Claims

Before the Effective Date, the Debtors, or after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors, may, within their reasonable discretion, at any time request that the Bankruptcy Court estimate any Disputed Claim that is contingent or unliquidated pursuant to section 502(c) of the Bankruptcy Code, regardless of whether any party previously has objected to such Claim or whether the Bankruptcy Court has ruled on any such objection, and the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction to estimate any such Claim, including during the litigation of any objection to any Claim or during the appeal relating to such objection.

Claims may be estimated and subsequently compromised, settled, withdrawn or resolved by any mechanism approved by the Bankruptcy Court or under the Plan. No Claims held by Honeywell (including the Honeywell Plan Claims) shall be subject to any estimation proceeding.

10.3 Expungement and Disallowance of Paid, Satisfied, Amended, Duplicated, or Superseded Claims or Interests

Any Claim or Interest that has been paid, satisfied, amended, duplicated or superseded may be adjusted or expunged on the Claims Register by the Reorganized Debtors on or after 14 calendar days after the date on which notice of such adjustment or expungement has been filed with the Bankruptcy Court, without an objection to such Claim or Interest having to be filed, and without any further action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

10.4 Amendments to Proofs of Claim

On or after the Effective Date, a Proof of Claim may not be amended (other than solely to update or correct the name or address of the Holder of such Claim) without the prior authorization of the Bankruptcy Court or the Reorganized Debtors, and any such amended Proof of Claim filed without such prior authorization shall be deemed disallowed in full and expunged without any further notice to or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court.

10.5 No Distributions Pending Allowance

If an objection to the amount, validity, priority, or classification of a Claim or Interest or a portion thereof is filed or is intended to be filed as set forth herein or a Claim or Interest otherwise remains a Disputed Claim or Interest, except as otherwise provided in a Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court, no payment or distribution provided under the Plan shall be made on account of such Claim or Interest or portion thereof, as applicable, unless and until such Disputed Claim becomes an Allowed Claim or Interest.

10.6 Distributions After Allowance

To the extent that a Disputed Claim or Interest ultimately becomes a finally Allowed Claim or Interest, distributions (if any) shall be made to the Holder of such Allowed Claim or Interest in accordance with the applicable provisions of the Plan.

11. EFFECT OF CONFIRMATION

11.1 Vesting of Assets

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or in any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document created pursuant to the Plan or in the Confirmation Order, upon the Effective Date, pursuant to sections 1141(b) and (c) of the Bankruptcy Code, all property (including all interests, rights and privileges related thereto) of each of the Debtors shall vest in each of the respective Reorganized Debtors free and clear of all Claims, Liens, encumbrances, charges and Interests shall be deemed fully released and discharged as of the Effective Date, except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, as of the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors may operate their businesses and may use, acquire, and dispose of property and settle and compromise Claims and Interests without supervision or approval by the Bankruptcy Court and free of any restrictions of the Bankruptcy Code, the Bankruptcy Rules, and the Local Rules and in all respects as if there were no pending cases under any chapter or provision of the Bankruptcy Code with respect to the Debtors.

11.2 Compromise and Settlement of Claims and Controversies

Pursuant to sections 363 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019, and in consideration for the distributions and other benefits provided pursuant to the Plan, the provisions of the Plan shall constitute a good-faith compromise of all Claims, Causes of Action and controversies relating to the contractual, legal and subordination rights that a Holder of an Allowed Claim or Interest may have against any Debtor, or any distribution to be made on account of such an Allowed Claim or Interest. The entry of the Confirmation Order shall constitute the Bankruptcy Court's approval of the compromise or settlement of all such Claims or controversies and the Bankruptcy Court's finding that such compromise or settlement is in the best interests of the Debtors and their Estates and is fair, equitable and reasonable. In accordance with the provisions of the Plan, pursuant to sections 363 and 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 9019(a), without any further notice or action, order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court, after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors may compromise and settle Claims against them and Causes of Action against other entities.

11.3 Subordinated Claims

The allowance, classification and treatment of all Allowed Claims and Interests and the respective distributions and treatments under the Plan take into account, conform to, and satisfy the relative priority and rights of the Claims and Interests in each Class in connection with any contractual, legal and equitable subordination rights relating thereto; *provided*, *however*, that the Debtors reserve the right to reclassify or modify the treatment of any Allowed Claim or Interest in accordance with any contractual, legal, or equitable subordination relating thereto, unless otherwise provided in a settlement agreement concerning such Allowed Claim or Interest, *provided*, *further*, that in no event shall the Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims, Senior Subordinated Noteholder Claims, or DIP Claims be reclassified or subordinated pursuant to section 510 of the Bankruptcy Code, principles of equitable subordination or otherwise.

11.4 Release of Liens

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan, or in any contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document created pursuant to the Plan or the Confirmation Order, on the Effective Date and concurrently with the applicable distributions made pursuant to the Plan and, in the case of a DIP Claim or Secured Claim, indefeasible payment and satisfaction in full in cash of the portion of the DIP Claim or Secured Claim that is Allowed as of the Effective Date in accordance with the Plan, all mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges or other security interests against any property of the Estates shall be fully released, settled, discharged and compromised, and all rights, titles and interests of any holder of such mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges or other security interests against any property of the Estates shall revert to the applicable Debtor and its successors and assigns. The Debtors, or after the Effective Date, the Reorganized Debtors shall be authorized to file any necessary or desirable documents to evidence such release in the name of the party secured by such pre-Effective Date mortgages, deeds of trust, Liens, pledges or other security interests.

11.5 Discharge

Pursuant to and to the fullest extent permitted by the Bankruptcy Code, except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, the treatment of Claims and Interests under the Plan shall be in full and final satisfaction, settlement, release, discharge and termination, as of the Effective Date, of all Claims of any nature whatsoever, whether known or unknown, against, and Interests in, the Debtors, any property of the Estates, or any property of the Reorganized Debtors, including all Claims of the kind specified in section 502(g), 502(h) or 502(i) of the Bankruptcy Code, in each case whether or not: (i) a Proof of Claim or Interest based upon such Claim, debt, right or Interest is filed or deemed filed pursuant to section 501 of the Bankruptcy Code, (ii) a Claim or Interest based upon such Claim, liability, obligation or Interest is Allowed pursuant to section 502 of the Bankruptcy Code, or (iii) the Holder of such a Claim, liability, obligation or Interest has accepted the Plan. Except as otherwise provided herein, any default by the Debtors or their Affiliates with respect to any Claim that existed immediately prior to or on account of the filing of these Chapter 11 Cases shall be deemed cured on the Effective Date.

11.6 General Unsecured Claims

Subject in all respects to Section 5.4 hereof, for the avoidance of doubt and notwithstanding anything in the Plan to the contrary, until an Allowed General Unsecured Claim that is Reinstated pursuant to Section 4.3.7(ii)(a) hereof has been paid in full in accordance with applicable law, or on terms agreed to between the holder of such Claim and the Debtor (or Reorganized Debtor) or in accordance with the terms and conditions of the particular transaction giving rise to such Claim: (a) such Claim shall not be deemed settled, satisfied, resolved, released, discharged, or enjoined by any provision of the Plan, (b) the applicable Reorganized Debtor shall remain liable for such Claims and (c) the applicable governing law, jurisdiction and venue provisions set forth in the contracts and agreements between the Holder of such Claim and the Debtors and Reorganized Debtors shall govern post-Effective Date and post-Effective Date disputes under applicable nonbankruptcy law between the Holder of such Claim and the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors shall not be subject to the jurisdiction of the Bankruptcy Court. All other Allowed General Unsecured Claims shall be settled, satisfied, resolved, released, discharged, and enjoined pursuant to the terms of the Plan.

11.7 Term of Injunction or Stays

Unless otherwise provided herein, any injunction or stay arising under or entered during the Chapter 11 Cases under section 105 or 362 of the Bankruptcy Code or otherwise that is in existence on the Confirmation Date shall remain in full force and effect until the later of the Effective Date and the date indicated in the order providing for such injunction or stay.

11.8 Release by the Debtors

For good and valuable consideration, including the service of the Released Parties to facilitate the administration of the Chapter 11 Cases and the implementation of the transactions contemplated by the Plan, on and after the Effective Date, the Released Parties shall be released and discharged by the Debtors, Reorganized Debtors and their Estates, including any successor and assign to the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors or any estate representative, from all claims, obligations, rights, suits, damages, causes of action, remedies and liabilities whatsoever, including any derivative claims asserted or assertable on behalf of a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor, and its successors, assigns, and representatives, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, liquidated or unliquidated, contingent or fixed, existing or hereafter arising, in law, at equity or otherwise, whether for indemnification, tort, contract, violations of federal or state securities laws or otherwise, including those that any of the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors or their Estates would have been legally entitled to assert in their own right (whether individually or collectively) or on behalf of the holder of any Claim or Interest or any other Person, based on or relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, the conduct of the businesses of the Debtors, these Chapter 11 Cases, the purchase, sale or rescission of the purchase or sale of any security of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, the release or discharge of any mortgage, lien or security interest, the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the administration of Claims and Interests prior to or during these Chapter 11 Cases, the negotiation, formulation, preparation, dissemination, implementation, administration, confirmation and/or effectuation of the Restructuring Support Agreement (and each prior version thereof), the Plan Support Agreement (and each prior version thereof, including the Coordination Agreement), the Equity Commitment Letters, the Debt Commitment Letters, the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, the Plan, any plan supplement, any disclosure statement or, in each case, related agreements, instruments or other documents, any action or omission with respect to intercompany claims and intercompany settlements, any action or omission as an officer, director, agent, representative, fiduciary, controlling Person, member, manager, affiliate or responsible party, or upon any other act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place on or before the Effective Date of the Plan, other than claims or liabilities arising out of or relating to any act or omission of a Released Party to the extent such act or omission is determined by a final order in a court of competent jurisdiction to have constituted gross negligence, willful misconduct, fraud, or a criminal act.

11.9 Exculpation

Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary, as of the Effective Date, the Debtors and their respective directors, officers, employees, attorneys, investment bankers, financial advisors, restructuring advisors and other professional advisors, representatives and agents will be deemed to have solicited acceptances of this Plan in good faith and in compliance with the applicable provisions of the Bankruptcy Code, including section 1125(e) of the Bankruptcy Code and any applicable non-bankruptcy law, rule or regulation governing the adequacy of disclosure in connection with the solicitation.

As of the Effective Date, to the fullest extent permissible under any applicable laws and without affecting or limiting the releases contained in this Article 11, and except as otherwise provided herein, the Exculpated Parties shall neither have nor incur any liability arising on or after the Petition Date to any Entity for any act or omission in connection with, relating to or arising out of (i) these Chapter 11 Cases; (ii) the formulation, negotiation, preparation, dissemination, implementation, administration, confirmation and/or consummation of the Restructuring Support Agreement (and each prior version thereof), the Plan Support Agreement (and each prior version thereof, including the Coordination Agreement), the Equity Commitment Letters, the Debt Commitment Letters, the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, any disclosure statement, the Plan, any plan supplement, and any related contract, instrument, release or other agreement or document created or entered into in connection therewith (including the solicitation of votes for the Plan or other actions taken in furtherance of confirmation or consummation of the Plan, including the issuance of any securities under or in connection with the Plan) or in connection with any other obligations arising under the Plan or the obligations assumed hereunder; or (iii) the settlement of Claims or renegotiation of Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases, other than liability resulting from any act or omission that is determined by final order in a court of competent jurisdiction to have constituted gross negligence, willful misconduct, fraud or a criminal act. In all respects, such Entities shall be entitled to reasonably rely upon the advice of counsel with respect to their duties and responsibilities pursuant to the Plan; provided, however, that nothing in the Plan or Confirmation Order shall relieve the Exculpated Parties from their obligations under postpetition transactions, agreements or instruments that have not been expressly cancelled by the Plan.

11.10 Voluntary Release by Holders of Claims and Interests

For good and valuable consideration, including the service of the Released Parties to facilitate the administration of the Chapter 11 Cases, the implementation of the reorganization contemplated by the Plan, the release of mortgages, liens and security interests on property of the Estates, and distributions made pursuant to the Plan, on and after the Effective Date, to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Releasing Parties (regardless of whether a Releasing Party is a Released Party) shall be deemed to

conclusively, absolutely, unconditionally, irrevocably and forever release, waive and discharge the Released Parties of any and all claims, obligations, rights, suits, damages, causes of action, remedies and liabilities whatsoever, including any derivative claims asserted or assertable on behalf of a Debtor or Reorganized Debtor and its successors, assigns, and representatives, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, liquidated or unliquidated, contingent or fixed, existing or hereafter arising, in law, at equity or otherwise, whether for indemnification, tort, contract, violations of federal or state securities laws or otherwise, including, those that any of the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors or their Estates would have been legally entitled to assert in their own right (whether individually or collectively) or on behalf of the holder of any Claim or Interest or any other Person, based on or relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, the conduct of the businesses of the Debtors, these Chapter 11 Cases, the purchase, sale or rescission of the purchase or sale of any security of the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, the subject matter of, or the transactions or events giving rise to, any Claim or Interest that is treated in the Plan, the administration of Claims and Interests prior to or during these Chapter 11 Cases, the negotiation, formulation, preparation, dissemination, implementation, administration, confirmation and/or effectuation of the Restructuring Support Agreement (and each prior version thereof), the Plan Support Agreement (and each prior version thereof, including the Coordination Agreement), the Equity Commitment Letters, the Debt Commitment Letters, the Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, the Plan, any plan supplement, any disclosure statement or, in each case, related agreements, instruments or other documents, any action or omission with respect to intercompany claims or intercompany settlements, any action or omission as an officer, director, agent, representative, fiduciary, controlling Person, member, manager, affiliate or responsible party, or upon any other act or omission, transaction, agreement, event, or other occurrence taking place on or before the Effective Date of the Plan, other than claims or liabilities arising out of or relating to any act or omission of a Released Party to the extent such act or omission is determined by a final order in a court of competent jurisdiction to have constituted gross negligence, willful misconduct, fraud, or a criminal act.

Notwithstanding the foregoing, no Releasing Party shall be deemed to have released (a) any Section 510(b) Claim against the Debtors, or (b) any claim arising from rescission of a purchase or sale of Existing Common Stock or for damages arising from the purchase or sale of Existing Common Stock against one or more of the Debtors' current or former officers or directors, or Honeywell's current or former officers or directors; provided that each Releasing Party shall only be entitled to assert the claims identified in subclause (b) above as a member of a class in a class action in which such Releasing Party is not a lead plaintiff and to respond to or oppose any objections or challenges to such Releasing Party's inclusion in such class action.

Notwithstanding any language to the contrary contained in the Disclosure Statement, Plan and/or the Confirmation Order, no provision of this Plan or the Confirmation Order shall (i) preclude the SEC from enforcing its police or regulatory powers; or, (ii) enjoin, limit, impair or delay the SEC from commencing or continuing any claims, causes of action, proceedings or investigations against any nondebtor person or nondebtor entity in any forum.

11.11 Injunction

Except as otherwise specifically provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, all Persons or Entities who have held, hold or may hold (i) Claims or Interests that arose prior to the Effective Date, (ii) Causes of Action that have been released pursuant to Sections 11.8 and 11.10 of the Plan or are subject to exculpation pursuant to Section 11.9 of the Plan (but only to the extent of the exculpation provided in Section 11.9 of the Plan), or (iii) Claims, Interests or Causes of Action that are otherwise discharged, satisfied, stayed, or terminated pursuant to the terms of the Plan and all other parties-in-interest seeking to enforce such Claims, Interests or Causes of Action are permanently enjoined, from and after the Effective Date, from (a) commencing or continuing in any manner any action or other proceeding of any kind with respect to any such Claim (including a section 510(b) Claim) against or Interest in the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, or property of any Debtors or Reorganized Debtors, other than to enforce any right to a distribution pursuant to the Plan, (b) the enforcement, attachment, collection or recovery by any manner or means of any judgment, award, decree or order against the Debtors or Reorganized Debtors or property of any Debtors or Reorganized Debtors with respect to any such Claim or Interest, other than to enforce any right to a distribution pursuant to the Plan, (c) creating, perfecting or enforcing any Lien or encumbrance of any kind against the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, or against the property or interests in property of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors with respect to any such Claim or Interest, other than to enforce any right to a distribution pursuant to the Plan, or (d) asserting any right of setoff (except for setoffs validly exercised prepetition) or subrogation of any kind against any obligation due from the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, or against the property or interests in property of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, with respect to any such Claim or Interest. Such injunction shall extend to any successors or assignees of the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors and their respective properties and interests in properties.

11.12 Scope of Releases

Each Person providing releases under the Plan, including the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, their Estates and the Releasing Parties, shall be deemed to have granted the releases set forth in the Plan notwithstanding that such Person may hereafter discover facts in addition to, or different from, those which it now knows or believes to be true, and without regard to the subsequent discovery or existence of such different or additional facts, and such Person expressly waives any and all rights that it may have under any statute or common law principle which would limit the effect of such releases to those claims or causes of action actually known or suspected to exist at the time of execution of such release.

For the avoidance of doubt, nothing herein, including, without limitation, the releases, waivers, and exculpations provided in Sections 11.7–11.10, shall constitute a release, waiver, discharge, or limitation of any kind of any rights, liabilities, or obligations arising under the Plan or any other agreement, document or instrument executed in connection with the Plan.

11.13 Honeywell and Debtor Mutual Release

For good and valuable consideration, on the Effective Date, the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, and their Estates, including any successor and assign to the Debtors, the Reorganized Debtors, or any Estate representative, shall release any and all Claims and Causes of Action, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, liquidated or unliquidated, contingent or fixed, existing or hereafter arising, in law, at equity, or otherwise, whether for indemnification, tort, contract, violations of federal or state securities law, or otherwise, against Honeywell and its Related Parties based on or relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part (i) the spin-off of the Debtors by Honeywell, (ii) the Honeywell Terminated Agreements, and (iii) all actions taken in connection with the Chapter 11 Cases (whether arising prior to or after the Petition Date) before the Effective Date; provided that such release shall not include any Excluded Ordinary Course Claims.

For good and valuable consideration, on the Effective Date, Honeywell shall release any and all Claims and Causes of Action, whether known or unknown, foreseen or unforeseen, liquidated or unliquidated, contingent or fixed, existing or hereafter arising, in law, at equity or otherwise, whether for indemnification, tort, contract, violations of federal or state securities law, or otherwise, against the Debtors and its Related Parties based on or relating to, or in any manner arising from, in whole or in part (i) the spin-off of the Debtors by Honeywell (and any litigation commenced in connection therewith), (ii) the Honeywell Terminated Agreements, and (iii) all actions taken in connection with the Debtors' chapter 11 cases (whether arising prior to or after the Petition Date) before the Effective Date; *provided* that such release shall not include any Excluded Ordinary Course Claims.

11.14 Preservation of Causes of Action

Except as expressly provided in this Section 11 of the Plan or the Confirmation Order, nothing contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order shall be deemed to be a waiver or relinquishment of any rights or Causes of Action that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors may have or that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, may choose to assert on behalf of the Estates under any provision of the Bankruptcy Code or any applicable non-bankruptcy law, including (i) any and all Causes of Action or Claims against any Person or Entity, to the extent such Person or Entity asserts a cross-claim, counterclaim and/or claim for setoff that seeks affirmative relief against the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, and in each case, their officers, directors or representatives or (ii) the turnover of any property of the Estates to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors.

No Entity may rely on the absence of a specific reference in the Plan, the Plan Supplement or the Disclosure Statement to any Cause of Action against them as any indication that the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, will not pursue any and all available Causes of Action against them. The Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve all rights to prosecute any and all Causes of Action against any Entity, except as otherwise expressly provided herein.

Except as set forth in this Section 11 of the Plan or the Confirmation Order, nothing contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order shall be deemed to be a waiver or relinquishment of any rights or Causes of Action that the Debtors had immediately prior to the Petition Date or the Effective Date against or regarding any Claim or Interest left Unimpaired by the Plan. The Reorganized Debtors shall have, retain, reserve, and be entitled to assert all such rights and Causes of Action as fully as if the Chapter 11 Cases had not been commenced, and all of the Reorganized Debtors' legal and equitable rights respecting any Claim or Interest left Unimpaired by the Plan may be asserted after the Confirmation Date to the same extent as if the Chapter 11 Cases had not been commenced.

Except as set forth in this Section 11 of the Plan or the Confirmation Order, nothing contained in the Plan or the Confirmation Order shall be deemed to release any post-Effective Date obligations of any party under the Plan, or any document, instrument or agreement (including those set forth in the Plan Supplement) executed to implement the Plan.

Unless any Causes of Action against an Entity are expressly waived, relinquished, exculpated, released, compromised or settled in the Plan, including pursuant to Section 11 of the Plan or a Final Order, the Reorganized Debtors expressly reserve all Causes of Action for later adjudication and, therefore, no preclusion doctrine, including the doctrines of res judicata, collateral estoppel, issue preclusion, claim preclusion, estoppel (judicial, equitable or otherwise), or laches shall apply to such Causes of Action upon, after, or as a consequence of the Confirmation or occurrence of the Effective Date.

12. CONDITIONS PRECEDENT TO EFFECTIVENESS OF THE PLAN

12.1 Conditions to Effectiveness

The following are conditions precedent to the occurrence of the Effective Date, each of which must be satisfied on or prior to the Effective Date or waived in accordance with Section 12.2 of the Plan:

- i. All definitive documentation for the Restructuring Transactions have been executed and remain in full force and effect;
- ii. The Bankruptcy Court has entered the Confirmation Order, in form and substance consistent with the Plan Support Agreement and the Restructuring Support Agreement, and reasonably acceptable to the UCC, which shall be in full force and effect, and shall not have been stayed, modified or vacated on appeal;
- iii. The Debtors have filed the final version of the Plan, any supplement thereto, and all of the schedules, documents and exhibits contained therein, and all other schedules, documents, supplements and exhibits to the Plan;
- iv. The Plan Support Agreement has not been terminated by the Debtors, Honeywell, the Plan Sponsors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Additional Investors, and remains in full force and effect;
- v. The Equity Commitment Letters remain in full force and effect and have not been terminated in accordance with their terms;
- vi. The Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement remains in full force and effect and has not been terminated in accordance with its terms;
- vii. The Debtors have obtained all applicable authorizations, consents, regulatory approvals, rulings, or documents that are necessary to implement and effectuate the Plan (and all applicable waiting periods have expired);
- viii. The Debtors have implemented the Restructuring Transactions in a manner consistent with the Plan and the Plan Support Agreement;
- ix. The Rights Offerings have been conducted in accordance with the Rights Offering Procedures;

- x. No governmental entity or federal or state court of competent jurisdiction shall have enacted, issued, promulgated, enforced or entered any law or order (whether temporary, preliminary or permanent), in any case which is in effect and which prevents or prohibits consummation of the Plan, and no governmental entity has instituted any action or proceeding (which remains pending at what would otherwise be the Effective Date) seeking to enjoin, restrain or otherwise prohibit consummation of the transactions contemplated by the Plan;
- xi. All Ad Hoc Lender Group Expenses have been paid in full in Cash as provided in the Restructuring Support Agreement;
- xii. All Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent Expenses have been paid in full in Cash;
- xiii. All Senior Subordinated Notes Indenture Trustee Expenses have been paid in full in Cash; and
- xiv. All Transaction Expenses then known or submitted to the Debtors have been paid in full or reimbursed when due in Cash, or a customary professional fee escrow has been established and funded on terms and conditions reasonably satisfactory to the Plan Sponsors, Honeywell, the Requisite Additional Investors, and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders.

12.2 Waiver of Conditions to Confirmation or Effectiveness

Except as set forth below, subject to the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Plan Support Agreement, and upon the prior written consent of Honeywell, the Plan Sponsors, the Requisite Additional Investors, and the Requisite Consenting Noteholders (to the extent of their consent rights as provided in the Plan Support Agreement), collectively, the Debtors may waive any of the conditions set forth in Section 12.1 of the Plan at any time, without any notice to other parties-in-interest or the Bankruptcy Court and without any formal action other than proceeding to confirm and/or consummate the Plan; provided, however, that the prior written consent of the Requisite Consenting Lenders shall be necessary to waive any such condition over which the Requisite Consenting Lenders have a consent right pursuant to the Restructuring Support Agreement or Plan Support Agreement, provided, further, that the prior written consent (not to be unreasonably withheld) of the UCC (with email from counsel being sufficient) shall be necessary to waive the condition set forth in Section 12.1(ii) of the Plan. Subject to the Restructuring Support Agreement and the Plan Support Agreement, the failure of the Debtors to exercise any of the foregoing rights shall not be deemed a waiver of any other rights, and each such right shall be deemed an ongoing right, which may be asserted at any time.

13. MODIFICATION, REVOCATION OR WITHDRAWAL OF THE PLAN

13.1 Plan Modifications

Subject to the Restructuring Support Agreement and the Plan Support Agreement, including all consent rights contained therein, certain restrictions and requirements set forth in section 1127(a) of the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rule 3019, and those restrictions on modifications set forth in the Plan, the Debtors may alter, amend or modify the Plan as it applies to any particular Debtor, including the Plan Supplement, without additional disclosure pursuant to section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code prior to the Confirmation Date, *provided* that the Debtors shall promptly provide notice to the UCC within two days of any modification of the Plan and that any modification that results in the impairment of Holders of General Unsecured Claims and any modification of Article 8 of this Plan (including all applicable deadlines and applicable definitions) shall require the consent of the UCC (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) or otherwise approved by the Bankruptcy Court. After the Confirmation Date and before substantial consummation of the Plan, the Debtors may institute proceedings in the Bankruptcy Court pursuant to section 1127(b) of the Bankruptcy Code to remedy any defect or omission or reconcile any inconsistencies in the Plan, including the Plan Supplement, the Disclosure Statement, or the Confirmation Order, relating to such matters as may be necessary to carry out the purposes and effects of the Plan.

After the Confirmation Date, but before the Effective Date, subject to the reasonable consent of the Plan Sponsors and any applicable consent rights set forth in the Plan Support Agreement or the Restructuring Support Agreement, the Debtors may make appropriate technical adjustments and modifications to the Plan, including the Plan Supplement, without further order or approval of the Bankruptcy Court; provided, that such adjustments and modifications do not materially and adversely affect the treatment of holders of Claims or Interests and are otherwise permitted under section 1127(b) of the Bankruptcy Code; provided further, that, notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, the Debtors may not modify or seek to modify the treatment of Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims or DIP Claims without the prior written consent of the Required Lenders (as defined in the Prepetition Credit Agreement) or DIP Required Lenders, as applicable (with email from counsel being sufficient in each case); provided, further, that the Debtors shall promptly provide notice to the UCC within two days of any modification of the Plan and that any modification that results in the impairment of Holders of General Unsecured Claims and any modification of Article 8 of this Plan (including all applicable deadlines and applicable definitions) shall require the consent of the UCC (not to be unreasonably withheld or delayed) or otherwise approved by the Bankruptcy Court.

13.2 Effect of Confirmation on Modification

Entry of a Confirmation Order shall mean that all modifications and amendments to the Plan since the solicitation thereof are approved pursuant to section 1127(a) of the Bankruptcy Code, and do not require additional disclosure or resolicitation under Bankruptcy Rule 3019.

13.3 Revocation or Withdrawal of the Plan and Effects of Non-Occurrence of Confirmation or Effective Date

Subject to the Restructuring Support Agreement and the Plan Support Agreement, the Debtors reserve the right to revoke, withdraw, or delay consideration of the Plan before the Confirmation Date, either entirely or as to any one or more of the Debtors. If the Plan is revoked, withdrawn, or delayed as to fewer than all of the Debtors, such revocation, withdrawal or delay shall not affect the enforceability of the Plan as it relates to the Debtors for which the Plan is not revoked, withdrawn, or delayed. If the Debtors revoke or withdraw the Plan in its entirety or if the Confirmation Date or the Effective Date does not occur, then, absent further order of the Bankruptcy Court, (i) the Plan shall be null and void in all respects, (ii) any settlement or compromise not previously approved by Final Order of the Bankruptcy Court embodied in the Plan (including the fixing or limiting to an amount certain any Claim or Interest or Class of Claims or Interests), assumption or rejection of executory contracts or leases effected by the Plan, and any document or agreement executed pursuant hereto shall be deemed null and void, and (iii) nothing contained in the Plan shall (A) constitute a waiver or release of any Claims by or against, or any Interests in, such Debtors or any other Person or Entity, (B) prejudice in any manner the rights of such Debtors or any other Person or Entity.

If the Effective Date does not occur, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain jurisdiction over any request to extend the deadline for assuming or rejecting Executory Contracts or Unexpired Leases.

14. RETENTION OF JURISDICTION BY THE BANKRUPTCY COURT

Notwithstanding the entry of the Confirmation Order and the occurrence of the Effective Date, the Bankruptcy Court shall retain its existing jurisdiction over all matters arising in or out of, or related to, the Chapter 11 Cases or the Plan pursuant to sections 105(a) and 1142 of the Bankruptcy Code, including jurisdiction to:

- i. Allow, disallow, determine, liquidate, classify, estimate, or establish the priority, secured or unsecured status, or amount of any Claim or Interest, including the resolution of any request for payment of any Administrative Expense Claim and the resolution of any and all objections to the secured or unsecured status, priority, amount, or allowance of Claims or Interests;
- ii. Decide and resolve all matters related to the granting and denying, in whole or in part, any applications for allowance of compensation or reimbursement of expenses to Professionals authorized pursuant to the Bankruptcy Code or the Plan;
- iii. Resolve any matters related to: (i) the assumption, assumption and assignment, or rejection of any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease and, if necessary, liquidate, any Claims arising therefrom, including any disputes regarding cure obligations in accordance with the Plan, (ii) any potential contractual obligation under any Executory Contract or Unexpired Lease that is assumed, and (iii) any dispute regarding whether a contract or lease is, or was, executory or expired;
- iv. Ensure that distributions to Holders of Allowed Claims or Interests are accomplished pursuant to the Plan and adjudicate any and all disputes from, or relating to, distributions under the Plan;
- v. Adjudicate, decide or resolve any motions, adversary proceedings, contested or litigated matters, and any other matters and Causes of Action, and grant or deny any applications, involving a Debtor that may be pending before the Bankruptcy Court on the Effective Date;
- vi. Adjudicate, decide or resolve any and all matters related to section 1141 of the Bankruptcy Code;
- vii. Enter and implement such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to execute, implement, or consummate the provisions of the Plan and all contracts, instruments, releases, indentures, and other agreements or documents created in connection with the Plan, Plan Supplement, or Disclosure Statement;

- viii. Enter and enforce any order for the sale of property pursuant to sections 363, 1123, or 1146(a) of the Bankruptcy Code;
- ix. Adjudicate, decide, or resolve any and all disputes as to the ownership of any Claim or Interest;
- x. Issue injunctions, enter and implement other orders, or take such other actions as may be necessary or appropriate to restrain interference by any Person or Entity with enforcement of the Plan;
- xi. Resolve any cases, controversies, suits, disputes, or Causes of Action with respect to the existence, nature, and scope of the releases, injunctions, and other provisions contained in the Plan, and enter such orders as may be necessary or appropriate to implement and enforce such releases, injunctions, and other provisions;
- xii. Enter and implement such orders as are necessary or appropriate if the Confirmation Order is for any reason modified, stayed, reversed, revoked, or vacated;
- xiii. Determine any other matters that may arise in connection with or relate to the Plan, the Plan Supplement, the Disclosure Statement, the Confirmation Order or any contract, instrument, release, indenture, or other agreement or document created in connection with the Plan, the Plan Supplement, or the Disclosure Statement;
- xiv. Enter an order or final decree concluding or closing the Chapter 11 Cases;
- xv. Consider any modifications of the Plan, to cure any defect or omission or to reconcile any inconsistency in any Bankruptcy Court order, including the Confirmation Order;
- xvi. Hear and determine disputes, cases, controversies, or Causes of Action arising in connection with the interpretation, implementation, or enforcement of the Plan, Confirmation Order, or any other agreement, document or instrument executed in connection with the Plan;
- xvii. Hear and determine all disputes involving the existence, nature or scope of the Debtors' discharge;
- xviii. Hear and determine matters concerning state, local or federal taxes in accordance with sections 346, 505, or 1146 of the Bankruptcy Code;

- xix. Enforce all orders previously entered by the Bankruptcy Court; and
- xx. Adjudicate all other matters over which the Bankruptcy Court has jurisdiction;

provided, however, that the Bankruptcy Court shall not retain jurisdiction over disputes concerning documents contained in the Plan Supplement or any other Restructuring Documents, in each case, that have a jurisdictional, forum selection or dispute resolution clause that refers disputes to a different court, or allows Entities to bring disputes to a different court, and any disputes concerning documents contained in the Plan Supplement or any other Restructuring Document that contain such clauses shall be governed in accordance with the provisions of such documents.

15. MISCELLANEOUS

15.1 Expedited Tax Determination

The Reorganized Debtors may request an expedited determination of taxes under section 505(b) of the Bankruptcy Code for all returns filed for or on behalf of the Reorganized Debtors for all taxable periods ending on or before the Effective Date.

15.2 Plan Supplement

Draft forms of certain documents, agreements, instruments, schedules, and exhibits specified in the Plan shall, where expressly so provided for in the Plan, be contained in the Plan Supplement and filed from time to time.

15.3 Additional Documents

The Debtors, Reorganized Debtors, all Holders of Claims or Interests receiving distributions hereunder, and all other parties-in-interest may and shall, from time to time, prepare, execute, and deliver any agreements or documents and take any other actions as may be necessary or advisable to effectuate the provisions and intent of the Plan.

15.4 Exhibits; Schedules; Plan Supplement

All exhibits and schedules to the Plan, including the Plan Supplement, are incorporated into and are a part of the Plan as if set forth in full herein.

15.5 Claims Against Other Debtors

Nothing in the Plan or the Disclosure Statement or any document or pleading filed in connection therewith shall constitute or be deemed to constitute an admission that any of the Debtors are subject to or liable for any Claim against any other Debtor.

15.6 Nonseverability

If, prior to Confirmation, any term or provision of the Plan is held by the Bankruptcy Court to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, the Bankruptcy Court shall not have the power to alter such term or provision to make it valid or enforceable; *provided* that, at the request of the Debtors, with the reasonable consent of the Plan Sponsors, Honeywell, the Requisite Additional Investors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting Lenders, in each case, solely and as to the extent their respective rights are affected by such provision, the Bankruptcy Court shall have the power to alter such term or provision to make it valid and enforceable to the maximum extent practicable, consistent with the original purpose of the term or provision held to be invalid, void, or unenforceable, and such term shall then be applicable as altered to the extent any such alteration is reasonably acceptable to the Plan Sponsors, Honeywell, the Requisite Additional Investors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting Lenders; *provided*, *further*, that the Honeywell Settlement is not assignable, transferrable, or portable, and Honeywell shall not be required to proceed with the

Honeywell Settlement other than pursuant to the terms of the Plan. Notwithstanding any such holding or alteration, the remainder of the terms and provisions of the Plan will remain in full force and effect and will in no way be affected, impaired, or invalidated by such holding or alteration; *provided*, *however*, that the votes of holders of Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims shall be resolicited if any such holding or alteration renders the treatment of the Prepetition Credit Agreement Claims hereunder different from the treatment of such Claims provided by the Restructuring Support Agreement without the consent of Requisite Consenting Lenders. The Confirmation Order shall constitute a judicial determination and shall provide that each term and provision of the Plan, as it may have been altered in accordance with the foregoing, is: (i) valid and enforceable pursuant to its terms, (ii) integral to the Plan and may not be deleted or modified without the reasonable consent of (a) the Debtors, (b) as provided in the Plan Support Agreement or Restructuring Support Agreement, as applicable, the Plan Sponsors, Honeywell, the Requisite Additional Investors, the Requisite Consenting Noteholders, and the Requisite Consenting Lenders, and (c) any other party whose consent the Plan expressly requires with respect to such term or provision, and (iii) nonseverable and mutually dependent.

15.7 Governing Law

Unless a rule of law or procedure is supplied by federal law (including the Bankruptcy Code and Bankruptcy Rules) or unless otherwise specifically stated herein or therein, the laws of the State of New York, without giving effect to the principles of conflicts of laws, shall govern the construction and implementation of the Plan and any agreement, document or instrument executed or entered into in connection with the Plan (except as otherwise set forth in those agreements, in which case the governing law of such agreement shall control); *provided* that corporate or limited liability company governance matters relating to the Debtors or the Reorganized Debtors, as applicable, not incorporated or formed (as applicable) in the State of New York shall be governed by the laws of the jurisdiction of incorporation or formation (as applicable) of the applicable Debtor or Reorganized Debtor.

15.8 Dissolution of Committees

After the Effective Date, the Committees' functions shall be restricted to and shall not be heard on any issue except applications filed pursuant to sections 330 and 331 of the Bankruptcy Code. Upon the resolution of all matters set forth in the prior sentence, the Committees shall dissolve, and the members thereof shall be released and discharged from all rights and duties arising from, or related to, the Chapter 11 Cases.

15.9 Binding Effect

Notwithstanding Bankruptcy Rule 3020(e), 6004(h), or 7062 or otherwise, upon the occurrence of the Effective Date, the terms of the Plan and the Plan Supplement shall be immediately effective and enforceable and deemed binding upon the Debtors, Reorganized Debtors, the Estates, any and all Holders of Claims and Interests (irrespective of whether Holders of such Claims or Interests are deemed to have accepted the Plan), all Entities that are parties to or are subject to the settlements, compromises, releases, discharges and injunctions described in the Plan, each Entity acquiring property under the Plan and any and all non-Debtor parties to Executory Contracts and Unexpired Leases with the Debtors.

15.10 Notices

To be effective, any notice, request or demand to or upon, as applicable, the Debtors, the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent, the Ad Hoc Lender Group, the DIP Agent, the UCC, the Equity Committee, the Plan Sponsors, Honeywell, the Additional Investors, and the U.S. Trustee must be in writing (email being sufficient) and, unless otherwise expressly provided herein, shall be deemed to have been duly given or made when actually received and confirmed by the relevant party as follows:

If to the Debtors:

Garrett Motion Inc. 47548 Halyard Drive Plymouth, MI 48170

Attention: General Counsel

with a copy to:

Sullivan & Cromwell, LLP

125 Broad Street

New York, New York 10004

Attention: Andrew G. Dietderich (dietdericha@sullcrom.com)

Brian D. Glueckstein (gluecksteinb@sullcrom.com) Alexa J. Kranzley (kranzleyj@sullcrom.com) Benjamin S. Beller (bellerb@sullcrom.com)

Telephone: (212) 558-4000 Facsimile: (212) 558-3588

If to the Prepetition Credit Agreement Agent:

Stroock & Stroock & Lavan LLP

180 Maiden Lane

New York, New York 10038

Attention: Kristopher M. Hansen (khansen@stroock.com)

Jonathan D. Canfield (jcanfield@stroock.com)

Joanne Lau (jlau@stroock.com)

Alexander A. Fraser (afraser@stroock.com)

Telephone: (212) 806-6056 Facsimile: (212) 806-6006 If to the Ad Hoc Lender Group:

Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP

200 Park Avenue

New York, New York 10166

Attention: Scott J. Greenberg (sgreenberg@gibsondunn.com)

Steven A. Domanowski (sdomanowski@gibsondunn.com)

Robert A. Klyman (rklyman@gibsondunn.com) Matthew G. Bouslog (mbouslog@gibsondunn.com)

Telephone: (212) 351-5928 Facsimile: (212) 716-0798

If to the DIP Agent:

Weil, Gotshal & Manges LLP

767 Fifth Avenue

New York, New York 10153

Attention: Ray C. Schrock, P.C. (ray.schrock@weil.com)

Candace M. Arthur, Esq. (candace.arthur@weil.com)

Telephone: (212) 310-8000 Facsimile: (212) 310-8007

If to the UCC:

White & Case LLP

1221 Avenue of the Americas New York, New York 10020

Attention: Brian Pfeiffer (brian.pfeiffer@whitecase.com)

John Ramirez (john.ramirez@whitecase.com)

Telephone: (212) 819-8200 Facsimile: (212) 354-8113

If to the Equity Committee:

Glenn Agre Bergman & Fuentes LLP

55 Hudson Yards – 20th Floor New York, New York 10001

Attention: Andrew K. Glenn (aglenn@glennagre.com)

Jed I. Bergman (jbergman@glennagre.com) Shai Schmidt (sschmidt@glennagre.com)

Telephone: (212) 358-5600

If to the Plan Sponsors:

Milbank LLP 55 Hudson Yards

New York, New York 10003

Attention: Dennis F. Dunne (ddunne@milbank.com)

Andrew M. Leblanc (aleblanc@milbank.com)
Mattbew L. Brod (mbrod@milbank.com)
Andrew C. Harmeyer (aharmeyer@milbank.com)

Telephone: (212) 530-5000 Facsimile: (212) 530-5219 If to the Additional Investors:

Jones Day

250 Vesey Street New York, New York 10281

Attention: Anna Kordas (akordas@jonesday.com)

Telephone: (212) 326-3939 Facsimile: (212) 755-7306

-and-

Jones Day 555 S. Flower St. 50th Floor

Los Angeles, California 90071

Attention: Bruce Bennett (bbennett@jonesday.com)

Joshua M. Mester (jmester@jonesday.com) James O. Johnston (jjohnston@jonesday.com)

Telephone: (213) 489-3939 Facsimile: (213) 243-2539

If to Honeywell:

Honeywell International Inc. 300 South Tryon Street, Suite 600 Charlotte, North Carolina 28202

Attention: Anne Madden, SVP and General Counsel

(anne.madden@honeywell.com)

with copies to:

Kirkland & Ellis LLP 601 Lexington Avenue New York, New York 10022

Attention: Nicole L. Greenblatt, P.C. (nicole.greenblatt@kirkland.com)

Alexander J. Nicas (alex.nicas@kirkland.com)

Telephone: (212) 446-4800 Facsimile: (212) 446-4900

-and-

Kirkland & Ellis LLP 300 North LaSalle Chicago, Illinois 60654

Attention: Joseph M. Graham (joe.graham@kirkland.com)

Alexander Warso (alex.warso@kirkland.com)

Telephone: (312) 862-2000 Facsimile: (312) 862-2200

If to the U.S. Trustee:

Office of the United States Trustee U.S. Federal Office Building 201 Varick Street, Suite 1006 New York, New York 10014 Attention: Paul Schwartzberg

Benjamin Higgins

Telephone: (212) 510-0500 Facsimile: (212) 668-2256

15.11 Reservation of Rights

Except as expressly set forth herein, the Plan shall have no force or effect unless the Bankruptcy Court shall enter the Confirmation Order. Before the Effective Date, none of the filing of the Plan, any statement or provision contained herein or the taking of any action by the Debtors related to the Plan shall be or shall be deemed to be an admission or waiver of any rights of the Debtors of any kind, including as to the holders of Claims or Interests or as to any treatment or classification of any contract or lease.

15.12 No Stay of Confirmation Order

The Confirmation Order shall contain a waiver of any stay of enforcement otherwise applicable, including pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 3020(e), 6004(h), or 7062.

15.13 Waiver or Estoppel

Each Holder of a Claim or an Interest shall be deemed to have waived any right to assert any argument, including the right to argue that its Claim or Interest should be Allowed in a certain amount, be Allowed in a certain priority, be secured, or not be subordinated by virtue of an agreement made with the Debtors or their counsel, or any other Entity, if such agreement was not disclosed in the Plan, the Disclosure Statement or papers filed with the Bankruptcy Court prior to the Confirmation Date.

15.14 Successors and Assigns

The rights, benefits, and obligations of any Entity named or referred to in the Plan or the Confirmation Order shall be binding on, and shall inure to the benefit of any heir, executor, administrator, successor or assign, affiliate, officer, director, manager, agent, representative, attorney, beneficiaries, or guardian, if any, of each Entity.

15.15 Entire Agreement

Except as otherwise provided in the Plan or the Confirmation Order, and without limiting the effectiveness of the Plan Support Agreement or Restructuring Support Agreement, the Plan and Confirmation Order supersede all previous and contemporaneous negotiations, promises, covenants, agreements, understandings, and representations on such subjects, all of which have become merged and integrated into the Plan.

15.16 Conflicts

Except as set forth in the Plan, to the extent that any provision of the Disclosure Statement, the Plan Supplement, or any other order (other than the Confirmation Order) referenced in the Plan (or any exhibits, schedules, appendices, supplements, or amendments to any of the foregoing), conflict with or are in any way inconsistent with any provision of the Plan, the Plan shall govern and control. In the event of an inconsistency between the Confirmation Order and the Plan, the Confirmation Order shall control.

15.17 Post-Effective Date Service

After the Effective Date, the Debtors are authorized to limit the list of Entities receiving documents pursuant to Bankruptcy Rule 2002 to those Entities that have filed renewed requests for service.

New York, New York April 20, 2021

Respectfully Submitted,

SULLIVAN & CROMWELL LLP

Andrew G. Dietderich Brian D. Glueckstein Alexa Kranzley Benjamin S. Beller 125 Broad Street New York, NY 10004

Telephone: (212) 558-4000 Facsimile: (212) 558-3588

E-mail: dietdericha@sullcrom.com

gluecksteinb@sullcrom.com kranzleya@sullcrom.com bellerb@sullcrom.com

Counsel to the Debtors

Andrew G. Dietderic Brian D. Glueckstein Alexa J. Kranzley SULLIVAN & CROMWELL LLP 125 Broad Street New York, NY 10004-2498

Telephone: (212) 558-4000 Facsimile: (212) 558-3588

Counsel to the Debtors

UNITED STATES BANKRUPTCY COURT SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

: Chapter 11

: Case No. 20-12212 (MEW)
GARRETT MOTION INC., et al., ¹
:

: Jointly Administered

Debtors. :

. Х

NOTICE OF FILING OF AMENDED PLAN SUPPLEMENT

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that on March 12, 2021, the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York (the "Court") entered the Order (I) Approving the Disclosure Statement; (II) Establishing a Voting Record Date; (III) Approving Solicitation Packages and Solicitation Procedures; (IV) Approving the Forms of Ballots; (V) Establishing Voting and Tabulation Procedures; (VI) Establishing Notice and Objection Procedures for the Confirmation of the Plan and (VII) Approving the Rights Offering Procedures and the Rights Offering Materials (the "Solicitation Procedures Order"). Among other things, the Solicitation Procedures Order approved the Disclosure Statement for Debtors' Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (as may be amended, modified or supplemented, the "Disclosure Statement") filed by the above-referenced Debtors and debtors-in-possession (the "Debtors") as containing "adequate information" pursuant to section 1125 of the Bankruptcy Code and authorized the Debtors to solicit votes to accept or reject the Debtors' Amended Joint Plan of Reorganization Under Chapter 11 of the Bankruptcy Code (as may be amended, modified or supplemented, the "Plan").2

The last four digits of Garrett Motion Inc.'s tax identification number are 3189. Due to the large number of debtor entities in these Chapter 11 Cases, which are being jointly administered, a complete list of the Debtors and the last four digits of their federal tax identification numbers is not provided herein. A complete list of such information may be obtained on the website of the Debtors' claims and noticing agent at http://www.kccllc.net/garrettmotion. The Debtors' corporate headquarters is located at La Pièce 16, Rolle, Switzerland.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that on April 9, 2021, the Debtors filed the *Notice of Filing of Plan Supplement* [D.I. 1108] containing <u>Exhibits 1 –9</u> (collectively, and as modified, amended, or supplemented from time to time, the "<u>Plan Supplement</u>").

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the Debtors hereby file this amended Plan Supplement with the Court, which contains the following revised exhibits, along with blacklines identifying the modifications, if any, attached to each exhibit as **Annex 1**, respectively:

- Exhibit 1 Revised Draft of Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Garrett Motion Inc.
- Exhibit 3 Revised Draft of Registration Rights Agreement
- Exhibit 4 Revised Draft of Garrett Motion Inc. Series A Investor Rights Agreement
- Exhibit 5 Revised Draft of Certificate of Designations of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc.
- Exhibit 6 Revised Draft of Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock of GMI

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that the Court has set April 23, 2021 at 11:00 a.m. Eastern Time as the date and time for the hearing on confirmation of the Plan (the "Confirmation Hearing") and to consider any objections to the Plan. The Confirmation Hearing will be held before the Honorable Michael E. Wiles, United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York. The hearing may be adjourned from time to time, subject to the applicable terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement, without further notice other than an announcement of the adjourned date(s) at the hearing and thereafter, at any adjourned hearing(s). In addition, the Plan may be modified, subject to the applicable terms of the Restructuring Support Agreement, without further notice prior to or as a result of the confirmation hearing and thereafter, as otherwise provided in the Bankruptcy Code.

PLEASE TAKE FURTHER NOTICE that copies of the Plan, the Plan Supplement, the Disclosure Statement and the Solicitation Procedures Order, as well as other documents filed in these Chapter 11 Cases, may be obtained (i) for a nominal fee from the Court's electronic docket for the Debtors' Chapter 11 Cases at https://www.ecf.sdny.uscourts.gov (a PACER login and password are required and can be obtained through the PACER Service Center at www.pacer.psc.uscourts.gov), or (ii) free of

Capitalized terms used but not defined in this notice shall have the meaning ascribed to them in the Plan.

charge by accessing the website of the Debtors' Solicitation Agent, http://www.kccllc.net/garrettmotion. In addition, the Debtors will, at their expense, provide paper copies of the Plan, the Plan Supplement, the Disclosure Statement or the Solicitation Procedures Order to any party submitting a request for such paper copies (i) through the Debtors' restructuring website at http://www.kccllc.net/garrettmotion or (ii) in writing to Garrett Motion Ballot Processing Center (c/o KCC), 222 N. Pacific Coast Highway, Suite 300 El Segundo, California 90245. Please be advised that the Solicitation Agent is authorized to answer questions about, and provide additional copies of, materials filed in these Chapter 11 Cases, but may not advise you as to whether you should contest your non-voting status or object to confirmation of the Plan.

Dated: April 20, 2021

New York, New York

/s/ Andrew G. Dietderich

Andrew G. Dietderich Brian D. Glueckstein Alexa J. Kranzley

SULLIVAN & CROMWELL LLP

125 Broad Street

New York, New York 10004 Telephone: (212) 558-4000 Facsimile: (212) 558-3588

Email: dietdericha@sullcrom.com

gluecksteinb@sullcrom.com kranzleya@sullcrom.com

Counsel to the Debtors

Exhibit 1

Revised Draft of Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Garrett Motion Inc.

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

GARRETT MOTION INC.

 $[\bullet], 2021$

GARRETT MOTION INC., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, DOES HEREBY CERTIFY AS FOLLOWS:

- 1. The name of the corporation is Garrett Motion Inc. The original Certificate of Incorporation of the corporation was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on March 14, 2018 under the name Garrett Transportation Systems Inc. An Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on September 28, 2018, effective as of October 1, 2018 (the "Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation").
- 2. This Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation has been duly executed and acknowledged by the undersigned, Jerome P. Maironi, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of the corporation, pursuant to Section 103 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "<u>DGCL</u>") and duly adopted in accordance with Sections 242, 245 and 303 of the DGCL and that certain [•] (the "<u>Plan</u>") entered in the cases under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code of Garrett Motion Inc. et al. in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York, Case No. 20-12212 and shall be effective upon filing with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.
 - 3. The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation is hereby amended and restated to read in its entirety as follows:

ARTICLE I

The name of the corporation (hereinafter called the "Corporation") is Garrett Motion Inc.

ARTICLE II

The address of the Corporation's registered office in the State of Delaware is 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaware 19808. The name of the Corporation's registered agent at such address is Corporation Service Company.

ARTICLE III

The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the DGCL.

ARTICLE IV

SECTION 1. The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is 2,200,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of (1) 1,200,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 per share ("Preferred Stock"), and (2) 1,000,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share ("Common Stock"). The number of authorized shares of either the Preferred Stock or the Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon irrespective of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the DGCL (or any successor provision thereto), voting as a single class, and, unless otherwise provided in any certificate of designation setting forth the terms of a series of Preferred Stock, no vote of the holders of either the Preferred Stock or the Common Stock voting separately as a class shall be required therefor.

SECTION 2. (a) The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the "Board of Directors") is hereby expressly authorized, by resolution or resolutions and without stockholder approval, to provide, out of the unissued shares of Preferred Stock, for series of Preferred Stock and, with respect to each such series, to fix the number of shares constituting such series and the designation of such series, the voting powers (if any) of the shares of such series, and the preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, if any, and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, of the shares of such series. The powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights of each series of Preferred Stock, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, if any, may differ from those of any and all other series at any time outstanding.

(b) For all purposes, this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation shall be subject to and shall be deemed to include the terms and conditions of each certificate of designations (if any) setting forth the terms of a series of Preferred Stock (each, a "Certificate of Designations"), and all references to this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation shall be deemed to include a reference to each such Certificate of Designations. In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and any Certificate of Designations, the terms of the applicable Certificate of Designations shall be incorporated by reference and substituted for the inconsistent provision of the Second Amended and Restated Certificate so as to eliminate any inconsistency.

SECTION 3. (a) Each holder of Common Stock, as such, shall be entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock held of record by such holder on all matters on which stockholders generally are entitled to vote; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that, except as otherwise required by law, holders of Common Stock, as such, shall not be entitled to vote on any amendment to this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation that relates solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the holders of such affected series are entitled, either separately or together with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon pursuant to this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the DGCL, or a Certificate of Designations setting forth the terms of such series of Preferred Stock.

- (b) Except as otherwise required by law, holders of a series of Preferred Stock, as such, shall be entitled only to such voting rights, if any, as shall expressly be granted to such holders by this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, including pursuant to any Certificate of Designations setting forth the terms of such series of Preferred Stock.
- (c) Subject to applicable law and the rights, if any, of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, dividends may be declared and paid on the Common Stock at such times and in such amounts as the Board of Directors in its discretion shall determine.
- (d) Upon the dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, the holders of the Common Stock, as such, shall be entitled to receive the assets of the Corporation available for distribution to its stockholders ratably in proportion to the number of shares held by them. For the avoidance of doubt, a dissolution, liquidation or winding up shall not be deemed to be occasioned by or to include, without limitation, any voluntary consolidation, reorganization, conversion or merger of the Corporation with or into any other corporation or entity or other corporation or entities or a sale, lease, transfer, exchange or conveyance of all or a part of the Corporation's assets.
 - (e) Shares of Common Stock shall not entitle any holder thereof to any pre-emptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights.

SECTION 4. The Corporation shall not issue nonvoting equity securities; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the foregoing restriction shall (i) have no further force and effect beyond that required under Section 1123(a)(6) of Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code (the "<u>Bankruptcy Code</u>"), (ii) only have such force and effect for so long as Section 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code is in effect and applicable to the Corporation and (iii) in all events may be amended or eliminated in accordance with applicable law as from time to time may be in effect. The prohibition on the issuance of nonvoting equity securities is included in this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in compliance with Section 1123(a)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code; <u>provided</u>, that the foregoing shall not in any way restrict or prevent the issuance of any shares of Series B Preferred Stock (as defined in the Series A Investor Rights Agreement) regardless of any voting rights granted thereto.

ARTICLE V

SECTION 1. (a) The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors. Except as otherwise fixed pursuant to the terms of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock pursuant to this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the number of directors of the Corporation shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

(b) The directors, other than those who may be elected by the holders of any series of Preferred Stock voting separately pursuant to this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, shall be elected by the stockholders entitled to vote thereon at each annual meeting of the stockholders. Each director shall be elected annually and shall hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her respective successor shall have been duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation or removal. The election of directors need not be by written ballot.

SECTION 2. (a) Except as otherwise provided for or fixed by or pursuant to the provisions of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation relating to the rights of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, including in any certificate of designation setting forth the terms of such series of Preferred Stock, and subject to the rights of the Series A Investors under the Series A Investor Rights Agreement, any newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the number of directors and any vacancies on the Board of Directors resulting from death, resignation, removal or other cause shall only be filled by the Board of Directors by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors then in office, even though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors or by a sole remaining director. Any director elected in accordance with the first sentence of this Section 2 shall hold office for a term that shall coincide with the remaining term of such director and until such director's successor shall have been duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation or removal.

- (b) Subject to the rights of the holders of any one or more series of Preferred Stock, (i) any director may be removed with or without cause and (ii) the removal of any director, whether with or without cause, shall require the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation entitled generally to vote in the election of directors of the Corporation.
 - (c) For purposes of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation:
- "Affiliate" shall mean with respect to any Person, any other Person that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such Person.
 - "Beneficially own" shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act.
 - "Centerbridge" shall mean [•].
- "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. "Investor" shall mean any Person, other than the Corporation, that, from time to time, is a party to the Series A Investor Rights Agreement or a holder of the Series B Preferred Stock.
 - "Oaktree" shall mean [•].
- "Person" shall mean any individual, corporation, general or limited partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, association or any other entity.
- "Series A Investor" shall mean any Person, other than the Corporation, that, from time to time, is a party to the Series A Investor Rights Agreement.

"Series A Investor Rights Agreement" shall mean that certain Series A Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of [•], 2021, by and among the Corporation, Centerbridge, Oaktree and the additional parties thereto, as it may be amended, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time.

"Transition Date" shall mean the first date on which either Centerbridge or Oaktree ceases to have the right to designate two (2) individuals for election to the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VI

SECTION 1. Prior to the Transition Date, any action required or permitted to be taken at any annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of outstanding stock of the Corporation having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted so long as the Board of Directors has unanimously recommended that the stockholders of the Corporation take such action. On and after the Transition Date, and subject to the rights of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, any action required or permitted to be taken by the holders of any class or series of stock of the Corporation may be taken only upon the vote of stockholders at annual or special meetings duly called and may not be taken by written consent of the stockholders.

SECTION 2. Except as otherwise required by law and subject to the rights of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, special meetings of stockholders of the Corporation may only be called by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer (or, in the absence of a Chief Executive Officer, the President) of the Corporation, or by the holders of a majority of the then outstanding Series A Shares (as defined in the Series A Investor Rights Agreement), for so long as Oaktree and Centerbridge beneficially own, in the aggregate, a majority of the then outstanding Series A Shares. Each special meeting shall be held at such date, time and place either within or without the State of Delaware, or by means of remote communication, as may be determined by the Board of Directors and as specified in the notice of meeting.

ARTICLE VII

In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred upon it by law, and subject to the rights of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, the Board of Directors is expressly authorized to adopt, repeal, alter or amend the By-laws of the Corporation by the vote of a majority of the Board of Directors. In addition to any requirements of law and any other provision of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (and notwithstanding the fact that a lesser percentage may be specified by law), the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation entitled generally to vote in the election of directors of the Corporation, voting together as a single class, shall be required for stockholders to adopt, amend, alter or repeal any provision of the By-laws of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VIII

SECTION 1. To the fullest extent that the DGCL or any other law of the State of Delaware as it exists or as it may hereafter be amended permits the limitation or elimination of the liability of directors, no director of the Corporation shall be liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director.

SECTION 2. To the fullest extent that the DGCL or any other law of the State of Delaware as it exists or as it may hereafter be amended permits, including to the extent that such law or amendment permits the Corporation to provide broader indemnification rights than permitted prior to such law or amendment, the Corporation may provide indemnification of (and advancement of expenses to) its current and former directors, officers and agents (and any other persons to which the DGCL permits the Corporation to provide indemnification) through By-law provisions, agreements with such agents or other persons, votes of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.

SECTION 3. No amendment to or repeal of any Section of this Article VIII, nor the adoption of any provision of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article VIII, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article VIII in respect of any matter occurring, or any action or proceeding accruing or arising, prior to such amendment, repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision.

ARTICLE IX

SECTION 1. None of (i) the Investors or any of their respective Affiliates or (ii) any director who is not an employee of the Corporation or any of his or her respective Affiliates (the Persons identified in (i) and (ii) above being referred to, collectively, as "Identified Persons" and, individually, as an "Identified Person") shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, have any duty to refrain from directly or indirectly (1) engaging in the same or similar business activities or lines of business in which the Corporation or any of its Affiliates now engages or proposes to engage or (2) otherwise competing with the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, no Identified Person shall be liable to the Corporation or its stockholders or to any Affiliate of the Corporation for breach of any fiduciary duty solely by reason of the fact that such Identified Person engages in any such activities. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Corporation hereby renounces any interest or expectancy in, or right to be offered an opportunity to participate in, any business opportunity which may be a corporate opportunity for an Identified Person and the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, except as provided in Article IX, Section 2. Subject to said Article IX, Section 2, in the event that any Identified Person acquires knowledge of a potential transaction or other matter or business opportunity which may be a corporate opportunity for itself, herself or himself and the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, such Identified Person shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, have no fiduciary duty or other duty (contractual or otherwise) to communicate, present or offer such transaction or other business opportunity to the Corporation or any of its Affiliates and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, shall not be liable to the Corporation or its stockholders or to any Affiliate of the Corporation for breach of any fiduciary duty or other duty (contractual or otherwise) as a stockholder, director or officer of the Corporation solely by reason of the fact that such Identified Person pursues or acquires such corporate opportunity for itself, herself or himself, offers or directs such corporate opportunity to another Person, or does not present such corporate opportunity to the Corporation or any of its Affiliates.

SECTION 2. The Corporation does not renounce its interest in any corporate opportunity offered to any director if such corporate opportunity is expressly offered to such person in writing solely in his or her capacity as a director or officer of the Corporation, and the provisions of Article IX, Section 1 shall not apply to any such corporate opportunity.

SECTION 3. A potential business opportunity shall not be deemed to be a corporate opportunity for the Corporation if it is a business opportunity that (i) the Corporation is not financially able to undertake, or (ii) from its nature, is not in the line of the Corporation's business.

SECTION 4. For purposes of this Article IX only, "Affiliate" shall include any principal, member, director, partner, stockholder, officer, employee or other representative of any of the Investors.

SECTION 5. To the fullest extent permitted by law, any Person purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the provisions of this Article IX. Neither the alteration, amendment, addition to or repeal of this Article IX, nor the adoption of any provision of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article IX, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article IX in respect of any business opportunity first identified or any other matter occurring, or any cause of action, suit or claim that, but for this Article IX, would accrue or arise, prior to such alteration, amendment, addition, repeal or adoption.

ARTICLE X

Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for (1) (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (b) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee or stockholder of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation's stockholders, (c) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL (or any successor provision thereto) or as to which the DGCL (or any successor provision thereto) confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, (d) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine or (e) any other action asserting an "internal corporate claim" as that term is defined in Section 115 of the DGCL, shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by law, or, if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware does not have jurisdiction, any other state or federal court located within the State of Delaware and (2) any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, shall be the federal district courts of the United States (the "Federal Courts"). If any action, the subject matter of which is within the scope of the first sentence of this Article X, is filed in a court other than the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or the Federal Courts, as applicable (a "Foreign Action"), in the name of any stockholder, such stockholder shall be deemed to have consented to (i) the personal jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or the Federal Courts, as applicable, in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the first sentence of this Article X and (ii) having service of process made upon such stockholder in any such action by service upon such stockholder's counsel in the Foreign Action as agent for such stockholder. To the fullest extent permitted b

ARTICLE XI

The Corporation is to have perpetual existence.

ARTICLE XII

If any provision (or any part thereof) of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation shall be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable as applied to any circumstance for any reason whatsoever: (i) the validity, legality and enforceability of such provisions in any other circumstance and of the remaining provisions of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including, without limitation, each portion of any section of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable that is not itself held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and (ii) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including, without limitation, each such portion of any section containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to permit the Corporation to protect its directors, officers, employees and agents from personal liability in respect of their good faith service or for the benefit of the Corporation to the fullest extent permitted by law.

	IN WITNESS	WHEREOF,	Garrett Motion I	nc. has caused	this Certificat	e to be duly ex	ecuted in its	corporate name	as of the c	late first	written
abov	e.										

By:

Name: Jerome P. Maironi
Title: General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary

[Signature Page to Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Garrett Motion Inc.]

Annex 1 to Exhibit 1

Blackline of Draft of Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Garrett Motion Inc.

SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED

CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

OF

GARRETT MOTION INC.

[•], 2021

GARRETT MOTION INC., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, DOES HEREBY CERTIFY AS FOLLOWS:

- 1. The name of the corporation is Garrett Motion Inc. The original Certificate of Incorporation of the corporation was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on March 14, 2018 under the name Garrett Transportation Systems Inc. An Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation was filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware on September 28, 2018, effective as of October 1, 2018 (the "Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation").
- 2. This Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation has been duly executed and acknowledged by the undersigned, Jerome P. Maironi, General Counsel and Corporate Secretary of the corporation, pursuant to Section 103 of the General Corporation Law of the State of Delaware (the "<u>DGCL</u>") and duly adopted in accordance with Sections 242, 245 and 303 of the DGCL and that certain [•] (the "<u>Plan</u>") entered in the cases under chapter 11 of title 11 of the United States Code of Garrett Motion Inc. et al. in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York, Case No. 20-12212 and shall be effective upon filing with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware.
 - 3. The Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation is hereby amended and restated to read in its entirety as follows:

ARTICLE I

The name of the corporation (hereinafter called the "Corporation") is Garrett Motion Inc.

ARTICLE II

The address of the Corporation's registered office in the State of Delaware is 251 Little Falls Drive, Wilmington, New Castle County, Delaware 19808. The name of the Corporation's registered agent at such address is Corporation Service Company.

ARTICLE III

The purpose of the Corporation is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which corporations may be organized under the DGCL.

ARTICLE IV

SECTION 1. The total number of shares of all classes of stock which the Corporation shall have authority to issue is 32,200,000,000 shares of capital stock, consisting of (1) 1,200,000,000 shares of Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 per share ("Preferred Stock"), and (2) 1,000,000,000 shares of Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share ("Common Stock"). The number of authorized shares of either the Preferred Stock or the Common Stock may be increased or decreased (but not below the number of shares thereof then outstanding) by the affirmative vote of the holders of a majority in the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote thereon irrespective of the provisions of Section 242(b)(2) of the DGCL (or any successor provision thereto), voting as a single class, and, unless otherwise provided in any certificate of designation setting forth the terms of a series of Preferred Stock, no vote of the holders of either the Preferred Stock or the Common Stock voting separately as a class shall be required therefor.

SECTION 2. (a) The Board of Directors of the Corporation (the "Board of Directors") is hereby expressly authorized, by resolution or resolutions and without stockholder approval, to provide, out of the unissued shares of Preferred Stock, for series of Preferred Stock and, with respect to each such series, to fix the number of shares constituting such series and the designation of such series, the voting powers (if any) of the shares of such series, and the preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, if any, and any qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, of the shares of such series. The powers, preferences and relative, participating, optional and other special rights of each series of Preferred Stock, and the qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, if any, may differ from those of any and all other series at any time outstanding.

(b) For all purposes, this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation shall be subject to and shall be deemed to include the terms and conditions of each certificate of designations (if any) setting forth the terms of a series of Preferred Stock (each, a "Certificate of Designations"), and all references to this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation shall be deemed to include a reference to each such Certificate of Designations. In the event of a conflict between the terms of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation and any Certificate of Designations, the terms of the applicable Certificate of Designations shall be incorporated by reference and substituted for the inconsistent provision of the Second Amended and Restated Certificate so as to eliminate any inconsistency.

SECTION 3. (a) Each holder of Common Stock, as such, shall be entitled to one vote for each share of Common Stock held of record by such holder on all matters on which stockholders generally are entitled to vote; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that, except as otherwise required by law, holders of Common Stock, as such, shall not be entitled to vote on any amendment to this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation that relates solely to the terms of one or more outstanding series of Preferred Stock if the holders of such affected series are entitled, either separately or together with the holders of one or more other such series, to vote thereon pursuant to this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the DGCL, or a Certificate of Designations setting forth the terms of such series of Preferred Stock.

- (b) Except as otherwise required by law, holders of a series of Preferred Stock, as such, shall be entitled only to such voting rights, if any, as shall expressly be granted to such holders by this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, including pursuant to any Certificate of Designations setting forth the terms of such series of Preferred Stock.
- (c) Subject to applicable law and the rights, if any, of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, dividends may be declared and paid on the Common Stock at such times and in such amounts as the Board of Directors in its discretion shall determine.
- (d) Upon the dissolution, liquidation or winding up of the Corporation, subject to the rights, if any, of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, the holders of the Common Stock, as such, shall be entitled to receive the assets of the Corporation available for distribution to its stockholders ratably in proportion to the number of shares held by them. For the avoidance of doubt, a dissolution, liquidation or winding up shall not be deemed to be occasioned by or to include, without limitation, any voluntary consolidation, reorganization, conversion or merger of the Corporation with or into any other corporation or entity or other corporation or entities or a sale, lease, transfer, exchange or conveyance of all or a part of the Corporation's assets.
 - (e) Shares of Common Stock shall not entitle any holder thereof to any pre-emptive, subscription, redemption or conversion rights.

SECTION 4. The Corporation shall not issue nonvoting equity securities; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that the foregoing restriction shall (i) have no further force and effect beyond that required under Section 1123(a)(6) of Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code (the "<u>Bankruptcy Code</u>"), (ii) only have such force and effect for so long as Section 1123 of the Bankruptcy Code is in effect and applicable to the Corporation and (iii) in all events may be amended or eliminated in accordance with applicable law as from time to time may be in effect. The prohibition on the issuance of nonvoting equity securities is included in this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation in compliance with Section 1123(a)(6) of the Bankruptcy Code; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that the foregoing shall not in any way restrict or prevent the issuance of any shares of Series B Preferred Stock (as defined in the Series A Investor Rights Agreement) regardless of any voting rights granted thereto.

ARTICLE V

SECTION 1. (a) The business and affairs of the Corporation shall be managed by or under the direction of the Board of Directors. Except as otherwise fixed pursuant to the terms of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock pursuant to this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, the number of directors of the Corporation shall be fixed from time to time by the Board of Directors.

(b) The directors, other than those who may be elected by the holders of any series of Preferred Stock voting separately pursuant to this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation, shall be elected by the stockholders entitled to vote thereon at each annual meeting of the stockholders. Each director shall be elected annually and shall hold office until the next annual meeting of stockholders and until his or her respective successor shall have been duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation or removal. The election of directors need not be by written ballot.

SECTION 2. (a) Except as otherwise provided for or fixed by or pursuant to the provisions of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation relating to the rights of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, including in any certificate of designation setting forth the terms of such series of Preferred Stock, and subject to the rights of the Series A Investors under the Series A Investor Rights Agreement, any newly created directorships resulting from any increase in the number of directors and any vacancies on the Board of Directors resulting from death, resignation, removal or other cause shall only be filled by the Board of Directors by the affirmative vote of a majority of the remaining directors then in office, even though less than a quorum of the Board of Directors or by a sole remaining director. Any director elected in accordance with the first sentence of this Section 2 shall hold office for a term that shall coincide with the remaining term of such director and until such director's successor shall have been duly elected and qualified or until his or her earlier resignation or removal.

- (b) Subject to the rights of the holders of any one or more series of Preferred Stock, (i) any director may be removed with or without cause and (ii) the removal of any director, whether with or without cause, shall require the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation entitled generally to vote in the election of directors of the Corporation.
 - (c) For purposes of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation:
- "Affiliate" shall mean with respect to any Person, any other Person that controls, is controlled by, or is under common control with such Person.
 - "Beneficially own" shall have the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act.
 - "Centerbridge" shall mean [•].
 - "Exchange Act" shall mean the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
- "Investor" shall mean any Person, other than the Corporation, that, from time to time, is a party to the Series A Investor Rights Agreement or a holder of the Series B Preferred Stock.
 - "Oaktree" shall mean [•].
- "Person" shall mean any individual, corporation, general or limited partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, trust, association or any other entity.
- "Series A Investor" shall mean any Person, other than the Corporation, that, from time to time, is a party to the Series A Investor Rights Agreement.

"Series A Investor Rights Agreement" shall mean that certain Series A Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of [•], 2021, by and among the Corporation, Centerbridge, Oaktree and the additional parties thereto, as it may be amended, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time.

"Transition Date" shall mean the first date on which either Centerbridge or Oaktree ceases to have the right to designate two (2) individuals for election to the Board of Directors.

ARTICLE VI

SECTION 1. Prior to the Transition Date, any action required or permitted to be taken at any annual or special meeting of stockholders of the Corporation may be taken without a meeting, without prior notice and without a vote, if a consent or consents in writing, setting forth the action so taken, shall be signed by the holders of outstanding stock of the Corporation having not less than the minimum number of votes that would be necessary to authorize or take such action at a meeting at which all shares entitled to vote thereon were present and voted so long as the Board of Directors has unanimously recommended that the stockholders of the Corporation take such action. On and after the Transition Date, and subject to the rights of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, any action required or permitted to be taken by the holders of any class or series of stock of the Corporation may be taken only upon the vote of stockholders at annual or special meetings duly called and may not be taken by written consent of the stockholders.

SECTION 2. Except as otherwise required by law and subject to the rights of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, special meetings of stockholders of the Corporation may only be called by the affirmative vote of a majority of the Board of Directors, the Chairman of the Board of Directors, the Chief Executive Officer (or, in the absence of a Chief Executive Officer, the President) of the Corporation, or by the holders of a majority of the then outstanding Series A Shares (as defined in the Series A Investor Rights Agreement), for so long as Oaktree and Centerbridge beneficially own, in the aggregate, a majority of the then outstanding Series A Shares. Each special meeting shall be held at such date, time and place either within or without the State of Delaware, or by means of remote communication, as may be determined by the Board of Directors and as specified in the notice of meeting.

ARTICLE VII

In furtherance and not in limitation of the powers conferred upon it by law, and subject to the rights of the holders of any outstanding series of Preferred Stock, the Board of Directors is expressly authorized to adopt, repeal, alter or amend the By-laws of the Corporation by the vote of a majority of the Board of Directors. In addition to any requirements of law and any other provision of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (and notwithstanding the fact that a lesser percentage may be specified by law), the affirmative vote of the holders of at least a majority of the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation entitled generally to vote in the election of directors of the Corporation, voting together as a single class, shall be required for stockholders to adopt, amend, alter or repeal any provision of the By-laws of the Corporation.

ARTICLE VIII

SECTION 1. To the fullest extent that the DGCL or any other law of the State of Delaware as it exists or as it may hereafter be amended permits the limitation or elimination of the liability of directors, no director of the Corporation shall be liable to the Corporation or its stockholders for monetary damages for breach of fiduciary duty as a director.

SECTION 2. To the fullest extent that the DGCL or any other law of the State of Delaware as it exists or as it may hereafter be amended permits, including to the extent that such law or amendment permits the Corporation to provide broader indemnification rights than permitted prior to such law or amendment, the Corporation may provide indemnification of (and advancement of expenses to) its current and former directors, officers and agents (and any other persons to which the DGCL permits the Corporation to provide indemnification) through By-law provisions, agreements with such agents or other persons, votes of stockholders or disinterested directors or otherwise.

SECTION 3. No amendment to or repeal of any Section of this Article VIII, nor the adoption of any provision of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article VIII, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article VIII in respect of any matter occurring, or any action or proceeding accruing or arising, prior to such amendment, repeal or adoption of an inconsistent provision.

ARTICLE IX

SECTION 1. None of (i) the Investors or any of their respective Affiliates or (ii) any director who is not an employee of the Corporation or any of his or her respective Affiliates (the Persons identified in (i) and (ii) above being referred to, collectively, as "Identified Persons" and, individually, as an "Identified Person") shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, have any duty to refrain from directly or indirectly (1) engaging in the same or similar business activities or lines of business in which the Corporation or any of its Affiliates now engages or proposes to engage or (2) otherwise competing with the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, no Identified Person shall be liable to the Corporation or its stockholders or to any Affiliate of the Corporation for breach of any fiduciary duty solely by reason of the fact that such Identified Person engages in any such activities. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the Corporation hereby renounces any interest or expectancy in, or right to be offered an opportunity to participate in, any business opportunity which may be a corporate opportunity for an Identified Person and the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, except as provided in Article IX, Section 2. Subject to said Article IX, Section 2, in the event that any Identified Person acquires knowledge of a potential transaction or other matter or business opportunity which may be a corporate opportunity for itself, herself or himself and the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, such Identified Person shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, have no fiduciary duty or other duty (contractual or otherwise) to communicate, present or offer such transaction or other business opportunity to the Corporation or any of its Affiliates and, to the fullest extent permitted by law, shall not be liable to the Corporation or its stockholders or to any Affiliate of the Corporation for breach of any fiduciary duty or other duty (contractual or otherwise) as a stockholder, director or officer of the Corporation solely by reason of the fact that such Identified Person pursues or acquires such corporate opportunity for itself, herself or himself, offers or directs such corporate opportunity to another Person, or does not present such corporate opportunity to the Corporation or any of its Affiliates.

SECTION 2. The Corporation does not renounce its interest in any corporate opportunity offered to any director if such corporate opportunity is expressly offered to such person in writing solely in his or her capacity as a director or officer of the Corporation, and the provisions of Article IX, Section 1 shall not apply to any such corporate opportunity.

SECTION 3. A potential business opportunity shall not be deemed to be a corporate opportunity for the Corporation if it is a business opportunity that (i) the Corporation is not financially able to undertake, or (ii) from its nature, is not in the line of the Corporation's business.

SECTION 4. For purposes of this Article IX only, "Affiliate" shall include any principal, member, director, partner, stockholder, officer, employee or other representative of any of the Investors.

SECTION 5. To the fullest extent permitted by law, any Person purchasing or otherwise acquiring any interest in any shares of capital stock of the Corporation shall be deemed to have notice of and to have consented to the provisions of this Article IX. Neither the alteration, amendment, addition to or repeal of this Article IX, nor the adoption of any provision of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation inconsistent with this Article IX, shall eliminate or reduce the effect of this Article IX in respect of any business opportunity first identified or any other matter occurring, or any cause of action, suit or claim that, but for this Article IX, would accrue or arise, prior to such alteration, amendment, addition, repeal or adoption.

ARTICLE X

Unless the Corporation consents in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the sole and exclusive forum for (1) (a) any derivative action or proceeding brought on behalf of the Corporation, (b) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed by any director, officer or other employee or stockholder of the Corporation to the Corporation or the Corporation's stockholders, (c) any action asserting a claim arising pursuant to any provision of the DGCL (or any successor provision thereto) or as to which the DGCL (or any successor provision thereto) confers jurisdiction on the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, (d) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs doctrine or (e) any other action asserting an "internal corporate claim" as that term is defined in Section 115 of the DGCL, shall be the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware, in all cases to the fullest extent permitted by law, or, if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware does not have jurisdiction, any other state or federal court located within the State of Delaware and (2) any complaint asserting a cause of action arising under the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, shall be the federal district courts of the United States (the "Federal Courts"). If any action, the subject matter of which is within the scope of the first sentence of this Article X, is filed in a court other than the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or the Federal Courts, as applicable (a "Foreign Action"), in the name of any stockholder, such stockholder shall be deemed to have consented to (i) the personal jurisdiction of the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or the Federal Courts, as applicable, in connection with any action brought in any such court to enforce the first sentence of this Article X and (ii) having service of process made upon such stockholder in any such action by service upon such stockholder's counsel in the Foreign Action as agent for such stockholder. To the fullest extent permitted b

ARTICLE XI

The Corporation is to have perpetual existence.

ARTICLE XII

If any provision (or any part thereof) of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation shall be held invalid, illegal or unenforceable as applied to any circumstance for any reason whatsoever: (i) the validity, legality and enforceability of such provisions in any other circumstance and of the remaining provisions of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including, without limitation, each portion of any section of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable that is not itself held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall not in any way be affected or impaired thereby and (ii) to the fullest extent possible, the provisions of this Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation (including, without limitation, each such portion of any section containing any such provision held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable) shall be construed so as to permit the Corporation to protect its directors, officers, employees and agents from personal liability in respect of their good faith service or for the benefit of the Corporation to the fullest extent permitted by law.

	IN WITNESS	WHEREOF,	Garrett Motion Ir	nc. has caused	this Certificate	o be duly execut	ed in its corpora	ate name as of t	he date firs	st written
abov	e.									

$C \Lambda I$	DDETT	MOTION	INIC

By:

Name: Jerome P. Maironi
Title: General Counsel and
Corporate Secretary

[Signature Page to Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of Garrett Motion Inc.]

Exhibit 3

Revised Draft of Registration Rights Agreement

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

BY AND AMONG

GARRETT MOTION INC.

[CENTERBRIDGE PARTIES]

[OAKTREE PARTIES]

AND THE OTHER STOCKHOLDERS OF GARRETT MOTION INC. SIGNATORIES HERETO

TABLE OF CONTENTS

			rag
		<u>ARTICLE I</u>	
		<u>DEFINITIONS</u>	
SECTION 1.01.	<u>Defined Terms</u>		1
SECTION 1.02.	Other Interpretive Provisions		7
		ARTICLE II	
		REGISTRATION RIGHTS	
SECTION 2.01.	Demand Registration		7
SECTION 2.02.	Shelf Registration		10
SECTION 2.03.	Limitations on Registration		12
SECTION 2.04.	Piggyback Registration		12
SECTION 2.05.	<u>Lock-Up Periods</u>		14
SECTION 2.06.	Registration Procedures		15
SECTION 2.07.	<u>Underwritten Offerings</u>		21
SECTION 2.08.	No Inconsistent Agreements		22
SECTION 2.09.	Registration Expenses		22
SECTION 2.10.	<u>Indemnification</u>		23
SECTION 2.11.	Rules 144 and 144A and Regulation S		26
SECTION 2.12.	<u>Opt-Out</u>		26
		ARTICLE III	
		TRANSFER	
SECTION 3.01.	Transfer of Registration Rights		27
		ARTICLE IV	
		<u>MISCELLANEOUS</u>	
SECTION 4.01.	<u>Effectiveness</u>		27
SECTION 4.02.	Registrable Securities		27
SECTION 4.03.	Existing Registration Statements		27

i

SECTION 4.04.	Other Activities	28
SECTION 4.05.	Entire Agreement	28
SECTION 4.06.	Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial	28
SECTION 4.07.	Obligations; Remedies	29
SECTION 4.08.	Amendment and Waiver	29
SECTION 4.09.	Binding Effect	30
SECTION 4.10.	<u>Termination</u>	30
SECTION 4.11.	<u>Notices</u>	30
SECTION 4.12.	<u>Severability</u>	32
SECTION 4.13.	Third-Party Beneficiaries	32
<u>SECTION 4.14.</u>	<u>Counterparts</u>	32
SECTION 4.15.	<u>Headings</u>	32

Schedule A Additional Investor Notice Schedule

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), dated as of [•], 2021, by and among Garrett Motion Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Issuer</u>"), [•], a [•] ("[•]"), [•], a [•] ("[•]") and, together with [•], the "<u>Centerbridge Investors</u>"), [•], a [•] ("[•]"), [•], a [•] ("[•]") and, together with [•], the "<u>Oaktree Investors</u>"), the Additional Investors (as defined below) and the Accredited Investor Parties (as defined below).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Issuer and the Investors (as defined below) are entering into this Agreement in accordance with and pursuant to the Plan of Reorganization (the "<u>Plan</u>") of the Issuer and certain of its debtor subsidiaries under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York (the "<u>Bankruptcy Court</u>");

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Plan, the Issuer shall issue to the Investors shares of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Series A Preferred Stock");

WHEREAS, the Series A Preferred Stock shall be convertible into shares of the Issuer's Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), in accordance with its terms; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the effectiveness of the Plan (the date of such effectiveness, the "<u>Plan Effective Date</u>"), the Issuer has agreed to provide the Investors with certain registration rights as set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises, covenants and agreements of the parties hereto, and for other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

SECTION 1.01. Defined Terms. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"Accredited Investor Eligible Holder" means any Person (other than Centerbridge, Oaktree or any of the Additional Investors) who is an "accredited investor" within the meaning of Rule 501 under Regulation D of the Securities Act and who becomes the Beneficial Owner of Series A Shares on the Plan Effective Date pursuant to the offering of rights to subscribe for and acquire Series A Preferred Stock on the Plan Effective Date in accordance with the procedures with respect to the "Accredited Investor Rights Offering" authorized pursuant to the Order (I) Approving the Disclosure Statement and Form and Manner of Notice of Disclosure Statement Hearing; (II) Establishing a Voting Record Date for the Plan; (III) Approving Solicitation Packages and Procedures for the Distribution Thereof; (IV) Approving the Forms of Ballots; (V) Establishing Procedures for Voting on the Plan; and (VI) Establishing Notice and Objection Procedures for the Confirmation of the Plan entered by the Bankruptcy Court on March 11, 2021.

- "Accredited Investor Parties" means the Accredited Investor Eligible Holders that become a party hereto in accordance with Section 4.01.
- "Additional Investors" means Attestor Value Master Fund LP, Baupost Group Securities, L.L.C., Cyrus Capital Partners, L.P., FIN Capital Partners LP, Hawk Ridge Capital Management LP, Keyframe Capital Partners, L.P., Newtyn Management, LLC, Sessa Capital IM, L.P. and Whitebox Multi-Strategy Partners, L.P.
- "Adverse Disclosure" means public disclosure of MNPI that, in the Board's good faith judgment, after consultation with independent outside counsel to the Issuer, (i) would be required to be made in any Registration Statement or report filed with the SEC by the Issuer so that such Registration Statement or report would not be materially misleading; (ii) would not be required to be made at such time but for the filing of such Registration Statement; and (iii) the Issuer has a bona fide business purpose for not disclosing publicly.
- "Affiliate" has the meaning specified in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act; <u>provided</u>, that no Investor shall be deemed an Affiliate of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries for purposes of this Agreement.
 - "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
 - "Automatic Shelf Registration Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).
 - "Bankruptcy Court" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
- "Beneficial Owner" and "beneficially own" and similar terms have the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act; provided, however, that no Investor shall be deemed to beneficially own any securities of the Issuer held by any other Investor solely by virtue of the provisions of this Agreement (other than this definition).
- "Block Trade" means an offering and/or sale of Registrable Securities off of an effective Shelf Registration Statement by one or more of the Investors on a block trade or underwritten basis (whether firm commitment or otherwise) without substantial marketing efforts prior to pricing, including a same day trade, overnight trade or similar transaction.
 - "Board" means the board of directors of the Issuer.
- "Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which commercial banks located in New York, New York or Rolle, Switzerland are required or authorized by law to be closed.
 - "Centerbridge Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

- "Chosen Court" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.06(b).
- "Common Shares" means shares of Common Stock.
- "Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
- "Demand Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(e).
- "Demand Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(d).
- "Demand Registration" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(a)(i).
- "Demand Registration Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(a)(ii).
- "Demand Suspension" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(f).
- "Demanding Investor" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(a)(i).
- "Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any successor thereto, and any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect from time to time.
 - "FINRA" means the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.
- "Investors" means (i) the Centerbridge Investors, (ii) the Oaktree Investors, (iii) the Additional Investors, (iv) the Accredited Investor Parties and (v) any Person who succeeds to rights hereunder pursuant to Section 3.01.
 - "Issuer" has the meaning given to the term in the Preamble.
- "<u>Issuer Free Writing Prospectus</u>" means an issuer free writing prospectus, as defined in Rule 433 under the Securities Act, relating to an offer of the Registrable Securities.
 - "Issuer Public Sale" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a).
- "Law" with respect to any Person, means (a) all provisions of all laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, permits, certificates or orders of any governmental authority applicable to such Person or any of its assets or property or to which such Person or any of its assets or property is subject, and (b) all judgments, injunctions, orders and decrees of any governmental authority in proceedings or actions in which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its assets or properties is or may be bound or subject.
 - "Lock-Up Securities" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(a).
 - "Long-Form Registration Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(a)(i).
 - "Loss" or "Losses" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.10(a).

"<u>Majority Participating Investors</u>" means the Participating Investors Beneficially Owning Registrable Securities representing at least a majority of the voting power of the Registrable Securities Beneficially Owned by such Participating Investors.

"Material Adverse Change" means (i) any general suspension of trading in, or limitation on prices for, securities on any national securities exchange or in the over-the-counter market in the United States; (ii) the declaration of a banking moratorium or any suspension of payments in respect of banks in the United States or Switzerland; (iii) a material outbreak or escalation of armed hostilities or other international or national calamity involving the United States or Switzerland or the declaration by the United States or Switzerland of a national emergency or war or a change in national or international financial, political or economic conditions; and (iv) any event, change, circumstance or effect that is or is reasonably likely to be materially adverse to the business, properties, assets, liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise), operations, results of operations or prospects of the Issuer and its subsidiaries taken as a whole.

"MNPI" means material non-public information within the meaning of Regulation FD promulgated under the Exchange Act, which shall in any case include the receipt of the notice of a Registration or any offering of Registrable Securities pursuant to this Agreement and the information contained in such notice.

"Oaktree Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Opt-Out Request" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(b).

"Participating Investor" means, with respect to any Registration, any Investor of Registrable Securities covered by the applicable Registration Statement.

"Permitted Transferee" has the meaning set forth in the Series A Investor Rights Agreement.

"Person" means an individual, corporation, association, limited liability company, partnership, estate, trust, joint venture, unincorporated organization or a government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.

"Piggyback Eligible Investor" means the Centerbridge Investors, the Oaktree Investors and the Additional Investors.

"Piggyback Registration" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a).

"Plan" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Plan Effective Date" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Prospectus" means the prospectus included in any Registration Statement, all amendments and supplements to such prospectus, including pre- and post-effective amendments to such Registration Statement, and all other material incorporated by reference in such prospectus.

"Registrable Securities" means any (a) Series A Shares issued to the relevant Investor on the Plan Effective Date pursuant to the Plan or (b) Common Shares (i) issued to the relevant Investor on the Plan Effective Date pursuant to the Plan, (ii) issued or issuable upon conversion of such Series A Shares and (iii) issued in respect of the securities described in clause (a) or clause (b)(i) or (ii) by way of conversion, dividend, stock split or other distribution, merger, consolidation, exchange, recapitalization or reclassification or similar transaction; provided, that any such Series A Shares or Common Shares, as applicable, shall irrevocably cease to be Registrable Securities to the extent: (v) such Registrable Securities have been disposed of pursuant to an effective Registration Statement, (w) such Registrable Securities have been disposed of pursuant to Rule 144; (x) such Registrable Securities shall have been otherwise transferred and are represented by certificates or book-entries not bearing a legend restricting transfer under the Securities Act; (y) with respect to Registrable Securities held by an Investor, such Investor and its Affiliates are able to dispose of all of their Registrable Securities without volume or manner of sale restrictions pursuant to Rule 144; or (z) the date on which the Registrable Securities cease to be outstanding.

"Registration" means a registration with the SEC of the Issuer's securities for offer and sale to the public under a Registration Statement. The terms "Register" and "Registered" shall have a correlative meaning.

"Registration Expenses" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.09(a).

"Registration Statement" means any registration statement of the Issuer filed with,

or to be filed with, the SEC under the rules and regulations promulgated under the Securities Act, including the related Prospectus, amendments and supplements to such registration statement, including pre- and post-effective amendments, and all exhibits and all material incorporated by reference in such registration statement.

"Representatives" means, with respect to any Person, any of such Person's officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys, accountants, actuaries, consultants, equity financing partners or financial advisors or other Person associated with, or acting on behalf of, such Person.

"Required Additional Investors" means, at any relevant time, the Additional Investors Beneficially Owning Registrable Securities representing at least a majority of the voting power of the Registrable Securities Beneficially Owned by the Additional Investors.

"Required Investors" means an Investor or Investors Beneficially Owning, in the aggregate, Registrable Securities representing not less than seven and one half percent (7.5%) of, at the relevant time, the issued and outstanding Common Shares, after giving effect to the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock.

"Rule 144" means Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor rule then in effect).

"Rule 158" means Rule 158 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor rule then in effect).

- "Rule 405" means Rule 405 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor rule then in effect).
- "Rule 415" means Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor rule then in effect).
- "SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.
- "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any successor thereto, and any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect from time to time.
- "Series A Investor Rights Agreement" means the Series A Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of [•], 2021, by and among the Issuer, the Centerbridge Investors, the Oaktree Investors and the Additional Investors, as the same may be amended from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.
 - "Series A Preferred Stock" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
 - "Series A Shares" means shares of Series A Preferred Stock.
 - "Shares" means Common Shares and Series A Shares.
 - "Shelf Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).
 - "Shelf Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(b).
 - "Shelf Registration" means a Registration effected pursuant to Section 2.02.
- "Shelf Registration Statement" means a Registration Statement of the Issuer filed with the SEC for an offering to be made on a continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 covering the Registrable Securities, as applicable.
 - "Shelf Suspension" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(c).
 - "Short-Form Registration Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(a)(i).
 - "Suspension" means either a Demand Suspension or a Shelf Suspension.
 - "Takedown Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(d).
- "<u>Underwritten Offering</u>" means a discrete registered offering of securities of the Issuer conducted by one or more underwriters pursuant to the terms of an underwriting agreement, including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Block Trade undertaken on an underwritten basis.
 - "WKSI" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).

SECTION 1.02. Other Interpretive Provisions. The meanings of defined terms are equally applicable to the singular and plural forms thereof.

- (a) The words "hereof", "herein", "hereunder" and similar words refer to this Agreement as a whole and not to any particular provision of this Agreement; and any subsection, Section, Exhibit, Schedule and Annex references are to this Agreement unless otherwise specified. limitation."
 - (b) The term "including" is not limiting and means "including without
 - (c) Whenever the context requires, any pronouns used herein shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms.

ARTICLE II

REGISTRATION RIGHTS

SECTION 2.01. Demand Registration.

- (a) Demand by the Investors.
- (i) The Required Investors may make a written request to the Issuer for Registration of all or part of the Registrable Securities held by such Required Investors (A) on Form S-1 or any similar long-form Registration Statement (a "Long-Form Registration Statement"), or (B) on Form S-3 or any similar short-form Registration Statement (a "Short-Form Registration Statement") if the Issuer is then qualified to use such short form. Any such requested Registration shall hereinafter be referred to as a "Demand Registration," and any Investor requesting such Demand Registration shall hereinafter be referred to as a "Demanding Investor." Each request for a Demand Registration shall specify the aggregate amount of Registrable Securities to be Registered and the intended methods of disposition thereof.
- (ii) Unless there is a currently effective Shelf Registration Statement covering such Registrable Securities on file with the SEC then, within (A) sixty (60) days in the case of a request for a Long-Form Registration Statement or (B) thirty (30) days in the case of a request for a Short-Form Registration Statement, the Issuer shall file a Registration Statement relating to such Demand Registration (a "<u>Demand Registration</u> <u>Statement</u>"), and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause such Demand Registration Statement to become effective under the Securities Act.
- (b) <u>Limitation on Demand Registrations</u>. The aggregate number of Demand Registrations using a Long-Form Registration Statement that may be requested by the Investors shall not exceed four (4). The Investors may request an unlimited number of Demand Registrations using a Short-Form Registration Statement.

- (c) <u>Demand Withdrawal</u>. A Demanding Investor and any other Investor that has requested its Registrable Securities be included in a Demand Registration pursuant to Section 2.01(e) may withdraw all or any portion of its Registrable Securities included in a Demand Registration from a Demand Registration at any time prior to the effectiveness of the applicable Demand Registration Statement. Upon receipt of a notice to such effect from the Demanding Investor with respect to all of the Registrable Securities included by such Investor in such Demand Registration, the Issuer shall cease all efforts to secure effectiveness of the applicable Demand Registration Statement and such Registration nonetheless shall be deemed a Demand Registration with respect to the Demanding Investor for purposes of Section 2.01(b) unless (i) the withdrawing Demanding Investor shall have paid or reimbursed the Issuer for its pro rata share of all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees and expenses incurred by the Issuer in connection with the Registration of such Demanding Investor's withdrawn Registrable Securities (based on the number of securities the Demanding Investor sought to Register, as compared to the total number of securities included on such Demand Registration Statement) or (ii) the withdrawal is made following the occurrence of a Material Adverse Change or because the Registration would require the Issuer to make an Adverse Disclosure.
- (d) Effective Registration. The Issuer shall be deemed to have effected a Demand Registration if the Demand Registration Statement has become effective and remains effective for not less than one hundred eighty (180) days (or such shorter period as shall terminate when all Registrable Securities covered by such Demand Registration Statement have been sold or withdrawn), or if such Registration Statement relates to an Underwritten Offering, such longer period as, in the opinion of counsel for the underwriter or underwriters, a Prospectus is required by law, to be delivered in connection with sales of Registrable Securities by an underwriter or dealer (the applicable period, the "Demand Period"). No Demand Registration shall be deemed to have been effected if (i) during the Demand Period such Registration is interfered with by any stop order, injunction or other order or requirement of the SEC or other governmental agency or court or (ii) the conditions to closing specified in the underwriting agreement, if any, entered into in connection with such Registration are not satisfied other than by reason of a wrongful act, misrepresentation or breach of such applicable underwriting agreement by the Demanding Investor.
- (e) <u>Demand Notice</u>. Promptly upon receipt of any request for a Demand Registration pursuant to <u>Section 2.01(a)(i)</u> (but in no event more than five (5) Business Days thereafter), the Issuer shall deliver a written notice (a "<u>Demand Notice</u>") of any such Registration request to all other Investors (which notice shall state that the material terms of such proposed Registration, to the extent known, as well as the identity of the Demanding Investor, are available upon request), and subject to <u>Sections 2.01(f)</u> and <u>2.01(h)</u>, the Issuer shall include in such Demand Registration all such Registrable Securities with respect to which the Issuer has received written requests for inclusion therein within ten (10) Business Days after the date that the Demand Notice has been delivered to the relevant Investor. All requests made pursuant to this <u>Section 2.01(e)</u> shall specify the aggregate amount of Registrable Securities of the requesting Investor to be Registered and the intended method of distribution of such securities.
- (f) <u>Delay in Filing; Suspension of Registration</u>. If the Issuer determines in good faith that the filing, initial effectiveness or continued use of a Demand Registration Statement at any time would require the Issuer to make an Adverse Disclosure, the Issuer may, upon giving prompt written notice of such action to the Investors, delay the filing or initial effectiveness of, or suspend use of, the Demand Registration Statement (a "<u>Demand</u>

Suspension"); provided, that the Issuer shall not be permitted to exercise a Suspension (other than a Shelf Suspension relating to a post-effective amendment to a Shelf Registration Statement required to update such Shelf Registration Statement pursuant to Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act) (i) more than twice during any twelve (12)-month period, or (ii) for a period exceeding sixty (60) days on any one occasion. In the case of a Demand Suspension, the Investors agree to suspend use of the applicable Prospectus and any Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses in connection with any sale or purchase, or offer to sell or purchase, Registrable Securities, upon receipt of the notice referred to above. The Issuer shall immediately notify the Investors upon the termination of any Demand Suspension, amend or supplement the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, if necessary, so it does not contain any untrue statement or omission and furnish to the Investors such numbers of copies of the Prospectus as so amended or supplemented or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus as the Investors may reasonably request. The Issuer shall, if necessary, supplement or make amendments to the Demand Registration Statement, if required by the registration form used by the Issuer for the Demand Registration or by the instructions applicable to such registration form or by the Securities Act or the rules or regulations promulgated thereunder or as may reasonably be requested by the Demanding Investor.

(g) <u>Underwritten Offering</u>. If the expected aggregate gross proceeds of an offering of Registrable Securities are at least fifty million U.S. dollars (\$50,000,000), the Demanding Investor may request that such offering be in the form of an Underwritten Offering, and such Demanding Investor shall have the right to select the managing underwriter or underwriters to administer the offering; <u>provided</u>, that (i) such managing underwriter or underwriters shall be reasonably acceptable to the Issuer and the Majority Participating Investors and (ii) the Issuer shall have the right to select at least one (1) of the joint bookrunning managers. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Issuer be required to effect more than one (1) Underwritten Offering (regardless of whether such Underwritten Offering is requested pursuant to this <u>Section 2.01(g)</u>, pursuant to <u>Section 2.02(d)</u> or pursuant to <u>Section 2.02(e)</u>) in any ninety (90)-day period.

(h) <u>Priority of Securities Registered Pursuant to Demand Registrations</u>. If the managing underwriter or underwriters of a proposed Underwritten Offering of the Registrable Securities included in a Demand Registration advise the Board in writing that, in its or their opinion, the number of securities requested to be included in such Demand Registration exceeds the number which can be sold in such offering without being likely to have a significant adverse effect on the price, timing or distribution of the securities offered or the market for the securities offered, then the securities to be included in such Demand Registration shall be allocated, (i) first, if applicable, <u>pro rata</u> between the Participating Investors based on the relative number of Registrable Securities then held by each Participating Investor and (ii) second, and only if all of the Registrable Securities referred to in clause (i) have been included, the number of Registrable Securities that the Issuer proposes to include in such Registration that, in the opinion of the managing underwriter or underwriters can be sold without having such adverse effect.

SECTION 2.02. Shelf Registration.

- (a) Accredited Investor Parties Shelf Filing. As promptly as practicable on or after the Plan Effective Date (and in no event later than five (5) Business Days following the Plan Effective Date), the Issuer shall deliver a written notice (the "Shelf Notice") to all Accredited Investor Eligible Holders regarding (i) their ability to become Accredited Investor Parties, to participate in a Shelf Registration Statement relating to the offer and sale of all Registrable Securities by the Investors from time to time in accordance with the methods of distribution elected by such Investors and set forth in the Shelf Registration Statement. The Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to, as promptly as practicable (taking into account the need to provide Accredited Investor Eligible Holders a reasonable opportunity to respond to the Shelf Notice and in any event no later than thirty (30) days following the Plan Effective Date), prepare and file with the SEC a Shelf Registration Statement relating to the offer and sale of all Registrable Securities by the Investors from time to time in accordance with the methods of distribution elected by such Investors and set forth in the Shelf Registration Statement and, as promptly as practicable thereafter, shall use its reasonable best effort to cause such Shelf Registration Statement to become effective under the Securities Act on the earliest date practicable. If, at the time of filing a Shelf Registration Statement pursuant to this Section 2.02(a), the Issuer shall be a well-known seasoned issuer (as defined in Rule 405) (a "WKSI"), such Shelf Registration Statement shall be an automatic shelf registration statement (as defined in Rule 405) (an "Automatic Shelf Registration Statement").
- (b) Continued Effectiveness. The Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to keep such Shelf Registration Statement continuously effective under the Securities Act in order to permit the Prospectus forming a part thereof to be usable by the applicable Investors until the earlier of (i) the date as of which all Registrable Securities have been sold pursuant to such Shelf Registration Statement or another Registration Statement filed under the Securities Act (but in no event prior to the applicable period referred to in Section 4(3) of the Securities Act and Rule 174 thereunder) and (ii) the date as of which each of the Participating Investors with respect to such Shelf Registration Statement no longer holds its Registrable Securities (such period of effectiveness, the "Shelf Period"). The Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to remain a WKSI (and not become an ineligible issuer (as defined in Rule 405)) during the period during which an Automatic Shelf Registration Statement is required to remain effective. If the Issuer does not pay the filing fee covering the Registrable Securities at the time such Automatic Shelf Registration Statement has been outstanding for at least three (3) years, at the end of the third year the Issuer shall refile an Automatic Shelf Registration Statement covering the Registrable Securities registered on such expired Automatic Shelf registration Statement. If at any time when the Issuer is required to re-evaluate its WKSI status the Issuer determines that it is not a WKSI, the Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to refile such Shelf Registration Statement as a Short-Form Registration Statement or, if the Issuer is not eligible to use a Short-Form Registration Statement, and keep such Registration Statement effective during the Shelf Period.
- (c) <u>Suspension of Registration</u>. If the Issuer determines in good faith that the continued use of such Shelf Registration Statement at any time would require the Issuer to make an Adverse Disclosure, the Issuer may, upon giving, to the extent practicable, at least ten (10) days' prior written notice of such action to the Investors (or, in the case of a Block Trade, upon receipt of notice of such Block Trade pursuant to <u>Section 2.02(e)</u>), suspend use of the Shelf

Registration Statement (a "Shelf Suspension"); provided, that the Issuer shall not be permitted to exercise a Suspension (other than a Shelf Suspension relating to a post-effective amendment to a Shelf Registration Statement required to update such Shelf Registration Statement pursuant to Section 10(a) (3) of the Securities Act) (i) more than twice during any twelve (12)-month period, or (ii) for a period exceeding sixty (60) days on any one occasion. In the case of a Shelf Suspension, the Investors agree to suspend use of the applicable Prospectus and any Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses in connection with any sale or purchase of, or offer to sell or purchase, Registrable Securities, upon receipt of the notice referred to above. The Issuer shall immediately notify the Investors upon the termination of any Shelf Suspension, amend or supplement the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, if necessary, so it does not contain any material misstatement or omission and furnish to the Investors such numbers of copies of the Prospectus as so amended or supplemented or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus as the Investors may reasonably request. The Issuer shall, if necessary, supplement or make amendment to such Shelf Registration Statement, if required by the registration form used by the Issuer for such Shelf Registration or by the instruction applicable to such registration form or by the Securities Act or the rules or regulations promulgated thereunder or as may reasonably be requested by the Investors.

(d) <u>Underwritten Offering</u>. If the expected aggregate gross proceeds of an offering of Registrable Securities are at least fifty million U.S. dollars (\$50,000,000), and the Required Investors (to the extent such Required Investors are named as selling security holders in the Shelf Registration Statement) so elect, such offering may be in the form of an Underwritten Offering, the Issuer shall amend or supplement the Shelf Registration Statement for such purpose and such Required Investors shall have the right to select the managing underwriter or underwriters to administer such offering; provided, that (i) such managing underwriter or underwriters shall be reasonably acceptable to the Issuer and the Majority Participating Investors and (ii) the Issuer shall have the right to select at least one (1) of the joint bookrunning managers. Promptly upon receipt of any request for an Underwritten Offering (that is not a Block Trade) pursuant to this Section 2.02(d) (but in no event more than five (5) Business Days thereafter), the Issuer shall deliver a written notice (a "Takedown Notice") of any such request to all other Investors named as selling security holders in the Shelf Registration Statement (which notice shall state that the material terms of such proposed Underwritten Offering, to the extent known, as well as the identity of the Required Investors making such request, are available upon request), and subject to Section 2.02(c) and the last sentence of this Section 2.02(d), any Investor from whom the Issuer has received written requests for inclusion therein within ten (10) Business Days after the date that the Takedown Notice has been delivered shall be eligible to participate in such Underwritten Offering. All requests made pursuant to this Section 2.02(d) shall specify the aggregate amount of Registrable Securities that the requesting Investor seeks to offer and sell in such Underwritten Offering, Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Issuer be required to effect more than one (1) Underwritten Offering (regardless of whether such Underwritten Offering is requested pursuant to this Section 2.02(d), pursuant to Section 2.02(e) or pursuant to Section 2.01(g)) in any ninety (90)-day period. The provisions of Section 2.01(h) shall apply to any Underwritten Offering pursuant to this Section 2.02(d).

(e) <u>Block Trades</u>. If the Required Investors wish to engage in a Block Trade, such Required Investors (to the extent such Required Investors are named as selling security holders in the Shelf Registration Statement) shall notify the Issuer of the Block Trade, including the day on which such Block Trade is to commence, no later than 10:00 a.m. New York City time on the day such Block Trade is to commence. The Issuer shall as expeditiously as possible use its reasonable best efforts (including co-operating with the Investors with respect to the provision of necessary information) to facilitate such Block Trade (which may close as early as two (2) Business Days after the date it commences), <u>provided</u>, that the Required Investors requesting such Block Trade shall use reasonable best efforts to work with the Issuer and the underwriters prior to making such request in order to facilitate preparation of the Prospectus and other offering documentation related to the Block Trade. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Issuer shall not be obligated to notify the other Investors of any Block Trade.

SECTION 2.03. <u>Limitations on Registration</u>. Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, the Issuer shall not be required to file more than one (1) Registration Statement pursuant to <u>Section 2.01</u> and <u>Section 2.02</u> in any ninety- (90) day period.

SECTION 2.04. Piggyback Registration.

(a) Participation in a Shelf Registration. If the Issuer at any time proposes to file a Shelf Registration Statement under the Securities Act with respect to any offering of its equity securities for its own account or for the account of any other Persons (other than (i) a Registration under Section 2.01 or Section 2.02, (ii) a Registration on Form S-4 or S-8 or any successor form to such Forms or (iii) a Registration of securities solely relating to an offering and sale to employees or directors of the Issuer pursuant to any employee stock plan or other employee benefit plan arrangement) (an "Issuer Public Sale"), then, as soon as practicable (but in no event less than five (5) Business Days prior to the proposed date of public filing of such Shelf Registration Statement), the Issuer shall give written notice of such proposed filing to the Investors (which may be in the form of the Shelf Notice), and such notice shall offer the Investors the opportunity to Register under such Shelf Registration Statement such number of Registrable Securities as each such Investor may request in writing (a "Piggyback Registration"). Subject to Section 2.04(c), the Issuer shall include in such Shelf Registration Statement all such Registrable Securities that are requested to be included therein within five (5) Business Days after the receipt by such Investors of any such notice; provided, that if at any time after giving written notice of its intention to Register any securities and prior to the effective date of the Shelf Registration Statement filed in connection with such Registration, the Issuer shall determine for any reason not to Register or to delay Registration of such securities, the Issuer shall give written notice of such determination to each Investor and, thereupon, (i) in the case of a determination not to Register, shall be relieved of its obligation to Register any Registrable Securities in connection with such Registration (but not from its obligation to pay the Registration Expenses in connection therewith), without prejudice, however, to the rights of the Investors to request that such Registration be effected as a Demand Registration under Section 2.01, and (ii) in the case of a determination to delay Registering, in the absence of a request for a Demand Registration, shall be permitted to delay Registering any Registrable Securities, for the same period as the delay in Registering such other securities. If any offering pursuant to such Shelf Registration Statement is to be an Underwritten Offering, then only a Piggyback Eligible Investor shall be entitled to participate in such Underwritten Offering on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement upon making a request for a Piggyback Registration pursuant to this

<u>Section 2.04(a)</u>, and the Issuer shall make such arrangements with the managing underwriter or underwriters so that each such Piggyback Eligible Investor may participate in such Underwritten Offering. If the offering pursuant to such Registration Statement is to be on any other basis, then each Investor making a request for a Piggyback Registration pursuant to this <u>Section 2.04(a)</u> and the Issuer shall make such arrangements so that each such Investor may participate in such offering on such basis.

(b) Participation in a Non-Shelf Registration. If the Issuer at any time proposes to file a Registration Statement under the Securities Act that is not a Shelf Registration Statement with respect to any Issuer Public Sale, then, as soon as practicable (but in no event less than five (5) Business Days prior to the proposed date of public filing of such Registration Statement), the Issuer shall give written notice of such proposed filing to the Piggyback Eligible Investors (which notice shall state that the material terms of such proposed Issuer Public Sale, to the extent known, are available upon request), and such notice shall offer the Piggyback Eligible Investors the opportunity to make a Piggyback Registration. Subject to Section 2.04(c), the Issuer shall include in such Registration Statement all such Registrable Securities that are requested to be included therein within five (5) Business Days after the receipt by such Piggyback Eligible Investors of any such notice; provided, that if at any time after giving written notice of its intention to Register any securities and prior to the effective date of the Registration Statement filed in connection with such Registration, the Issuer shall determine for any reason not to Register or to delay Registration of such securities, the Issuer shall give written notice of such determination to each Piggyback Eligible Investor and, thereupon, (i) in the case of a determination not to Register, shall be relieved of its obligation to Register any Registrable Securities in connection with such Registration (but not from its obligation to pay the Registration Expenses in connection therewith), without prejudice, however, to the rights of the Investors to request that such Registration be effected as a Demand Registration under Section 2.01, and (ii) in the case of a determination to delay Registering, in the absence of a request for a Demand Registration, shall be permitted to delay Registering any Registrable Securities, for the same period as the delay in Registering such other securities. If the offering pursuant to such Registration Statement is to be an Underwritten Offering, then each Piggyback Eligible Investor making a request for a Piggyback Registration pursuant to this Section 2.04(b) and the Issuer shall make such arrangements with the managing underwriter or underwriters so that each such Piggyback Eligible Investor may participate in such Underwritten Offering. If the offering pursuant to such Registration Statement is to be on any other basis, then each Piggyback Eligible Investor making a request for a Piggyback Registration pursuant to this Section 2.04(b) and the Issuer shall make such arrangements so that each such Piggyback Eligible Investor may participate in such offering on such basis.

(c) <u>Priority of Piggyback Registration</u>. If the managing underwriter or underwriters of any proposed Underwritten Offering of Registrable Securities included in a Piggyback Registration informs the Issuer and the Piggyback Eligible Investors of Registrable Securities in writing that, in its or their opinion, the number of securities which such Piggyback Eligible Investors and any other Persons intend to include in such offering exceeds the number which can be sold in such offering without being likely to have a significant adverse effect on the price, timing or distribution of the securities offered or the market for the securities offered, then the securities to be included in such Registration shall be (i) first, 100% of the securities proposed to be sold in such Registration by the Issuer or (subject to Section 2.08) any Person

(other than an Investor) exercising a contractual right to demand Registration, as the case may be, and (ii) second, and only if all the securities referred to in clause (i) have been included, the number of Registrable Securities that, in the opinion of such managing underwriter or underwriters, can be sold without having such adverse effect, with such number to be allocated <u>pro rata</u> among the Piggyback Eligible Investors that have requested to participate in such Registration based on the relative number of Registrable Securities then held by each such Piggyback Eligible Investor; <u>provided</u>, that any securities thereby allocated to a Piggyback Eligible Investor that exceed such Piggyback Eligible Investor's request shall be reallocated among the remaining requesting Piggyback Eligible Investors in like manner and (iii) third, and only if all of the Registrable Securities referred to in clause (ii) have been included in such Registration, any other securities eligible for inclusion in such Registration.

- (d) <u>Withdrawal</u>. Any Investor shall have the right to withdraw all or part of its request for inclusion of its Registrable Securities in a Piggyback Registration by giving written notice to the Issuer of its request to withdraw; <u>provided</u>, that (i) such request must be made in writing prior to the effectiveness of such Registration Statement and (ii) such withdrawal shall be irrevocable and, after making such withdrawal, an Investor shall no longer have any right to include Registrable Securities in the Piggyback Registration as to which such withdrawal was made.
- (e) <u>No Effect on Demand Registrations</u>. No Registration of Registrable Securities effected pursuant to a request under this <u>Section 2.04</u> shall be deemed to have been effected pursuant to <u>Section 2.01</u> or <u>Section 2.02</u> or shall relieve the Issuer of its obligations under <u>Section 2.01</u> or <u>Section 2.02</u>.
- (f) <u>Underwritten Offering</u>. In any Issuer Public Sale that constitutes an Underwritten Offering, the Issuer shall have the sole and exclusive right to select the managing underwriter or underwriters to administer such offering.

SECTION 2.05. Lock-Up Periods.

(a) <u>Lock-Up Periods for Investors</u>. In the event of an Issuer Public Sale of the Issuer's equity securities in an Underwritten Offering, the Participating Investors in such Issuer Public Sale pursuant to <u>Section 2.04</u> acknowledge that such participation may only be permitted if such Investor agrees, if requested by the managing underwriter or underwriters in such Underwritten Offering, not to effect any public sale or distribution of any Registrable Securities (except, in each case, as part of the Issuer Public Sale pursuant to <u>Section 2.04</u>) that are the same as or similar to those being Registered in connection with such Issuer Public Sale, or any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for Registrable Securities (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Series A Shares) (collectively, "<u>Lock-Up Securities</u>"), during the period beginning two (2) days before and ending ninety (90) days (or such lesser period as may be permitted for all Investors by the Issuer or such managing underwriter or underwriters) after the effective date of the Registration Statement filed in connection with such Registration (or, in the case of an offering under a Shelf Registration Statement, the date of the applicable prospectus supplement in connection therewith) to the extent timely notified in writing by the Issuer or the managing underwriters or underwriters.

(b) Lock-Up Period for the Issuer and Others. In the case of a Registration of Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 2.01 or Section 2.02 in an Underwritten Offering, the Issuer agrees, if requested by the Investors or the managing underwriter or underwriters with respect to such Registration, not to effect any public sale or distribution of any Lock-Up Securities, during the period beginning two (2) days before and ending ninety (90) days (or such lesser period as may be permitted for the Issuer by the Investors or such managing underwriter or underwriters) after the effective date of the Registration Statement filed in connection with such Registration (or, in the case of an offering under a Shelf Registration Statement, the date of the applicable prospectus supplement in connection therewith), to the extent timely notified in writing by the Investors or the managing underwriter or underwriters. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer may effect a public sale or distribution of securities of the type described above and during the periods described above if such sale or distribution is made pursuant to Registrations on Form S-4 or S-8 or any successor form to such Forms or as part of any Registration of securities for offering and sale to employees or directors of the Issuer pursuant to any employee stock plan, employee stock purchase plan or other employee benefit plan arrangement. The Issuer agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to obtain from each Investor who is known by the Issuer to be the Beneficial Owner of no less than five percent (5.0%) of, at the relevant time, the issued and outstanding Common Shares, after giving effect to the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock, an agreement not to effect any public sale or distribution of such securities during any such period referred to in this <u>Section 2.05(b)</u>, except as part of any such Registration, if permitted. Without limiting the foregoing (but subject to Section 2.08), if after the date hereof the Issuer grants any Person (other than an Investor) any rights to demand or participate in a Registration, the Issuer agrees that such Person's participation in an Underwritten Offering of Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 2.01 or Section 2.02 shall be made conditional on such Person's agreement to comply with any lock-up period required by this Section 2.05(b) as if it were an Investor hereunder.

SECTION 2.06. Registration Procedures.

- (a) In connection with the Issuer's Registration obligations under Section 2.01, Section 2.02 and Section 2.04, the Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to effect such Registration to permit the sale of such Registrable Securities in accordance with the intended method or methods of distribution thereof as expeditiously as reasonably practicable, and in connection therewith the Issuer shall:
 - (i) prepare the required Registration Statement including all exhibits and financial statements required under the Securities Act to be filed therewith, and before filing a Registration Statement, Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, or any amendments or supplements thereto, (x) furnish to the underwriters, if any, and to Participating Investors, copies of all documents prepared to be filed, which documents shall be subject to the review of such underwriters and such Investors and their respective counsel and (y) except in the case of a Registration under Section 2.04, not file any Registration Statement, Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or amendments or supplements thereto to which the Investors or the underwriters, if any, shall reasonably object;

- (ii) as soon as reasonably practicable (but in no event later than the time period required under Section 2.01(a)(ii) or Section 2.02(a), as applicable) file with the SEC a Registration Statement relating to the Registrable Securities, including all exhibits and financial statements required by the SEC to be filed therewith, and use its reasonable best efforts to cause such Registration Statement to become effective under the Securities Act as soon as practicable;
- (iii) prepare and file with the SEC such pre- and post-effective amendments to such Registration Statement, supplements or amendments to the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus as may be (x) reasonably requested by a Participating Investor or (y) necessary to keep such Registration effective for the period of time required by this Agreement, and comply with provisions of the applicable securities laws with respect to the sale or other disposition of all securities covered by such Registration Statement during such period in accordance with the intended method or methods of disposition by the sellers thereof set forth in such Registration Statement;
- (iv) notify the Participating Investors and the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, and (if requested) confirm such advice in writing and provide copies of the relevant documents, as soon as reasonably practicable after notice thereof is received by the Issuer (a) when the applicable Registration Statement or any amendment thereto has been filed or becomes effective, and when the applicable Prospectus, any amendment or supplement to such Prospectus (except for any amendment as a result of the filing of a periodic report, current report or any other document required to be filed by the Issuer under the Exchange Act and which is incorporated by reference into such Registration Statement), any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or any amendment or supplement to such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus has been filed, (b) of any written comments by the SEC or any request by the SEC or any other federal or state governmental authority for amendments or supplements to such Registration Statement, such Prospectus, such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or for additional information, (c) of the issuance by the SEC of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of such Registration Statement or any order by the SEC or any other regulatory authority preventing or suspending the use of any preliminary or final Prospectus or the initiation or threatening of any proceedings for such purposes, (d) if, at any time, the representations and warranties of the Issuer in any applicable underwriting agreement cease to be true and correct in all material respects, and (e) of the receipt by the Issuer of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification of the Registrable Securities for offering or sale in any jurisdiction or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose;
- (v) promptly notify the Participating Investors and the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, when the Issuer becomes aware of the happening of any event as a result of which the applicable Registration Statement, Prospectus (as then in effect) or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of such Prospectus, any preliminary Prospectus or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading, when any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus includes information that may conflict with the information contained

in the Registration Statement or, if for any other reason it shall be necessary during such time period to amend or supplement such Registration Statement, Prospectus or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus in order to comply with the Securities Act and, in either case as promptly as reasonably practicable thereafter, prepare and file with the SEC, and furnish without charge to the Participating Investors and the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, an amendment or supplement to such Registration Statement, Prospectus or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus which shall correct such misstatement or omission or effect such compliance;

- (vi) use its reasonable best efforts to prevent, or obtain the withdrawal of, any stop order or other order or notice preventing or suspending the use of any preliminary or final Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus;
- (vii) promptly incorporate in a Prospectus supplement, Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or post-effective amendment such information as the managing underwriter or underwriters and the Investors agree should be included therein relating to the plan of distribution with respect to such Registrable Securities; and make all required filings of such Prospectus supplement, Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or post-effective amendment as soon as reasonably practicable after being notified of the matters to be incorporated in such Prospectus supplement, Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or post-effective amendment;
- (viii) furnish to each Participating Investor and each underwriter, if any, without charge, as many conformed copies as such Investor or underwriter may reasonably request of the applicable Registration Statement and any amendment or post-effective amendment thereto, including financial statements and schedules, all documents incorporated therein by reference and all exhibits (including those incorporated by reference), except that the Issuer shall not be required to provide documents that are available through the SEC's Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval System;
- (ix) deliver to each Participating Investor and each underwriter, if any, without charge, as many copies of the applicable Prospectus (including each preliminary Prospectus) and any amendment or supplement thereto, each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and such other documents as such Investor or underwriter may reasonably request in order to facilitate the disposition of the Registrable Securities by such Investor or underwriter, it being understood that the Issuer consents, subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, to the use of such Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto by such Investor and the underwriters, if any, in connection with the offering and sale of the Registrable Securities covered by such Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus;
- (x) on or prior to the date on which the applicable Registration Statement becomes effective, use its reasonable best efforts to Register or qualify, and cooperate with the Participating Investors, the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, and their respective counsel, in connection with the Registration or qualification of such Registrable Securities for offer and sale under the securities or "Blue Sky" laws of each

state and other jurisdiction of the United States as any Participating Investor or managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, or their respective counsel reasonably request in writing and do any and all other acts or things reasonably necessary or advisable to keep such Registration or qualification in effect for such period as required by Section 2.01(d) or Section 2.02(b), whichever is applicable; provided, that the Issuer shall not be required to qualify generally to do business in any jurisdiction where it is not then so qualified or to take any action which would subject it to taxation or general service of process in any such jurisdiction where it is not then so subject;

- (xi) cooperate with the Participating Investors and the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, to facilitate the timely preparation and delivery of certificates representing Registrable Securities to be sold and not bearing any restrictive legends, and enable such Registrable Securities to be in such denominations and registered in such names as the managing underwriters may request at least two (2) Business Days prior to any sale of Registrable Securities to the underwriters; provided, that the Issuer may satisfy its obligations hereunder without issuing physical stock certificates through the use of The Depository Trust Company's Direct Registration System;
- (xii) use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Registrable Securities covered by the applicable Registration Statement to be registered with or approved by such other governmental agencies or authorities as may be necessary to enable the seller or sellers thereof or the underwriter or underwriters, if any, to consummate the disposition of such Registrable Securities;
- (xiii) make such representations and warranties to the underwriters or agents, if any, in form, substance and scope as are customarily made by issuers in secondary underwritten public offerings;
- (xiv) enter into such customary agreements (including underwriting and indemnification agreements) and take all such other actions as the Investors or the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, reasonably request in order to expedite or facilitate the Registration and disposition of such Registrable Securities;
- (xv) in the case of an Underwritten Offering, obtain for delivery to the underwriter or underwriters, with copies to the Participating Investors, an opinion or opinions from counsel for the Issuer dated the effective date of the Registration Statement or, in the event of an Underwritten Offering, the date of the closing under the underwriting agreement, in customary form, scope and substance, which opinions shall be reasonably satisfactory to such underwriters, as the case may be, and their respective counsel;
- (xvi) in the case of an Underwritten Offering, obtain for delivery to the underwriter or underwriters, with copies to the Participating Investors, a comfort letter from the Issuer's independent certified public accountants in customary form and covering such matters of the type customarily covered by comfort letters as the managing underwriter or underwriters reasonably request, dated the date of execution of the underwriting agreement and the date of closing under the underwriting agreement;

(xvii) cooperate with each Participating Investor and each underwriter, if any, participating in the disposition of such Registrable Securities and their respective counsel in connection with any filings required to be made with FINRA;

(xviii) make available to its security holders, as soon as reasonably practicable, an earnings statement satisfying the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (including, at the option of the Issuer, Rule 158);

(xix) provide and cause to be maintained a transfer agent and registrar for all Registrable Securities covered by the applicable Registration Statement from and after a date not later than the effective date of such Registration Statement;

(xx) cause all Registrable Securities covered by the applicable Registration Statement to be listed on the national securities exchange on which the relevant class or classes of Registrable Securities are then listed (if any);

(xxi) make available upon reasonable notice at reasonable times and for reasonable periods for inspection by the Participating Investors, by any underwriter participating in any disposition to be effected pursuant to such Registration Statement and by any attorney, accountant or other agent retained by the Investors or any such underwriter, all pertinent financial and other records, pertinent corporate documents and properties of the Issuer, and cause all of its officers, directors and employees and the independent public accountants who have certified its financial statements to make themselves available to discuss the business of the Issuer and to supply all information reasonably requested by any such Person in connection with such Registration Statement as shall be necessary to enable them to exercise their due diligence responsibility; provided, that any such Person gaining access to information regarding the Issuer pursuant to this Section 2.06(a)(xxi) shall agree to hold in strict confidence and shall not make any disclosure or use any information regarding the Issuer that it determines in good faith to be confidential, and of which determination such Person is notified, unless (w) the release of such information is requested or required by deposition, interrogatory, requests for information or documents by a governmental entity, subpoena or similar process, (x) such information is or becomes publicly known other than through a breach of this or any other agreement of which such Person has knowledge, (y) such information is or becomes available to such Person on a non-confidential basis from a source other than the Issuer or (z) such information is independently developed by such Person; and

(xxii) in the case of an Underwritten Offering, cause the senior executive officers of the Issuer to participate in the customary "road show" presentations that may be reasonably requested by the managing underwriter or underwriters in any such Underwritten Offering and otherwise to facilitate, cooperate with, and participate in each proposed offering contemplated herein and customary selling efforts related thereto; <u>provided</u>, that the Issuer shall not be obligated to cause its senior executive officers to participate in more than two (2) "road shows" (other than "net road shows") in any twelve (12) month period or if such participation is reasonably expected to interfere with the business operations of the Issuer;

(xxiii) take no direct or indirect action prohibited by Regulation M under the Exchange Act;

(xxiv) take all reasonable action to ensure that any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus utilized in connection with any Registration covered by Section 2.01, Section 2.02 or Section 2.04 complies in all material respects with the Securities Act, is filed in accordance with the Securities Act to the extent required thereby, is retained in accordance with the Securities Act to the extent required thereby and, when taken together with the related Prospectus, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and

(xxv) take all such other commercially reasonable actions as are necessary or advisable in order to expedite or facilitate the disposition of such Registrable Securities.

- (b) If the Issuer files any Shelf Registration Statement, the Issuer agrees that it shall include in such Shelf Registration Statement such disclosures as may be required by Rule 430B under the Securities Act (referring to the unnamed selling security holders in a generic manner by identifying the initial offering of the securities to the Investors) in order to ensure that the Investors may be added to such Shelf Registration Statement at a later time through the filing of a prospectus supplement rather than a post-effective amendment; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that this Section 2.06(b) shall apply only to the extent that the Issuer is eligible to rely on Rule 430B under the Securities Act with respect to selling security holder disclosures.
- (c) The Issuer may require each Participating Investor to furnish to the Issuer such information regarding the distribution of such securities and such other information relating to such Investor and its ownership of Registrable Securities as the Issuer may from time to time reasonably request in writing and the Issuer may exclude from such Registration the Registrable Securities of any Participating Investor who fails to furnish such information within five (5) Business Days after receiving such request. For the avoidance of doubt, it shall, in all cases, be reasonable for the Issuer to request from each Participating Investor such information as the Issuer may reasonably determine is required to be disclosed in any Registration Statement or, in the case of an Underwritten Offering, as any underwriter may require to satisfy any know-your-customer, anti-money-laundering or similar policies, procedures or regulations. Each Participating Investor agrees to furnish such information to the Issuer and to cooperate with the Issuer as reasonably necessary to enable the Issuer to comply with the provisions of this Agreement.
- (d) Each Participating Investor agrees that, upon receipt of any notice from the Issuer of the happening of any event of the kind described in Section 2.06(a)(y), such Investor will forthwith discontinue disposition of Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement until such Investor's receipt of the copies of the supplemented or amended Prospectus or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, as the case may be, contemplated by Section 2.06(a)(y), or until such Investor is advised in writing by the Issuer that the use of the Prospectus or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, as the case may be, may be resumed, and has received copies of any additional or supplemental filings that are incorporated by reference in the Prospectus or such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or any amendments or supplements thereto

and if so directed by the Issuer, such Investor shall deliver to the Issuer (at the Issuer's expense) all copies, other than permanent file copies then in such Investor's possession, of the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus covering such Registrable Securities current at the time of receipt of such notice. In the event the Issuer shall give any such notice, the period during which the applicable Registration Statement is required to be maintained effective shall be extended by the number of days during the period from and including the date of the giving of such notice to and including the date when each seller of Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement either receives the copies of the supplemented or amended Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus contemplated by Section 2.06(a)(v) or is advised in writing by the Issuer that the use of the Prospectus may be resumed.

(e) If any Registration Statement or comparable statement under the "Blue Sky" laws refers to any Investor by name or otherwise as the Investor of any securities of the Issuer, then such Investor shall have the right to require (i) the insertion therein of language, in form and substance satisfactory to such Investor and the Issuer, to the effect that the holding by such Investor of such securities is not to be construed as a recommendation by such Investor of the investment quality of the Issuer's securities covered thereby and that such holding does not imply that such Investor will assist in meeting any future financial requirements of the Issuer, or (ii) in the event that such reference to such Investor by name or otherwise is not in the judgment of the Issuer, as advised by counsel, required by the Securities Act or any similar federal statute or any "Blue Sky" or securities law then in force, the deletion of the reference to such Investor.

SECTION 2.07. <u>Underwritten Offerings</u>.

- (a) <u>Demand and Shelf Registrations</u>. If requested by the underwriters for any Underwritten Offering requested by the Investors pursuant to a Registration under <u>Section 2.01</u> or <u>Section 2.02</u>, the Issuer shall enter into an underwriting agreement with such underwriters for such offering, such agreement to be reasonably satisfactory in substance and form to the Issuer, the Participating Investors and the underwriters, and to contain such representations and warranties by the Issuer and such other terms as are generally prevailing in agreements of that type, including indemnities no less favorable to the recipient thereof than those provided in <u>Section 2.10</u>. The Participating Investors shall cooperate with the Issuer in the negotiation of such underwriting agreement and shall give consideration to the reasonable suggestions of the Issuer regarding the form thereof. Such Investors shall not be required to make any representations or warranties to or agreements with the Issuer or the underwriters other than representations, warranties or agreements regarding such Investors, such Investor's title to, and power and authority to transfer, the Registrable Securities, such Investor's intended method of distribution, such matters pertaining to such Investor's compliance with securities laws as reasonably may be requested and any other representations required to be made by such Investor under applicable law, and the aggregate amount of the liability of such Investor shall not exceed such Investor's net proceeds from such Underwritten Offering.
- (b) <u>Piggyback Registrations</u>. If the Issuer proposes to Register any of its securities under the Securities Act as contemplated by Section 2.04 and such securities are to be distributed in an Underwritten Offering through one or more underwriters, the Issuer shall, if requested by any Piggyback Eligible Investor pursuant to <u>Section 2.04</u> and subject to the provisions of <u>Section 2.04(c)</u>, use its reasonable best efforts to arrange for such underwriters to

include on the same terms and conditions that apply to the other sellers in such Registration all the Registrable Securities to be offered and sold by such Piggyback Eligible Investor among the securities of the Issuer to be distributed by such underwriters in such Registration. Any such Piggyback Eligible Investor shall not be required to make any representations or warranties to, or agreements with the Issuer or the underwriters other than representations, warranties or agreements regarding such Piggyback Eligible Investor, such Piggyback Eligible Investor's title to, and power and authority to transfer, the Registrable Securities, such Piggyback Eligible Investor's intended method of distribution, such matters pertaining to such Piggyback Eligible Investor's compliance with securities laws as reasonably may be requested and any other representations required to be made by such Piggyback Eligible Investor under applicable law, and the aggregate amount of the liability of such Piggyback Eligible Investor shall not exceed such Piggyback Eligible Investor's net proceeds from such Underwritten Offering.

- (c) <u>Participation in Underwritten Registrations</u>. Subject to provisions of <u>Section 2.07(a)</u> and <u>Section 2.07(b)</u> above, no Person may participate in any Underwritten Offering hereunder unless such Person (i) agrees to sell such Person's securities on the basis provided in any underwriting arrangements approved by the Persons entitled to approve such arrangements and (ii) completes and executes all questionnaires, powers of attorney, indemnities, underwriting agreements and other documents required under the terms of such underwriting arrangements.
- (d) <u>Price and Underwriting Discounts</u>. In the case of an Underwritten Offering under <u>Section 2.01</u> or <u>Section 2.02</u>, the price, underwriting discount and other financial terms for the Registrable Securities shall be determined by the Majority Participating Investors. In addition, in the case of any Underwritten Offering under <u>Section 2.01</u>, <u>Section 2.02</u> or Section 2.04, each of the Investors may, subject to any limitations on withdrawal contained in Section 2.01, Section 2.02 or Section 2.04, withdraw all or part of their request to participate in such Registration after being advised of such price, discount and other terms and shall not be required to enter into any agreements or documentation that would require otherwise.

SECTION 2.08. <u>No Inconsistent Agreements</u>; Additional Rights. The Issuer shall not hereafter enter into, and is not currently a party to, any agreement with respect to its securities that is inconsistent with the rights granted to the Investors under this Agreement.

Without the prior written consent of the Investors Beneficially Owning a majority of the voting power of the outstanding Registrable Securities, none of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries shall enter into any agreement granting registration or similar rights to any Person that more favorable than the rights granted to the Investors hereunder.

SECTION 2.09. Registration Expenses.

(a) Except as expressly provided herein, all of the Issuer's expenses incident to the Issuer's performance of or compliance with this Agreement shall be paid by the Issuer, including (i) all registration and filing fees, and any other fees and expenses associated with filings required to be made with the SEC or FINRA, (ii) all fees and expenses in connection with compliance with any securities or "Blue Sky" laws, (iii) all printing, duplicating, word processing, messenger, telephone, facsimile and delivery expenses (including expenses of printing certificates for the Registrable Securities, if any, in a form eligible for deposit with The

Depository Trust Company and of printing prospectuses and Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses), (iv) all fees and disbursements of counsel for the Issuer and of all independent certified public accountants of the Issuer, (v) all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the listing of the Registrable Securities on any securities exchange or quotation of the Registrable Securities on any inter-dealer quotation system, (vi) any reasonable fees and disbursements of underwriters customarily paid by issuers of securities, (vii) all fees and expenses of any special experts or other Persons retained by the Issuer in connection with any Registration, (viii) all of the Issuer's internal expenses (including all salaries and expenses of its officers and employees performing legal or accounting duties), (ix) all reasonable and documented fees and disbursements of one legal counsel selected by the Demanding Investor, in the case of a Demand Registration or an Underwritten Offering related thereto, or by the Majority Participating Investors in the case of a Shelf Registration Statement or an Underwritten Offering related thereto, provided that such fees and disbursements shall not exceed two hundred thousand U.S. dollars (\$200,000), and (x) all expenses of the Issuer related to the "road-show" for any Underwritten Offering, including all travel, meals and lodging. All such expenses are referred to herein as "Registration Expenses."

(b) Except as explicitly set forth in Section 2.09(a), the Investors shall bear their own expenses incurred with respect to any transaction pursuant to this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the Issuer shall not be required to pay underwriting discounts and commissions and transfer taxes, if any, attributable to the sale of Registrable Securities.

SECTION 2.10. Indemnification.

(a) Indemnification by the Issuer. The Issuer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless, to the full extent permitted by law, each Investor, each member, limited or general partner thereof, each member, limited or general partner of each such member, limited or general partner, each of their respective Affiliates, officers, directors, shareholders, employees, advisors, and agents and each Person who controls (within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act) such Persons and each of their respective Representatives from and against any and all losses, penalties, judgments, suits, costs, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses joint or several (including reasonable costs of investigation and legal expenses) (each, a "Loss" and collectively "Losses") insofar as such Losses arise out of or based upon (i) any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement under which such Registrable Securities were Registered under the Securities Act (including any final, preliminary or summary Prospectus contained therein or any amendment thereof or supplement thereto or any documents incorporated by reference therein) or any other disclosure document produced by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries including reports and other documents filed under the Exchange Act or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or amendment thereof or supplement thereto, (ii) any omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of a Prospectus, preliminary Prospectus, or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading or (iii) any violation by the Issuer of any rule or regulation promulgated under the Securities Act or any state securities laws applicable to the Issuer and relating to action or inaction required of the Issuer in connection with any Registration pursuant to this Agreement; provided, that the Issuer shall not be liable to any particular indemnified party (A) to the extent that any such Loss arises out of or is based upon a material misstatement or omission or an alleged material misstatement or omission made in any such

Registration Statement or other document in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Issuer by such indemnified party expressly for use in the preparation thereof or (B) to the extent that any such Loss arises out of or is based upon a material misstatement or omission or an alleged material misstatement or omission in a preliminary Prospectus relating to Registrable Securities, if a Prospectus (as then amended or supplemented) that would have cured the defect was furnished to the indemnified party from whom the Person asserting the claim giving rise to such Loss purchased Registrable Securities prior to the written confirmation of the sale of the Registrable Securities to such Person and a copy of such Prospectus (as amended and supplemented) was not sent or given by or on behalf of such indemnified party to such Person at or prior to the written confirmation of the sale of the Registrable Securities to such Person. Such indemnity shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of such Investor or any indemnified party and shall survive the transfer of such securities by such Investor. The Issuer shall also indemnify underwriters, selling brokers, dealer managers and similar securities industry professionals participating in the distribution, their officers and directors and each Person who controls such Persons (within the meaning of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act) to the same extent as provided above with respect to the indemnification of the indemnified parties.

(b) <u>Indemnification by the Participating Investors</u>. Each Participating Investor agrees (severally and not jointly) to indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Issuer, its directors and officers, employees, agents and each Person who controls the Issuer (within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act) from and against any Losses insofar as such Losses arise out of or based upon (i) any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement under which such Registrable Securities were Registered under the Securities Act (including any final, preliminary or summary Prospectus contained therein or any amendment thereof or supplement thereto or any documents incorporated by reference therein or any other disclosure document produced by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries including reports and other documents filed under the Exchange Act or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or amendment thereof or supplement thereto), or (ii) any omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of a Prospectus, preliminary Prospectus, or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading, in each case, to the extent, but only to the extent, that such untrue statement or omission is contained in any information furnished in writing by such Investor to the Issuer specifically for inclusion in such Registration Statement and has not been corrected in a subsequent writing prior to or concurrently with the confirmation of the sale of the Registrable Securities to the Person asserting the claim. In no event shall the liability of such Investor hereunder be greater in amount than the dollar amount of the net proceeds received by such Investor under the sale of Registrable Securities giving rise to such indemnification obligation less any amounts paid by such Investor pursuant to Section 2.10(d). The Issuer shall be entitled to receive indemnities from underwriters, selling brokers, dealer managers and similar securities industry professionals participating in the distribution, to the same extent as provided above (with appropriate modification).

(c) Conduct of Indemnification Proceedings. Any Person entitled to indemnification hereunder shall (i) give prompt written notice to the indemnifying party of any claim with respect to which it seeks indemnification; provided, that any delay or failure to so notify the indemnifying party shall relieve the indemnifying party of its obligations hereunder only to the extent, if at all, that it is actually and materially prejudiced by reason of such delay or failure and (ii) the indemnifying party shall be entitled to participate therein and, to the extent that it shall wish, assume the defense thereof, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party (who shall not, except with the consent of the indemnified party, be counsel to the indemnifying party). After notice from the indemnifying party to the indemnified party of its election so to assume the defense thereof, the indemnifying party shall not be liable to the indemnified party under Section 2.09(a) and Section 2.09(b), as applicable, for any legal expenses of other counsel or any other expenses, in each case subsequently incurred by the indemnified party, in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation. It is understood that the indemnifying party shall not, in connection with any one action or proceeding or separate but substantially similar actions or proceedings arising out of the same general allegations, be liable for the fees and expenses of more than one separate firm of attorneys at any time for all indemnified parties except to the extent that local counsel or counsel with specialized expertise (in addition to any regular counsel) is required to effectively defend against any such action or proceeding. No indemnifying party shall, without the written consent of the indemnified party (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), effect the settlement or compromise of, or consent to the entry of any judgment with respect to, any pending or threatened action or claim in respect of which indemnification or contribution may be sought hereunder (whether or not the indemnified party is an actual or potential party to such action or claim) unless such settlement, compromise or judgment (i) includes an unconditional release of the indemnified party from all liability arising out of such action or claim and (ii) does not include a statement as to or an admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act, by or on behalf of any indemnified party.

(d) <u>Contribution</u>. If for any reason the indemnification provided for in <u>Section 2.09(a) and Section 2.09(b)</u> is unavailable to an indemnified party (other than as a result of exceptions contained in <u>Section 2.09(a) and Section 2.09(b)</u>) or insufficient in respect of any Losses referred to therein, then the indemnifying party shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by the indemnified party as a result of such Loss (i) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the indemnifying party on the one hand and the indemnified party or parties on the other hand in connection with the acts, statements or omissions that resulted in such losses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. In connection with any Registration Statement filed with the SEC by the Issuer, the relative fault of the indemnifying party on the one hand and the indemnified party on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the indemnifying party or by the indemnified party and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The parties hereto agree that it would not be just or equitable if contribution pursuant to this <u>Section 2.10(d)</u>, were determined by <u>pro rata</u> allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to in this <u>Section 2.10(d)</u>. No Person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any Person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. The amount paid or payable by an indemnified party as a result of the Losses referred to in <u>Section 2.10(a)</u> and <u>Section 2.10(b)</u> shall be deemed to include, subject to the limitations set forth above, any legal o

indemnified party in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim. Notwithstanding the provisions of this <u>Section 2.10(d)</u>, in connection with any Registration Statement filed by the Issuer, a Participating Investor shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of the dollar amount of the net proceeds received by such Investor under the sale of Registrable Securities giving rise to such contribution obligation less any amounts paid by such Investor pursuant to <u>Section 2.10(b)</u>. The remedies provided for in this <u>Section 2.10</u> are not exclusive and shall not limit any rights or remedies which may otherwise be available to any indemnified party at law or in equity.

SECTION 2.11. Rules 144 and 144A and Regulation S. The Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to file in a timely fashion the reports required to be filed by it under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations adopted by the SEC thereunder, or, if the Issuer is not required to file such reports, the Issuer shall make publicly available such necessary information for so long as necessary to permit sales pursuant to Rules 144, 144A or Regulation S under the Securities Act, and it will take such further action as the Investors may reasonably request, all to the extent required from time to time to enable the Investors, following the Plan Effective Date, to sell Registrable Securities without Registration under the Securities Act within the limitation of the exemptions provided by (i) Rules 144, 144A or Regulation S under the Securities Act, as such Rules may be amended from time to time, or (ii) any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the SEC. Upon reasonable request of an Investor, the Issuer will deliver to such Investor a written statement as to whether it has complied with such requirements and, if not, the specifics thereof in reasonable detail.

SECTION 2.12. Opt-Out.

- (a) Each Investor hereby (i) acknowledges that it is aware that the U.S. securities laws prohibit any Person who has MNPI about a company from purchasing or selling, directly or indirectly, securities of such company (including entering into hedge transactions involving such securities), or from communicating such information to any other Person under circumstances in which it is reasonably foreseeable that such Person is likely to purchase or sell such securities, and (ii) agrees that it will not use or permit any third party to use, and that it will use its reasonable best efforts to assure that none of its Representatives will use or permit any third party to use, any MNPI the Issuer provides in contravention of the U.S. securities laws.
- (b) Each Investor shall have the right, at any time and from time to time (including after receiving information regarding any potential Registration or offering of Registrable Securities), to elect not to receive any notice that the Issuer or any other Investors otherwise are required to deliver pursuant to this Agreement by delivering to the Issuer a written statement signed by such Investor that it does not want to receive any notices hereunder (an "Opt-Out Request"); in which case and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement the Issuer and other Investors shall not be required to, and shall not, deliver any notice or other information required to be provided to Investors hereunder. An Opt-Out Request may state a date on which it expires or, if no such date is specified, shall remain in effect indefinitely. An Investor who previously has given the Issuer an Opt-Out Request may revoke such request at any time, and there shall be no limit on the ability of an Investor to issue and revoke subsequent Opt-Out Requests; provided that each Investor shall use its reasonable best efforts to minimize the administrative burden on the Issuer arising in connection with any such Opt-Out Requests.

ARTICLE III

TRANSFER

SECTION 3.01. <u>Transfer of Registration Rights</u>. The Centerbridge Investors, the Oaktree Investors and the Additional Investors may assign all or a portion of their rights hereunder to (a) a Permitted Transferee or (b) any transferee of Registrable Securities constituting not less than one and one half percent (1.5%) of, at the relevant time, the issued and outstanding Common Shares, after giving effect to the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock, effective upon the receipt by the Issuer of (x) written notice from the transferring Investor stating the name and address of the transferee and identifying the amount of Registrable Securities with respect to which rights under this Agreement are being transferred and (y) agreement by such transferee to be bound by the terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE IV

MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 4.01. Effectiveness. This Agreement shall become effective and binding upon the Issuer, the Centerbridge Investors, the Oaktree Investors and the Additional Investors immediately following the Plan Effective Date by operation of the Plan. Notwithstanding the occurrence of the Plan Effective Date, this Agreement contemplates that any Eligible Accredited Investor may become a party to this Agreement upon execution and delivery to the Issuer of a counterpart signature to this Agreement (including completed notice information for such Eligible Accredited Investor, which must include an email address to be valid).

SECTION 4.02. <u>Registrable Securities</u>. In order to enable the Issuer to determine the number of Registrable Securities issued and outstanding or Beneficially Owned by any Investor or Investors at any given time, (i) each Investor shall provide the Issuer with information as to the number of Registrable Securities Beneficially Owned by such Investor promptly upon reasonable written request by the Issuer and (ii) as a condition to an Investor exercising rights hereunder, such Investor shall certify to the Issuer the number of Registrable Securities Beneficially Owned by such Investor when delivering any notice, request or other action by the Required Investors, Majority Participating Investors, Required Additional Investors or any other group of Investors meeting a Beneficial Ownership threshold under this Agreement.

SECTION 4.03. Existing Registration Statements. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary and subject to applicable law and regulation, the Issuer may satisfy any obligation hereunder to file a Registration Statement or to have a Registration Statement become effective by a specified date by designating, by notice to the Investors, a Registration Statement that previously has been filed with the SEC or become effective, as the case may be, as the relevant Registration Statement for purposes of satisfying such obligation, and all references to any such obligation shall be construed accordingly; provided, that such previously filed

Registration Statement may be amended or supplemented, as appropriate, to add the number of Registrable Securities, and, to the extent necessary, to identify as selling stockholders those Investors demanding the filing of a Registration Statement pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. To the extent this Agreement refers to the filing or effectiveness of other Registration Statements by or at a specified time and the Issuer has, in lieu of then filing such Registration Statements or having such Registration Statements become effective, designated a previously filed or effective Registration Statement as the relevant Registration Statement for such purposes in accordance with the preceding sentence, such references shall be construed to refer to such designated Registration Statement.

SECTION 4.04. Other Activities. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, none of the provisions of this Agreement shall in any way limit an Investor or any of its Affiliates from engaging in any brokerage, investment advisory, financial advisory, anti-raid advisory, principaling, merger advisory, financing, asset management, trading, market making, arbitrage, investment activity and other similar activities conducted in the ordinary course of their business.

SECTION 4.05. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Series A Investor Rights Agreement and all of the Annexes and Schedules hereto and thereto, constitute the entire understanding and agreement between the parties as to the matters covered herein and therein and supersede and replace any prior understanding, agreement (including the Second Amended and Restated Plan Support Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2021 and the Replacement Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2021) or statement of intent, in each case, written or oral, of any and every nature with respect thereto between the parties as to the matters covered herein and therein. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any document executed or delivered to effect the purposes of this Agreement, this Agreement shall govern as among the parties hereto.

SECTION 4.06. Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.

- (a) This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights and duties of the parties shall be governed by, the law of the State of New York, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws.
- (b) Each party agrees that it will bring any action or proceeding in respect of any claim arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby exclusively in the United States District Court located in the Borough of Manhattan in the City of New York or, if such court does not accept jurisdiction over the applicable action or proceeding, the state courts of the State of New York located in the Borough of Manhattan in the City of New York (the "Chosen Courts"), and, solely in connection with claims arising under this Agreement or the transactions that are the subject of this Agreement, (i) irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Chosen Courts, (ii) waives any objection to laying venue in any such action or proceeding in the Chosen Courts, (iii) waives any objection that the Chosen Courts are an inconvenient forum or do not have jurisdiction over any party and (iv) agrees that service of process upon such party in any such action or proceeding will be effective if notice is given in accordance with Section 4.11.

(c) EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR OTHER PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT: (I) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF ANY ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, (II) EACH PARTY UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (III) EACH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (IV) EACH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 4.06(c).

SECTION 4.07. Obligations; Remedies. The Issuer and the Investors shall be entitled to enforce their rights under this Agreement specifically, to recover damages by reason of any breach of any provision of this Agreement (including, without limitation, costs of enforcement) and to exercise all other rights existing in their favor. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur if any provision of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with its specific terms or were otherwise breached. Accordingly, the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms of this Agreement without the necessity of proving the inadequacy of monetary damages as a remedy, including an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement or to enforce specifically the performance of the terms and provisions hereof, in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. Each of the parties hereby further waives (a) any defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate and (b) any requirement under any Law to post security or a bond as a prerequisite to obtaining equitable relief. All remedies, either under this Agreement or by Law or otherwise afforded to any party, shall be cumulative and not alternative.

SECTION 4.08. Amendment and Waiver.

(a) The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be modified or amended at any time and from time to time only by the written consent of (i) the Issuer, (ii) the Centerbridge Investors, (iii) the Oaktree Investors and (iv) the Required Additional Investors; provided, that (a) any amendment that would have a disproportionate material adverse effect on an Investor relative to any other Investors shall require the written consent of that Investor and (b) this Section 4.08 may not be amended without the prior written consent of the Issuer and all of the Investors. If reasonably requested by the Investors, the Issuer agrees to execute and deliver any amendments to this Agreement which the Issuer in its reasonable discretion concludes are not adverse to Issuer or its public stockholders to the extent so requested by the Investors in connection with the addition of a Permitted Transferee or other transferee in accordance with Section 3.01 or a recipient of any newly-issued Shares as a party hereto; provided that such amendments are in compliance with the immediately preceding sentence. Any amendment, modification or waiver effected in accordance with the foregoing shall be effective and binding on the Issuer and all Investors.

(b) Any failure by any party at any time to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed a waiver of such provision or any other provisions hereof.

SECTION 4.09. <u>Binding Effect</u>. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the provisions hereof shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the parties' successors and permitted assigns.

SECTION 4.10. <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement shall automatically terminate upon the later of (i) the expiration of the Shelf Period and (ii) such time as there are no Registrable Securities, except for the provisions of <u>Section 2.10</u> and all of this <u>Article IV</u>, which shall survive any such termination. In the event of any termination of this Agreement as provided in this <u>Section 4.10</u>, this Agreement shall forthwith become wholly void and of no further force or effect (except for the provisions of <u>Section 2.10</u> and this <u>Article IV</u>, which shall survive) and there shall be no liability on the part of any parties hereto or their respective Affiliates, except as provided in this <u>Article IV</u>. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no party hereto shall be relieved from liability for any willful breach of this Agreement.

SECTION 4.11. <u>Notices</u>. Any and all notices, designations, offers, acceptances or other communications provided for herein shall be deemed duly given (a) when delivered personally by hand, (b) when sent by facsimile or email or (c) one Business Day following the day sent by overnight courier:

if to the Issuer, to:

Garrett Motion Inc. La Pièce 16 1180 Rolle, Switzerland Attention: Jerome P. Maironi

Email: jerome.maironi@garrettmotion.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Sullivan & Cromwell LLP 1 New Fetter Lane London EC4A 1AN United Kingdom

Attention: Evan S. Simpson Email: simpsone@sullcrom.com

if to the Centerbridge Investors, to: [•] $[\bullet]$ Attention: [•] Email: [•] with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Milbank LLP 55 Hudson Yards New York, NY 10003 Attention: Dennis F. Dunne, Matthew Brod, and Andrew C. Harmeyer Email: ddunne@milbank.com, MBrod@milbank.com, aharmeyer@milbank.com if to the Oaktree Investors, to: [•] [•] Attention: [•] Email: [•] with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Milbank LLP 55 Hudson Yards New York, NY 10003 Attention: Dennis F. Dunne, Matthew Brod, and Andrew C. Harmeyer Email: ddunne@milbank.com, MBrod@milbank.com, aharmeyer@milbank.com

If to any Additional Investor, to the relevant address on the Additional Investor Notice Schedule, with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Jones Day 250 Vesey Street New York, NY 10281 Attention: Anna Kordas Email: akordas@jonesday.com Jones Day 555 S. Flower Street 50th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90071

Attention: Bruce Bennett, Joshua M. Mester, and James O. Johnston

Email: bbennett@jonesday.com, jmester@jonesday.com,

jjohnston@jonesday.com

If to any Accredited Investor Party or to any other Investor who becomes party to this Agreement after the date hereof, to the address on the counterpart signature page to this Agreement executed by such Investor (which must include an email address).

SECTION 4.12. <u>Severability</u>. Whenever possible, each provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable Law, but if any provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable Law in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or portion of any provision in such jurisdiction, and this Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction such that the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or portion thereof shall be interpreted to be only so broad as is enforceable.

SECTION 4.13. <u>Third-Party Beneficiaries</u>. Except with respect to each Person entitled to indemnity or contribution under <u>Section 2.10</u>, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of the parties hereto and their permitted assigns and successors, and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person or entity, any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.

SECTION 4.14. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute a single instrument. Copies of executed counterparts transmitted by telecopy or other electronic transmission service shall be considered original executed counterparts for purposes of this <u>Section 4.14</u>.

SECTION 4.15. <u>Headings</u>. The heading references herein and in the table of contents hereto are for convenience purposes only, do not constitute a part of this Agreement and shall not be deemed to limit or affect any of the provisions hereof.

[REMAINDER INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

	IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this Agreement or caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf as
of the date firs	st written above.

GARRETT MOTION INC.	
---------------------	--

By:	
	Name:
	Title:

[Signature Page to Registration Rights Agreement]

	Name: Title:
Notice Address:	
Name:	-
Address:	- -
	- -
Email: Facsimile:	
with a copy to:	
	<u>-</u>
	- -
	<u>-</u>
	-
	-

[ELIGIBLE ACCREDITED INVESTOR]

[Signature Page to Registration Rights Agreement]

SCHEDULE A

Additional Investor Notice Schedule

[•]

Annex 1 to Exhibit 3

Blackline of Draft of Registration Rights Agreement

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

BY AND AMONG

GARRETT MOTION INC.

[CENTERBRIDGE PARTIES]

[OAKTREE PARTIES]

AND THE OTHER STOCKHOLDERS OF GARRETT MOTION INC. SIGNATORIES HERETO

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		ARTICLE I	Page
		DEFINITIONS	
SECTION 1.01.	Defined Terms	<u>BELLIMITOMS</u>	1
<u>SECTION 1.01.</u>	Other Interpretive Provisions		7
SECTION 1.02.	Other Interpretive Frovisions	ARTICLE II	,
		REGISTRATION RIGHTS	
SECTION 2.01.	Demand Registration	ALGORITA MONTO	7
SECTION 2.02.	Shelf Registration		10
SECTION 2.03.	Limitations on Registration		12
SECTION 2.04.	Piggyback Registration		12
SECTION 2.05.	Lock-Up Periods		15
SECTION 2.06.	Registration Procedures		16
SECTION 2.07.	<u>Underwritten Offerings</u>		22
SECTION 2.08.	No Inconsistent Agreements		23
SECTION 2.09.	Registration Expenses		23
SECTION 2.10.	<u>Indemnification</u>		24
SECTION 2.11.	Rules 144 and 144A and Regulation S		26
SECTION 2.12.	<u>Opt-Out</u>		27
		ARTICLE III	
		TRANSFER	
SECTION 3.01.	Transfer of Registration Rights		27
		ARTICLE IV	
		<u>MISCELLANEOUS</u>	
SECTION 4.01.	Effectiveness		28
SECTION 4.02.	Registrable Securities		28
SECTION 4.03.	Existing Registration Statements		28

i

<u>SECTION 4.04.</u>	Other Activities	28
<u>SECTION 4.05.</u>	Entire Agreement	29
SECTION 4.06.	Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial	29
SECTION 4.07.	Obligations; Remedies	30
<u>SECTION 4.08.</u>	Amendment and Waiver	30
SECTION 4.09.	Binding Effect	30
SECTION 4.10.	<u>Termination</u>	30
SECTION 4.11.	<u>Notices</u>	31
<u>SECTION 4.12.</u>	<u>Severability</u>	32
<u>SECTION 4.13.</u>	Third-Party Beneficiaries	33
<u>SECTION 4.14.</u>	<u>Counterparts</u>	33
<u>SECTION 4.15.</u>	<u>Headings</u>	33
Schedule A	Additional Investor Notice Schedule	

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT

REGISTRATION RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this "<u>Agreement</u>"), dated as of [•], 2021, by and among Garrett Motion Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "<u>Issuer</u>"), [•], a [•] ("[•]"), [•], a [•] ("[•]" and, together with [•], the "<u>Centerbridge Investors</u>"), [•], a [•] ("[•]"), [•], a [•] ("[•]" and, together with [•], the "<u>Oaktree Investors</u>"), the Additional Investors (as defined below) and the Accredited Investor Parties (as defined below).

WITNESSETH:

WHEREAS, the Issuer and the Investors (as defined below) are entering into this Agreement in accordance with and pursuant to the Plan of Reorganization (the "Plan") of the Issuer and certain of its debtor subsidiaries under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York (the "Bankruptcy Court");

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Plan, the Issuer shall issue to the Investors shares of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Series A Preferred Stock");

WHEREAS, the Series A Preferred Stock shall be convertible into shares of the Issuer's Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), in accordance with its terms; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the effectiveness of the Plan (the date of such effectiveness, the "<u>Plan Effective Date</u>"), the Issuer has agreed to provide the Investors with certain registration rights as set forth herein.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing and the mutual promises, covenants and agreements of the parties hereto, and for other good and valuable consideration the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the parties hereto agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

SECTION 1.01. <u>Defined Terms</u>. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the following meanings:

"Accredited Investor Eligible Holder" means any Person (other than Centerbridge, Oaktree or any of the Additional Investors) who is an "accredited investor" within the meaning of Rule 501 under Regulation D of the Securities Act and who becomes the Beneficial Owner of Series A Shares on the Plan Effective Date pursuant to the offering of rights to subscribe for and acquire Series A Preferred Stock on the Plan Effective Date in accordance with the procedures with respect to the "Accredited Investor Rights Offering" authorized pursuant to the Order (I) Approving the Disclosure Statement and Form and Manner of Notice of Disclosure Statement Hearing; (II) Establishing a Voting Record Date for the Plan; (III) Approving Solicitation Packages and Procedures for the Distribution Thereof; (IV) Approving the Forms of Ballots; (V) Establishing Procedures for Voting on the Plan; and (VI) Establishing Notice and Objection Procedures for the Confirmation of the Plan entered by the Bankruptcy Court on March 11, 2021.

- "Accredited Investor Parties" means the Accredited Investor Eligible Holders that become a party hereto in accordance with Section 4.01.
- "Additional Investors" means Attestor Value Master Fund LP, Baupost Group Securities, L.L.C., Cyrus Capital Partners, L.P., FIN Capital Partners LP, Hawk Ridge Capital Management LP, Keyframe Capital Partners, L.P., Newtyn Management, LLC, Sessa Capital IM, L.P. and Whitebox Multi-Strategy Partners, L.P.
- "Adverse Disclosure" means public disclosure of MNPI that, in the Board's good faith judgment, after consultation with independent outside counsel to the Issuer, (i) would be required to be made in any Registration Statement or report filed with the SEC by the Issuer so that such Registration Statement or report would not be materially misleading; (ii) would not be required to be made at such time but for the filing of such Registration Statement; and (iii) the Issuer has a bona fide business purpose for not disclosing publicly.
- "Affiliate" has the meaning specified in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act; <u>provided</u>, that no Investor shall be deemed an Affiliate of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries for purposes of this Agreement.
 - "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
 - "Automatic Shelf Registration Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).
 - "Bankruptcy Court" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
- "Beneficial Owner" and "beneficially own" and similar terms have the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act; provided, however, that no Investor shall be deemed to beneficially own any securities of the Issuer held by any other Investor solely by virtue of the provisions of this Agreement (other than this definition).
- "Block Trade" means an offering and/or sale of Registrable Securities off of an effective Shelf Registration Statement by one or more of the Investors on a block trade or underwritten basis (whether firm commitment or otherwise) without substantial marketing efforts prior to pricing, including a same day trade, overnight trade or similar transaction.
 - "Board" means the board of directors of the Issuer.
- "Business Day" means any day other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which commercial banks located in New York, New York or Rolle, Switzerland are required or authorized by law to be closed.
 - "Centerbridge Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Change in Control" means the occurrence of any of the following events:

(a) the sale or disposition, in one or a series of related transactions, of all or substantially all, of the assets of the Issuer to any "person" or "group" (as such terms are defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act);

(b) any person or group is or becomes the Beneficial Owner, directly or indirectly, of more than fifty percent (50%) of the total voting power of the voting stock of the Issuer (or any entity which controls the Issuer, or which is a successor to all or substantially all of the assets of the Issuer), including by way of merger, recapitalization, reorganization, redemption, issuance of capital stock, consolidation, tender or exchange offer or otherwise; or

(c) a merger of the Issuer with or into another Person in which the voting stockholders of the Issuer immediately prior to such merger cease to hold at least fifty percent (50%) of the voting securities of the surviving entity or ultimate parent entity (in each case, including the Issuer) immediately following such merger.

"Chosen Court" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.06(b).

"Common Shares" means shares of Common Stock.

"Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Demand Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(e).

"Demand Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(d).

"Demand Registration" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(a)(i).

"<u>Demand Registration Statement</u>" has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 2.01(a)(ii)</u>. "<u>Demand Suspension</u>" has the meaning set forth in <u>Section 2.01(f)</u>.

"Demanding Investor" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(a)(i).

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and any successor thereto, and any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect from time to time.

"FINRA" means the Financial Industry Regulatory Authority.

"Investors" means (i) the Centerbridge Investors, (ii) the Oaktree Investors, (iii) the Additional Investors, (iv) the Accredited Investor Parties and (v) any Person who succeeds to rights hereunder pursuant to <u>Section 3.01</u>.

"Issuer" has the meaning given to the term in the Preamble.

"<u>Issuer Free Writing Prospectus</u>" means an issuer free writing prospectus, as defined in Rule 433 under the Securities Act, relating to an offer of the Registrable Securities.

"Issuer Public Sale" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a).

"Law," with respect to any Person, means (a) all provisions of all laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, permits, certificates or orders of any governmental authority applicable to such Person or any of its assets or property or to which such Person or any of its assets or property is subject, and (b) all judgments, injunctions, orders and decrees of any governmental authority in proceedings or actions in which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its assets or properties is or may be bound or subject.

"Lock-Up Securities" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.05(a).

"Long-Form Registration Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(a)(i).

"Loss" or "Losses" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.10(a).

"Majority Participating Investors" means the Participating Investors Beneficially Owning Registrable Securities representing at least a majority of the voting power of the Registrable Securities Beneficially Owned by such Participating Investors.

"Material Adverse Change" means (i) any general suspension of trading in, or limitation on prices for, securities on any national securities exchange or in the over-the-counter market in the United States; (ii) the declaration of a banking moratorium or any suspension of payments in respect of banks in the United States or Switzerland; (iii) a material outbreak or escalation of armed hostilities or other international or national calamity involving the United States or Switzerland or the declaration by the United States or Switzerland of a national emergency or war or a change in national or international financial, political or economic conditions; and (iv) any event, change, circumstance or effect that is or is reasonably likely to be materially adverse to the business, properties, assets, liabilities, condition (financial or otherwise), operations, results of operations or prospects of the Issuer and its subsidiaries taken as a whole.

"MNPI" means material non-public information within the meaning of Regulation FD promulgated under the Exchange Act, which shall in any case include the receipt of the notice of a Registration or any offering of Registrable Securities pursuant to this Agreement and the information contained in such notice.

"Oaktree Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble. "Opt-Out Request" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.12(b).

"<u>Participating Investor</u>" means, with respect to any Registration, any Investor of Registrable Securities covered by the applicable Registration Statement.

"Permitted Transferee" has the meaning set forth in the Series A Investor Rights Agreement.

- "Person" means an individual, corporation, association, limited liability company, partnership, estate, trust, joint venture, unincorporated organization or a government or any agency or political subdivision thereof.
 - "Piggyback Eligible Investor" means the Centerbridge Investors, the Oaktree Investors and the Additional Investors.
 - "Piggyback Registration" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.04(a). "Plan" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
 - "Plan Effective Date" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
- "Prospectus" means the prospectus included in any Registration Statement, all amendments and supplements to such prospectus, including pre- and post-effective amendments to such Registration Statement, and all other material incorporated by reference in such prospectus.
- "Registrable Securities" means any (a) Series A Shares issued to the relevant Investor on the Plan Effective Date pursuant to the Plan or (b) Common Shares (i) issued to the relevant Investor on the Plan Effective Date pursuant to the Plan, (ii) issued or issuable upon conversion of such Series A Shares and (iii) issued in respect of the securities described in clause (a) or clause (b)(i) or (ii) by way of conversion, dividend, stock split or other distribution, merger, consolidation, exchange, recapitalization or reclassification or similar transaction; provided, that any such Series A Shares or Common Shares, as applicable, shall irrevocably cease to be Registrable Securities to the extent: (v) such Registrable Securities have been disposed of pursuant to an effective Registration Statement, (w) such Registrable Securities have been disposed of pursuant to Rule 144; (x) such Registrable Securities shall have been otherwise transferred and are represented by certificates or book-entries not bearing a legend restricting transfer under the Securities Act; (y) with respect to Registrable Securities held by an Investor, such Investor and its Affiliates are able to dispose of all of their Registrable Securities without volume or manner of sale restrictions pursuant to Rule 144; or (z) the date on which the Registrable Securities cease to be outstanding.
- "Registration" means a registration with the SEC of the Issuer's securities for offer and sale to the public under a Registration Statement. The terms "Register" and "Registered" shall have a correlative meaning.
 - "Registration Expenses" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.09(a).
- "Registration Statement" means any registration statement of the Issuer filed with, or to be filed with, the SEC under the rules and regulations promulgated under the Securities Act, including the related Prospectus, amendments and supplements to such registration statement, including pre- and post-effective amendments, and all exhibits and all material incorporated by reference in such registration statement.
- "Representatives" means, with respect to any Person, any of such Person's officers, directors, employees, agents, attorneys, accountants, actuaries, consultants, equity financing partners or financial advisors or other Person associated with, or acting on behalf of, such Person.

"Required Additional Investors" means, at any relevant time, the Additional Investors Beneficially Owning Registrable Securities representing at least a majority of the voting power of the Registrable Securities Beneficially Owned by the Additional Investors.

"Required Investors" means an Investor or Investors Beneficially Owning, in the aggregate, Registrable Securities representing not less than seven and one half percent (7.5%) of, at the relevant time, the issued and outstanding Common Shares, after giving effect to the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock.

- "Rule 144" means Rule 144 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor rule then in effect).
- "Rule 158" means Rule 158 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor rule then in effect).
- "Rule 405" means Rule 405 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor rule then in effect).
- "Rule 415" means Rule 415 promulgated under the Securities Act (or any successor rule then in effect).
- "SEC" means the Securities and Exchange Commission.
- "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and any successor thereto, and any rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, all as the same shall be in effect from time to time.
- "Series A Investor Rights Agreement" means the Series A Investor Rights Agreement, dated as of [•], 2021, by and among the Issuer, the Centerbridge Investors, the Oaktree Investors and the Additional Investors, as the same may be amended from time to time in accordance with the terms thereof.
 - "Series A Preferred Stock" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
 - "Series A Shares" means shares of Series A Preferred Stock. "Shares" means Common Shares and Series A Shares.
 - "Shelf Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).
 - "Shelf Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(b).
 - "Shelf Registration" means a Registration effected pursuant to Section 2.02.

- "Shelf Registration Statement" means a Registration Statement of the Issuer filed with the SEC for an offering to be made on a continuous basis pursuant to Rule 415 covering the Registrable Securities, as applicable.
 - "Shelf Suspension" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(c).
 - "Short-Form Registration Statement" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.01(a)(i).
 - "Suspension" means either a Demand Suspension or a Shelf Suspension.
 - "Takedown Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(d).
- "<u>Underwritten Offering</u>" means a discrete registered offering of securities of the Issuer conducted by one or more underwriters pursuant to the terms of an underwriting agreement, including, for the avoidance of doubt, any Block Trade undertaken on an underwritten basis.
 - "WKSI" has the meaning set forth in Section 2.02(a).
- SECTION 1.02. Other Interpretive Provisions. The meanings of defined terms are equally applicable to the singular and plural forms thereof.
- (a) The words "hereof", "<a href="hereof"", "<a href="hereof"), "<a href="hereof"", "<a href="hereof"", "<a href="hereof"), "<a href="hereof"", "<a href="hereof"), "<a href="here
 - (b) The term "including" is not limiting and means "including without limitation."
- (c) The captions and headings of this Agreement are for convenience of reference only and shall not affect the interpretation of this Agreement.
 - (d)(c) Whenever the context requires, any pronouns used herein shall include the corresponding masculine, feminine or neuter forms.

ARTICLE II

REGISTRATION RIGHTS

SECTION 2.01. Demand Registration.

(a) Demand by the Investors.

- (i) The Required Investors may make a written request to the Issuer for Registration of all or part of the Registrable Securities held by such Required Investors (*A) on Form S-1 or any similar long-form Registration Statement (a "Long-Form Registration Statement"), or (*B) on Form S-3 or any similar short-form Registration Statement (a "Short-Form Registration Statement") if the Issuer is then qualified to use such short form. Any such requested Registration shall hereinafter be referred to as a "Demand Registration," and any Investor requesting such Demand Registration shall hereinafter be referred to as a "Demanding Investor." Each request for a Demand Registration shall specify the aggregate amount of Registrable Securities to be Registered and the intended methods of disposition thereof.
 - (ii) Unless there is a currently effective Shelf Registration Statement covering such Registrable Securities on file with the SEC then, within (iA) sixty (60) days in the case of a request for a Long-Form Registration Statement or (iB) thirty (30) days in the case of a request for a Short-Form Registration Statement, the Issuer shall file a Registration Statement relating to such Demand Registration (a "Demand Registration Statement"), and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause such Demand Registration Statement to become effective under the Securities Act.
- (b) <u>Limitation on Demand Registrations</u>. The aggregate number of Demand Registrations using a Long-Form Registration Statement that may be requested by the Investors shall not exceed four (4). The Investors may request an unlimited number of Demand Registrations using a Short-Form Registration Statement.
- (c) <u>Demand Withdrawal</u>. A Demanding Investor and any other Investor that has requested its Registrable Securities be included in a Demand Registration pursuant to <u>Section 2.01(e)</u> may withdraw all or any portion of its Registrable Securities included in a Demand Registration from a Demand Registration at any time prior to the effectiveness of the applicable Demand Registration Statement. Upon receipt of a notice to such effect from the Demanding Investor with respect to all of the Registrable Securities included by such Investor in such Demand Registration, the Issuer shall cease all efforts to secure effectiveness of the applicable Demand Registration Statement and such Registration nonetheless shall be deemed a Demand Registration with respect to the Demanding Investor for purposes of <u>Section 2.01(b)</u> unless (i) the withdrawing Demanding Investor shall have paid or reimbursed the Issuer for its <u>pro rata</u> share of all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket fees and expenses incurred by the Issuer in connection with the Registration of such Demanding Investor's withdrawn Registrable Securities (based on the number of securities the Demanding Investor sought to Register, as compared to the total number of securities included on such Demand Registration Statement) or (ii) the withdrawal is made following the occurrence of a Material Adverse Change or because the Registration would require the Issuer to make an Adverse Disclosure.
- (d) Effective Registration. The Issuer shall be deemed to have effected a Demand Registration if the Demand Registration Statement has become effective and remains effective for not less than one hundred eighty (180) days (or such shorter period as shall terminate when all Registrable Securities covered by such Demand Registration Statement have been sold or withdrawn), or if such Registration Statement relates to an Underwritten Offering, such longer period as, in the opinion of counsel for the underwriter or underwriters, a Prospectus is required by law, to be delivered in connection with sales of Registrable Securities by an underwriter or dealer (the applicable period, the "Demand Period"). No Demand Registration shall be deemed to have been effected if (i) during the Demand Period such Registration is

interfered with by any stop order, injunction or other order or requirement of the SEC or other governmental agency or court or (ii) the conditions to closing specified in the underwriting agreement, if any, entered into in connection with such Registration are not satisfied other than by reason of a wrongful act, misrepresentation or breach of such applicable underwriting agreement by the Demanding Investor.

- (e) <u>Demand Notice</u>. Promptly upon receipt of any request for a Demand Registration pursuant to <u>Section 2.01(a)(i)</u> (but in no event more than five (5) Business Days thereafter), the Issuer shall deliver a written notice (a "<u>Demand Notice</u>") of any such Registration request to all other Investors (which notice shall state that the material terms of such proposed Registration, to the extent known, as well as the identity of the Demanding Investor, are available upon request), and subject to <u>Sections 2.01(f)</u> and <u>2.01(h)</u>, the Issuer shall include in such Demand Registration all such Registrable Securities with respect to which the Issuer has received written requests for inclusion therein within ten (10) Business Days after the date that the Demand Notice has been delivered, to the relevant Investor. All requests made pursuant to this <u>Section 2.01(e)</u> shall specify the aggregate amount of Registrable Securities of the requesting Investor to be Registered and the intended method of distribution of such securities.
- (f) <u>Delay in Filing; Suspension of Registration</u>. If the Issuer determines in good faith that the filing, initial effectiveness or continued use of a Demand Registration Statement at any time would require the Issuer to make an Adverse Disclosure, the Issuer may, upon giving prompt written notice of such action to the Investors, delay the filing or initial effectiveness of, or suspend use of, the Demand Registration Statement (a "<u>Demand Suspension</u>"); <u>provided</u>, that the Issuer shall not be permitted to exercise a Suspension (other than a Shelf Suspension relating to a post-effective amendment to a Shelf Registration Statement required to update such Shelf Registration Statement pursuant to Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act) (i) more than twice during any twelve (12)-month period, or (ii) for a period exceeding sixty (60) days on any one occasion. In the case of a Demand Suspension, the Investors agree to suspend use of the applicable Prospectus and any Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses in connection with any sale or purchase, or offer to sell or purchase, Registrable Securities, upon receipt of the notice referred to above. The Issuer shall immediately notify the Investors upon the termination of any Demand Suspension, amend or supplement the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, if necessary, so it does not contain any untrue statement or omission and furnish to the Investors such numbers of copies of the Prospectus as so amended or supplemented or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus as the Investors may reasonably request. The Issuer shall, if necessary, supplement or make amendments to the Demand Registration Statement, if required by the registration form used by the Issuer for the Demand Registration or by the instructions applicable to such registration form or by the Securities Act or the rules or regulations promulgated thereunder or as may reasonably be requested by the Demanding Investor.
- (g) <u>Underwritten Offering</u>. If the expected aggregate gross proceeds of an offering of Registrable Securities are at least fifty million U.S. dollars (\$50,000,000), the Demanding Investor may request that such offering be in the form of an Underwritten Offering, and such Demanding Investor shall have the right to select the managing underwriter or underwriters to administer the offering; <u>provided</u>, that (i) such managing underwriter or underwriters shall be reasonably acceptable to the Issuer and the Majority Participating Investors

and (ii) the Issuer shall have the right to select at least one (1) of the joint bookrunning managers. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Issuer be required to effect more than one (1) Underwritten Offering (regardless of whether such Underwritten Offering is requested pursuant to this Section 2.01(g), pursuant to Section 2.02(d) or pursuant to Section 2.02(e)) in any ninety (90)-day period.

(h) <u>Priority of Securities Registered Pursuant to Demand Registrations</u>. If the managing underwriter or underwriters of a proposed Underwritten Offering of the Registrable Securities included in a Demand Registration advise the Board in writing that, in its or their opinion, the number of securities requested to be included in such Demand Registration exceeds the number which can be sold in such offering without being likely to have a significant adverse effect on the price, timing or distribution of the securities offered or the market for the securities offered, then the securities to be included in such Demand Registration shall be allocated, (i) first, if applicable, <u>pro rata</u> between the Participating Investors based on the relative number of Registrable Securities then held by each Participating Investor and (ii) second, and only if all of the Registrable Securities referred to in clause (i) have been included, the number of Registrable Securities that the Issuer proposes to include in such Registration that, in the opinion of the managing underwriter or underwriters can be sold without having such adverse effect.

SECTION 2.02. Shelf Registration.

- (a) Accredited Investor Parties Shelf Filing. As promptly as practicable on or after the Plan Effective Date (and in no event later than five (5) Business Days following the Plan Effective Date), the Issuer shall deliver a written notice (the "Shelf Notice") to all Accredited Investor Eligible Holders regarding (i) their ability to become Accredited Investor Parties in accordance with Section 4.01 and (ii) if they become Accredited Investor Parties, to participate in a Shelf Registration Statement relating to the offer and sale of all Registrable Securities by the Investors from time to time in accordance with the methods of distribution elected by such Investors and set forth in the Shelf Registration Statement. As The Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to, as promptly as practicable (taking into account the need to provide Accredited Investor Eligible Holders a reasonable opportunity to respond to the Shelf Notice and in any event no later than higher than selected Investor Eligible Holders a reasonable opportunity to respond to the Shelf Registration Statement relating to the offer and sale of all Registrable Securities by the Investors from time to time in accordance with the methods of distribution elected by such Investors and set forth in the Shelf Registration Statement and, as promptly as practicable thereafter, shall use its reasonable best effort to cause such Shelf Registration Statement to become effective under the Securities Act on the earliest date practicable. If, at the time of filing a Shelf Registration Statement pursuant to this Section 2.02(a), the Issuer shall be a well-known seasoned issuer (as defined in Rule 405) (a "WKSI"), such Shelf Registration Statement shall be an automatic shelf registration statement (as defined in Rule 405) (an "Automatic Shelf Registration Statement").
- (b) <u>Continued Effectiveness</u>. The Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to keep such Shelf Registration Statement continuously effective under the Securities Act in order to permit the Prospectus forming a part thereof to be usable by the applicable Investors until the earlier of (i) the date as of which all Registrable Securities have been sold pursuant to such Shelf Registration Statement or another Registration Statement filed under the Securities Act (but in no

event prior to the applicable period referred to in Section 4(3) of the Securities Act and Rule 174 thereunder) and (ii) the date as of which each of the Participating Investors with respect to such Shelf Registration Statement no longer holds its Registrable Securities (such period of effectiveness, the "Shelf Period"). The Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to remain a WKSI (and not become an ineligible issuer (as defined in Rule 405)) during the period during which an Automatic Shelf Registration Statement is required to remain effective. If the Issuer does not pay the filing fee covering the Registrable Securities at the time such Automatic Shelf Registration Statement is filed, the Issuer agrees to pay such fee at such time or times as the Registrable Securities are to be sold. If such Automatic Shelf Registration Statement has been outstanding for at least three (3) years, at the end of the third year the Issuer shall refile an Automatic Shelf Registration Statement covering the Registrable Securities registered on such expired Automatic Shelf registration Statement. If at any time when the Issuer is required to re-evaluate its WKSI status the Issuer determines that it is not a WKSI, the Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to refile such Shelf Registration Statement as a Short-Form Registration Statement or, if the Issuer is not eligible to use a Short-Form Registration Statement effective during the Shelf Period.

(c) <u>Suspension of Registration</u>. If the Issuer determines in good faith that the continued use of such Shelf Registration Statement at any time would require the Issuer to make an Adverse Disclosure, the Issuer may, upon giving, to the extent practicable, at least ten (10) days' prior written notice of such action to the Investors (or, in the case of a Block Trade, upon receipt of notice of such Block Trade pursuant to <u>Section 2.02(e)</u>), suspend use of the Shelf Registration Statement (a "<u>Shelf Suspension</u>"); <u>provided</u>, that the Issuer shall not be permitted to exercise a Suspension (other than a Shelf Suspension relating to a post-effective amendment to a Shelf Registration Statement required to update such Shelf Registration Statement pursuant to Section 10(a)(3) of the Securities Act) (i) more than twice during any twelve (12)-month period, or (ii) for a period exceeding sixty (60) days on any one occasion. In the case of a Shelf Suspension, the Investors agree to suspend use of the applicable Prospectus and any Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses in connection with any sale or purchase of, or offer to sell or purchase, Registrable Securities, upon receipt of the notice referred to above. The Issuer shall immediately notify the Investors upon the termination of any Shelf Suspension, amend or supplement the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, if necessary, so it does not contain any material misstatement or omission and furnish to the Investors such numbers of copies of the Prospectus as so amended or supplemented or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus as the Investors may reasonably request. The Issuer shall, if necessary, supplement or make amendment to such Shelf Registration Statement, if required by the registration form used by the Issuer for such Shelf Registration or by the instruction applicable to such registration form or by the Securities Act or the rules or regulations promulgated thereunder or as may reasonably be requested by the Investors.

(d) <u>Underwritten Offering</u>. If the expected aggregate gross proceeds of an offering of Registrable Securities are at least fifty million U.S. dollars (\$50,000,000), and the Required Investors (to the extent such Required Investors are named as selling security holders in the Shelf Registration Statement) so elect, such offering may be in the form of an Underwritten Offering, the Issuer shall amend or supplement the Shelf Registration Statement for such purpose and such Required Investors shall have the right to select the managing

underwriter or underwriters to administer such offering; provided, that (i) such managing underwriter or underwriters shall be reasonably acceptable to the Issuer and the Majority Participating Investors and (ii) the Issuer shall have the right to select at least one (1) of the joint bookrunning managers. Promptly upon receipt of any request for an Underwritten Offering (that is not a Block Trade) pursuant to this Section 2.02(d)) (but in no event more than five (5) Business Days thereafter), the Issuer shall deliver a written notice (a "Takedown Notice") of any such request to all other Investors named as selling security holders in the Shelf Registration Statement (which notice shall state that the material terms of such proposed Underwritten Offering, to the extent known, as well as the identity of the Required Investors making such request, are available upon request), and subject to Section 2.02(c) and the last sentence of this Section 2.02(d), any Investor from whom the Issuer has received written requests for inclusion therein within ten (10) Business Days after the date that the Takedown Notice has been delivered shall be eligible to participate in such Underwritten Offering. All requests made pursuant to this Section 2.02(d) shall specify the aggregate amount of Registrable Securities that the requesting Investor seeks to offer and sell in such Underwritten Offering. Notwithstanding the foregoing, in no event shall the Issuer be required to effect more than one (1) Underwritten Offering (regardless of whether such Underwritten Offering is requested pursuant to this Section 2.02(d), pursuant to Section 2.02(e) or pursuant to this Section 2.02(e) or pursuant to this Section 2.02(e) or pursuant to this Section 2.02(d), pursuant to Offering pursuant to this Sect

(e) <u>Block Trades</u>. If the Required Investors wish to engage in a Block Trade, such Required Investors (to the extent such Required Investors are named as selling security holders in the Shelf Registration Statement) shall notify the Issuer of the Block Trade, including the day on which such Block Trade is to commence, no later than 10:00 a.m. New York City time on the day such Block Trade is to commence. The Issuer shall as expeditiously as possible use its reasonable best efforts (including co-operating with the Investors with respect to the provision of necessary information) to facilitate such Block Trade (which may close as early as two (2) Business Days after the date it commences), <u>provided</u>, that the Required Investors requesting such Block Trade shall use reasonable best efforts to work with the Issuer and the underwriters prior to making such request in order to facilitate preparation of the Prospectus and other offering documentation related to the Block Trade. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary set forth herein, the Issuer shall not be obligated to notify the other Investors of any Block Trade.

SECTION 2.03. <u>Limitations on Registration</u>. Notwithstanding anything else in this Agreement, the Issuer shall not be required to file more than one (1) Registration Statement pursuant to <u>Section 2.01</u> and <u>Section 2.02</u> in any ninety- (90) day period.

SECTION 2.04. Piggyback Registration.

(a) <u>Participation in a Shelf Registration</u>. If the Issuer at any time proposes to file a Shelf Registration Statement under the Securities Act with respect to any offering of its equity securities for its own account or for the account of any other Persons (other than (i) a Registration under <u>Section 2.01</u> or <u>Section 2.02</u>, (ii) a Registration on Form S-4 or S-8 or any successor form to such Forms or (iii) a Registration of securities solely relating to an offering and sale to employees or directors of the Issuer pursuant to any employee stock plan or other

employee benefit plan arrangement) (an "Issuer Public Sale"), then, as soon as practicable (but in no event less than five (5) Business Days prior to the proposed date of public filing of such Shelf Registration Statement), the Issuer shall give written notice of such proposed filing to the Investors (which may be in the form of the Shelf Notice), and such notice shall offer the Investors the opportunity to Register under such Shelf Registration Statement such number of Registrable Securities as each such Investor may request in writing (a "Piggyback Registration"). Subject to Section 2.04(c), the Issuer shall include in such Shelf Registration Statement all such Registrable Securities that are requested to be included therein within five (5) Business Days after the receipt by such Investors of any such notice; provided, that if at any time after giving written notice of its intention to Register any securities and prior to the effective date of the Shelf Registration Statement filed in connection with such Registration, the Issuer shall determine for any reason not to Register or to delay Registration of such securities, the Issuer shall give written notice of such determination to each Investor and, thereupon, (i) in the case of a determination not to Register, shall be relieved of its obligation to Register any Registrable Securities in connection with such Registration (but not from its obligation to pay the Registration Expenses in connection therewith), without prejudice, however, to the rights of the Investors to request that such Registration be effected as a Demand Registration under Section 2.01, and (ii) in the case of a determination to delay Registering, in the absence of a request for a Demand Registration, shall be permitted to delay Registering any Registrable Securities, for the same period as the delay in Registering such other securities. If any offering pursuant to such Shelf Registration Statement is to be an Underwritten Offering, then only a Piggyback Eligible Investor shall be entitled to participate in such Underwritten Offering on the terms and subject to the conditions set forth in this Agreement upon making a request for a Piggyback Registration pursuant to this Section 2.04(a), and the Issuer shall make such arrangements with the managing underwriter or underwriters so that each such Piggyback Eligible Investor may participate in such Underwritten Offering. If the offering pursuant to such Registration Statement is to be on any other basis, then each Investor making a request for a Piggyback Registration pursuant to this Section 2.04(a) and the Issuer shall make such arrangements so that each such Investor may participate in such offering on such basis.

(b) Participation in a Non-Shelf Registration. If the Issuer at any time proposes to file a Registration Statement under the Securities Act that is not a Shelf Registration Statement with respect to any Issuer Public Sale, then, as soon as practicable (but in no event less than five (5) Business Days prior to the proposed date of public filing of such Registration Statement), the Issuer shall give written notice of such proposed filing to the Piggyback Eligible Investors (which notice shall state that the material terms of such proposed Issuer Public Sale, to the extent known, are available upon request), and such notice shall offer the Piggyback Eligible Investors the opportunity to make a Piggyback Registration. Subject to Section 2.04(c), the Issuer shall include in such Registration Statement all such Registrable Securities that are requested to be included therein within five (5) Business Days after the receipt by such Piggyback Eligible Investors of any such notice; provided, that if at any time after giving written notice of its intention to Register any securities and prior to the effective date of the Registration Statement filed in connection with such Registration, the Issuer shall determine for any reason not to Register or to delay Registration of such securities, the Issuer shall give written notice of such determination to each Piggyback Eligible Investor and, thereupon, (i) in the case of a determination not to Register, shall be relieved of its obligation to Register any Registrable Securities in connection with such Registration (but not from its obligation to pay the

Registration Expenses in connection therewith), without prejudice, however, to the rights of the Investors to request that such Registration be effected as a Demand Registration under Section 2.01, and (ii) in the case of a determination to delay Registering, in the absence of a request for a Demand Registration, shall be permitted to delay Registering any Registrable Securities, for the same period as the delay in Registering such other securities. If the offering pursuant to such Registration Statement is to be an Underwritten Offering, then each Piggyback Eligible Investor making a request for a Piggyback Registration pursuant to this Section 2.04(b) and the Issuer shall make such arrangements with the managing underwriter or underwriters so that each such Piggyback Eligible Investor may participate in such Underwritten Offering. If the offering pursuant to such Registration Statement is to be on any other basis, then each Piggyback Eligible Investor making a request for a Piggyback Registration pursuant to this Section 2.04(b) and the Issuer shall make such arrangements so that each such Piggyback Eligible Investor may participate in such offering on such basis.

- (c) <u>Priority of Piggyback Registration</u>. If the managing underwriter or underwriters of any proposed Underwritten Offering of Registrable Securities included in a Piggyback Registration informs the Issuer and the Piggyback Eligible Investors of Registrable Securities in writing that, in its or their opinion, the number of securities which such Piggyback Eligible Investors and any other Persons intend to include in such offering exceeds the number which can be sold in such offering without being likely to have a significant adverse effect on the price, timing or distribution of the securities offered or the market for the securities offered, then the securities to be included in such Registration shall be (i) first, 100% of the securities proposed to be sold in such Registration by the Issuer or (subject to Section 2.08) any Person (other than an Investor) exercising a contractual right to demand Registration, as the case may be, and (ii) second, and only if all the securities referred to in clause (i) have been included, the number of Registrable Securities that, in the opinion of such managing underwriter or underwriters, can be sold without having such adverse effect, with such number to be allocated <u>pro rata</u> among the Piggyback Eligible Investors that have requested to participate in such Registration based on the relative number of Registrable Securities then held by each such Piggyback Eligible Investor; <u>provided</u>, that any securities thereby allocated to a Piggyback Eligible Investors in like manner and (iii) third, and only if all of the Registrable Securities referred to in clause (ii) have been included in such Registration, any other securities eligible for inclusion in such Registration.
- (d) <u>Withdrawal</u>. Any Investor shall have the right to withdraw all or part of its request for inclusion of its Registrable Securities in a Piggyback Registration by giving written notice to the Issuer of its request to withdraw; <u>provided</u>, that (i) such request must be made in writing prior to the effectiveness of such Registration Statement and (ii) such withdrawal shall be irrevocable and, after making such withdrawal, an Investor shall no longer have any right to include Registrable Securities in the Piggyback Registration as to which such withdrawal was made.
- (e) <u>No Effect on Demand Registrations</u>. No Registration of Registrable Securities effected pursuant to a request under this <u>Section 2.04</u> shall be deemed to have been effected pursuant to <u>Section 2.01</u> or <u>Section 2.02</u> or shall relieve the Issuer of its obligations under <u>Section 2.01</u> or <u>Section 2.02</u>.

(f) <u>Underwritten Offering</u>. In any Issuer Public Sale that constitutes an Underwritten Offering, the Issuer shall have the sole and exclusive right to select the managing underwriter or underwriters to administer such offering.

SECTION 2.05. Lock-Up Periods.

- (a) Lock-Up Periods for Investors. In the event of an Issuer Public Sale of the Issuer's equity securities in an Underwritten Offering, the Participating Investors in such Issuer Public Sale pursuant to Section 2.04 acknowledge that such participation may only be permitted if such Investor agrees, if requested by the managing underwriter or underwriters in such Underwritten Offering, not to effect any public sale or distribution of any Registrable Securities (except, in each case, as part of the Issuer Public Sale pursuant to Section 2.04) that are the same as or similar to those being Registered in connection with such Issuer Public Sale, or any securities convertible into or exchangeable or exercisable for Registrable Securities (including, for the avoidance of doubt, Series A Shares) (collectively, "Lock-Up Securities"), during the period beginning two (2) days before and ending ninety (90) days (or such lesser period as may be permitted for all Investors by the Issuer or such managing underwriter or underwriters) after the effective date of the Registration Statement filed in connection with such Registration (or, in the case of an offering under a Shelf Registration Statement, the date of the applicable prospectus supplement in connection therewith) to the extent timely notified in writing by the Issuer or the managing underwriter or underwriters.
- (b) Lock-Up Period for the Issuer and Others. In the case of a Registration of Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 2.01 or Section 2.02 in an Underwritten Offering, the Issuer agrees, if requested by the Investors or the managing underwriter or underwriters with respect to such Registration, not to effect any public sale or distribution of any Lock-Up Securities, during the period beginning two (2) days before and ending ninety (90) days (or such lesser period as may be permitted for the Issuer by the Investors or such managing underwriter or underwriters) after the effective date of the Registration Statement filed in connection with such Registration (or, in the case of an offering under a Shelf Registration Statement, the date of the applicable prospectus supplement in connection therewith), to the extent timely notified in writing by the Investors or the managing underwriter or underwriters. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Issuer may effect a public sale or distribution of securities of the type described above and during the periods described above if such sale or distribution is made pursuant to Registrations on Form S-4 or S-8 or any successor form to such Forms or as part of any Registration of securities for offering and sale to employees or directors of the Issuer pursuant to any employee stock plan, employee stock purchase plan or other employee benefit plan arrangement. The Issuer agrees to use its reasonable best efforts to obtain from each Investor who is known by the Issuer to be the Beneficial Owner of no less than five percent (5.0%) of, at the relevant time, the issued and outstanding Common Shares, after giving effect to the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock, an agreement not to effect any public sale or distribution of such securities during any such period referred to in this Section 2.05(b), except as part of any such Registration, if permitted. Without limiting the foregoing (but subject to Section 2.08), if after the date hereof the Issuer grants any Person (other than an Investor) any rights to demand or participate in a Registration, the Issuer agrees that such Person's participation in an Underwritten Offering of Registrable Securities pursuant to Section 2.01 or Section 2.02 shall be made conditional on such Person's agreement to comply with any lock-up period required by this Section 2.05(b) as if it were an Investor hereunder.

SECTION 2.06. Registration Procedures.

- (a) In connection with the Issuer's Registration obligations under <u>Section 2.01</u>, <u>Section 2.02</u> and <u>Section 2.04</u>, the Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to effect such Registration to permit the sale of such Registrable Securities in accordance with the intended method or methods of distribution thereof as expeditiously as reasonably practicable, and in connection therewith the Issuer shall:
 - (i) prepare the required Registration Statement including all exhibits and financial statements required under the Securities Act to be filed therewith, and before filing a Registration Statement, Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, or any amendments or supplements thereto, (x) furnish to the underwriters, if any, and to Participating Investors, copies of all documents prepared to be filed, which documents shall be subject to the review of such underwriters and such Investors and their respective counsel and (y) except in the case of a Registration under Section 2.04, not file any Registration Statement, Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or amendments or supplements thereto to which the Investors or the underwriters, if any, shall reasonably object;
 - (ii) as soon as reasonably practicable (but in no event later than the time period required under <u>Section 2.01(a)(ii)</u> or Section <u>2.02(a)</u>, as applicable) file with the SEC a Registration Statement relating to the Registrable Securities, including all exhibits and financial statements required by the SEC to be filed therewith, and use its reasonable best efforts to cause such Registration Statement to become effective under the Securities Act as soon as practicable;
 - (iii) prepare and file with the SEC such pre- and post-effective amendments to such Registration Statement, supplements or amendments to the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus as may be (x) reasonably requested by a Participating Investor or (y) necessary to keep such Registration effective for the period of time required by this Agreement, and comply with provisions of the applicable securities laws with respect to the sale or other disposition of all securities covered by such Registration Statement during such period in accordance with the intended method or methods of disposition by the sellers thereof set forth in such Registration Statement;
 - (iv) notify the Participating Investors and the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, and (if requested) confirm such advice in writing and provide copies of the relevant documents, as soon as reasonably practicable after notice thereof is received by the Issuer (a) when the applicable Registration Statement or any amendment thereto has been filed or becomes effective, and when the applicable Prospectus, any amendment or supplement to such Prospectus (except for any amendment as a result of the filing of a periodic report, current report or any other document required to be filed by the Issuer under the Exchange Act and which is incorporated by reference into such Registration Statement), any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or any amendment or

supplement to such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus has been filed, (b) of any written comments by the SEC or any request by the SEC or any other federal or state governmental authority for amendments or supplements to such Registration Statement, such Prospectus, such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or for additional information, (c) of the issuance by the SEC of any stop order suspending the effectiveness of such Registration Statement or any order by the SEC or any other regulatory authority preventing or suspending the use of any preliminary or final Prospectus or the initiation or threatening of any proceedings for such purposes, (d) if, at any time, the representations and warranties of the Issuer in any applicable underwriting agreement cease to be true and correct in all material respects, and (e) of the receipt by the Issuer of any notification with respect to the suspension of the qualification of the Registrable Securities for offering or sale in any jurisdiction or the initiation or threatening of any proceeding for such purpose;

- (v) promptly notify the Participating Investors and the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, when the Issuer becomes aware of the happening of any event as a result of which the applicable Registration Statement, Prospectus (as then in effect) or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus contains any untrue statement of a material fact or omits to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of such Prospectus, any preliminary Prospectus or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading, when any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus includes information that may conflict with the information contained in the Registration Statement or, if for any other reason it shall be necessary during such time period to amend or supplement such Registration Statement, Prospectus or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus in order to comply with the Securities Act and, in either case as promptly as reasonably practicable thereafter, prepare and file with the SEC, and furnish without charge to the Participating Investors and the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, an amendment or supplement to such Registration Statement, Prospectus or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus which shall correct such misstatement or omission or effect such compliance;
- (vi) use its reasonable best efforts to prevent, or obtain the withdrawal of, any stop order or other order or notice preventing or suspending the use of any preliminary or final Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus;
- (vii) promptly incorporate in a Prospectus supplement, Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or post-effective amendment such information as the managing underwriter or underwriters and the Investors agree should be included therein relating to the plan of distribution with respect to such Registrable Securities; and make all required filings of such Prospectus supplement, Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or post-effective amendment as soon as reasonably practicable after being notified of the matters to be incorporated in such Prospectus supplement, Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or post-effective amendment;

- (viii) furnish to each Participating Investor and each underwriter, if any, without charge, as many conformed copies as such Investor or underwriter may reasonably request of the applicable Registration Statement and any amendment or post-effective amendment thereto, including financial statements and schedules, all documents incorporated therein by reference and all exhibits (including those incorporated by reference), except that the Issuer shall not be required to provide documents that are available through the SEC's Electronic Data Gathering Analysis and Retrieval System;
- (ix) deliver to each Participating Investor and each underwriter, if any, without charge, as many copies of the applicable Prospectus (including each preliminary Prospectus) and any amendment or supplement thereto, each Issuer Free Writing Prospectus and such other documents as such Investor or underwriter may reasonably request in order to facilitate the disposition of the Registrable Securities by such Investor or underwriter, it being understood that the Issuer consents, subject to the other provisions of this Agreement, to the use of such Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto by such Investor and the underwriters, if any, in connection with the offering and sale of the Registrable Securities covered by such Prospectus or any amendment or supplement thereto or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus;
- (x) on or prior to the date on which the applicable Registration Statement becomes effective, use its reasonable best efforts to Register or qualify, and cooperate with the Participating Investors, the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, and their respective counsel, in connection with the Registration or qualification of such Registrable Securities for offer and sale under the securities or "Blue Sky" laws of each state and other jurisdiction of the United States as any Participating Investor or managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, or their respective counsel reasonably request in writing and do any and all other acts or things reasonably necessary or advisable to keep such Registration or qualification in effect for such period as required by Section 2.01(d) or Section 2.02(b), whichever is applicable; provided, that the Issuer shall not be required to qualify generally to do business in any jurisdiction where it is not then so qualified or to take any action which would subject it to taxation or general service of process in any such jurisdiction where it is not then so subject;
- (xi) cooperate with the Participating Investors and the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, to facilitate the timely preparation and delivery of certificates representing Registrable Securities to be sold and not bearing any restrictive legends, and enable such Registrable Securities to be in such denominations and registered in such names as the managing underwriters may request at least two (2) Business Days prior to any sale of Registrable Securities to the underwriters; <u>provided</u>, that the Issuer may satisfy its obligations hereunder without issuing physical stock certificates through the use of The Depository Trust Company's Direct Registration System;
- (xii) use its reasonable best efforts to cause the Registrable Securities covered by the applicable Registration Statement to be registered with or approved by such other governmental agencies or authorities as may be necessary to enable the seller or sellers thereof or the underwriter or underwriters, if any, to consummate the disposition of such Registrable Securities;

- (xiii) make such representations and warranties to the underwriters or agents, if any, in form, substance and scope as are customarily made by issuers in secondary underwritten public offerings;
- (xiv) enter into such customary agreements (including underwriting and indemnification agreements) and take all such other actions as the Investors or the managing underwriter or underwriters, if any, reasonably request in order to expedite or facilitate the Registration and disposition of such Registrable Securities;
- (xv) in the case of an Underwritten Offering, obtain for delivery to the underwriter or underwriters, with copies to the Participating Investors, an opinion or opinions from counsel for the Issuer dated the effective date of the Registration Statement or, in the event of an Underwritten Offering, the date of the closing under the underwriting agreement, in customary form, scope and substance, which opinions shall be reasonably satisfactory to such underwriters, as the case may be, and their respective counsel;
- (xvi) in the case of an Underwritten Offering, obtain for delivery to the underwriter or underwriters, with copies to the Participating Investors, a comfort letter from the Issuer's independent certified public accountants in customary form and covering such matters of the type customarily covered by comfort letters as the managing underwriter or underwriters reasonably request, dated the date of execution of the underwriting agreement and the date of closing under the underwriting agreement;
- (xvii) cooperate with each Participating Investor and each underwriter, if any, participating in the disposition of such Registrable Securities and their respective counsel in connection with any filings required to be made with FINRA;
- (xviii) make available to its security holders, as soon as reasonably practicable, an earnings statement satisfying the provisions of Section 11(a) of the Securities Act and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder (including, at the option of the Issuer, Rule 158);
- (xix) provide and cause to be maintained a transfer agent and registrar for all Registrable Securities covered by the applicable Registration Statement from and after a date not later than the effective date of such Registration Statement;
- (xx) cause all Registrable Securities covered by the applicable Registration Statement to be listed on the national securities exchange on which the relevant class or classes of Registrable Securities are then listed (if any);
- (xxi) make available upon reasonable notice at reasonable times and for reasonable periods for inspection by the Participating Investors, by any underwriter participating in any disposition to be effected pursuant to such Registration Statement and by any attorney, accountant or other agent retained by the Investors or any such underwriter, all pertinent financial and other records, pertinent corporate documents and properties of the Issuer, and cause all of its officers, directors and employees and the

independent public accountants who have certified its financial statements to make themselves available to discuss the business of the Issuer and to supply all information reasonably requested by any such Person in connection with such Registration Statement as shall be necessary to enable them to exercise their due diligence responsibility; provided, that any such Person gaining access to information regarding the Issuer pursuant to this Section 2.06(a)(xxi) shall agree to hold in strict confidence and shall not make any disclosure or use any information regarding the Issuer that it determines in good faith to be confidential, and of which determination such Person is notified, unless (w) the release of such information is requested or required by deposition, interrogatory, requests for information or documents by a governmental entity, subpoena or similar process, (x) such information is or becomes publicly known other than through a breach of this or any other agreement of which such Person has knowledge, (y) such information is or becomes available to such Person on a non-confidential basis from a source other than the Issuer or (z) such information is independently developed by such Person; and

(xxii) in the case of an Underwritten Offering, cause the senior executive officers of the Issuer to participate in the customary "road show" presentations that may be reasonably requested by the managing underwriter or underwriters in any such Underwritten Offering and otherwise to facilitate, cooperate with, and participate in each proposed offering contemplated herein and customary selling efforts related thereto; <u>provided</u>, that the Issuer shall not be obligated to cause its senior executive officers to participate in more than two (2) "road shows" (other than "net road shows") in any twelve (12) month period or if such participation is reasonably expected to interfere with the business operations of the Issuer;

(xxiii) take no direct or indirect action prohibited by Regulation M under the Exchange Act;

(xxiv) take all reasonable action to ensure that any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus utilized in connection with any Registration covered by Section 2.01, Section 2.02 or Section 2.04 complies in all material respects with the Securities Act, is filed in accordance with the Securities Act to the extent required thereby, is retained in accordance with the Securities Act to the extent required thereby and, when taken together with the related Prospectus, will not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the statements therein, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, not misleading; and

(xxv) take all such other commercially reasonable actions as are necessary or advisable in order to expedite or facilitate the disposition of such Registrable Securities.

(b) If the Issuer files any Shelf Registration Statement, the Issuer agrees that it shall include in such Shelf Registration Statement such disclosures as may be required by Rule 430B under the Securities Act (referring to the unnamed selling security holders in a generic manner by identifying the initial offering of the securities to the Investors) in order to ensure that the Investors may be added to such Shelf Registration Statement at a later time through the filing of a prospectus supplement rather than a post-effective amendment; provided, however, that this Section 2.06(b) shall apply only to the extent that the Issuer is eligible to rely on Rule 430B under the Securities Act with respect to selling security holder disclosures.

- (c) The Issuer may require each Participating Investor to furnish to the Issuer such information regarding the distribution of such securities and such other information relating to such Investor and its ownership of Registrable Securities as the Issuer may from time to time reasonably request in writing and the Issuer may exclude from such Registration the Registrable Securities of any Participating Investor who fails to furnish such information within five (5) Business Days after receiving such request. For the avoidance of doubt, it shall, in all cases, be reasonable for the Issuer to request from each Participating Investor such information as the Issuer may reasonably determine is required to be disclosed in any Registration Statement or, in the case of an Underwritten Offering, as any underwriter may require to satisfy any know-your-customer, anti-money-laundering or similar policies, procedures or regulations. Each Participating Investor agrees to furnish such information to the Issuer and to cooperate with the Issuer as reasonably necessary to enable the Issuer to comply with the provisions of this Agreement.
- (d) Each Participating Investor agrees that, upon receipt of any notice from the Issuer of the happening of any event of the kind described in Section 2.06(a)(v), such Investor will forthwith discontinue disposition of Registrable Securities pursuant to such Registration Statement until such Investor's receipt of the copies of the supplemented or amended Prospectus or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, as the case may be, contemplated by Section 2.06(a)(v), or until such Investor is advised in writing by the Issuer that the use of the Prospectus or Issuer Free Writing Prospectus, as the case may be, may be resumed, and has received copies of any additional or supplemental filings that are incorporated by reference in the Prospectus or such Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or any amendments or supplements thereto and if so directed by the Issuer, such Investor shall deliver to the Issuer (at the Issuer's expense) all copies, other than permanent file copies then in such Investor's possession, of the Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus covering such Registrable Securities current at the time of receipt of such notice. In the event the Issuer shall give any such notice, the period during which the applicable Registration Statement is required to be maintained effective shall be extended by the number of days during the period from and including the date of the giving of such notice to and including the date when each seller of Registrable Securities covered by such Registration Statement either receives the copies of the supplemented or amended Prospectus or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus contemplated by Section 2.06(a) (v) or is advised in writing by the Issuer that the use of the Prospectus may be resumed.
- (e) If any Registration Statement or comparable statement under the "Blue Sky" laws refers to any Investor by name or otherwise as the Investor of any securities of the Issuer, then such Investor shall have the right to require (i) the insertion therein of language, in form and substance satisfactory to such Investor and the Issuer, to the effect that the holding by such Investor of such securities is not to be construed as a recommendation by such Investor of the investment quality of the Issuer's securities covered thereby and that such holding does not imply that such Investor will assist in meeting any future financial requirements of the Issuer, or (ii) in the event that such reference to such Investor by name or otherwise is not in the judgment of the Issuer, as advised by counsel, required by the Securities Act or any similar federal statute or any "Blue Sky" or securities law then in force, the deletion of the reference to such Investor.

SECTION 2.07. Underwritten Offerings.

- (a) <u>Demand and Shelf Registrations</u>. If requested by the underwriters for any Underwritten Offering requested by the Investors pursuant to a Registration under <u>Section 2.01</u> or <u>Section 2.02</u>, the Issuer shall enter into an underwriting agreement with such underwriters for such offering, such agreement to be reasonably satisfactory in substance and form to the Issuer, the Participating Investors and the underwriters, and to contain such representations and warranties by the Issuer and such other terms as are generally prevailing in agreements of that type, including indemnities no less favorable to the recipient thereof than those provided in <u>Section 2.10</u>. The Participating Investors shall cooperate with the Issuer in the negotiation of such underwriting agreement and shall give consideration to the reasonable suggestions of the Issuer regarding the form thereof. Such Investors shall not be required to make any representations or warranties to or agreements with the Issuer or the underwriters other than representations, warranties or agreements regarding such Investors, such Investor's title to, and power and authority to transfer, the Registrable Securities, such Investor's intended method of distribution, such matters pertaining to such Investor's compliance with securities laws as reasonably may be requested and any other representations required to be made by such Investor under applicable law, and the aggregate amount of the liability of such Investor shall not exceed such Investor's net proceeds from such Underwritten Offering.
- (b) <u>Piggyback Registrations</u>. If the Issuer proposes to Register any of its securities under the Securities Act as contemplated by <u>Section 2.04</u> and such securities are to be distributed in an Underwritten Offering through one or more underwriters, the Issuer shall, if requested by any Piggyback Eligible Investor pursuant to <u>Section 2.04</u> and subject to the provisions of <u>Section 2.04(c)</u>, use its reasonable best efforts to arrange for such underwriters to include on the same terms and conditions that apply to the other sellers in such Registration all the Registrable Securities to be offered and sold by such Piggyback Eligible Investor among the securities of the Issuer to be distributed by such underwriters in such Registration. Any such Piggyback Eligible Investor shall not be required to make any representations or warranties to, or agreements with the Issuer or the underwriters other than representations, warranties or agreements regarding such Piggyback Eligible Investor, such Piggyback Eligible Investor's title to, and power and authority to transfer, the Registrable Securities, such Piggyback Eligible Investor's intended method of distribution, such matters pertaining to such Piggyback Eligible Investor's compliance with securities laws as reasonably may be requested and any other representations required to be made by such Piggyback Eligible Investor under applicable law, and the aggregate amount of the liability of such Piggyback Eligible Investor shall not exceed such Piggyback Eligible Investor's net proceeds from such Underwritten Offering.
- (c) <u>Participation in Underwritten Registrations</u>. Subject to provisions of <u>Section 2.07(a)</u> and <u>Section 2.07(b)</u> above, no Person may participate in any Underwritten Offering hereunder unless such Person (i) agrees to sell such Person's securities on the basis provided in any underwriting arrangements approved by the Persons entitled to approve such arrangements and (ii) completes and executes all questionnaires, powers of attorney, indemnities, underwriting agreements and other documents required under the terms of such underwriting arrangements.

(d) <u>Price and Underwriting Discounts</u>. In the case of an Underwritten Offering under <u>Section 2.01</u> or <u>Section 2.02</u>, the price, underwriting discount and other financial terms for the Registrable Securities shall be determined by the Majority Participating Investors. In addition, in the case of any Underwritten Offering under <u>Section 2.01</u>, <u>Section 2.02</u> or Section 2.04, each of the Investors may, subject to any limitations on withdrawal contained in Section 2.01, Section 2.02 or Section 2.04, withdraw all or part of their request to participate in such Registration after being advised of such price, discount and other terms and shall not be required to enter into any agreements or documentation that would require otherwise.

SECTION 2.08. No Inconsistent Agreements; Additional Rights. The Issuer shall not hereafter enter into, and is not currently a party to, any agreement with respect to its securities that is inconsistent with the rights granted to the Investors under this Agreement. Without the prior written consent of the Investors Beneficially Owning a majority of the voting power of the outstanding Registrable Securities, none of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries shall enter into any agreement granting registration or similar rights to any Person that more favorable than the rights granted to the Investors hereunder.

SECTION 2.09. Registration Expenses.

- (a) Except as expressly provided herein, all of the Issuer's expenses incident to the Issuer's performance of or compliance with this Agreement shall be paid by the Issuer, including (i) all registration and filing fees, and any other fees and expenses associated with filings required to be made with the SEC or FINRA, (ii) all fees and expenses in connection with compliance with any securities or "Blue Sky" laws, (iii) all printing, duplicating, word processing, messenger, telephone, facsimile and delivery expenses (including expenses of printing certificates for the Registrable Securities, if any, in a form eligible for deposit with The Depository Trust Company and of printing prospectuses and Issuer Free Writing Prospectuses), (iv) all fees and disbursements of counsel for the Issuer and of all independent certified public accountants of the Issuer, (v) all fees and expenses incurred in connection with the listing of the Registrable Securities on any securities exchange or quotation of the Registrable Securities on any interdealer quotation system, (vi) any reasonable fees and disbursements of underwriters customarily paid by issuers of securities, (vii) all fees and expenses of any special experts or other Persons retained by the Issuer in connection with any Registration, (viii) all of the Issuer's internal expenses (including all salaries and expenses of its officers and employees performing legal or accounting duties), (ix) all reasonable and documented fees and disbursements of one legal counsel selected by the Demanding Investor, in the case of a Demand Registration or an Underwritten Offering related thereto, provided that such fees and disbursements shall not exceed two hundred thousand U.S. dollars (\$200,000), and (x) all expenses of the Issuer related to the "road-show" for any Underwritten Offering, including all travel, meals and lodging. All such expenses are referred to herein as "Registration Expenses."
- (b) Except as explicitly set forth in Section 2.09(a), the Investors shall bear their own expenses incurred with respect to any transaction pursuant to this Agreement. For the avoidance of doubt, the Issuer shall not be required to pay underwriting discounts and commissions and transfer taxes, if any, attributable to the sale of Registrable Securities.

SECTION 2.10. Indemnification.

(a) Indemnification by the Issuer. The Issuer agrees to indemnify and hold harmless, to the full extent permitted by law, each Investor, each member, limited or general partner thereof, each member, limited or general partner of each such member, limited or general partner, each of their respective Affiliates, officers, directors, shareholders, employees, advisors, and agents and each Person who controls (within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act) such Persons and each of their respective Representatives from and against any and all losses, penalties, judgments, suits, costs, claims, damages, liabilities and expenses joint or several (including reasonable costs of investigation and legal expenses) (each, a "Loss" and collectively "Losses") insofar as such Losses arise out of or based upon (i) any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement under which such Registrable Securities were Registered under the Securities Act (including any final, preliminary or summary Prospectus contained therein or any amendment thereof or supplement thereto or any documents incorporated by reference therein) or any other disclosure document produced by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries including reports and other documents filed under the Exchange Act or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or amendment thereof or supplement thereto, (ii) any omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of a Prospectus, preliminary Prospectus, or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading or (iii) any violation by the Issuer of any rule or regulation promulgated under the Securities Act or any state securities laws applicable to the Issuer and relating to action or inaction required of the Issuer in connection with any Registration pursuant to this Agreement; provided, that the Issuer shall not be liable to any particular indemnified party (A) to the extent that any such Loss arises out of or is based upon a material misstatement or omission or an alleged material misstatement or omission made in any such Registration Statement or other document in reliance upon and in conformity with written information furnished to the Issuer by such indemnified party expressly for use in the preparation thereof or (B) to the extent that any such Loss arises out of or is based upon a material misstatement or omission or an alleged material misstatement or omission in a preliminary Prospectus relating to Registrable Securities, if a Prospectus (as then amended or supplemented) that would have cured the defect was furnished to the indemnified party from whom the Person asserting the claim giving rise to such Loss purchased Registrable Securities prior to the written confirmation of the sale of the Registrable Securities to such Person and a copy of such Prospectus (as amended and supplemented) was not sent or given by or on behalf of such indemnified party to such Person at or prior to the written confirmation of the sale of the Registrable Securities to such Person. Such indemnity shall remain in full force and effect regardless of any investigation made by or on behalf of such Investor or any indemnified party and shall survive the transfer of such securities by such Investor. The Issuer shall also indemnify underwriters, selling brokers, dealer managers and similar securities industry professionals participating in the distribution, their officers and directors and each Person who controls such Persons (within the meaning of the Securities Act and the Exchange Act) to the same extent as provided above with respect to the indemnification of the indemnified parties.

(b) Indemnification by the Participating Investors. Each Participating Investor agrees (severally and not jointly) to indemnify and hold harmless, to the fullest extent permitted by law, the Issuer, its directors and officers, employees, agents and each Person who controls the Issuer (within the meaning of the Securities Act or the Exchange Act) from and against any Losses insofar as such Losses arise out of or based upon (i) any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact contained in any Registration Statement under which such Registrable Securities were Registered under the Securities Act (including any final, preliminary or summary Prospectus contained therein or any amendment thereof or supplement thereto or any documents incorporated by reference therein or any other disclosure document produced by or on behalf of the Issuer or any of its subsidiaries including reports and other documents filed under the Exchange Act or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus or amendment thereof or supplement thereto), or (ii) any omission or alleged omission to state therein a material fact required to be stated therein or necessary to make the statements therein (in the case of a Prospectus, preliminary Prospectus, or any Issuer Free Writing Prospectus in light of the circumstances under which they were made) not misleading, in each case, to the extent, but only to the extent, that such untrue statement or omission is contained in any information furnished in writing by such Investor to the Issuer specifically for inclusion in such Registration Statement and has not been corrected in a subsequent writing prior to or concurrently with the confirmation of the sale of the Registrable Securities to the Person asserting the claim. In no event shall the liability of such Investor hereunder be greater in amount than the dollar amount of the net proceeds received by such Investor under the sale of Registrable Securities giving rise to such indemnification obligation less any amounts paid by such Investor pursuant to Section 2.10(d). The Issuer shall be entitled to receive indemnities from underwriters, selling brokers, dealer managers and similar securities industry professionals participating in the distribution, to the same extent as provided above (with appropriate modification).

(c) Conduct of Indemnification Proceedings. Any Person entitled to indemnification hereunder shall (i) give prompt written notice to the indemnifying party of any claim with respect to which it seeks indemnification; provided, that any delay or failure to so notify the indemnifying party shall relieve the indemnifying party of its obligations hereunder only to the extent, if at all, that it is actually and materially prejudiced by reason of such delay or failure and (ii) the indemnifying party shall be entitled to participate therein and, to the extent that it shall wish, assume the defense thereof, with counsel reasonably satisfactory to the indemnified party (who shall not, except with the consent of the indemnified party, be counsel to the indemnifying party). After notice from the indemnifying party to the indemnified party of its election so to assume the defense thereof, the indemnifying party shall not be liable to the indemnified party under Section 2.09(a) and Section 2.09(b), as applicable, for any legal expenses of other counsel or any other expenses, in each case subsequently incurred by the indemnified party, in connection with the defense thereof other than reasonable costs of investigation. It is understood that the indemnifying party shall not, in connection with any one action or proceeding or separate but substantially similar actions or proceedings arising out of the same general allegations, be liable for the fees and expenses of more than one separate firm of attorneys at any time for all indemnified parties except to the extent that local counsel or counsel with specialized expertise (in addition to any regular counsel) is required to effectively defend against any such action or proceeding. No indemnifying party shall, without the written consent of the indemnified party (such consent not to be unreasonably withheld, conditioned or delayed), effect the settlement or compromise of, or consent to the entry of any judgment with respect to, any pending or threatened action or claim in respect of which indemnification or contribution may be sought hereunder (whether or not the indemnified party is an actual or potential party to such action or claim) unless such settlement, compromise or judgment (i) includes an unconditional release of the indemnified party from all liability arising out of such action or claim and (ii) does not include a statement as to or an admission of fault, culpability or a failure to act, by or on behalf of any indemnified party.

(d) Contribution. If for any reason the indemnification provided for in Section 2.09(a) and Section 2.09(b) is unavailable to an indemnified party (other than as a result of exceptions contained in Section 2.09(a) and Section 2.09(b)) or insufficient in respect of any Losses referred to therein, then the indemnifying party shall contribute to the amount paid or payable by the indemnified party as a result of such Loss (i) in such proportion as is appropriate to reflect the relative fault of the indemnifying party on the one hand and the indemnified party or parties on the other hand in connection with the acts, statements or omissions that resulted in such losses, as well as any other relevant equitable considerations. In connection with any Registration Statement filed with the SEC by the Issuer, the relative fault of the indemnifying party on the one hand and the indemnified party on the other hand shall be determined by reference to, among other things, whether any untrue or alleged untrue statement of a material fact or the omission or alleged omission to state a material fact relates to information supplied by the indemnifying party or by the indemnified party and the parties' relative intent, knowledge, access to information and opportunity to correct or prevent such statement or omission. The parties hereto agree that it would not be just or equitable if contribution pursuant to this Section 2.10(d) were determined by pro rata allocation or by any other method of allocation that does not take account of the equitable considerations referred to in this Section 2.10(d). No Person guilty of fraudulent misrepresentation (within the meaning of Section 11(f) of the Securities Act) shall be entitled to contribution from any Person who was not guilty of such fraudulent misrepresentation. The amount paid or payable by an indemnified party as a result of the Losses referred to in Section 2.10(a) and Section 2.10(b) shall be deemed to include, subject to the limitations set forth above, any legal or other expenses reasonably incurred by such indemnified party in connection with investigating or defending any such action or claim. Notwithstanding the provisions of this Section 2.10(d), in connection with any Registration Statement filed by the Issuer, a Participating Investor shall not be required to contribute any amount in excess of the dollar amount of the net proceeds received by such Investor under the sale of Registrable Securities giving rise to such contribution obligation less any amounts paid by such Investor pursuant to Section 2.10(b). The remedies provided for in this Section 2.10 are not exclusive and shall not limit any rights or remedies which may otherwise be available to any indemnified party at law or in equity.

SECTION 2.11. Rules 144 and 144A and Regulation S. The Issuer shall use its reasonable best efforts to file in a timely fashion the reports required to be filed by it under the Securities Act and the Exchange Act and the rules and regulations adopted by the SEC thereunder, or, if the Issuer is not required to file such reports, the Issuer shall make publicly available such necessary information for so long as necessary to permit sales pursuant to Rules 144, 144A or Regulation S under the Securities Act, and it will take such further action as the Investors may reasonably request, all to the extent required from time to time to enable the Investors, following the Plan Effective Date, to sell Registrable Securities without Registration under the Securities Act within the limitation of the exemptions provided by (i) Rules 144, 144A or Regulation S under the Securities Act, as such Rules may be amended from time to time, or (ii) any similar rule or regulation hereafter adopted by the SEC. Upon reasonable request of an Investor, the Issuer will deliver to such Investor a written statement as to whether it has complied with such requirements and, if not, the specifics thereof in reasonable detail.

SECTION 2.12. Opt-Out.

- (a) Each Investor hereby (i) acknowledges that it is aware that the U.S. securities laws prohibit any Person who has MNPI about a company from purchasing or selling, directly or indirectly, securities of such company (including entering into hedge transactions involving such securities), or from communicating such information to any other Person under circumstances in which it is reasonably foreseeable that such Person is likely to purchase or sell such securities, and (ii) agrees that it will not use or permit any third party to use, and that it will use its reasonable best efforts to assure that none of its Representatives will use or permit any third party to use, any MNPI the Issuer provides in contravention of the U.S. securities laws.
- (b) Each Investor shall have the right, at any time and from time to time (including after receiving information regarding any potential Registration or offering of Registrable Securities), to elect not to receive any notice that the Issuer or any other Investors otherwise are required to deliver pursuant to this Agreement by delivering to the Issuer a written statement signed by such Investor that it does not want to receive any notices hereunder (an "Opt-Out Request"); in which case and notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Agreement the Issuer and other Investors shall not be required to, and shall not, deliver any notice or other information required to be provided to Investors hereunder. An Opt-Out Request may state a date on which it expires or, if no such date is specified, shall remain in effect indefinitely. An Investor who previously has given the Issuer an Opt-Out Request may revoke such request at any time, and there shall be no limit on the ability of an Investor to issue and revoke subsequent Opt-Out Requests; provided that each Investor shall use its reasonable best efforts to minimize the administrative burden on the Issuer arising in connection with any such Opt-Out Requests.

ARTICLE III

TRANSFER

SECTION 3.01. <u>Transfer of Registration Rights</u>. The Centerbridge Investors, the Oaktree Investors and the Additional Investors may assign all or a portion of their rights hereunder to (a) a Permitted Transferee or (b) any transferee of Registrable Securities constituting not less than [10] one and one half percent (1.5%) of, at the relevant time, the issued and outstanding Common Shares, <u>after</u> giving effect to the conversion of the Series A Preferred Stock, effective upon the receipt by the Issuer of (x) written notice from the transferring Investor stating the name and address of the transferee and identifying the amount of Registrable Securities with respect to which rights under this Agreement are being transferred and (y) agreement by such transferee to be bound by the terms of this Agreement.

ARTICLE IV

MISCELLANEOUS

SECTION 4.01. Effectiveness. This Agreement shall become effective and binding upon the Issuer, the Centerbridge Investors, the Oaktree Investors and the Additional Investors immediately following the Plan Effective Date by operation of the Plan. Notwithstanding the occurrence of the Plan Effective Date, this Agreement contemplates that any Eligible Accredited Investor may become a party to this Agreement upon execution and delivery to the Issuer of a counterpart signature to this Agreement (including completed notice information for such Eligible Accredited Investor, which must include an email address to be valid).

SECTION 4.02. <u>Registrable Securities</u>. In order to enable the Issuer to determine the number of Registrable Securities issued and outstanding or Beneficially Owned by any Investor or Investors at any given time, (i) each Investor shall provide the Issuer with information as to the number of Registrable Securities Beneficially Owned by such Investor promptly upon reasonable written request by the Issuer and (ii) as a condition to an Investor exercising rights hereunder, such Investor shall certify to the Issuer the number of Registrable Securities Beneficially Owned by such Investor when delivering any notice, request or other action by the Required Investors, Majority Participating Investors, Required Additional Investors or any other group of Investors meeting a Beneficial Ownership threshold under this Agreement.

SECTION 4.03. Existing Registration Statements. Notwithstanding anything herein to the contrary and subject to applicable law and regulation, the Issuer may satisfy any obligation hereunder to file a Registration Statement or to have a Registration Statement become effective by a specified date by designating, by notice to the Investors, a Registration Statement that previously has been filed with the SEC or become effective, as the case may be, as the relevant Registration Statement for purposes of satisfying such obligation, and all references to any such obligation shall be construed accordingly; provided, that such previously filed Registration Statement may be amended or supplemented, as appropriate, to add the number of Registrable Securities, and, to the extent necessary, to identify as selling stockholders those Investors demanding the filing of a Registration Statement pursuant to the terms of this Agreement. To the extent this Agreement refers to the filing or effectiveness of other Registration Statements by or at a specified time and the Issuer has, in lieu of then filing such Registration Statements or having such Registration Statements become effective, designated a previously filed or effective Registration Statement as the relevant Registration Statement for such purposes in accordance with the preceding sentence, such references shall be construed to refer to such designated Registration Statement.

SECTION 4.04. Other Activities. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, none of the provisions of this Agreement shall in any way limit an Investor or any of its Affiliates from engaging in any brokerage, investment advisory, financial advisory, anti-raid advisory, principaling, merger advisory, financing, asset management, trading, market making, arbitrage, investment activity and other similar activities conducted in the ordinary course of their business.

SECTION 4.05. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Series A Investor Rights Agreement and all of the Annexes and Schedules hereto and thereto, constitute the entire understanding and agreement between the parties as to the matters covered herein and therein and supersede and replace any prior understanding, agreement (including the Second Amended and Restated Plan Support Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2021 and the Replacement Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2021) or statement of intent, in each case, written or oral, of any and every nature with respect thereto between the parties as to the matters covered herein and therein. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any document executed or delivered to effect the purposes of this Agreement, this Agreement shall govern as among the parties hereto.

SECTION 4.06. Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.

- (a) This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights and duties of the parties shall be governed by, the law of the State of New York, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws.
- (b) Each party agrees that it will bring any action or proceeding in respect of any claim arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby exclusively in the United States District Court located in the Borough of Manhattan in the City of New York or, if such court does not accept jurisdiction over the applicable action or proceeding, the state courts of the State of New York located in the Borough of Manhattan in the City of New York (the "Chosen Courts"), and, solely in connection with claims arising under this Agreement or the transactions that are the subject of this Agreement, (i) irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Chosen Courts, (ii) waives any objection to laying venue in any such action or proceeding in the Chosen Courts, (iii) waives any objection that the Chosen Courts are an inconvenient forum or do not have jurisdiction over any party and (iv) agrees that service of process upon such party in any such action or proceeding will be effective if notice is given in accordance with Section 4.11.
- (c) EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR OTHER PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT: (I) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF ANY ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, (II) EACH PARTY UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (III) EACH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (IV) EACH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS SECTION 4.06(c).

SECTION 4.07. Obligations; Remedies. The Issuer and the Investors shall be entitled to enforce their rights under this Agreement specifically, to recover damages by reason of any breach of any provision of this Agreement (including, without limitation, costs of enforcement) and to exercise all other rights existing in their favor. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur if any provision of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with its specific terms or were otherwise breached. Accordingly, the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms of this Agreement without the necessity of proving the inadequacy of monetary damages as a remedy, including an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement or to enforce specifically the performance of the terms and provisions hereof, in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. Each of the parties hereby further waives (a) any defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate and (b) any requirement under any Law to post security or a bond as a prerequisite to obtaining equitable relief. All remedies, either under this Agreement or by Law or otherwise afforded to any party, shall be cumulative and not alternative.

SECTION 4.08. Amendment and Waiver.

- (a) The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be modified or amended at any time and from time to time only by the written consent of (i) the Issuer, (ii) the Centerbridge Investors, (iii) the Oaktree Investors and (iv) the Required Additional Investors; provided, that (a) any amendment that would have a disproportionate material adverse effect on an Investor relative to any other Investors shall require the written consent of that Investor and (b) this Section 4.08 may not be amended without the prior written consent of the Issuer and all of the Investors. If reasonably requested by the Investors, the Issuer agrees to execute and deliver any amendments to this Agreement which the Issuer in its reasonable discretion concludes are not adverse to Issuer or its public stockholders to the extent so requested by the Investors in connection with the addition of a Permitted Transferee or other transferee in accordance with Section 3.01 or a recipient of any newly-issued Shares as a party hereto; provided that such amendments are in compliance with the immediately preceding sentence. Any amendment, modification or waiver effected in accordance with the foregoing shall be effective and binding on the Issuer and all Investors.
- (b) Any failure by any party at any time to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed a waiver of such provision or any other provisions hereof.

SECTION 4.09. <u>Binding Effect</u>. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the provisions hereof shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the parties' successors and permitted assigns.

SECTION 4.10. <u>Termination</u>. This Agreement shall automatically terminate upon the later of (i) the expiration of the Shelf Period and (ii) such time as there are no Registrable Securities, except for the provisions of <u>Section 2.10</u> and all of this <u>Article IV</u>, which shall survive any such termination. In the event of any termination of this Agreement as provided in this <u>Section 4.10</u>, this Agreement shall forthwith become wholly void and of no further force or effect (except for the provisions of <u>Section 2.10</u> and this <u>Article IV</u>, which shall survive) and there shall be no liability on the part of any parties hereto or their respective Affiliates, except as provided in this <u>Article IV</u>. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no party hereto shall be relieved from liability for any willful breach of this Agreement.

SECTION 4.11. <u>Notices</u>. Any and all notices, designations, offers, acceptances or other communications provided for herein shall be deemed duly given (a) when delivered personally by hand, (b) when sent by facsimile or email or (c) one Business Day following the day sent by overnight courier:

```
if to the Issuer, to:
```

Garrett Motion Inc. La Pièce 16 1180 Rolle, Switzerland Attention: Jerome P. Maironi

Email: jerome.maironi@garrettmotion.com

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Sullivan & Cromwell LLP 1 New Fetter Lane London EC4A 1AN United Kingdom

Attention: Evan S. Simpson Email: simpsone@sullcrom.com

if to the Centerbridge Investors, to: [•]

[•]

Attention: [•]
Email: [•]

with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: Milbank LLP

55 Hudson Yards New York, NY 10003

Attention: Dennis F. Dunne, Matthew Brod, and Andrew C. Harmeyer

Email: ddunne@milbank.com, MBrod@milbank.com,

aharmeyer@milbank.com

if to the Oaktree Investors, to:

[•]

[•]

Attention: [•]

Email: [•] with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Milbank LLP 55 Hudson Yards New York, NY 10003

Attention: Dennis F. Dunne, Matthew Brod, and Andrew C. Harmeyer

Email: ddunne@milbank.com, MBrod@milbank.com,

aharmeyer@milbank.com

If to any Additional Investor, to the relevant address on the Additional Investor Notice Schedule, with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Jones Day 250 Vesey Street New York, NY 10281 Attention: Anna Kordas Email: akordas@jonesday.com

Jones Day

555 S. Flower Street

50th Floor

Los Angeles, CA 90071

Attention: Bruce Bennett, Joshua M. Mester, and James O. Johnston

Email: bbennett@jonesday.com, jmester@jonesday.com,

jjohnston@jonesday.com

If to any Accredited Investor Party or to any other Investor who becomes party to this Agreement after the date hereof, to the address on the counterpart signature page to this Agreement executed by such Investor (which must include an email address).

SECTION 4.12. <u>Severability</u>. Whenever possible, each provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable Law, but if any provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable Law in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or portion of any provision in such jurisdiction, and this Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction such that the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or portion thereof shall be interpreted to be only so broad as is enforceable.

SECTION 4.13. <u>Third-Party Beneficiaries</u>. Except with respect to each Person entitled to indemnity or contribution under <u>Section 2.10</u>, this Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of the parties hereto and their permitted assigns and successors, and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person or entity, any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.

SECTION 4.14. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute a single instrument. Copies of executed counterparts transmitted by telecopy or other electronic transmission service shall be considered original executed counterparts for purposes of this <u>Section 4.14</u>.

SECTION 4.15. <u>Headings</u>. The heading references herein and in the table of contents hereto are for convenience purposes only, do not constitute a part of this Agreement and shall not be deemed to limit or affect any of the provisions hereof.

[REMAINDER INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK]

	IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this Agreement or caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf as
of the date firs	st written above.

GARRETT MOTION INC.	
---------------------	--

By:	
	Name:
	Title:

[Signature Page to Registration Rights Agreement]

	Name: Title:
Notice Address:	
Name:	-
Address:	<u>-</u> -
	- -
Email: Facsimile:	-
with a copy to:	-
	- -
	- -
	- -
	-

[ELIGIBLE ACCREDITED INVESTOR]

[Signature Page to Registration Rights Agreement]

SCHEDULE A

Additional Investor Notice Schedule

[•]

Exhibit 4

Revised Draft of Garret Motion Inc. Series A Investor Rights Agreement

GARRETT MOTION INC.

SERIES A INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT

Dated as of [•], 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ARTICLE I DEFINITIONS		Page 1
Section 1.1 Section 1.2	<u>Definitions</u> <u>General Interpretive Principles</u>	1 6
ARTICLE II REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES		5
Section 2.1 Section 2.2	Representations and Warranties of the Investors Entitlement of the Company and the Investors to Rely on Representations and Warranties	6 6
ARTICLE III ORGANIZATIONAL DOCUMENTS		7
Section 3.1 Section 3.2 Section 3.3	Certificate of Incorporation Certificates of Designation By-Laws	7 7 7
ARTICLE IV MANAGEMENT		7
Section 4.1 Section 4.2 Section 4.3 Section 4.4 Section 4.5 Section 4.6 Section 4.7	Board of Directors Centerbridge Investor Director Designees Oaktree Investor Director Designees Additional Investors Director Designee Obligations of the Company and the Investors with respect to Investor Director Designees Chief Executive Officer Application of Advance Notice By-Law	7 8 9 10 11 12
ARTICLE V ADD	DITIONAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES	12
Section 5.1 Section 5.2 Section 5.3 Section 5.4	VCOC Rights Exculpation among Investors Logo of the Company and its Subsidiaries In-Kind Distributions	12 12 12 13
ARTICLE VI PERMITTED TRANSFEREES		13
Section 6.1	Permitted Transferees	13

ARTICLE VII MISCELLANEOUS	
Other Activities	14
Entire Agreement	14
Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial	14
Obligations; Remedies	15
Consent of the Investors	15
Amendment and Waiver	15
Binding Effect	16
<u>Termination</u>	16
<u>Notices</u>	16
<u>Severability</u>	18
Third-Party Beneficiaries	18
<u>Counterparts</u>	18
<u>Headings</u>	18
Recapitalizations; Exchanges, Etc.	19
	Other Activities Entire Agreement Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial Obligations; Remedies Consent of the Investors Amendment and Waiver Binding Effect Termination Notices Severability Third-Party Beneficiaries Counterparts Headings

Schedule A – Initial Ownership Interest

<u>Annex A</u> – Form of Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation

 $\underline{Annex\ B}-Form\ of\ Certificate\ of\ Designations\ of\ Series\ A\ Cumulative\ Convertible\ Preferred\ Stock$

<u>Annex C</u> – Form of Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock

Annex D – Form of Second Amended and Restated By-Laws

SERIES A INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This SERIES A INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is made as of [•], 2021, by and among Garrett Motion Inc., a Delaware corporation (together with its successors and assigns, the "<u>Company</u>"), [•], a [•] ("[•]"), [•], a [•] ("[•]" and, together with [•], the "<u>Centerbridge Investors</u>"), [•], a [•] ("[•]"), [•], a [•] ("[•]") and, together with [•], the "<u>Oaktree Investors</u>") and the other signatories hereto (the "Additional Investors" and, together with the Centerbridge Investors and the Oaktree Investors, the "Investors").

WHEREAS, the Company and the Investors are entering into this Agreement in accordance with and pursuant to the Plan of Reorganization (the "Plan") of the Company and certain of its debtor subsidiaries under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York (the "Bankruptcy Court");

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Plan, the Company shall issue to the Investors shares of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Series A Shares");

WHEREAS, the Series A Shares shall be convertible into shares of the Company's Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "<u>Common Stock</u>"), in accordance with the terms of the Certificate of Designations of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc., the form of which is attached hereto as Annex B; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the effectiveness of the Plan (the date of such effectiveness, the "<u>Plan Effective Date</u>"), the Company has agreed to provide the Investors certain rights as set forth herein, in addition to any other rights the Investors may have.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, the parties mutually agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 Definitions. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

"Additional Director" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(a).

"Additional Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Affiliate" has the meaning specified in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes hereof, (a) none of the Investors, the Company nor any of their respective Subsidiaries shall be considered Affiliates of any portfolio operating company in which the Investors or any of their investment fund Affiliates have made a debt or equity investment solely as a result of such investment and (b) no Person registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, to whom an

Affiliate of any Investor serves as investment adviser shall be considered an Affiliate of such Investor solely as a result of such Affiliate serving as such company's investment adviser.

- "Affiliated" shall have a correlative meaning to the term "Affiliate."
- "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- "AI Initial Ownership Interest" means, with respect to the Additional Investors collectively, the aggregate number of Series A Shares held by such Investors as of the Plan Effective Date (for the avoidance of doubt, prior to any conversion of such Series A Shares) as set forth in Schedule A hereto.
 - "AI Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a).
 - "Bankruptcy Court" has the meaning given to the term in the Recitals.
- "Beneficial Owner" and "beneficially own" and similar terms have the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act; provided, however, that no Investor shall be deemed to beneficially own any securities of the Company held by any other Investor solely by virtue of the provisions of this Agreement (other than this definition).
 - "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company.
- "Business Day" means any day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which commercial banks located in New York, New York or Rolle, Switzerland are required or authorized by law to be closed.
- "Centerbridge Initial Ownership Interest" means, with respect to the Centerbridge Investors, the aggregate number of Common Shares Beneficially Owned by the Centerbridge Investors, as of the Plan Effective Date, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the number of Common Shares into which any Series A Shares held by the Centerbridge Investors are convertible as set forth in Schedule A hereto.
 - "Centerbridge Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
 - $\label{eq:control} \begin{tabular}{ll} \bf `Change of Control'' shall have the meaning given to such term in the Series A Certificate of Designations. \\ \end{tabular}$
 - "Chosen Courts" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b).
 - "Common Shares" means shares of Common Stock.
 - "Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
 - "Company" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
 - "Designee Directors" shall mean the Investor Director Designees and the Series B Director Designee.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, as the same may be amended from time to time.

"First Centerbridge Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(a).

"First Oaktree Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).

"Governmental Authority" means any United States or foreign government, any state or other political subdivision thereof, any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government, including the SEC, or any other authority, agency, department, board, commission or instrumentality of the United States, any State of the United States or any political subdivision thereof or any foreign jurisdiction, and any court, tribunal or arbitrator(s) of competent jurisdiction, and any United States or foreign governmental or non-governmental self-regulatory organization, agency or authority.

"Honeywell" means Honeywell International Inc.

"Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Investor Director Designee" means any individual designated for election to the Board by an Investor pursuant to <u>Section 4.2</u>, <u>Section 4.3</u>, or <u>Section 4.4</u>.

"Law" with respect to any Person, means (a) all provisions of all laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, permits, certificates or orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to such Person or any of its assets or property or to which such Person or any of its assets or property is subject, and (b) all judgments, injunctions, orders and decrees of any Governmental Authority in proceedings or actions in which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its assets or properties is or may be bound or subject.

"Necessary Action" means, with respect to any party to this Agreement and a specified result, all actions (to the extent such actions are not prohibited by applicable Law and within such party's control, and in the case of any action that requires a vote or other action on the part of the Board to the extent such action is consistent with fiduciary duties that the Company's directors may have in such capacity) necessary to cause such result.

"Oaktree Initial Ownership Interest" means, with respect to the Oaktree Investors, the aggregate number of Common Shares Beneficially Owned by the Oaktree Investors, as of the Plan Effective Date, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the number of Common Shares into which any Series A Shares held by the Oaktree Investors are convertible as set forth in Schedule A hereto.

"Oaktree Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"<u>Permitted Transferee</u>" means with respect to any Investor, any Affiliate of such Investor's ultimate Beneficial Owner; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, if such Affiliate transferee ceases to be Controlled by the same Person as such Investor, then such Affiliate transferee shall cease to be a "Permitted Transferee" for purposes of this Agreement.

"Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, business trust, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture, limited liability company, Governmental Authority or any other entity or organization of whatever nature, and shall include any successor (by merger or otherwise) of such entity or organization.

"Plan" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"<u>Plan Asset Regulations</u>" means the regulations issued by the U.S. Department of Labor at Section 2510.3-101 of Part 2510 of Chapter XXV, Title 29 of the Code of Federal Regulations, or any successor regulations.

"Plan Effective Date" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Registration Rights Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.

"Required Additional Investors" means, at any relevant time, the Additional Investors holding at least sixty five percent (65%) of the Series A Shares held by such Additional Investors.

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Second Amended and Restated By-Laws" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a).

"Second Centerbridge Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(b).

"Second Oaktree Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(b). "Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, as the same may be amended from time to time.

"Series A Certificate of Designations" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a). "Series A Shares" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Series B Certificate of Designations" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(b).

"Series B Director Designee" means the director appointed or elected to the Board by Honeywell pursuant to the Series B Certificate of Designations.

"Series B Preferred Stock" means the Series B Preferred Stock of the Company issued pursuant to the Series B Certificate of Designations.

"Shares" means Common Shares and Series A Shares. "Stockholder Meeting" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(a).

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership, trust, limited liability company or other non-corporate business enterprise in which such Person (or another Subsidiary of such Person) holds shares, stock or other ownership interests representing (a) more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting power of all outstanding shares, stock or ownership interests of such entity, (b) the right to receive more than fifty percent (50%) of the net assets of such entity available for distribution to the holders of outstanding shares, stock or ownership interests upon a liquidation or dissolution of such entity or (c) a general or managing partnership interest in such entity.

"Third Centerbridge Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(c).

"Third Oaktree Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(c).

"VCOC Entity" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.

Section 1.2 General Interpretive Principles. The name assigned to this Agreement and the section captions used herein are for convenience of reference only and shall not be construed to affect the meaning, construction or effect hereof. References to this Agreement shall include all Schedules and Annexes to this Agreement. References to any statute or regulation refer to such statute or regulation as amended, modified, supplemented or replaced from time to time (and, in the case of statutes, include any rules and regulations promulgated under the statute) and references to any section of any statute or regulation include any successor to such section. References to any Governmental Authority include any successor to such Governmental Authority. Unless otherwise specified, the terms "hereof," "herein" and similar terms refer to this Agreement as a whole. For purposes of this Agreement, the words, "include," and "including," when used herein, shall be deemed in each case to be followed by the words "without limitation." The terms defined in the singular have a comparable meaning when used in the plural, and vice versa. The terms "dollars" and "§" shall mean United States dollars. The parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. If an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement will be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties and no presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring or disfavoring any party because of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.1 <u>Representations and Warranties of the Investors. Each Investor</u>, severally and not jointly, hereby represents and warrants to the Company that, as of the date hereof:

(a) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by such Investor and, assuming the due execution and delivery of this Agreement by the other parties hereto, this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of such Investor, enforceable against such Investor in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, moratorium, reorganization or similar Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally and subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

(b) The execution, delivery and performance by such Investor of this Agreement and the agreements contemplated hereby and the consummation by such Investor of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not, with or without the giving of notice or the passage of time or both: (i) violate the provisions of any Law applicable to such Investor or its properties or assets or (ii) result in any breach of any terms or conditions of, or constitute a default under, any contract, agreement or instrument to which such Investor is a party or by which such Investor or his or her properties or assets are bound, except, in each case, as would not prevent or materially impair such Investor's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

Section 2.2 <u>Entitlement of the Company to Rely on Representations and Warranties</u>. The representations and warranties contained in <u>Section 2.1</u> may be relied upon by the Company in connection with the entering into of this Agreement.

Section 2.3 <u>Representations and Warranties of the Company</u>. The Company hereby represents and warrants to each Investor that, as of the date hereof:

- (a) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Investors, this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, moratorium, reorganization or similar Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally and subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
- (b) The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the agreements contemplated hereby and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not, with or without the giving of notice or the passage of time or both: (i) violate the provisions of any Law applicable to the Company or its properties or assets or (ii) result in any breach of any terms or conditions of, or constitute a default under, any contract, agreement or instrument to which the Company is a party or by which the Company or its properties or assets are bound, except, in each case, as would not prevent or materially impair the Company's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement.

Section 2.4 Entitlement of the Investors to Rely on Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties contained in Section 2.3 may be relied upon by each of the Investors in connection with the entering into of this Agreement.

ARTICLE III

ORGANIZATIONAL DOCUMENTS

Section 3.1 <u>Certificate of Incorporation</u>. The Company shall, as of the Plan Effective Date, file with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, and cause to become effective, the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company in the form attached hereto as <u>Annex A.</u>

Section 3.2 Certificates of Designation.

- (a) The Company shall, as of the Plan Effective Date, file with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, and cause to become effective, the Certificate of Designations of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc. (the "Series A Certificate of Designations") in the form attached hereto as Annex B.
- (b) The Company shall, as of the Plan Effective Date, file with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, and cause to become effective, the Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc. (the "Series B Certificate of Designations") in the form attached hereto as <u>Annex C</u>.

Section 3.3 <u>By-Laws</u>. The Board shall, as of the Plan Effective Date, adopt the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company (the "<u>Second Amended and Restated By-Laws</u>") in the form attached hereto as Annex D.

ARTICLE IV

MANAGEMENT

Section 4.1 Board of Directors.

- (a) As of the Plan Effective Date and subject to Section 4.2, Section 4.3, and Section 4.4, the Board shall consist of the following nine (9) members: (i) Olivier Rabiller, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, (ii) [•], [•] and [•], as the initial Investor Director Designees of the Centerbridge Investors, with [•] designated as the "Additional Director", (iii) [•], [•] and [•], as the initial Investor Director Designees of the Oaktree Investors, with [•] designated as the "Additional Director", (iv) [•], as the initial Investor Director Designee of the Additional Investors and (v) [•], as the initial Series B Director Designee.
- (b) Each director of the Company and its Subsidiaries shall be entitled to customary compensation for serving as a director of the Company and its Subsidiaries in such amounts as may be approved by the Board from time to time; <u>provided</u>, that any Designee Director who is an employee, director or officer of an Investor or any Affiliate of an Investor shall not receive any compensation for his or her services as director of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.
- (c) The Company and its Subsidiaries shall reimburse the Designee Directors for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with their attendance at meetings of the Board, and any committees thereof, including travel, lodging and meal expenses, in accordance with the Company's reimbursement policies.

(d) The Company shall not increase the size of the Board without the written consent of the Investors holding a majority of the then outstanding Series A Shares for so long as the outstanding Series A Shares represent, in the aggregate, a majority of the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Company entitled generally to vote in the election of directors of the Company. The parties further acknowledge that such action by the Company may be subject to restrictions pursuant to the Series B Certificate of Designations and each Investor agrees, severally and not jointly, that it shall not take any action that would cause the Company to breach such restrictions.

Section 4.2 Centerbridge Investor Director Designees.

- (a) Until the first date on which the Centerbridge Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1) cease to hold at least sixty percent (60%) of their aggregate Centerbridge Initial Ownership Interest (such date, the "First Centerbridge Threshold Date"), the Centerbridge Investors shall have the right to designate three (3) Investor Director Designees for election to the Board at each meeting of stockholders of the Company at which (or action by written consent pursuant to which) directors are elected (a "Stockholder Meeting"). Until the occurrence of the First Centerbridge Threshold Date, (i) one (1) of the Investor Director Designees of the Centerbridge Investors shall not be an employee of the Centerbridge Investors or their Affiliates and (ii) one (1) of the Investor Director Designees of the Centerbridge Investors shall be subject to the rights of the Additional Investors as set forth in Section 4.4(d) (a director subject to such rights, an "Additional Director").
- (b) From the First Centerbridge Threshold Date and until the first date on which the Centerbridge Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 6.1</u>) cease to hold at least forty percent (40%) of their aggregate Centerbridge Initial Ownership Interests (such date, the "<u>Second Centerbridge Threshold Date</u>"), (i) the Centerbridge Investors shall have the right to designate only two (2) Investor Director Designees for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting and (ii) there shall no longer be an Additional Director subject to the rights of the Additional Investors as set forth in <u>Section 4.4(d)</u>.
- (c) From the Second Centerbridge Threshold Date and until the first date on which the Centerbridge Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1) cease to hold at least twenty percent (20%) of their aggregate Centerbridge Initial Ownership Interests (such date, the "Third Centerbridge Threshold Date"), the Centerbridge Investors shall have the right to designate only one (1) Investor Director Designee for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting.
- (d) From and after the Third Centerbridge Threshold Date, the Centerbridge Investors shall have no rights to designate any Investor Director Designee.
- (e) The Centerbridge Investors shall have the right to fill vacancies created by reason of death, removal or resignation of any Investor Director Designee of the Centerbridge Investors, and the Company shall (in each case) take all Necessary Action to cause the Board to appoint replacement directors designated by the Centerbridge Investors to fill any such vacancies

above as promptly as practicable after such designation (and in any event prior to the next meeting or action of the Board or applicable committee). If any Investor Director Designee so designated by the Centerbridge Investors fails to be successfully elected at any Stockholder Meeting (including pursuant to Section 4.4(d) hereof) at a time when the Centerbridge Investors have the right under this Section 4.2 to designate an Investor Director Designee, the Centerbridge Investors shall be entitled to designate a replacement Investor Director Designee and the Company shall take all Necessary Action to cause the prompt election of such replacement Investor Director Designee to the Board.

Section 4.3 Oaktree Investor Director Designees.

- (a) Until the first date on which the Oaktree Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1) cease to hold at least sixty percent (60%) of their aggregate Oaktree Initial Ownership Interest (such date, the "First Oaktree Threshold Date"), the Oaktree Investors shall have the right to designate three (3) Investor Director Designees for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting. Until the occurrence of the First Oaktree Threshold Date, (i) one (1) of the Investor Director Designees of the Oaktree Investors shall not be an employee of the Oaktree Investors or their Affiliates and (ii) one (1) of the Investor Director Designees of the Oaktree Investors shall be designated as an Additional Director subject to the rights of the Additional Investors as set forth in Section 4.4(d).
- (b) From the First Oaktree Threshold Date and until the first date on which the Oaktree Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1) cease to hold at least forty percent (40%) of their aggregate Oaktree Initial Ownership Interests (such date, the "Second Oaktree Threshold Date"), (i) the Oaktree Investors shall have the right to designate only two (2) Investor Director Designees for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting and (ii) there shall no longer be an Additional Director subject to the rights of the Additional Investors as set forth in Section 4.4(d).
- (c) From the Second Oaktree Threshold Date and until the first date on which the Oaktree Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1) cease to hold at least twenty percent (20%) of their aggregate Oaktree Initial Ownership Interests (such date, the "Third Oaktree Threshold Date"), the Oaktree Investors shall have the right to designate only one (1) Investor Director Designee for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting.
- (d) From and after the Third Oaktree Threshold Date, the Oaktree Investors shall have no rights to designate any Investor Director Designee.
- (e) The Oaktree Investors shall have the right to fill vacancies created by reason of death, removal or resignation of any Investor Director Designee of the Oaktree Investors, and the Company shall (in each case) take all Necessary Action to cause the Board to appoint replacement directors designated by the Oaktree Investors to fill any such vacancies above as promptly as practicable after such designation (and in any event prior to the next meeting or action of the Board or applicable committee). If any Investor Director Designee so

designated by the Oaktree Investors fails to be successfully elected at any Stockholder Meeting (including pursuant to <u>Section 4.4(d)</u> hereof) at a time when the Oaktree Investors have the right under this <u>Section 4.3</u> to designate an Investor Director Designee, the Oaktree Investors shall be entitled to designate a replacement Investor Director Designee and the Company shall take all Necessary Action to cause the prompt election of such replacement Investor Director Designee to the Board.

Section 4.4 Additional Investors Director Designee

- (a) Until the first date on which the Additional Investors (including Permitted Transferees of Additional Investors that become party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1) cease to collectively hold at least sixty percent (60%) of their aggregate AI Initial Ownership Interest (such date, the "AI Threshold Date"), the Additional Investors shall have the right to designate one (1) Investor Director Designee for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting. Such designee shall be the person nominated, separately and not jointly, by Additional Investors that hold in the aggregate an amount of Series A Shares to constitute the Required Additional Investors. The Company shall notify each Additional Investor at least thirty (30) days in advance of the first day that the Additional Investors may designate an Investor Director Designee of all applicable deadlines and procedures for making such designation. In the event that the Additional Investors fail to timely notify the Company of their designee in accordance with the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws, the Additional Investors shall be deemed to have waived their right to designate an individual for election to the Board pursuant to this Section 4.4(a) until the occurrence of the next Stockholder Meeting.
- (b) From and after the AI Threshold Date, (i) the Additional Investors shall have no rights to designate any Investor Director Designee and (ii) if the Company becomes aware that at least twenty percent (20%) of the Series A Shares issued pursuant to the Plan are held by stockholders other than the Centerbridge Investors and the Oaktree Investors, then the then-current holders of a majority of the outstanding Series A Shares (excluding from such calculation all Series A Shares held by the Centerbridge Investors and the Oaktree Investor) shall have the right to designate one (1) Investor Director Designee to replace such Investor Director Designee appointed by the Additional Investors. Such designee shall be the person designated, separately and not jointly, by holders of outstanding Series A Shares that hold, in the aggregate, a majority of the then-outstanding Series A Shares (excluding from such calculation all Series A Shares held by the Centerbridge Investors and the Oaktree Investors). If the Company becomes aware that the right set forth in the first sentence of this Section 4.4(b) has been triggered, then the Company shall promptly notify each holder of Series A Shares (other than the Centerbridge Investors or the Oaktree Investors) of such triggering (and that the exercise of such right shall be subject to the terms of this Agreement and the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws, such holders shall be deemed to have waived their right to designate an individual for election to the Board pursuant to this Section 4.4(b) until the occurrence of the next Stockholder Meeting.
- (c) The Additional Investors shall have the right to fill vacancies created by reason of death, removal or resignation of any Investor Director Designee of the Additional Investors, and the Company shall (in each case) take all Necessary Action to cause the Board to appoint replacement directors designated by the Additional Investors to fill any such vacancies above as promptly as practicable after such designation (and in any event prior to the next meeting or action of the Board or applicable committee).

(d) For so long as (x) any of the Investor Director Designees is an Additional Director and (y) the AI Threshold Date has not occurred: (i) the Company shall notify each Additional Investor of the identity of the proposed Additional Director(s) in writing at least sixty (60) days in advance of the Stockholder Meeting at which such Additional Director(s) are to stand for election (subject to the Company's receipt of notice of the identity of any Additional Director from the Centerbridge Investors or Oaktree Investors, as applicable); and (ii) if Additional Investors that hold in the aggregate an amount of Series A Shares necessary to constitute the Required Additional Investors, acting separately and not jointly, object in writing to the designation of such Additional Director within fourteen (14) days of the receipt of such notice from the Company, then the Company shall promptly inform the Centerbridge Investors and the Oaktree Investors of such objection and the Centerbridge Investors or the Oaktree Investors, as applicable, shall designate a new Additional Director and the Additional Investors shall not have any right to object to the designation of such new Additional Director; provided that the Additional Investors may only object to one (1) Additional Director per calendar year.

Section 4.5 Obligations of the Company and the Investors with respect to Investor Director Designees.

- (a) The Company shall include each Investor Director Designee among the Company's and its directors' nominees for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting, subject to satisfaction of the requirements of Law and the Company's organizational and governance documents regarding service as a director of the Company.
- (b) If the number of individuals that any Investor has the right to designate for election to the Board is decreased pursuant to Section 4.2, Section 4.3 and Section 4.4, as applicable, then the corresponding number of directors designated by such Investor pursuant to Section 4.2, Section 4.3 and Section 4.4, as applicable, shall immediately offer to resign from the Board. In the event that any Investor Director Designee offers to tender his or her resignation, the Board shall promptly determine whether to accept such resignation and, if the Board chooses to accept such resignation, the Company and the Investors shall be immediately required to take any and all actions necessary or appropriate to cooperate in ensuring the removal of such individuals. Except as provided above, the Investors shall have the sole and exclusive right to designate individuals to fill vacancies that are created by reason of death, removal or resignation of applicable Investor Director Designees.
- (c) To the extent nominated or designated by an Investor, the Company shall take all actions necessary and within its control and to the extent permissible by Law to cause the nomination, election, removal or replacement of the Investor Director Designees as provided for herein, including soliciting proxies for each Investor Director Designee to the same extent it does so for its other director nominees. No Investor shall take any action with respect to the Company that would be inconsistent with the provisions of this <u>Section 4.5</u>.

Section 4.6 <u>Chief Executive Officer</u>. At all times following the Plan Effective Date, the Company shall take all actions necessary and within its control and to the extent permissible by Law to cause the Chief Executive Officer of the Company to serve as a director. No Investor shall take any action with respect to the Company that would be inconsistent with the provisions of this <u>Section 4.6</u>.

Section 4.7 <u>Application of Advance Notice By-Law</u>. Until the first time that the Investors cease to collectively Beneficially Own, in the aggregate, a majority of the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Company entitled generally to vote in the election of directors of the Company, the provisions of Section 2.7(c) and Section 3.3(a) of the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws relating to advance notification, or any successor provision thereto, shall not be applicable to any matter brought before any annual or special meeting of stockholders by the Centerbridge Investors or the Oaktree Investors; provided that each of the Investors shall provide reasonable advance notice to the Company of such matter brought before any annual or special meeting of stockholders by such Investor prior to (i) the date of such meeting; or (ii) in the event that the Company is required to solicit proxies for a nomination, election, removal or replacement of an Investor Director Designee, the time the Company begins such solicitation pursuant to Section 4.5(c).

ARTICLE V

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES

Section 5.1 <u>VCOC Rights</u>. With respect to any Investor or any Permitted Transferee that is intended to qualify as a "venture capital operating company" as defined in the Plan Asset Regulations (each Person, a "<u>VCOC Entity</u>"), for so long as such VCOC Entity, directly or indirectly, continues to hold any Shares, without limitation or prejudice of any of the rights provided to the Investors hereunder, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall provide such VCOC Entity with all information and access rights necessary to satisfy applicable requirements to qualify as a VCOC Entity, and the Company and its Subsidiaries shall enter into a customary VCOC management rights letter setting forth the terms and conditions pursuant to which the Company and its Subsidiaries will provide such information and access rights.

Section 5.2 Exculpation among Investors. Each Investor acknowledges that it is not relying upon any person, firm or corporation, other than the public information filed by the Company with the SEC or the Bankruptcy Court, as applicable, relating to its Shares, in making its investment or decision to sell, retain its investment or further invest in the Company. Each Investor agrees that no Investor nor the respective controlling persons, officers, directors, partners, agents, or employees of any Investor shall be liable to any other Investor for any action heretofore or hereafter taken or omitted to be taken by any of them in connection with the acquisition of the Shares.

Section 5.3 <u>Logo of the Company and its Subsidiaries</u>. The Company grants the Investors permission to use the Company's and its Subsidiaries' names and logos in the Investors' or their respective Affiliates' marketing materials solely to reflect that the Company is, or was, at one time a portfolio company of the Investors. The Investors or their respective Affiliates, as applicable, shall include a trademark attribution notice giving notice of the Company's or its Subsidiaries' ownership of its trademarks in the marketing materials in which the Company's or its Subsidiaries' names and logos appear.

Section 5.4 <u>In-Kind Distributions</u>. If any Investor seeks to effectuate an in- kind distribution of all or part of its Shares to its direct or indirect equityholders, the Company will, subject to the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement, reasonably cooperate with and assist such Investor, such equityholders and the Company's transfer agent to facilitate such in-kind distribution in the manner reasonably requested by such Investor (including the delivery of instruction letters by the Company or its counsel to the Company's transfer agent and the delivery of Shares without restrictive legends, to the extent no longer applicable).

Section 5.5 <u>Independent Obligations</u>. The Investors each agree that the arrangements contemplated by this Agreement are not intended to constitute the formation of a "group" (as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act). Each Investor agrees that, for purposes of determining Beneficial Ownership of such Investor, it shall disclaim any beneficial ownership that may be read to arise by virtue of this Agreement of Shares owned by the other Investors, and the Company agrees to acknowledge such disclaimer in its Exchange Act and Securities Act filings. The obligations of each Investor under this Agreement are several and not joint with the obligations of any other Investor, and no Investor shall be responsible in any way for the performance of the obligations of any other Investor under this Agreement. Nothing contained herein, and no action taken by any Investor pursuant hereto, shall be deemed to constitute an agreement on the part of such Investor with any other Investors in respect of such Investor's right to designate individuals for election to the Board, or vote, sell or otherwise dispose of its Shares. The use of a single agreement to effectuate the rights and obligations contemplated hereby was done solely for the convenience of the Company and the Investors, it being expressly understood and agreed that each provision contained in this Agreement is between the Company and an Investor, solely, and not between the Company and the Investors collectively and not between and among the Investors.

ARTICLE VI

PERMITTED TRANSFEREES

Section 6.1 <u>Permitted Transferees</u>. Permitted Transferees may be added to and be bound by and receive the benefits afforded by this Agreement upon the signing and delivery of a counterpart of this Agreement by the Company and the acceptance thereof by such Permitted Transferee and, to the extent permitted by <u>Section 7.6</u>, amendments may be effected to this Agreement reflecting such rights and obligations, consistent with the terms of this Agreement, of such Permitted Transferee as the Company, the Investors and such Permitted Transferee may agree.

ARTICLE VII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 7.1 <u>Other Activities</u>. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, none of the provisions of this Agreement shall in any way limit an Investor or any of its Affiliates from engaging in any brokerage, investment advisory, financial advisory, anti-raid advisory, principaling, merger advisory, financing, asset management, trading, market making, arbitrage, investment activity and other similar activities conducted in the ordinary course of their business.

Section 7.2 Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of [•], 2021, by and among the Company, the Centerbridge Investors, the Oaktree Investors, the Additional Investors and the other signatories thereto (the "Registration Rights Agreement"), and all of the Annexes and Schedules hereto and thereto constitute the entire understanding and agreement between the parties as to the matters covered herein and therein and supersede and replace any prior understanding, agreement (including the Second Amended and Restated Plan Support Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2021 and the Replacement Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2021) or statement of intent, in each case, written or oral, of any and every nature with respect thereto between the parties as to the matters covered herein and therein. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any document executed or delivered to effect the purposes of this Agreement, this Agreement shall govern as among the parties hereto.

Section 7.3 Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.

- (a) This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights and duties of the parties shall be governed by, the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws.
- (b) Each party agrees that it will bring any action or proceeding in respect of any claim arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby exclusively in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court shall not have jurisdiction, another federal or state court of competent jurisdiction located in the State of Delaware (the "Chosen Courts"), and, solely in connection with claims arising under this Agreement or the transactions that are the subject of this Agreement, (i) irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Chosen Courts, (ii) waives any objection to laying venue in any such action or proceeding in the Chosen Courts, (iii) waives any objection that the Chosen Courts are an inconvenient forum or do not have jurisdiction over any party and (iv) agrees that service of process upon such party in any such action or proceeding will be effective if notice is given in accordance with Section 7.9.
- (c) EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR OTHER PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT: (I) NO REPRESENTATIVE,

AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF ANY ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, (II) EACH PARTY UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (III) EACH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (IV) EACH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS Section 7.3(c).

Section 7.4 <u>Obligations</u>; <u>Remedies</u>. The Company and the Investors shall be entitled to enforce their rights under this Agreement specifically, to recover damages by reason of any breach of any provision of this Agreement (including, without limitation, costs of enforcement) and to exercise all other rights existing in their favor. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur if any provision of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with its specific terms or were otherwise breached. Accordingly, the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms of this Agreement without the necessity of proving the inadequacy of monetary damages as a remedy, including an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement or to enforce specifically the performance of the terms and provisions hereof, in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. Each of the parties hereby further waives (a) any defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate and (b) any requirement under any Law to post security or a bond as a prerequisite to obtaining equitable relief. All remedies, either under this Agreement or by Law or otherwise afforded to any party, shall be cumulative and not alternative.

Section 7.5 <u>Consent of the Investors</u>. If any consent, approval or action of the Investors is required at any time pursuant to this Agreement, such consent, approval or action shall be deemed given if the holders of a majority of the outstanding Series A Shares held by the Investors at such time provide such consent, approval or action in writing at such time, unless this Agreement provides for more specific consent requirements of the Investors with respect to such consent, approval or action.

Section 7.6 Amendment and Waiver.

(a) The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be modified or amended at any time and from time to time only by the written consent of (i) the Company, (ii) the Centerbridge Investors, if the Centerbridge Investors, at such time, maintain the right to designate a director for election to the Board pursuant to Section 4.2; (iii) the Oaktree Investors, if the Oaktree Investors, at such time, maintain the right to designate a director for election to the Board pursuant to Section 4.3 and (iv) the Required Additional Investors, if the Additional Investors, at such time, maintain the right to designate a director for election to the Board pursuant to Section 4.4; provided, that (a) any amendment that would have a disproportionate material adverse effect on an Investor relative to any other Investors shall require the written consent of that Investor and (b) this Section 7.6 may not be amended without the prior written consent of the Company and all of the Investors. If reasonably requested by the Investors, the Company or its public stockholders to the extent so requested by the Investors in connection with the addition of a Permitted

Transferee in accordance with <u>Section 6.1</u> or a recipient of any newly-issued Shares as a party hereto; <u>provided</u> that such amendments are in compliance with the immediately preceding sentence. Any amendment, modification or waiver effected in accordance with the foregoing shall be effective and binding on the Company and all Investors.

(b) Any failure by any party at any time to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed a waiver of such provision or any other provisions hereof.

Section 7.7 <u>Binding Effect</u>. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the provisions hereof shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the parties' successors and permitted assigns.

Section 7.8 <u>Termination</u>.

- (a) This Agreement shall automatically terminate as to any Investor on the first date on which such Investor no longer Beneficially Owns Shares.
- (b) This Agreement shall automatically terminate upon the earlier of (i) all Investors ceasing to be a party to this Agreement in accordance with Section 7.8(a); (ii) all Investors ceasing to maintain the right to designate a director for election to the Board pursuant to Article IV; (iii) a Change of Control; (iv) written agreement of the Company and the Investors that are party to this Agreement at such time; and (v) the dissolution or liquidation of the Company. In the event of any termination of this Agreement as provided in this Section 7.8, this Agreement shall forthwith become wholly void and of no further force or effect (except for Section 4.5(b) and Section 4.5(c) insofar as they require any Investor and the Company to procure the resignation of an Investor Director Designee in accordance therewith, and this Article VII, which shall survive) and there shall be no liability on the part of any parties hereto or their respective Affiliates, except as provided in this Article VII. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no party hereto shall be relieved from liability for any willful breach of this Agreement.

Section 7.9 <u>Notices</u>. Any and all notices, designations, offers, acceptances or other communications provided for herein shall be deemed duly given (a) when delivered personally by hand, (b) when sent by facsimile or email upon confirmation of receipt or (c) one Business Day following the day sent by overnight courier:

if to the Company, to:

Garrett Motion Inc. La Pièce 16 1180 Rolle, Switzerland Attention: Jerome P. Maironi

Email: jerome.maironi@garrettmotion.com

```
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
     Sullivan & Cromwell LLP
     1 New Fetter Lane
     London EC4A 1AN
     United Kingdom
     Attention: Evan S. Simpson
     Email: simpsone@sullcrom.com
if to the Centerbridge Investors, to: [•]
     [•]
     Attention: [•]
     Email: [•]
     with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
     Milbank LLP
     55 Hudson Yards
     New York, NY 10003
     Attention: Dennis F. Dunne, Andrew M. Leblanc, and Andrew C. Harmeyer
     Email: ddunne@milbank.com, aleblanc@milbank.com, aharmeyer@milbank.com
if to the Oaktree Investors, to: [•]
     [•]
     Attention: [•]
     Email: [•]
     with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
     Milbank LLP
     55 Hudson Yards
     New York, NY 10003
     Attention: Dennis F. Dunne, Andrew M. Leblanc, and Andrew C. Harmeyer
     Email: ddunne@milbank.com, aleblanc@milbank.com, aharmeyer@milbank.com
```

If to any Additional Investor, to the address on the counterpart signature page to this Agreement executed by such Additional Investor, with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Jones Day 250 Vesey Street New York, NY 10281 Attention: Anna Kordas Email: akordas@jonesday.com

Jones Day 555 S. Flower Street 50th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90071

Attention: Bruce Bennett and Joshua M. Mester

Email: bbennett@jonesday.com, jmester@jonesday.com

If to any Permitted Transferee who becomes party to this Agreement after the date hereof, to the address on the counterpart signature page to this Agreement executed by such Permitted Transferee.

Section 7.10 <u>Severability</u>. Whenever possible, each provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable Law, but if any provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable Law in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or portion of any provision in such jurisdiction, and this Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction such that the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or portion thereof shall be interpreted to be only so broad as is enforceable.

Section 7.11 <u>Third-Party Beneficiaries</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of the parties hereto and their permitted assigns and successors, and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person or entity, any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.

Section 7.12 <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute a single instrument. Copies of executed counterparts transmitted by telecopy or other electronic transmission service shall be considered original executed counterparts for purposes of this <u>Section 7.12</u>.

Section 7.13 <u>Headings</u>. The heading references herein and in the table of contents hereto are for convenience purposes only, do not constitute a part of this Agreement and shall not be deemed to limit or affect any of the provisions hereof.

Section 7.14 <u>Recapitalizations</u>; <u>Exchanges</u>, <u>Etc.</u> The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to the full extent set forth herein with respect to Shares, to any and all shares of capital stock of the Company or any successor or assign of the Company (whether by merger, consolidation, sale of assets or otherwise) which may be issued in respect of, in exchange for, or in substitution of the Shares, by reason of a stock dividend, stock split, stock issuance, reverse stock split, combination, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation or otherwise.

[Signature Pages Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this Agreement or caused this Agreement to be executed on its behalf as
of the date first written above.

GARRETT MOTION INC.	
Ву:	
Name:	
Title:	

[Signature Page to Series A Investor Rights Agreement]

[CENTERBRIDGE]
By: Name: Title:
[CENTERBRIDGE]
By: Name: Title:

[Signature Page to Series A Investor Rights Agreement]

[0]	KTREE]
Ву:	Name: Title:
[O <i>F</i>	AKTREE]
Ву:	Name: Title:

[Signature Page to Series A Investor Rights Agreement]

	[ADDITIONAL INVESTOR]
	By:
	Name:
	Title:
	Address:
[Sianature Page to Series A Investor Rights	s Aareement]

SCHEDULE A

INITIAL OWNERSHIP INTEREST

ANNEX A

FORM OF SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

ANNEX B

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS OF SERIES A CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

ANNEX C

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK

ANNEX D

FORM OF SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS

Annex 1 to Exhibit 4

Blackline of Draft of Garret Motion Inc. Series A Investor Rights Agreement

GARRETT MOTION INC.

SERIES A INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT

Dated as of [•], 2021

TABLE OF CONTENTS

		<u>Page</u>
ARTICLE I DEFIN	<u>ITIONS</u>	1
Section 1.1.	<u>Definitions</u>	1
Section 1.2.	General Interpretive Principles	5
ARTICLE II REPR	ESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES	5
Section 2.1.	Representations and Warranties of the Investors	5
Section 2.2.	Entitlement of the Company and the Investors to Rely on Representations and Warranties	6
ARTICLE III ORG	ANIZATIONAL DOCUMENTS	7
Section 3.1.	Certificate of Incorporation	7
Section 3.2.	Certificates of Designation	7
Section 3.3.	<u>By-Laws</u>	7
ARTICLE IV MAN	JAGEMENT .	7
Section 4.1.	Board of Directors	7
Section 4.2.	Centerbridge Investor Director Designees	8
Section 4.3.	Oaktree Investor Director Designees	9
Section 4.4.	Additional Investors Director Designee	10
Section 4.5.	Obligations of the Company and the Investors with respect to Investor Director Designees	11
Section 4.6.	Chief Executive Officer.	12
Section 4.7.	Application of Advance Notice By-Law	12
ARTICLE V ADDI	TIONAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES	12
Section 5.1.	VCOC Rights	12
Section 5.2.	Exculpation among Investors	12
Section 5.3.	Logo of the Company and its Subsidiaries	13
Section 5.4.	In-Kind Distributions	13

ARTICLE VI PER	MITTED TRANSFEREES	13
Section 6.1.	Permitted Transferees	13
ARTICLE VII MIS	<u>SCELLANEOUS</u>	14
Section 7.1.	Other Activities	14
Section 7.2.	Entire Agreement	14
Section 7.3.	Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial	14
Section 7.4.	Obligations; Remedies	15
Section 7.5.	Consent of the Investors	15
Section 7.6.	Amendment and Waiver	15
Section 7.7.	Binding Effect	16
Section 7.8.	Termination	16
Section 7.9.	Notices	16
Section 7.10.	Severability	18
Section 7.11.	Third-Party Beneficiaries	18
Section 7.12.	Counterparts	18
Section 7.13.	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	18
	Recapitalizations; Exchanges, Etc.	19

Schedule A – Initial Ownership Interest

- $\underline{Annex\ A}$ Form of Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation
- $\underline{Annex\ B}-Form\ of\ Certificate\ of\ Designations\ of\ Series\ A\ Cumulative\ Convertible\ Preferred\ Stock$
- <u>Annex C</u> Form of Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock
- Annex D Form of Second Amended and Restated By-Laws

SERIES A INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT

This SERIES A INVESTOR RIGHTS AGREEMENT (this "<u>Agreement</u>") is made as of [•], 2021, by and among Garrett Motion Inc., a Delaware corporation (together with its successors and assigns, the "<u>Company</u>"), [•], a [•] ("[•]"), [•], a [•] ("[•]") and, together with [•], the "<u>Centerbridge Investors</u>"), [•], a [•] ("[•]"), [•], a [•] ("[•]") and, together with [•], the "<u>Oaktree Investors</u>") and the other signatories hereto (the "Additional Investors" and, together with the Centerbridge Investors and the Oaktree Investors, the "Investors").

WHEREAS, the Company and the Investors are entering into this Agreement in accordance with and pursuant to the Plan of Reorganization (the "Plan") of the Company and certain of its debtor subsidiaries under Chapter 11 of Title 11 of the United States Code approved by the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of New York (the "Bankruptcy Court");

WHEREAS, pursuant to the Plan, the Company shall issue to the Investors shares of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of the Company, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Series A Shares");

WHEREAS, the Series A Shares shall be convertible into shares of the Company's Common Stock, par value \$0.001 per share (the "Common Stock"), in accordance with the terms of the Certificate of Designations of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc., the form of which is attached hereto as Annex B; and

WHEREAS, in connection with the effectiveness of the Plan (the date of such effectiveness, the "Plan Effective Date"), the Company has agreed to provide the Investors certain rights as set forth herein, in addition to any other rights the Investors may have.

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual covenants and agreements contained herein, the parties mutually agree as follows:

ARTICLE I

DEFINITIONS

Section 1.1 <u>Definitions</u>. As used in this Agreement, the following terms shall have the meanings set forth below:

"Additional Director" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(a).

"Additional Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Affiliate" has the meaning specified in Rule 12b-2 under the Exchange Act. Notwithstanding the foregoing, for purposes hereof, (a) none of the Investors, the Company nor any of their respective Subsidiaries shall be considered Affiliates of any portfolio operating company in which the Investors or any of their investment fund Affiliates have made a debt or equity investment solely as a result of such investment and (b) no Person registered as an investment company under the Investment Company Act of 1940, as amended, to whom an Affiliate of any Investor serves as investment adviser shall be considered an Affiliate of such Investor solely as a result of such Affiliate serving as such company's investment adviser.

- "Affiliated" shall have a correlative meaning to the term "Affiliate."
- "Agreement" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- "AI Initial Ownership Interest" means, with respect to the Additional Investors collectively, the aggregate number of Series A Shares held by such Investors as of the Plan Effective Date (for the avoidance of doubt, prior to any conversion of such Series A Shares) as set forth in Schedule A hereto.
 - "AI Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.4(a).
 - "Bankruptcy Court" has the meaning given to the term in the Recitals.
- "Beneficial Owner" and "beneficially own" and similar terms have the meaning set forth in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that no Investor shall be deemed to beneficially own any securities of the Company held by any other Investor solely by virtue of the provisions of this Agreement (other than this definition).
 - "Board" means the Board of Directors of the Company.
- "Business Day" means any day, other than a Saturday, Sunday or a day on which commercial banks located in New York, New York or Rolle, Switzerland are required or authorized by law to be closed.
- "Centerbridge Initial Ownership Interest" means, with respect to the Centerbridge Investors, the aggregate number of Common Shares Beneficially Owned by the Centerbridge Investors, as of the Plan Effective Date, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the number of Common Shares into which any Series A Shares held by the Centerbridge Investors are convertible as set forth in Schedule A hereto.
 - "Centerbridge Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
 - "Change of Control" shall have the meaning given to such term in the Series A Certificate of Designations.
 - "Chosen Courts" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.3(b).
 - "Common Shares" means shares of Common Stock.
 - "Common Stock" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.
 - "Company" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
 - "Designee Directors" shall mean the Investor Director Designees and the Series B Director Designee.

"Exchange Act" means the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, as the same may be amended from time to time.

"First Centerbridge Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(a).

"First Oaktree Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(a).

"Governmental Authority" means any United States or foreign government, any state or other political subdivision thereof, any entity exercising executive, legislative, judicial, regulatory or administrative functions of or pertaining to government, including the SEC, or any other authority, agency, department, board, commission or instrumentality of the United States, any State of the United States or any political subdivision thereof or any foreign jurisdiction, and any court, tribunal or arbitrator(s) of competent jurisdiction, and any United States or foreign governmental or non-governmental self-regulatory organization, agency or authority.

"Honeywell" means Honeywell International Inc.

"Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Investor Director Designee" means any individual designated for election to the Board by an Investor pursuant to Section 4.2, Section 4.3, or Section 4.4.

"Law" with respect to any Person, means (a) all provisions of all laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, permits, certificates or orders of any Governmental Authority applicable to such Person or any of its assets or property or to which such Person or any of its assets or property is subject, and (b) all judgments, injunctions, orders and decrees of any Governmental Authority in proceedings or actions in which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its assets or properties is or may be bound or subject.

"Necessary Action" means, with respect to any party to this Agreement and a specified result, all actions (to the extent such actions are not prohibited by applicable Law and within such party's control, and in the case of any action that requires a vote or other action on the part of the Board to the extent such action is consistent with fiduciary duties that the Company's directors may have in such capacity) necessary to cause such result.

"Oaktree Initial Ownership Interest" means, with respect to the Oaktree Investors, the aggregate number of Common Shares Beneficially Owned by the Oaktree Investors, as of the Plan Effective Date, including, for the avoidance of doubt, the number of Common Shares into which any Series A Shares held by the Oaktree Investors are convertible as set forth in Schedule A hereto.

"Oaktree Investors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.

"Original Issue Series A Shares" has the meaning given to the term in the Registration Rights Agreement.

"<u>Permitted Transferee</u>" means with respect to any Investor, any Affiliate of such Investor's ultimate Beneficial Owner; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, if such Affiliate transferee ceases to be Controlled by the same Person as such Investor, then such Affiliate transferee shall cease to be a "Permitted Transferee" for purposes of this Agreement.

"Person" means an individual, partnership, corporation, business trust, joint stock company, trust, unincorporated association, joint venture, limited liability company, Governmental Authority or any other entity or organization of whatever nature, and shall include any successor (by merger or otherwise) of such entity or organization.

"Plan" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"<u>Plan Asset Regulations</u>" means the regulations issued by the U.S. Department of Labor at Section 2510.3-101 of Part 2510 of Chapter XXV, Title 29 of the Code of Federal Regulations, or any successor regulations.

"Plan Effective Date" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Registration Rights Agreement" has the meaning set forth in Section 7.2.

"Required Additional Investors" means, at any relevant time, the Additional Investors holding at least sixty five percent (65%) of the Series A Shares held by such Additional Investors.

"SEC" means the United States Securities and Exchange Commission.

"Second Amended and Restated By-Laws" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a).

"Second Centerbridge Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(b).

"Second Oaktree Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(b).

"Securities Act" means the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, and the rules and regulations promulgated thereunder, as the same may be amended from time to time.

"Series A Certificate of Designations" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(a).

"Series A Shares" has the meaning set forth in the Recitals.

"Series B Certificate of Designations" has the meaning set forth in Section 3.2(b).

"Series B Director Designee" means the director appointed or elected to the Board by Honeywell pursuant to the Series B Certificate of Designations.

"Series B Preferred Stock" means the Series B Preferred Stock of the Company issued pursuant to the Series B Certificate of Designations.

"Shares" means Common Shares and Series A Shares.

"Stockholder Meeting" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(a).

"Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any corporation, partnership, trust, limited liability company or other non-corporate business enterprise in which such Person (or another Subsidiary of such Person) holds shares, stock or other ownership interests representing (a) more than fifty percent (50%) of the voting power of all outstanding shares, stock or ownership interests of such entity, (b) the right to receive more than fifty percent (50%) of the net assets of such entity available for distribution to the holders of outstanding shares, stock or ownership interests upon a liquidation or dissolution of such entity or (c) a general or managing partnership interest in such entity.

"Third Centerbridge Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.2(c).

"Third Oaktree Threshold Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4.3(c).

"VCOC Entity" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.1.

Section 1.2. <u>General Interpretive Principles</u>. The name assigned to this Agreement and the section captions used herein are for convenience of reference only and shall not be construed to affect the meaning, construction or effect hereof. References to this Agreement shall include all Schedules and Annexes to this Agreement. References to any statute or regulation refer to such statute or regulation as amended, modified, supplemented or replaced from time to time (and, in the case of statutes, include any rules and regulations promulgated under the statute) and references to any section of any statute or regulation include any successor to such section. References to any Governmental Authority include any successor to such Governmental Authority. Unless otherwise specified, the terms "hereof," "herein" and similar terms refer to this Agreement as a whole. For purposes of this Agreement, the words, "include," and "including," when used herein, shall be deemed in each case to be followed by the words "without limitation." The terms defined in the singular have a comparable meaning when used in the plural, and vice versa. The terms "dollars" and "§" shall mean United States dollars. The parties hereto have participated jointly in the negotiation and drafting of this Agreement. If an ambiguity or question of intent or interpretation arises, this Agreement will be construed as if drafted jointly by the parties and no presumption or burden of proof will arise favoring or disfavoring any party because of the authorship of any provision of this Agreement.

ARTICLE II

REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES

Section 2.1. <u>Representations and Warranties of the Investors</u>. Each Investor, severally and not jointly, hereby represents and warrants to the Company that, as of the date hereof:

(a) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by such Investor and, assuming the due execution and delivery of this Agreement by the other parties hereto, this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of such Investor, enforceable against such Investor in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, moratorium, reorganization or similar Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally and subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).

- (b) The execution, delivery and performance by such Investor of this Agreement and the agreements contemplated hereby and the consummation by such Investor of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not, with or without the giving of notice or the passage of time or both: (i) violate the provisions of any Law applicable to such Investor or its properties or assets or (ii) result in any breach of any terms or conditions of, or constitute a default under, any contract, agreement or instrument to which such Investor is a party or by which such Investor or his or her properties or assets are bound, except, in each case, as would not prevent or materially impair such Investor's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement.
- Section 2.2. <u>Entitlement of the Company to Rely on Representations and Warranties</u>. The representations and warranties contained in Section 2.1 may be relied upon by the Company in connection with the entering into of this Agreement.
- Section 2.3. <u>Representations and Warranties of the Company</u>. The Company hereby represents and warrants to each Investor that, as of the date hereof:
- (a) This Agreement has been duly authorized, executed and delivered by the Company and, assuming the due execution and delivery of this Agreement by the Investors, this Agreement constitutes a valid and binding obligation of the Company, enforceable against the Company in accordance with its terms, except as enforceability may be limited by applicable bankruptcy, insolvency, fraudulent transfer, moratorium, reorganization or similar Laws of general applicability relating to or affecting the rights of creditors generally and subject to general principles of equity (regardless of whether enforcement is considered in a proceeding in equity or at law).
- (b) The execution, delivery and performance by the Company of this Agreement and the agreements contemplated hereby and the consummation by the Company of the transactions contemplated hereby and thereby do not and will not, with or without the giving of notice or the passage of time or both: (i) violate the provisions of any Law applicable to the Company or its properties or assets or (ii) result in any breach of any terms or conditions of, or constitute a default under, any contract, agreement or instrument to which the Company is a party or by which the Company or its properties or assets are bound, except, in each case, as would not prevent or materially impair the Company's ability to perform its obligations under this Agreement.
- Section 2.4. Entitlement of the Investors to Rely on Representations and Warranties. The representations and warranties contained in Section 2.3 may be relied upon by each of the Investors in connection with the entering into of this Agreement.

ARTICLE III

ORGANIZATIONAL DOCUMENTS

Section 3.1. <u>Certificate of Incorporation</u>. The Company shall, as of the Plan Effective Date, file with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, and cause to become effective, the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Company in the form attached hereto as <u>Annex A.</u>

Section 3.2. Certificates of Designation.

- (a) The Company shall, as of the Plan Effective Date, file with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, and cause to become effective, the Certificate of Designations of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc. (the "Series A Certificate of Designations") in the form attached hereto as Annex B.
- (b) The Company shall, as of the Plan Effective Date, file with the Secretary of State of the State of Delaware, and cause to become effective, the Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc. (the "Series B Certificate of Designations") in the form attached hereto as <u>Annex C</u>.

Section 3.3. <u>By-Laws</u>. The Board shall, as of the Plan Effective Date, adopt the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws of the Company (the "<u>Second Amended and Restated By-Laws</u>") in the form attached hereto as <u>Annex D</u>.

ARTICLE IV

MANAGEMENT

Section 4.1. Board of Directors.

- (a) As of the Plan Effective Date and subject to Section 4.2, Section 4.3, and Section 4.4, the Board shall consist of the following nine (9) members: (i) Olivier Rabiller, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company, (ii) [•], [•] and [•], as the initial Investor Director Designees of the Centerbridge Investors, with [•] designated as the "Additional Director", (iii) [•], [•] and [•], as the initial Investor Director Designees of the Oaktree Investors, with [•] designated as the "Additional Director", (iv) [•], as the initial Investor Director Designee of the Additional Investors and (v) [•], as the initial Series B Director Designee.
- (b) Each director of the Company and its Subsidiaries shall be entitled to customary compensation for serving as a director of the Company and its Subsidiaries in such amounts as may be approved by the Board from time to time; <u>provided</u>, that any Designee Director who is an employee, director or officer of an Investor or any Affiliate of an Investor shall not receive any compensation for his or her services as director of the Company or any of its Subsidiaries.

- (c) The Company and its Subsidiaries shall reimburse the Designee Directors for all reasonable out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with their attendance at meetings of the Board, and any committees thereof, including travel, lodging and meal expenses, in accordance with the Company's reimbursement policies.
- (d) The Company shall not increase the size of the Board without the written consent of the Investors holding a majority of the then outstanding Series A Shares for so long as the outstanding Series A Shares represent, in the aggregate, a majority of the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Company entitled generally to vote in the election of directors of the Company. The parties further acknowledge that such action by the Company may be subject to restrictions pursuant to the Series B Certificate of Designations and each Investor agrees, severally and not jointly, that it shall not take any action that would cause the Company to breach such restrictions.

Section 4.2. <u>Centerbridge Investor Director Designees</u>.

- (a) Until the first date on which the Centerbridge Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1) cease to hold at least sixty percent (60%) of their aggregate Centerbridge Initial Ownership Interest (such date, the "First Centerbridge Threshold Date"), the Centerbridge Investors shall have the right to designate three (3) Investor Director Designees for election to the Board at each meeting of stockholders of the Company at which (or action by written consent pursuant to which) directors are elected (a "Stockholder Meeting"). Until the occurrence of the First Centerbridge Threshold Date, (i) one (1) of the Investor Director Designees of the Centerbridge Investors shall not be an employee of the Centerbridge Investors or their Affiliates and (ii) one (1) of the Investor Director Designees of the Centerbridge Investors shall be subject to the rights of the Additional Investors as set forth in Section 4.4(d) (a director subject to such rights, an "Additional Director").
- (b) From the First Centerbridge Threshold Date and until the first date on which the Centerbridge Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 6.1</u>) cease to hold at least forty percent (40%) of their aggregate Centerbridge Initial Ownership Interests (such date, the "<u>Second Centerbridge Threshold Date</u>"), (i) the Centerbridge Investors shall have the right to designate only two (2) Investor Director Designees for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting and (ii) there shall no longer be an Additional Director subject to the rights of the Additional Investors as set forth in <u>Section 4.4(d)</u>.
- (c) From the Second Centerbridge Threshold Date and until the first date on which the Centerbridge Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to <u>Section 6.1</u>) cease to hold at least twenty percent (20%) of their aggregate Centerbridge Initial Ownership Interests (such date, the "<u>Third Centerbridge Threshold Date</u>"), the Centerbridge Investors shall have the right to designate only one (1) Investor Director Designee for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting.
- (d) From and after the Third Centerbridge Threshold Date, the Centerbridge Investors shall have no rights to designate any Investor Director Designee.

(e) The Centerbridge Investors shall have the right to fill vacancies created by reason of death, removal or resignation of any Investor Director Designee of the Centerbridge Investors, and the Company shall (in each case) take all Necessary Action to cause the Board to appoint replacement directors designated by the Centerbridge Investors to fill any such vacancies above as promptly as practicable after such designation (and in any event prior to the next meeting or action of the Board or applicable committee). If any Investor Director Designee so designated by the Centerbridge Investors fails to be successfully elected at any Stockholder Meeting (including pursuant to Section 4.4(d) hereof) at a time when the Centerbridge Investors have the right under this Section 4.2 to designate an Investor Director Designee, the Centerbridge Investors shall be entitled to designate a replacement Investor Director Designee and the Company shall take all Necessary Action to cause the prompt election of such replacement Investor Director Designee to the Board.

Section 4.3. Oaktree Investor Director Designees.

- (a) Until the first date on which the Oaktree Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1) cease to hold at least sixty percent (60%) of their aggregate Oaktree Initial Ownership Interest (such date, the "First Oaktree Threshold Date"), the Oaktree Investors shall have the right to designate three (3) Investor Director Designees for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting. Until the occurrence of the First Oaktree Threshold Date, (i) one (1) of the Investor Director Designees of the Oaktree Investors shall not be an employee of the Oaktree Investors or their Affiliates and (ii) one (1) of the Investor Director Designees of the Oaktree Investors shall be designated as an Additional Director subject to the rights of the Additional Investors as set forth in Section 4.4(d).
- (b) From the First Oaktree Threshold Date and until the first date on which the Oaktree Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1) cease to hold at least forty percent (40%) of their aggregate Oaktree Initial Ownership Interests (such date, the "Second Oaktree Threshold Date"), (i) the Oaktree Investors shall have the right to designate only two (2) Investor Director Designees for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting and (ii) there shall no longer be an Additional Director subject to the rights of the Additional Investors as set forth in Section 4.4(d).
- (c) From the Second Oaktree Threshold Date and until the first date on which the Oaktree Investors (including their respective Permitted Transferees that become a party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1) cease to hold at least twenty percent (20%) of their aggregate Oaktree Initial Ownership Interests (such date, the "Third Oaktree Threshold Date"), the Oaktree Investors shall have the right to designate only one (1) Investor Director Designee for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting.
- (d) From and after the Third Oaktree Threshold Date, the Oaktree Investors shall have no rights to designate any Investor Director Designee.

(e) The Oaktree Investors shall have the right to fill vacancies created by reason of death, removal or resignation of any Investor Director Designee of the Oaktree Investors, and the Company shall (in each case) take all Necessary Action to cause the Board to appoint replacement directors designated by the Oaktree Investors to fill any such vacancies above as promptly as practicable after such designation (and in any event prior to the next meeting or action of the Board or applicable committee). If any Investor Director Designee so designated by the Oaktree Investors fails to be successfully elected at any Stockholder Meeting (including pursuant to <u>Section 4.4(d)</u> hereof) at a time when the Oaktree Investors have the right under this <u>Section 4.3</u> to designate an Investor Director Designee, the Oaktree Investors shall be entitled to designate a replacement Investor Director Designee and the Company shall take all Necessary Action to cause the prompt election of such replacement Investor Director Designee to the Board.

Section 4.4. <u>Additional Investors Director Designee</u>

(a) Until the first date on which the Additional Investors (including Permitted Transferees of Additional Investors that become party to this Agreement pursuant to Section 6.1) cease to collectively hold at least sixty percent (60%) of their aggregate AI Initial Ownership Interest (such date, the "AI Threshold Date"), the Additional Investors shall have the right to designate one (1) Investor Director Designee for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting. Such designee shall be the person nominated, separately and not jointly, by Additional Investors that hold in the aggregate an amount of Series A Shares to constitute the Required Additional Investors. The Company shall notify each Additional Investor at least thirty (30) days in advance of the first day that the Additional Investors may designate an Investor Director Designee of all applicable deadlines and procedures for making such designation. In the event that the Additional Investors fail to timely notify the Company of their designee in accordance with the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws, the Additional Investors shall be deemed to have waived their right to designate an individual for election to the Board pursuant to this Section 4.4(a) until the occurrence of the next Stockholder Meeting.

(b) From and after the AI Threshold Date, (i) the Additional Investors shall have no rights to designate any Investor Director Designee and (ii) if the Company becomes aware that at least twenty percent (20%) of the Original Issue Series A Shares issued pursuant to the Plan are held by stockholders other than the Centerbridge Investors and the Oaktree Investors, then the then-current holders of a majority of the outstanding Series A Shares (excluding from such calculation all Series A Shares held by the Centerbridge Investors and the Oaktree Investor) shall have the right to designate one (1) Investor Director Designee to replace such Investor Director Designee appointed by the Additional Investors. Such designee shall be the person designated, separately and not jointly, by holders of outstanding Series A Shares that hold, in the aggregate, a majority of the thenoutstanding Series A Shares (excluding from such calculation all Series A Shares held by the Centerbridge Investors and the Oaktree Investors). If the Company becomes aware that the right set forth in the first sentence of this Section 4.4(b)has been triggered, then the Company shall promptly notify each holder of Series A Shares (other than the Centerbridge Investors or the Oaktree Investors) of such triggering (and that the exercise of such right shall be subject to the terms of this Agreement and the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws). In the event that such holders fail to timely notify the Company of their designee in accordance with the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws, such holders shall be deemed to have waived their right to designate an individual for election to the Board pursuant to this Section 4.4(b) until the occurrence of the next Stockholder Meeting.

- (c) The Additional Investors shall have the right to fill vacancies created by reason of death, removal or resignation of any Investor Director Designee of the Additional Investors, and the Company shall (in each case) take all Necessary Action to cause the Board to appoint replacement directors designated by the Additional Investors to fill any such vacancies above as promptly as practicable after such designation (and in any event prior to the next meeting or action of the Board or applicable committee).
- (d) For so long as (x) any of the Investor Director Designees is an Additional Director and (y) the AI Threshold Date has not occurred: (i) the Company shall notify each Additional Investor of the identity of the proposed Additional Director(s) in writing at least sixty (60) days in advance of the Stockholder Meeting at which such Additional Director(s) are to stand for election (subject to the Company's receipt of notice of the identity of any Additional Director from the Centerbridge Investors or Oaktree Investors, as applicable); and (ii) if Additional Investors that hold in the aggregate an amount of Series A Shares necessary to constitute the Required Additional Investors, acting separately and not jointly, object in writing to the designation of such Additional Director within fourteen (14) days of the receipt of such notice from the Company, then the Company shall promptly inform the Centerbridge Investors and the Oaktree Investors of such objection and the Centerbridge Investors or the Oaktree Investors, as applicable, shall designate a new Additional Director and the Additional Investors shall not have any right to object to the designation of such new Additional Director; provided that the Additional Investors may only object to one (1) Additional Director per calendar year.

Section 4.5. Obligations of the Company and the Investors with respect to Investor Director Designees.

- (a) The Company shall include each Investor Director Designee among the Company's and its directors' nominees for election to the Board at each Stockholder Meeting, subject to satisfaction of the requirements of Law and the Company's organizational and governance documents regarding service as a director of the Company.
- (b) If the number of individuals that any Investor has the right to designate for election to the Board is decreased pursuant to Section 4.2, Section 4.3 and Section 4.4, as applicable, then the corresponding number of directors designated by such Investor pursuant to Section 4.2, Section 4.3 and Section 4.4, as applicable, shall immediately offer to resign from the Board. In the event that any Investor Director Designee offers to tender his or her resignation, the Board shall promptly determine whether to accept such resignation and, if the Board chooses to accept such resignation, the Company and the Investors shall be immediately required to take any and all actions necessary or appropriate to cooperate in ensuring the removal of such individuals. Except as provided above, the Investors shall have the sole and exclusive right to designate individuals to fill vacancies that are created by reason of death, removal or resignation of applicable Investor Director Designees.
- (c) To the extent nominated or designated by an Investor, the Company shall take all actions necessary and within its control and to the extent permissible by Law to cause the nomination, election, removal or replacement of the Investor Director Designees as provided for herein, including soliciting proxies for each Investor Director Designee to the same extent it does so for its other director nominees. No Investor shall take any action with respect to the Company that would be inconsistent with the provisions of this <u>Section 4.5</u>.

Section 4.6. <u>Chief Executive Officer</u>. At all times following the Plan Effective Date, the Company shall take all actions necessary and within its control and to the extent permissible by Law to cause the Chief Executive Officer of the Company to serve as a director. No Investor shall take any action with respect to the Company that would be inconsistent with the provisions of this <u>Section 4.6.</u>

Section 4.7. <u>Application of Advance Notice By-Law</u>. Until the first time that the Investors cease to collectively Beneficially Own, in the aggregate, a majority of the combined voting power of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Company entitled generally to vote in the election of directors of the Company, the provisions of Section 2.7(c) and Section 3.3(a) of the Second Amended and Restated By-Laws relating to advance notification, or any successor provision thereto, shall not be applicable to any matter brought before any annual or special meeting of stockholders by the Centerbridge Investors or the Oaktree Investors; <u>provided</u> that each of the Investors shall provide reasonable advance notice to the Company of such matter brought before any annual or special meeting of stockholders by such Investor prior to (i) the date of such meeting; or (ii) in the event that the Company is required to solicit proxies for a nomination, election, removal or replacement of an Investor Director Designee, the time the Company begins such solicitation pursuant to Section 4.5(c).

ARTICLE V

ADDITIONAL AGREEMENTS OF THE PARTIES

Section 5.1. <u>VCOC Rights</u>. With respect to any Investor or any Permitted Transferee that is intended to qualify as a "venture capital operating company" as defined in the Plan Asset Regulations (each Person, a "<u>VCOC Entity</u>"), for so long as such VCOC Entity, directly or indirectly, continues to hold any Shares, without limitation or prejudice of any of the rights provided to the Investors hereunder, the Company and its Subsidiaries shall provide such VCOC Entity with all information and access rights necessary to satisfy applicable requirements to qualify as a VCOC Entity, and the Company and its Subsidiaries shall enter into a customary VCOC management rights letter setting forth the terms and conditions pursuant to which the Company and its Subsidiaries will provide such information and access rights.

Section 5.2. Exculpation among Investors. Each Investor acknowledges that it is not relying upon any person, firm or corporation, other than the public information filed by the Company with the SEC or the Bankruptcy Court, as applicable, relating to its Shares, in making its investment or decision to sell, retain its investment or further invest in the Company. Each Investor agrees that no Investor nor the respective controlling persons, officers, directors, partners, agents, or employees of any Investor shall be liable to any other Investor for any action heretofore or hereafter taken or omitted to be taken by any of them in connection with the acquisition of the Shares.

Section 5.3. <u>Logo of the Company and its Subsidiaries</u>. The Company grants the Investors permission to use the Company's and its Subsidiaries' names and logos in the Investors' or their respective Affiliates' marketing materials solely to reflect that the Company is, or was, at one time a portfolio company of the Investor. The Investors or their respective Affiliates, as applicable, shall include a trademark attribution notice giving notice of the Company's or its Subsidiaries' ownership of its trademarks in the marketing materials in which the Company's or its Subsidiaries' names and logos appear.

Section 5.4. <u>In-Kind Distributions</u>. If any Investor seeks to effectuate an in-kind distribution of all or part of its Shares to its direct or indirect equityholders, the Company will, subject to the terms of the Registration Rights Agreement, reasonably cooperate with and assist such Investor, such equityholders and the Company's transfer agent to facilitate such in-kind distribution in the manner reasonably requested by such Investor (including the delivery of instruction letters by the Company or its counsel to the Company's transfer agent and the delivery of Shares without restrictive legends, to the extent no longer applicable).

Section 5.5. <u>Independent Obligations</u>. The Investors each agree that the arrangements contemplated by this Agreement are not intended to constitute the formation of a "group" (as defined in Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act). Each Investor agrees that, for purposes of determining Beneficial Ownership of such Investor, it shall disclaim any beneficial ownership that may be read to arise by virtue of this Agreement of Shares owned by the other Investors, and the Company agrees to acknowledge such disclaimer in its Exchange Act and Securities Act filings. The obligations of each Investor under this Agreement are several and not joint with the obligations of any other Investor, and no Investor shall be responsible in any way for the performance of the obligations of any other Investor under this Agreement. Nothing contained herein, and no action taken by any Investor pursuant hereto, shall be deemed to constitute an agreement on the part of such Investor with any other Investors in respect of such Investor's right to designate individuals for election to the Board, or vote, sell or otherwise dispose of its Shares. The use of a single agreement to effectuate the rights and obligations contemplated hereby was done solely for the convenience of the Company and the Investors, it being expressly understood and agreed that each provision contained in this Agreement is between the Company and an Investor, solely, and not between the Company and the Investors collectively and not between and among the Investors.

ARTICLE VI

PERMITTED TRANSFEREES

Section 6.1. <u>Permitted Transferees</u>. Permitted Transferees may be added to and be bound by and receive the benefits afforded by this Agreement upon the signing and delivery of a counterpart of this Agreement by the Company and the acceptance thereof by such Permitted Transferee and, to the extent permitted by <u>Section 7.6</u>, amendments may be effected to this Agreement reflecting such rights and obligations, consistent with the terms of this Agreement, of such Permitted Transferee as the Company, the Investors and such Permitted Transferee may agree.

ARTICLE VII

MISCELLANEOUS

Section 7.1 <u>Other Activities</u>. Notwithstanding anything in this Agreement, none of the provisions of this Agreement shall in any way limit an Investor or any of its Affiliates from engaging in any brokerage, investment advisory, financial advisory, anti-raid advisory, principaling, merger advisory, financing, asset management, trading, market making, arbitrage, investment activity and other similar activities conducted in the ordinary course of their business.

Section 7.2. Entire Agreement. This Agreement, together with the Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of [•], 2021, by and among the Company, the Centerbridge Investors, the Oaktree Investors, the Additional Investors and the other signatories thereto (the "Registration Rights Agreement"), and all of the Annexes and Schedules hereto and thereto constitute the entire understanding and agreement between the parties as to the matters covered herein and therein and supersede and replace any prior understanding, agreement (including the Second Amended and Restated Plan Support Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2021 and the Replacement Equity Backstop Commitment Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2021) or statement of intent, in each case, written or oral, of any and every nature with respect thereto between the parties as to the matters covered herein and therein. In the event of any inconsistency between this Agreement and any document executed or delivered to effect the purposes of this Agreement, this Agreement shall govern as among the parties hereto.

Section 7.3. Governing Law; Submission to Jurisdiction; Waiver of Jury Trial.

- (a) This Agreement shall be construed and enforced in accordance with, and the rights and duties of the parties shall be governed by, the laws of the State of Delaware, without regard to principles of conflicts of laws.
- (b) Each party agrees that it will bring any action or proceeding in respect of any claim arising out of this Agreement or the transactions contemplated hereby exclusively in the Court of Chancery of the State of Delaware or, if such court shall not have jurisdiction, another federal or state court of competent jurisdiction located in the State of Delaware (the "Chosen Courts"), and, solely in connection with claims arising under this Agreement or the transactions that are the subject of this Agreement, (i) irrevocably submits to the exclusive jurisdiction of the Chosen Courts, (ii) waives any objection to laying venue in any such action or proceeding in the Chosen Courts, (iii) waives any objection that the Chosen Courts are an inconvenient forum or do not have jurisdiction over any party and (iv) agrees that service of process upon such party in any such action or proceeding will be effective if notice is given in accordance with Section 7.9.
- (c) EACH PARTY ACKNOWLEDGES AND AGREES THAT ANY CONTROVERSY WHICH MAY ARISE UNDER THIS AGREEMENT IS LIKELY TO INVOLVE COMPLICATED AND DIFFICULT ISSUES, AND THEREFORE EACH SUCH PARTY HEREBY IRREVOCABLY AND UNCONDITIONALLY WAIVES, TO THE FULLEST EXTENT PERMITTED BY APPLICABLE LAW, ANY RIGHT SUCH PARTY

MAY HAVE TO A TRIAL BY JURY IN RESPECT OF ANY SUIT, ACTION OR OTHER PROCEEDING DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY ARISING OUT OF OR RELATING TO THIS AGREEMENT OR THE TRANSACTIONS CONTEMPLATED BY THIS AGREEMENT. EACH PARTY CERTIFIES AND ACKNOWLEDGES THAT: (I) NO REPRESENTATIVE, AGENT OR ATTORNEY OF ANY OTHER PARTY HAS REPRESENTED, EXPRESSLY OR OTHERWISE, THAT SUCH OTHER PARTY WOULD NOT, IN THE EVENT OF ANY ACTION, SUIT OR PROCEEDING, SEEK TO ENFORCE THE FOREGOING WAIVER, (II) EACH PARTY UNDERSTANDS AND HAS CONSIDERED THE IMPLICATIONS OF THIS WAIVER, (III) EACH PARTY MAKES THIS WAIVER VOLUNTARILY, AND (IV) EACH PARTY HAS BEEN INDUCED TO ENTER INTO THIS AGREEMENT BY, AMONG OTHER THINGS, THE MUTUAL WAIVERS AND CERTIFICATIONS IN THIS Section 7.3(c).

Section 7.4. Obligations; Remedies. The Company and the Investors shall be entitled to enforce their rights under this Agreement specifically, to recover damages by reason of any breach of any provision of this Agreement (including, without limitation, costs of enforcement) and to exercise all other rights existing in their favor. The parties hereto agree that irreparable damage would occur if any provision of this Agreement were not performed in accordance with its specific terms or were otherwise breached. Accordingly, the parties shall be entitled to specific performance of the terms of this Agreement without the necessity of proving the inadequacy of monetary damages as a remedy, including an injunction or injunctions to prevent breaches of this Agreement or to enforce specifically the performance of the terms and provisions hereof, in addition to any other remedy to which they are entitled at law or in equity. Each of the parties hereby further waives (a) any defense in any action for specific performance that a remedy at law would be adequate and (b) any requirement under any Law to post security or a bond as a prerequisite to obtaining equitable relief. All remedies, either under this Agreement or by Law or otherwise afforded to any party, shall be cumulative and not alternative.

Section 7.5. Consent of the Investors. If any consent, approval or action of the Investors is required at any time pursuant to this Agreement, such consent, approval or action shall be deemed given if the holders of a majority of the outstanding Series A Shares held by the Investors at such time provide such consent, approval or action in writing at such time, unless this Agreement provides for more specific consent requirements of the Investors with respect to such consent, approval or action.

Section 7.6. Amendment and Waiver.

(a) The terms and provisions of this Agreement may be modified or amended at any time and from time to time only by the written consent of (i) the Company, (ii) the Centerbridge Investors, if the Centerbridge Investors, at such time, maintain the right to designate a director for election to the Board pursuant to Section 4.2; (iii) the Oaktree Investors, if the Oaktree Investors, at such time, maintain the right to designate a director for election to the Board pursuant to Section 4.3 and (iv) the Required Additional Investors, if the Additional Investors, at such time, maintain the right to designate a director for election to the Board pursuant to Section 4.4; provided, that (a) any amendment that would have a disproportionate material adverse effect on an Investor relative to any other Investors shall require the written consent of that Investor and (b) this Section 7.6 may not be amended without the prior written

consent of the Company and all of the Investors. If reasonably requested by the Investors, the Company agrees to execute and deliver any amendments to this Agreement which the Company in its reasonable discretion concludes are not adverse to the Company or its public stockholders to the extent so requested by the Investors in connection with the addition of a Permitted Transferee in accordance with Section 6.1 or a recipient of any newly-issued Shares as a party hereto; provided that such amendments are in compliance with the immediately preceding sentence. Any amendment, modification or waiver effected in accordance with the foregoing shall be effective and binding on the Company and all Investors.

(b) Any failure by any party at any time to enforce any of the provisions of this Agreement shall not be construed a waiver of such provision or any other provisions hereof.

Section 7.7. <u>Binding Effect</u>. Except as otherwise expressly provided herein, the provisions hereof shall inure to the benefit of, and be binding upon, the parties' successors and permitted assigns.

Section 7.8. Termination.

- (a) This Agreement shall automatically terminate as to any Investor on the first date on which such Investor no longer Beneficially Owns Shares.
- (b) This Agreement shall automatically terminate upon the earlier of (i) all Investors ceasing to be a party to this Agreement in accordance with Section 7.8(a); (ii) all Investors ceasing to maintain the right to designate a director for election to the Board pursuant to Article IV; (iii) a Change of Control; (iv) written agreement of the Company and the Investors that are party to this Agreement at such time; and (v) the dissolution or liquidation of the Company. In the event of any termination of this Agreement as provided in this Section 7.8, this Agreement shall forthwith become wholly void and of no further force or effect (except for Section 4.5(b) and Section 4.5(c) insofar as they require any Investor and the Company to procure the resignation of an Investor Director Designee in accordance therewith, and this Article VII, which shall survive) and there shall be no liability on the part of any parties hereto or their respective Affiliates, except as provided in this Article VII. Notwithstanding the foregoing, no party hereto shall be relieved from liability for any willful breach of this Agreement.

Section 7.9. <u>Notices</u>. Any and all notices, designations, offers, acceptances or other communications provided for herein shall be deemed duly given (a) when delivered personally by hand, (b) when sent by facsimile or email upon confirmation of receipt or (c) one Business Day following the day sent by overnight courier:

if to the Company, to:

Garrett Motion Inc.
La Pièce 16
1180 Rolle, Switzerland
Attention: Jerome P. Maironi
Email: jerome.maironi@garrettmotion.com

```
with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
      Sullivan & Cromwell LLP
      1 New Fetter Lane
      London EC4A 1AN
      United Kingdom
      Attention: Evan S. Simpson
      Email: simpsone@sullcrom.com
if to the Centerbridge Investors, to:
     [•]
     [•]
      Attention: [•]
      Email: [•]
      with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
      Milbank LLP
      55 Hudson Yards
      New York, NY 10003
      Attention: Dennis F. Dunne, Andrew M. Leblanc, and Andrew C.
      Email: ddunne@milbank.com, aleblanc@milbank.com,
      aharmeyer@milbank.com
if to the Oaktree Investors, to:
      [•]
      [•]
      Attention: [•]
      Email: [•]
      with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:
      Milbank LLP
      55 Hudson Yards
      New York, NY 10003
      Attention: Dennis F. Dunne, Andrew M. Leblanc, and Andrew C.
      Harmeyer
      Email: ddunne@milbank.com, aleblanc@milbank.com, aharmeyer@milbank.com
```

If to any Additional Investor, to the address on the counterpart signature page to this Agreement executed by such Additional Investor, with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to:

Jones Day 250 Vesey Street New York, NY 10281 Attention: Anna Kordas Email: akordas@jonesday.com

Jones Day 555 S. Flower Street 50th Floor Los Angeles, CA 90071

Attention: Bruce Bennett and Joshua M. Mester Email: bbennett@jonesday.com, jmester@jonesday.com

If to any Permitted Transferee who becomes party to this Agreement after the date hereof, to the address on the counterpart signature page to this Agreement executed by such Permitted Transferee.

Section 7.10. <u>Severability</u>. Whenever possible, each provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement shall be interpreted in such manner as to be effective and valid under applicable Law, but if any provision or portion of any provision of this Agreement is held to be invalid, illegal or unenforceable in any respect under any applicable Law in any jurisdiction, such invalidity, illegality or unenforceability shall not affect any other provision or portion of any provision in such jurisdiction, and this Agreement shall be reformed, construed and enforced in such jurisdiction such that the invalid, illegal or unenforceable provision or portion thereof shall be interpreted to be only so broad as is enforceable.

Section 7.11. <u>Third-Party Beneficiaries</u>. This Agreement shall be binding upon and inure solely to the benefit of the parties hereto and their permitted assigns and successors, and nothing herein, express or implied, is intended to or shall confer upon any other Person or entity, any legal or equitable right, benefit or remedy of any nature whatsoever under or by reason of this Agreement.

Section 7.12. <u>Counterparts</u>. This Agreement may be executed in any number of counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original, but all of which together shall constitute a single instrument. Copies of executed counterparts transmitted by telecopy or other electronic transmission service shall be considered original executed counterparts for purposes of this <u>Section 7.12</u>.

Section 7.13. <u>Headings</u>. The heading references herein and in the table of contents hereto are for convenience purposes only, do not constitute a part of this Agreement and shall not be deemed to limit or affect any of the provisions hereof.

Section 7.14. Recapitalizations; Exchanges, Etc. The provisions of this Agreement shall apply to the full extent set forth herein with respect to Shares, to any and all shares of capital stock of the Company or any successor or assign of the Company (whether by merger, consolidation, sale of assets or otherwise) which may be issued in respect of, in exchange for, or in substitution of the Shares, by reason of a stock dividend, stock split, stock issuance, reverse stock split, combination, recapitalization, reclassification, merger, consolidation or otherwise.

[Signature Pages Follow]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, each of the undersigned has executed this Agreement or caused this Agreement to be executed on its be	half as؛
of the date first written above.	

GARRETT MOTION INC.
Ву:
Name:
Title:

[Signature Page to Series A Investor Rights Agreement]

[CENTERBRIDGE]
By: Name: Title:
[CENTERBRIDGE]
By: Name: Title:

[Signature Page to Series A Investor Rights Agreement]

[OA	KTREE]
By:	Name: Title:
	[OAKTREE]
Ву:	Name: Title:

[Signature Page to Series A Investor Rights Agreement]

	[ADDITIONAL INVESTOR]
	By:
	Name:
	Title:
	Address:
[Signature Page to Series A Investor Rig	hts Agreement]

SCHEDULE A

INITIAL OWNERSHIP INTEREST

ANNEX A

FORM OF SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED CERTIFICATE OF INCORPORATION

ANNEX B

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS OF SERIES A CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

ANNEX C

FORM OF CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS OF SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK

ANNEX D

FORM OF SECOND AMENDED AND RESTATED BY-LAWS

Exhibit 5

Revised Draft of
Certificate of Designations of
Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc.

CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS

OF

SERIES A CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

OF

GARRETT MOTION INC.

GARRETT MOTION INC., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the "Corporation"), DOES HEREBY CERTIFY AS FOLLOWS:

The Board of Directors of the Corporation (including any committee thereof, the "Board of Directors"), at a meeting duly called and held on [•], 2021 in accordance with the provisions of the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, and the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, and applicable law, adopted the following resolution creating a series of Preferred Stock of the Corporation designated as "Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock":

RESOLVED, that pursuant to Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law and the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws, the Board of Directors hereby establishes a series of Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of the Corporation and fixes and determines the voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof as follows:

Section 1. <u>Designation</u>. The distinctive serial designation of such series is "Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock" ("<u>Series A</u>"). Each share of Series A shall be identical in all respects to every other share of Series A.

Section 2. <u>Number of Designated Shares</u>. The number of designated shares of Series A shall initially be [247,771,429]. Such number may from time to time be decreased (but not below the number of shares of Series A then outstanding) by the Board of Directors. Shares of Series A that are redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation shall be cancelled and shall revert to authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stock undesignated as to series.

Section 3. Definitions. As used herein with respect to Series A:

- (a) "Additional Payment Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(n).
- (b) "Additional Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(n).
- (c) "Additional Shares Fair Market Value" means, with respect to the shares of the Common Stock:
 - (1) if the shares are listed on a Principal Exchange on the day as of which Additional Shares Fair Market Value is being determined, the arithmetic average of the daily volume-weighted average price of such stock as reported in composite transactions for United States exchanges and quotation systems, for the thirty (30) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day); or

- (2) if the shares are not listed on a Principal Exchange on the day as of which Additional Shares Fair Market Value is being determined, but are listed on any Fallback Exchange, the arithmetic average of the daily volume-weighted average price of such stock for the thirty (30) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day) as reported by such Fallback Exchange or, if not so reported, a service reporting such information as shall be selected by the Corporation; or
- (3) if the shares are not traded on a Fallback Exchange on the day as of which Additional Shares Fair Market Value is being determined but are traded on an Over-the-Counter Market, the arithmetic average of the daily volume- weighted average of the high bid price and the low ask price for the shares for the thirty (30) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day) in such Over-the-Counter Market, as reported by such Over-the-Counter Market or, if not so reported, a service reporting such information as shall be selected by the Corporation; or
- (4) in the case of securities not covered by clauses (1) through (3) above, the Additional Shares Fair Market Value of such securities shall be determined in good faith by the Board of Directors;

provided that, with respect to any determination of Additional Shares Fair Market Value pursuant to clauses (1) through (3) above, the Corporation, in its good faith determination, shall make appropriate adjustments to the arithmetic average of the daily volume-weighted average price, or bid and ask stock price, to account for any stock split, reverse stock split, dividend, Distribution or other event requiring any adjustments to the Conversion Rate, so as to provide for a consistent determination of Additional Shares Fair Market Value over any period of Trading Days as may be specified in this Certificate of Designations.

- (d) "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any Person who, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with that Person, and the term "control" (including the terms "controlled", "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by contract (including proxy) or otherwise.
 - (e) "Aggregate Liquidation Entitlement" means the aggregate amount of Liquidation Entitlements for all outstanding shares of Series A.
- (f) "<u>Associate</u>" means, when used to indicate a relationship with any Person, (i) a corporation or organization (other than the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries) of which such Person is an officer or director or is, directly or indirectly, the owner of ten percent (10%) or more of any class of voting or equity securities, (ii) any trust or other estate in which such Person has a substantial beneficial interest or as to which such Person serves as trustee or in a similar capacity and (iii) any Family Member of such Person who lives in the same home as such Person.

- (g) "Automatic Conversion Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(c).
- (h) "Automatic Conversion Event" means (i) at any time the adoption of a resolution of a Majority In Interest to convert the outstanding shares of Series A into Common Stock pursuant to Section 7(c) or (ii) the occurrence of a Trading Day at any time on or after [to insert the date which is two (2) years following the Effective Date], on which (A) the aggregate Stated Amount of all outstanding shares of Series B is an amount less than or equal to \$125,000,000, (B) the Common Stock is traded on a Principal Exchange, a Fallback Exchange or an Over-the-Counter Market and, in each case, the Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value of the Common Stock exceeds one hundred and fifty percent (150%) of the Conversion Price and (C) Consolidated EBITDA for the last twelve months ended as of the last day of each of the two most recent fiscal quarters is greater than or equal to \$600,000,000.
 - (i) "Automatic Conversion Event Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(d).
 - (j) "Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value" means, with respect to the shares of the Common Stock:
 - (1) if the shares are listed on a Principal Exchange on the day as of which Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value is being determined, the arithmetic average of the daily volume-weighted average price of such stock as reported in composite transactions for United States exchanges and quotation systems for the seventy-five (75) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day); or
 - (2) if the shares are not listed on a Principal Exchange on the day as of which Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value is being determined, but are listed on any Fallback Exchange, the arithmetic average of the daily volume- weighted average price of such stock for the seventy-five (75) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day) as reported by such Fallback Exchange or, if not so reported, a service reporting such information as shall be selected by the Corporation; or
 - (3) if the shares are not traded on a Fallback Exchange on the day as of which Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value is being determined but are traded on an Over-the-Counter Market, the arithmetic average of the daily volume- weighted average of the high bid price and the low ask price for the shares for the seventy-five (75) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day) in such Over-the-Counter Market, as reported by such Over-the-Counter Market or, if not so reported, a service reporting such information as shall be selected by the Corporation;

provided that, with respect to any determination of Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value pursuant to clauses (1) through (3) above, the Corporation, in its good faith determination, shall make appropriate adjustments to the arithmetic average of the daily volume-weighted average price, or bid and ask stock price, to account for any stock split, reverse stock split, dividend, Distribution or other event requiring any adjustments to the Conversion Rate, so as to provide for a consistent determination of Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value over any period of Trading Days as may be specified in this Certificate of Designations.

- (k) "Beneficial Owner" or "Beneficially Own" have the meanings assigned to such terms in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act.
- (l) "Board of Directors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- (m) "Business Day" means each Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or Friday on which banking institutions in The City of New York are not authorized or obligated by law, regulation or executive order to close.
- (n) "Bylaws" means the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, as amended, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time.
- (o) "Certificate of Incorporation" means the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, as amended, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time.
 - (p) "Change of Control" means any of the following events (whether in a single transaction or series of related transactions):
 - (i) a "person" or "group" (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), other than the Corporation or its wholly owned subsidiaries, acquires, directly or indirectly, capital stock of the Corporation such that following such acquisition, such person or group becomes the direct or indirect Beneficial Owner of shares of the Corporation's capital stock representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation;
 - (ii) any transaction or series of related transactions in connection with which (whether by means of merger, consolidation, share exchange, combination, reclassification, recapitalization, acquisition or otherwise) a majority of the Corporation's capital stock is exchanged for, converted into, acquired for, or constitutes solely the right to receive, other securities, cash or other property; provided, however, that any merger, consolidation, share exchange or combination of the Corporation pursuant to which the Person or Persons that directly or indirectly Beneficially Owned all classes and series of the Corporation's capital stock immediately before such transaction directly or indirectly Beneficially Own, immediately after such transaction, more than fifty percent (50%) of all classes or series of capital stock of the surviving, continuing or acquiring company or other transferee, as applicable, or the parent thereof, in substantially the same proportions vis-à-vis each other as immediately before such transaction, will be deemed not to be a Change of Control pursuant to this clause (ii); or
 - (iii) the sale, exchange, lease, or transfer of all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets, determined on a consolidated basis (other than a sale, exchange, lease, or transfer to one or more entities where the stockholders of the Corporation immediately before such sale, exchange or transfer retain, directly or indirectly, at least a majority of the beneficial interest in the voting stock of the entities to which the assets were transferred, in substantially the same proportions vis-à-vis each other as immediately before such transaction).

- (q) "Close of Business" means 5:00 p.m., New York City time.
- (r) "Code" has the meaning set forth in Section 17.
- (s) "Common Stock" means the common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of the Corporation.
- (t) "Consolidated Debt" has the meaning given to such term or any analogous term in the Credit Agreement then in effect; provided, that if a Credit Agreement is no longer in effect, "Consolidated Debt" shall have the meaning set forth in the Credit Agreement as most recently in effect.
- (u) "Consolidated EBITDA" has the meaning given to such term or any analogous term in the Credit Agreement then in effect; provided, that if a Credit Agreement is no longer in effect, "Consolidated EBITDA" shall have the meaning set forth in the Credit Agreement as most recently in effect.
- (v) "Consolidated Leverage Ratio" means, as of any date, the ratio of (x) Consolidated Debt to (y) Consolidated EBITDA for the most recent four fiscal quarters for which financial statements of the Corporation are available.
 - (w) "Constituent Person" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(j)(iii).
- (x) "Conversion Price" means five dollars and twenty-five cents (\$5.25) per share of Common Stock, subject to adjustment as described in Section 7(g).
- (y) "Conversion Rate" means the number of shares of Common Stock into which each share of Series A may be converted, equal to the Stated Amount of the shares of Series A being converted *divided by* the Conversion Price.
 - (z) "Corporation" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- (aa) "Credit Agreement" means that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of [April 30], 2021, among the Corporation, Garrett LX I S.À R.L., Garrett Motion Holdings, Inc., Garrett Motion SÀRL, the lenders and issuing banks party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as amended, restated, amended and restated, modified or otherwise supplemented from time to time, or any replacement or successor thereto that is at the applicable time of determination the senior secured credit facility of the Corporation with the largest amount of undrawn commitments plus aggregate principal amount outstanding.
- (bb) "<u>Disinterested Directors</u>" means all members of the Board of Directors other than any member of the Board of Directors who is, or is an employee, director, officer, partner, member or stockholder of, or is otherwise Affiliated or Associated with, any Person who Beneficially Owns shares of Series A with an aggregate Series A Fair Market Value greater than or equal to [\$50,000].1

- (cc) "Disinterested Directors' Committee" shall mean a duly convened committee comprised solely of each of the Disinterested Directors.
- (dd) "<u>Distribution</u>" shall mean the transfer of cash or other property (including capital stock of the Corporation or rights to acquire capital stock of the Corporation) without consideration whether by way of dividend or otherwise, other than: (i) repurchases of Common Stock (or securities convertible into Common Stock) in individually negotiated transactions or (ii) any other repurchases or redemptions of capital stock of the Corporation approved by (A) the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote on matters on which holders of Common Stock are entitled to vote and (B) a Majority In Interest.
 - (ee) "Dividend Junior Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(c).
 - (ff) "Dividend Parity Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(c).
- (gg) "<u>Dividend Senior Stock</u>" means any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors with the approval of a Majority In Interest in accordance with Section 8(c)(i), the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks senior to the Series A as to the right to payment of dividends.
 - (hh) "DTC" means The Depository Trust Company.
 - (ii) "Effective Date" means [April 30], 2021.
 - (jj) "Exchange Act" means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 - (kk) "Exchange Property" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(j)(iii).
- (ll) "Fallback Exchange" means the principal U.S. national or regional securities exchange other than a Principal Exchange on which the Common Stock is then listed or, if the Common Stock is not then listed on a U.S. national or regional securities exchange, the principal other market on which the Common Stock is then traded.

(mm) "Family Member" means with respect to an individual (i) such individual's parent, grandparent, any present or former spouse, children and siblings, whether by blood, marriage or adoption, and any issue of the foregoing, (ii) the trustees of any trust now or hereafter in existence from which or as to which any individual or individuals described in clause (i) of this definition shall be entitled to receive all or part of the income or shall be a remainderman or remaindermen and (iii) in the event of such individual's death, such individual's heirs, executors, administrators, testamentary transferees, legatees and beneficiaries.

Note to Draft: Corporate governance guidelines will provide that no Disinterested Director may acquire any shares of Series A during such Director's term of office.

- (nn) "Holder" shall mean the person or entity in which the Series A is registered on the books of the Corporation, which shall initially be the person or entity which such Series A is issued to, and shall thereafter be permitted and legal assigns which the Corporation is notified of by the Holder and which the Holder has provided a valid legal opinion in connection therewith to the Corporation and to whom such shares are legally transferred.
 - (oo) "Holder Conversion" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(a).
 - (pp) "Holder Conversion Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(a).
- (qq) "<u>Indebtedness</u>" has the meaning given to such term or any analogous term in the Credit Agreement then in effect; <u>provided</u>, that if a Credit Agreement is no longer in effect, "Indebtedness" shall have the meaning set forth in the Credit Agreement as most recently in effect.
- (rr) "<u>Liquidation Entitlement</u>" means, as of any date with respect to each share of Series A, the greater of (1) (a) the Stated Amount *plus* (b) the aggregate amount of cumulative unpaid Preference Dividends (whether or not authorized or declared) as of such date and (2) (a) the amount the Holders of Series A would receive if such shares were converted immediately prior to the Liquidation Event into Common Stock pursuant to Section 7(c) *plus* (b) the aggregate amount of cumulative unpaid Preference Dividends (whether or not authorized or declared) as of such date.
 - (ss) "Liquidation Event" means any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation.
 - (tt) "Liquidation Junior Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.
 - (uu) "Liquidation Parity Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.
 - (vv) "Liquidation Parity Stock Liquidation Preference" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a).
 - (ww) "Liquidation Senior Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.
 - (xx) "Majority In Interest" means Holders holding a majority of the then issued and outstanding shares of Series A.
- (yy) "Market Disruption Event" means (i) a failure by the Principal Exchange or Fallback Exchange, as applicable, to open for trading during its regular trading session or (ii) the occurrence or existence prior to 1:00 p.m. New York City time on any day on which the Principal Exchange or Fallback Exchange, as applicable, is open for trading for more than one half-hour period in the aggregate during regular trading hours of any suspension or limitation imposed on trading (by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the Principal Exchange or Fallback Exchange, as applicable, or otherwise) in the Common Stock or in any options contracts or futures contracts relating to the Common Stock.
 - (zz) "Notice of Holder Conversion" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(a).
- (aaa) "Over-the-Counter Market" means OTCQX or OTCQB of OTC Markets and the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board of Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (or any of their respective successors).

- (bbb) "Person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization or government or other agency or political subdivision thereof. Any division or series of a limited liability company, limited partnership or trust will constitute a separate "Person" under this Certificate of Designations.
 - (ccc) "Preference Dividends" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(a).
 - (ddd) "Preference Dividend Payment Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(a).
 - (eee) "Preference Dividend Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(a).
- (fff) "<u>Preferred Stock</u>" means the Series B, and any future series of preferred stock of the Corporation authorized in accordance with the terms of this Certificate of Designations.
 - (ggg) "Principal Exchange" means the [New York Stock Exchange] [Nasdaq Global Select Market] (or any of its successors).
 - (hhh) "Redemption" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(a).
 - (iii) "Redemption Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(c).
 - (jjj) "Redemption Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(d).
 - (kkk) "Redemption Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(a).
 - (lll) "Reorganization Event" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(j)(iii).
 - (mmm) "Securities Act" means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
 - (nnn) "Series A" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.
- (000) "Series A Fair Market Value" means, with respect to each share of Series A, the arithmetic average of the volume-weighted average prices for a share on the principal United States securities exchange or automated quotation system on which shares of Series A trade, as reported by Bloomberg (or, if Bloomberg ceases to publish such price, any successor service chosen by the Corporation) in respect of the ten (10) Trading Days preceding the date of determination or, if the Series A is not traded on any such exchange or automated quotation system, such value as is determined in good faith by the Board of Directors.
 - (ppp) "Series B" means the Series B Preferred Stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of the Corporation.
- (qqq) "<u>Stated Amount</u>" means, in respect of each share of Series A, five dollars and twenty-five cents (\$5.25) per share, and, in respect of any other series of capital stock, the stated amount per share specified in the Certificate of Incorporation or applicable certificate of designations.

- (rrr) "Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person of which a majority of the securities or other interests having ordinary voting power for the election of directors or other governing body (other than securities or interests having such power only by reason of the happening of a contingency) are at the time Beneficially Owned, or the management of which is otherwise controlled, directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, or both, by such first Person. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to a "Subsidiary" or to "Subsidiaries" shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of the Corporation.
- (sss) "Trading Day" means a day on which (i) no Market Disruption Event occurs and (ii) trading in the Common Stock occurs on the Principal Exchange or, if the shares of Common Stock are not listed on a Principal Exchange, the Fallback Exchange; provided that if the Common Stock is not so listed or traded, then "Trading Day" means a Business Day.

Section 4. Dividends. The Series A shall not accrue any dividends except as provided in this Section 4.

- (a) <u>Preference Dividends</u>. Holders of Series A shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Disinterested Directors' Committee out of funds legally available therefor, cumulative cash dividends at the annual rate of eleven percent (11%) of (x) the Stated Amount per share plus (y) the amount of any accrued and unpaid dividends on each such share (collectively, the "<u>Preference Dividends</u>"), accumulating on a daily basis and payable quarterly on January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1, respectively, in each year (or, if any such date is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day, without any adjustment in the amount paid) (each, a "<u>Preference Dividend Payment Date</u>") with respect to the period from and including the last Preference Dividend Payment Date (or the Effective Date, with respect to the first quarterly period) to and including the day preceding such respective dividend payment date (or portion thereof) (the "<u>Preference Dividend Period</u>") to holders of record on the respective date, not more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days preceding the Preference Dividend Payment Date, fixed for that purpose by the Disinterested Directors' Committee in advance of payment of each particular Preference Dividend. The amount of the Preference Dividend for each Preference Dividend Period (or portion thereof) will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. The Corporation shall not pay any additional interest, fee, penalty or other amount in respect of any Preference Dividend that may be in arrears on the Series A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Disinterested Directors' Committee shall not declare a Preference Dividend at any time when Consolidated EBITDA for the most recent four fiscal quarters for which financial statements of the Corporation are available is less than
- \$425,000,000. Preference Dividends shall accumulate whether or not (i) the Corporation has earnings; (ii) there are funds legally available for the payment of those dividends; or (iii) those dividends are authorized or declared.
- (b) <u>Participating Dividends</u>. In addition to any cash dividends which may be declared and paid to Holders pursuant to Section 4(a), the Holders shall, as Holders of Series A, be entitled to such dividends paid and other Distributions made to the holders of Common Stock to the same extent as if such Holders had converted the Series A into Common Stock (without regard to any limitations on conversion herein or elsewhere) and had held such shares of Common Stock on the record date for such dividends and Distributions. Payments under the preceding sentence shall be made concurrently with the dividend or Distribution to the holders of Common Stock.
- (c) <u>Priority of Dividends</u>. So long as any share of Series A remains outstanding, no dividend whatsoever shall be paid or declared and no Distribution shall be made on any class of Common Stock or any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors (other than Dividend Parity Stock or Dividend Senior Stock) (collectively, referred to as the "<u>Dividend Junior Stock</u>"), other than a dividend payable solely in Dividend Junior Stock,

and no shares of Dividend Junior Stock shall be purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by the Corporation, directly or indirectly (other than as a result of a reclassification of junior stock for or into junior stock, or the exchange or conversion of one share of Dividend Junior Stock for or into another share of Dividend Junior Stock, and other than through the use of the proceeds of a substantially contemporaneous sale of other shares of Dividend Junior Stock), unless (i) all cumulative accrued and unpaid Preference Dividends on all outstanding shares of Series A have been paid in full and the full dividend thereon for the then current Preference Dividend Period has been paid or declared and set aside for payment and (ii) all prior redemption requirements with respect to Series A have been complied with. When Preference Dividends are not paid in full upon the shares of Series A and any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors with the vote or written consent of a Majority In Interest, the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks *pari passu* with the Series A as to rights to payment of dividends (collectively, referred to as the "Dividend Parity Stock"), all Preference Dividends declared upon shares of Series A and all dividends declared upon Dividend Parity Stock shall be declared *pro rata* so that the respective amounts of such dividends shall bear the same ratio to each other as all accrued but unpaid Preference Dividends per share on the shares of Series A and all accrued but unpaid dividends (payable in cash, stock or otherwise) as may be declared by the Board of Directors on any Dividend Junior Stock from time to time out of any funds legally available therefor.

Section 5. Ranking. The Series A shall, with respect to the right to be paid the Liquidation Entitlement upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (as provided in Section 6 below), rank (i) senior to (A) all classes of Common Stock, (B) the Series B, (C) any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors (other than Liquidation Parity Stock or Liquidation Senior Stock established in accordance with Section 8(c)(i) or Section 8(c)(ii)) (the classes referred to in the foregoing clauses (A) through (C), collectively, referred to as the "Liquidation Junior Stock"), (ii) pari passu with any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 8(c)(ii), the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks pari passu with the Series A as to rights on the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (collectively, referred to as the "Liquidation Parity Stock") and (iii) junior to any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 8(c)(i), the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks senior to the Series A as to rights on the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (collectively, referred to as "Liquidation Senior Stock"). For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 5 shall not prohibit the Corporation from making any redemption payments on the Series B in accordance with the Series B Certificate of Designations.

Section 6. Liquidation Event Rights.

(a) <u>Payment of Aggregate Liquidation Entitlement</u>. In the event of the occurrence of any Liquidation Event, before any Distribution or payment out of the assets of the Corporation may be made to or set aside for the holders of any Liquidation Junior Stock, the Holders of Series A will be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Corporation legally available for distribution to its stockholders an amount equal to the Aggregate Liquidation Entitlement. If, after payment of any liquidation preferences otherwise payable to holders of any Liquidation Senior Stock in respect of any Distribution upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event, and subject to applicable Law, the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to pay all Holders of Series A the Aggregate Liquidation Entitlement in full and to pay all holders of any Liquidation Parity Stock the amounts otherwise payable to such holders in respect of any Distributions upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (a "Liquidation Parity Stock Liquidation Preference"), then the amounts paid to the Holders of Series A and to the holders of all Liquidation Parity Stock shall be *pro rata* in accordance with the respective Aggregate Liquidation Entitlement and the Liquidation Parity Stock Liquidation Preferences of such Liquidation Parity Stock.

- (b) <u>Residual Distributions</u>. If the Liquidation Entitlement has been paid in full to all Holders of Series A, all Liquidation Parity Stock Liquidation Preferences, if any, have been paid in full to all holders of any Liquidation Parity Stock, and all other applicable liquidation preferences have been paid to holders of Liquidation Junior Stock which is senior to the Common Stock with respect to rights upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event, then holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to receive any and all assets remaining legally available for distribution to the Corporation's stockholders.
- (c) <u>Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Assets Not Liquidation</u>. For purposes of this Certificate of Designations, the merger, consolidation or other business combination of the Corporation with or into any other corporation, including a transaction in which the Holders of Series A receive cash or property for their shares, or the sale, conveyance, lease, exchange or transfer (for cash, shares of stock, securities or other consideration) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation, shall not constitute a Liquidation Event.

Section 7. Conversion.

- (a) <u>Conversion at the Option of the Holders</u>. Each share of Series A shall be convertible, at the option of the Holder thereof (a "<u>Holder Conversion</u>"), effective on January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1 in each year (or, if any such date is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day, without any adjustment in the Additional Payment Amount), or on the third² Business Day prior to a Redemption Date (provided, that the Corporation shall have received the Notice of Holder Conversion prior to the Close of Business on the Business Day prior to such Redemption Date) (any such date, the "<u>Holder Conversion Date</u>") into fully-paid, non-assessable shares of Common Stock at the Conversion Rate then in effect. In order to effectuate the Holder Conversion, the Holder must provide the Corporation a written notice of conversion in the form of <u>Annex A</u> hereto (the "<u>Notice of Holder Conversion</u>"). The Notice of Holder Conversion must be received by the Corporation (or, in the discretion of the Corporation, the transfer agent) no later than (A) with respect to any Holder Conversion Date scheduled to fall on January 1, April 1, July 1 or October 1 of any year, ten (10) Business Days prior to the applicable Holder Conversion Date or (B) with respect to any Holder Conversion Date falling on the third Business Day prior to a Redemption Date, prior to the Close of Business on the Business Day prior to such Redemption Date.
- (b) <u>Mechanics of Holder Conversion</u>. A Holder of Series A that has validly effected a Notice of Holder Conversion shall be deemed to be the holder of record of the Common Stock issuable upon such conversion as of the applicable Holder Conversion Date, notwithstanding that certificates (if any) representing such shares of Series A shall not have been surrendered at the office of the Corporation, that notice from the Corporation shall not have been received by any Holder of record of shares of Series A, or that the certificates evidencing such shares of Common Stock shall not then be actually delivered to such Holder. In order to effect a Holder Conversion, a Holder shall fax or email a copy of the fully executed Notice of Holder Conversion to the Corporation (or, in the discretion of the Corporation, the transfer agent): Attention: [•], with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: [•]. Notwithstanding the

Note to Millbank: See Section 9(d)(iv).

foregoing, if beneficial interests in shares of Series A are held through DTC or any other similar facility, a copy of the Notice of Holder Conversion may be given by the applicable Holders of Series A at such time and in any manner permitted by such facility. Upon receipt by the Corporation of a facsimile or emailed copy of a Notice of Holder Conversion from a Holder, the Corporation or the transfer agent shall promptly send, via facsimile or email, a confirmation to such Holder stating that the Notice of Holder Conversion has been received, the date upon which the Corporation or the transfer agent expects to deliver the Common Stock issuable upon such Holder Conversion and the name and telephone number of a contact person at the Corporation or the transfer agent regarding the Holder Conversion. Dividends payable on shares of Series A surrendered for conversion during the period from the Close of Business on any record date for the payment of a dividend on such shares to the opening of business on the date of payment of such dividend shall be payable to the holder of record of such shares as of such record date notwithstanding such conversion. Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, no payment or adjustment shall be made upon any conversion of shares of Series A on account of any dividends accumulated on such shares or on account of any dividends accumulated on the shares of Common Stock issued upon such conversion.

- (c) <u>Automatic Conversion</u>. Each share of Series A shall, on the third Trading Day following the date on which the Corporation delivers an Automatic Conversion Event Notice (the "<u>Automatic Conversion Date</u>") automatically be converted into fully-paid, non-assessable shares of Common Stock at the Conversion Rate then in effect on the Automatic Conversion Date, without any further action by the Holders of such shares and whether or not certificates representing such shares are surrendered to the Corporation or its transfer agent.
- (d) <u>Mechanics of Automatic Conversion</u>. Within ten (10) Business Days following the occurrence of an Automatic Conversion Event, the Corporation shall deliver a notice to the Holders of outstanding Series A stating that an Automatic Conversion Event has occurred and stating the Conversion Rate in effect as of the Automatic Conversion Date (the "<u>Automatic Conversion Event Notice</u>"). On the Automatic Conversion Date, each Holder of Series A shall be deemed to be the holder of record of the Common Stock issuable upon such conversion, notwithstanding that the certificates (if any) representing such shares of Series A shall not have been surrendered at the office of the Corporation, that notice from the Corporation shall not have been received by any Holder of record of shares of Series A, or that the certificates evidencing such shares of Common Stock shall not then be actually delivered to such Holder. Dividends payable on shares of Series A surrendered for conversion during the period from the Close of Business on any record date for the payment of a dividend on such shares to the opening of business on the date of payment of such dividend shall be payable to the holder of record of such shares as of such record date notwithstanding such conversion. Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, no payment or adjustment shall be made upon any conversion of shares of Series A on account of any dividends accrued on such shares or on account of any dividends accrued on the shares of Common Stock issued upon such conversion.
- (e) <u>Reservation of Shares, Etc.</u> The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available, free from preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion of shares of Series A, the full number of shares of Common Stock that would then be deliverable upon the conversion of all shares of Series A then outstanding. If any shares of Common Stock required to be reserved for purposes of conversion of the Series A hereunder require registration with or approval of any governmental authority under any Federal or State law before such shares may be issued or freely transferred upon conversion, the Corporation will in good faith and as expeditiously as possible endeavor to cause such shares to be duly registered or approved as the case may be. If the Common Stock is quoted

on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, New York Stock Exchange, or any other U.S. national securities exchange, the Corporation will, if permitted by the rules of such exchange, list and keep listed on such exchange, upon official notice of issuance, all shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the reference to listing in the third sentence of this paragraph shall apply only when the Series A shall have become freely transferable under the federal securities laws.

- (f) <u>No Fractional Shares</u>. No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued upon conversion of Series A. If a number of shares of Series A (evidenced by one or more certificates) shall be surrendered for conversion at one time by the same holder, the number of full shares issuable upon conversion thereof shall be computed on the basis of the aggregate number of shares of Series A being converted at such time by such holder. Instead of any fractional share of Common Stock that would otherwise be issuable to a holder upon conversion of any shares of Series A, the Corporation shall pay a cash adjustment in respect of such fractional share of Common Stock assuming each share of Common Stock has a value equal to the Additional Shares Fair Market Value.
- (g) <u>Adjustment of Conversion Price</u>. In the event that outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be subdivided or split into a greater number of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Price in effect at the opening of business on the day following the day upon which such subdivision becomes effective shall be proportionately reduced, and conversely, in case outstanding shares of Common Stock shall each be combined into a smaller number of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Price in effect at the opening of business on the day following the day upon which such combination becomes effective shall be proportionately increased, such reduction or increase, as the case may be, to become effective immediately after the opening of business on the day following the day upon which such subdivision or combination becomes effective. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation shall not make any adjustment to the Conversion Price if Holders of the Series A have the opportunity to participate, at the same time and upon the same terms as holders of Common Stock and solely as a result of holding Series A, in any transaction described in this Section 7(g), without having to convert their shares of Series A, as if they held a number of shares of Common Stock issuable to such Holder at the Conversion Price.
- (h) <u>Calculation of Adjustments</u>. All adjustments to the Conversion Price shall be calculated by the Corporation to the nearest 1/100th of a cent and all conversions based thereon shall be calculated by the Corporation to the nearest 1/10,000th of one share of Common Stock (or if there is not a nearest 1/10,000th of a share, to the next lower 1/10,000th of a share). No adjustment to the Conversion Price will be required unless such adjustment would require an increase or decrease to the Conversion Price of at least \$0.0100; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that any such adjustment that is not required to be made will be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u> that any such adjustment of less than \$0.0100 that has not been made will be made upon any Holder Conversion Date or Automatic Conversion Date or redemption or repurchase date.
- (i) <u>Successive Adjustments</u>. After an adjustment to the Conversion Price under this Section 7, any subsequent event requiring an adjustment under this Section 7 shall cause an adjustment to each such Conversion Price as so adjusted.

(j) *Reorganization Events*. In the event of:

- (i) any reclassification, statutory exchange, merger, consolidation or other similar business combination of the Corporation with or into another Person, in each case, pursuant to which at least a majority of the Common Stock is changed or converted into, or exchanged for, cash, securities or other property of the Corporation or another Person;
- (ii) any sale, transfer, lease or conveyance to another Person of all or a majority of the property and assets of the Corporation, in each case pursuant to which the Common Stock is converted into cash, securities or other property; or
- (iii) any statutory exchange of securities of the Corporation with another Person (other than in connection with a merger or acquisition) or reclassification, recapitalization or reorganization of the Common Stock into other securities;

other than, in each case, any such transaction that constitutes a Change of Control, with respect to which, for the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of Section 9 shall apply (each of which is referred to as a "Reorganization Event"), each share of Series A outstanding immediately prior to such Reorganization Event will, without the consent of the Holders and subject to Section 7(1) and Section 8(c), remain outstanding but shall become convertible into, out of funds legally available therefor, the number, kind and amount of securities, cash and other property (the "Exchange Property") (without any interest on such Exchange Property and without any right to dividends or distribution on such Exchange Property which have a record date that is prior to the applicable Holder Conversion Date or Automatic Conversion Date) that the Holder of such share of Series A would have received in such Reorganization Event had such Holder converted its shares of Series A into the applicable number of shares of Common Stock immediately prior to the effective date of the Reorganization Event using the Conversion Price applicable immediately prior to the effective date of the Reorganization Event, [assuming that the Corporation elected to issue Additional Shares in connection with such conversion and including such shares for the foregoing purposes]; provided that the foregoing shall not apply if such Holder is a Person with which the Corporation consolidated or into which the Corporation merged or which merged into the Corporation or to which such sale or transfer was made, as the case may be (any such Person, a "Constituent Person"), to the extent such Reorganization Event provides for different treatment of Common Stock held by such Constituent Persons. If the kind or amount of securities, cash and other property receivable upon such Reorganization Event is not the same for each share of Common Stock held immediately prior to such Reorganization Event by a Person (other than a Constituent Person), then for the purpose of this Section 7(j), the kind and amount of securities, cash and other property receivable upon conversion following such Reorganization Event will be deemed to be the weighted average of the types and amounts of consideration received by the holders of Common Stock.

- (k) <u>Successive Reorganization Events</u>. The above provisions of Section 7(j) shall similarly apply to successive Reorganization Events and the provisions of Section 7(g) shall apply to any shares of capital stock of the Corporation received by the holders of the Common Stock in any such Reorganization Event.
- (l) <u>Reorganization Event Agreements</u>. The Corporation shall not enter into any agreement for a transaction constituting a Reorganization Event unless (i) such agreement provides for or does not interfere with or prevent (as applicable) conversion of the Series A into the Exchange Property in a manner that is consistent with and gives effect to Section 7(j), and (ii) to the extent that the Corporation is not the surviving corporation in such Reorganization Event or will be dissolved in connection with such Reorganization Event, proper provision shall be made in the agreements governing such Reorganization Event for the conversion of the Series A into stock of the Person surviving such Reorganization Event or such other continuing entity in such Reorganization Event.

- (m) <u>Notice of Adjustments</u>. Whenever the Conversion Price is adjusted as herein provided, the Corporation shall prepare, and shall keep at the Corporation's principal offices, and shall make available to any Holder upon request, a statement showing in reasonable detail the facts requiring such adjustment and the Conversion Rate that shall be in effect after such adjustment, and the Corporation shall also cause a notice stating that the Conversion Price has been adjusted and setting forth the adjusted Conversion Price shall forthwith be required, and as soon as practicable after it is required such notice shall be mailed by the Corporation to all Holders of Series A, at their last addresses as they shall appear upon the stock transfer books of the Corporation.
- (n) <u>Additional Payment Amount; Additional Conversion Shares</u>. Upon conversion of any share of Series A, the Holder thereof shall receive a payment in cash in an amount equal to the amount of cumulative unpaid Preference Dividends (whether or not authorized or declared) as of the Holder Conversion Date or Automatic Conversion Date, as applicable (the "<u>Additional Payment Amount</u>"); <u>provided</u>, that the Corporation may elect, in its sole discretion, in lieu of the payment of the Additional Payment Amount, to issue to such Holder an additional number of fully-paid, non-assessable shares of Common Stock equal to the Additional Payment Amount *divided by* the lesser of (i) the Additional Shares Fair Market Value and (ii) the fair market value of the Common Stock at the time of such conversion as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors (the "<u>Additional Shares</u>"). The payment of the Additional Payment Amount, or the issuance of the Additional Shares, as applicable, shall be made on or before the tenth (10th) Business Day following the Automatic Conversion Date or the date on which the Notice of Holder Conversion is actually received by the Corporation, as applicable.

Section 8. Voting Rights.

- (a) *General*. The Holders of Series A will have no voting rights except as set forth below or in the Certificate of Incorporation or as otherwise required by law.
- (b) <u>Right to Vote with Holders of Common Stock</u>. Subject to the other provisions of, and without limiting the other voting rights provided in, this Section 8, and except as provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or required by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Holders will have the right to vote together as a single class with the holders of the Common Stock on each matter submitted for a vote or consent by the holders of the Common Stock, and, solely for these purposes, (i) the Series A of each Holder will entitle such Holder to cast a number of votes on such matter equal to the number of votes such Holder would have been entitled to cast if such Holder were the holder of record, as of the record date or, if there is no record date, other relevant date for such matter, of a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the whole number of shares of Common Stock that would be issuable upon conversion of such Series A assuming such Series A were converted in connection with an Automatic Conversion Event occurring on such record date or, if there is no record date, other relevant date; in each case assuming that the Corporation elected to issue Additional Shares in connection with such conversion and including such shares for the foregoing purposes (provided, that for the purposes of this Section 8(b), the number of Additional Shares shall not be greater than an amount equal to the Additional Payment Amount *divided by* \$1.00) and (ii) the Holders will be entitled to notice of all stockholder meetings or proposed actions by written consent in accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws, and the Delaware General Corporation Law as if the Holders were holders of Common Stock. For the avoidance of doubt, no Holder of Series A will be treated as the holder of the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of such Series A except as set out in Section 7.

- (c) <u>Other Voting Rights</u>. So long as any shares of Series A are outstanding, in addition to any other vote or consent of stockholders required by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation, the approval of a Majority In Interest, voting as a class, given in person or by proxy, either in writing without a meeting or by vote at any meeting called for the purpose, will be necessary for:
 - (i) effecting or validating any amendment, modification or alteration of the Certificate of Incorporation (whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise) to authorize or create, or increase the authorized amount of, any shares of any class or series or any securities convertible into shares of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation ranking senior to or *pari passu* with Series A with respect to the payment of the Preference Dividend or payment of the Liquidation Entitlement upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event;
 - (ii) any increase in the authorized number of shares of Series A, Dividend Party Stock or Liquidation Parity Stock or issuance of shares of Series A, Dividend Parity Stock or Liquidating Parity Stock after the date hereof;
 - (iii) effecting or validating any amendment, alteration or repeal (whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise) of any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation (including this Certificate of Designations and any other certificate of designations of the Corporation) or Bylaws that would have an adverse effect on the rights, preferences, privileges or voting power of the Series A or the Holders thereof in any material respect; provided, that for the avoidance of doubt, any merger, consolidation, or similar transaction shall not be deemed to have such an adverse effect so long as (A) the Series A remains outstanding with the terms thereof materially unchanged or the holders of the Series A receive equity securities with rights, preferences, privileges and voting power substantially the same as those of the Series A, and (B) the provisions of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws (or equivalent governing documents) of the surviving entity or successor entity in such transaction do not differ from the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws in any manner that would have an adverse effect on the rights, preferences, privileges or voting power of the Series A or such replacement equity securities or the Holders thereof in any material respect; provided, further, to the extent that the Corporation duly consummated its Redemption rights in connection with a Change of Control pursuant to Section 9 prior to the occurrence of such Change of Control, the Holders shall not have voting rights hereunder in respect of any amendment, alteration or repeal relating to such transaction; or
 - (iv) any action or inaction that would reduce the Stated Amount of any share of Series A (including, but not limited to, any reverse stock split, combination, or other adjustment).

Section 9. Redemption at the Option of the Corporation.

- (a) <u>Generally</u>. The Series A will not be redeemable by the Corporation except that, subject to the other terms of this Section 9, the Corporation may, at its election, redeem all but not less than all of the outstanding shares of Series A (i) at any time following [to insert the date which is six (6) years after the Effective Date] or (ii) in connection with the consummation of a Change of Control, in either case on the applicable Redemption Date (the "<u>Redemption</u>") for a cash purchase price equal to the Stated Amount *plus* cumulative unpaid Preference Dividends (whether or not authorized or declared) as of the Redemption Date (the "<u>Redemption Price</u>").
- (b) <u>Redemption Prohibited in Certain Circumstances</u>. The Corporation will not call for Redemption, or otherwise send a Redemption Notice in respect of the Redemption of, any Series A pursuant to this Section 9 unless the Corporation has sufficient funds legally available to fully pay the Redemption Price in respect of all shares of Series A called for Redemption.
- (c) <u>Redemption Date</u>. The "<u>Redemption Date</u>" for any Change of Control will be a Business Day of the Corporation's choosing on or after the date that such Change of Control is consummated that is no more than sixty (60), nor less than ten (10), calendar days after the date the Corporation sends the related Redemption Notice pursuant to Section 9(d).
- (d) <u>Redemption Notice</u>. Upon the election by the Corporation to call the Series A for Redemption pursuant to Section 9(a), the Corporation will send to each Holder a notice of such Redemption (a "<u>Redemption Notice</u>"). Such Redemption Notice must state:
 - (i) that the Series A has been called for Redemption;
 - (ii) briefly, if applicable, the events causing the Change of Control giving rise to the Corporation's right to elect to redeem and the expected consummation date for the Change of Control;
 - (iii) the Redemption Price per share of Series A;
 - (iv) that any Series A called for Redemption may be converted pursuant to Section 7 on or before the third Business Day prior to the Redemption Date (provided, that the Corporation shall have received the Notice of Holder Conversion prior to the Close of Business on the Business Day prior to the Redemption Date); and
 - (v) the Conversion Rate in effect on the date such Redemption Notice was
- (e) <u>Payment of the Redemption Price</u>. The Corporation will cause the Redemption Price for each share of Series A called for Redemption to be paid to the Holder thereof on the applicable Redemption Date.
- **Section 10.** <u>Incurrence of Certain Indebtedness</u>. The Corporation shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries that are "restricted subsidiaries" (or such similarly classified Subsidiaries under the Credit Agreement) not to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Indebtedness except:
 - (i) for Indebtedness that is not prohibited from being created, incurred, assumed or permitted to exist pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement;
 - (ii) for Indebtedness created, incurred, assumed or permitted to exist with the approval of a Majority In Interest; or

- (iii) to the extent that the Consolidated Leverage Ratio, calculated on a pro forma basis in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement, would not exceed 3.00:1.00.
- **Section 11.** Expenses. In any action at law or suit in equity to enforce this Certificate of Designations or the rights of any Holder hereunder, the prevailing party in such action or suit (as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction) shall be entitled to recover its reasonable out- of-pocket attorneys' fees and all other reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in such action or suit.
- **Section 12.** Record Holders. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Corporation and the transfer agent for the Series A may deem and treat the record holder of any share of Series A as the true and lawful owner thereof for all purposes, and neither the Corporation nor such transfer agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.
- **Section 13.** <u>Notices</u>. All notices or communications in respect of the Series A will be sufficiently given if given in writing and delivered in person or by first class mail, postage prepaid, or if given in such other manner as may be permitted in this Certificate of Designations, in the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws or by applicable law.
- **Section 14.** No Other Rights or Privileges. The shares of Series A will not have any voting powers, preferences or relative, participating, optional or other special rights, or qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, other than as set forth herein or in the Certificate of Incorporation.
 - Section 15. <u>Certificates</u>. The Corporation may at its option issue shares of Series A without certificates.
- **Section 16.** <u>Technical, Corrective, Administrative or Similar Changes</u>. The Corporation may, by any means authorized by law and without any vote of the Holders of shares of Series A, make technical, corrective, administrative or similar changes in this Certificate of Designations that do not, individually or in the aggregate, adversely affect the rights or preferences of the Holders of shares of Series A in any way.
- **Section 17.** Tax Matters. The Corporation intends that the Series A not be treated as either (i) "preferred stock" for purposes of Section 305 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "Code") or (ii) receiving any constructive or deemed distribution pursuant to Section 305(c) of the Code.

Section 18. Interpretation. Whenever possible, each provision of this Certificate of Designations shall be interpreted in a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law and public policy. If any provision set forth herein is held to be invalid, unlawful or incapable of being enforced by reason of any rule of law or public policy, such provision shall be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating or otherwise adversely affecting the remaining provisions of this Certificate of Designations, and a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision. No provision herein set forth shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed herein. If a court of competent jurisdiction should determine that a provision of this Certificate of Designations would be valid or enforceable if a period of time were extended or shortened, then such court may make such change as shall be necessary to render the provision in question effective and valid under applicable law. References herein to any payment shall mean a payment in cash in United States Dollars by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the applicable payee.

Section 19. Enforcement. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the provisions of this Certificate of Designations shall remain in full force and effect irrespective of (i) the failure of any Person to assert any claim or demand or to enforce any right or remedy under this Certificate of Designations or otherwise or (ii) any change in the corporate existence, structure or ownership of the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, or any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or other similar proceeding affecting the Corporation or any of its Affiliates.

[Signature Page Follows]

NESS WHEREOF, the Corporation has caused	this Certificate to be signed by [•], its [President], this [•] day of [•], 2021. GARRETT MOTION INC.		
	By: Name: Title:		

Annex A

Form of Notice of Holder Conversion

[This Notice of Conversion is executed by the undersigned holder (the "Holder") in connection with the conversion of shares of the Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), pursuant to the terms and conditions of that certain Certificate of Designations of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc. (the "Certificate of Designations"), approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation on [•], 2021. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the respective meanings set forth in the Certificate of Designations.

Conversion: In accordance with and pursuant to such Certificate of Designations, the Holder hereby elects to convert the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock indicated below into shares of Common Stock of the Corporation as of the date specified below.

Name of Holder.
Holder Conversion Date:
Number of Shares of Series A Held by Holder:
Amount Being Converted Hereby:
Preferred Shares Held After Conversion:
If the Shares of Series A to be converted are held through a nominee, please provide details of the brokerage account:
Broker:
DTC No.:
Acct. Name:
For Further Credit (if applicable):

Name of Holder

Delivery of Shares: Pursuant to this Notice of Conversion, the Corporation shall deliver the applicable number of shares of Common Stock (the "Common Shares") issuable in accordance with the terms of the Certificate of Designations as set forth below. If Shares are to be issued in the name of a person other than the Holder, the Holder will pay all transfer taxes payable with respect thereto and is delivering herewith such certificates and opinions as reasonably requested by the Corporation in accordance therewith. No fee will be charged to the Holder for any conversion, except for such transfer taxes, if any. The Holder acknowledges and confirms that the Common Shares issued pursuant to this Notice of Conversion will, to the extent not previously registered by the Corporation under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") be "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act, unless the Common Shares are covered by a valid and effective registration statement under the Securities Act or this Notice of Conversion includes a valid opinion from an attorney stating that such Common Shares can be issued free of restrictive legend, which shall be determined by the Corporation in its sole discretion.

If the shares of Common Shares are to be delivered through DWAC, please provide details of the brokerage account for delivery (*Note: Common Shares that will be issued as "restricted securities" are not eligible for settlement through DWAC*):

Broker:			
DTC No.:	_		
Acct. Name:			
For Further Credit (if applicable):		_]	

Annex 1 to Exhibit 5

Blackline of Draft of Certificate of Designations of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc.

CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS

OF

SERIES A CUMULATIVE CONVERTIBLE PREFERRED STOCK

OF

GARRETT MOTION INC.

GARRETT MOTION INC., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the "Corporation"), DOES HEREBY CERTIFY AS FOLLOWS:

The Board of Directors of the Corporation (including any committee thereof, the "Board of Directors"), at a meeting duly called and held on [•], 2021 in accordance with the provisions of the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, and the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, and applicable law, adopted the following resolution creating a series of Preferred Stock of the Corporation designated as "Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock":

RESOLVED, that pursuant to Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law and the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws, the Board of Directors hereby establishes a series of Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of the Corporation and fixes and determines the voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof as follows:

Section 1. <u>Designation</u>. The distinctive serial designation of such series is "Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock" ("<u>Series A</u>"). Each share of Series A shall be identical in all respects to every other share of Series A.

Section 2. <u>Number of Designated Shares.</u> The number of designated shares of Series A shall initially be [247,771,429]. Such number may from time to time be decreased (but not below the number of shares of Series A then outstanding) by the Board of Directors. Shares of Series A that are redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation shall be cancelled and shall revert to authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stock undesignated as to series.

Section 3. Definitions. As used herein with respect to Series A:

- (a) "Additional Payment Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(n).
- (b) "Additional Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(n).
- (c) "Additional Shares Fair Market Value" means, with respect to the shares of the Common Stock:
 - (1) if the shares are listed on a Principal Exchange on the day as of which Additional Shares Fair Market Value is being determined, the arithmetic average of the daily volume-weighted average price of such stock as reported in composite transactions for United States exchanges and quotation systems, for the thirty (30) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day); or

- (2) if the shares are not listed on a Principal Exchange on the day as of which Additional Shares Fair Market Value is being determined, but are listed on any Fallback Exchange, the arithmetic average of the daily volume-weighted average price of such stock for the thirty (30) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day) as reported by such Fallback Exchange or, if not so reported, a service reporting such information as shall be selected by the Corporation; or
- (3) if the shares are not traded on a Fallback Exchange on the day as of which Additional Shares Fair Market Value is being determined but are traded on an Over-the-Counter Market, the arithmetic average of the daily volume- weighted average of the high bid price and the low ask price for the shares for the thirty (30) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day) in such Over-the-Counter Market, as reported by such Over-the-Counter Market or, if not so reported, a service reporting such information as shall be selected by the Corporation; or
- (4) in the case of securities not covered by clauses (1) through (3) above, the Additional Shares Fair Market Value of such securities shall be determined in good faith by the Board of Directors;

provided that, with respect to any determination of Additional Shares Fair Market Value pursuant to clauses (1) through (3) above, the Corporation, in its good faith determination, shall make appropriate adjustments to the arithmetic average of the daily volume-weighted average price, or bid and ask stock price, to account for any stock split, reverse stock split, dividend, Distribution or other event requiring any adjustments to the Conversion Rate, so as to provide for a consistent determination of Additional Shares Fair Market Value over any period of Trading Days as may be specified in this Certificate of Designations.

- (d) "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any Person who, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with that Person, and the term "control" (including the terms "controlled", "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by contract (including proxy) or otherwise.
 - (e) "Aggregate Liquidation Entitlement" means the aggregate amount of Liquidation Entitlements for all outstanding shares of Series A.
- (f) "<u>Associate</u>" means, when used to indicate a relationship with any Person, (i) a corporation or organization (other than the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries) of which such Person is an officer or director or is, directly or indirectly, the owner of ten percent (10%) or more of any class of voting or equity securities, (ii) any trust or other estate in which such Person has a substantial beneficial interest or as to which such Person serves as trustee or in a similar capacity and (iii) any Family Member of such Person who lives in the same home as such Person.

- (g) "Automatic Conversion Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(c).
- (h) "<u>Automatic Conversion Event</u>" means (i) at any time the adoption of a resolution of a Majority In Interest to convert the outstanding shares of Series A into Common Stock pursuant to Section 7(c) or (ii) the occurrence of a Trading Day at any time on or after [to insert the date which is two (2) years following the Effective Date], on which (A) the aggregate Stated Amount of all outstanding shares of Series B is an amount less than or equal to \$125,000,000, (B) the Common Stock is traded on a Principal Exchange, a Fallback Exchange or an Over-the-Counter Market and, in each case, the Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value of the Common Stock exceeds one hundred and fifty percent (150%) of the Conversion Price and
- (C) Consolidated EBITDA for the last twelve months ended as of the last day of each of the two most recent fiscal quarters is greater than or equal to \$600,000,000.
 - (i) "Automatic Conversion Event Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(d).
 - (j) "Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value" means, with respect to the shares of the Common Stock:
 - (1) if the shares are listed on a Principal Exchange on the day as of which Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value is being determined, the arithmetic average of the daily volume-weighted average price of such stock as reported in composite transactions for United States exchanges and quotation systems for the seventy-five (75) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day); or
 - (2) if the shares are not listed on a Principal Exchange on the day as of which Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value is being determined, but are listed on any Fallback Exchange, the arithmetic average of the daily volume- weighted average price of such stock for the seventy-five (75) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day) as reported by such Fallback Exchange or, if not so reported, a service reporting such information as shall be selected by the Corporation; or
 - (3) if the shares are not traded on a Fallback Exchange on the day as of which Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value is being determined but are traded on an Over-the-Counter Market, the arithmetic average of the daily volume- weighted average of the high bid price and the low ask price for the shares for the seventy-five (75) consecutive Trading Day period ending on and including such day (or, if such day is not a Trading Day, the Trading Day immediately preceding such day) in such Over-the-Counter Market, as reported by such Over-the-Counter Market or, if not so reported, a service reporting such information as shall be selected by the Corporation;

<u>provided</u> that, with respect to any determination of Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value pursuant to clauses (1) through (3) above, the Corporation, in its good faith determination, shall make appropriate adjustments to the arithmetic average of the daily volume-weighted average price, or bid and ask stock price, to account for any stock split, reverse stock split, dividend, Distribution or other event requiring any adjustments to the Conversion Rate, so as to provide for a consistent determination of Automatic Conversion Fair Market Value over any period of Trading Days as may be specified in this Certificate of Designations.

- (k) "Beneficial Owner" or "Beneficially Own" have the meanings assigned to such terms in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act.
- (l) "Board of Directors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- (m) "Business Day" means each Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or Friday on which banking institutions in The City of New York are not authorized or obligated by law, regulation or executive order to close.
- (n) "Bylaws" means the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, as amended, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time.
- (o) "Certificate of Incorporation" means the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, as amended, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time.
 - (p) "Change of Control" means any of the following events (whether in a single transaction or series of related transactions):
 - (i) a "person" or "group" (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), other than the Corporation or its wholly owned subsidiaries, acquires, directly or indirectly, capital stock of the Corporation such that following such acquisition, such person or group becomes the direct or indirect Beneficial Owner of shares of the Corporation's capital stock representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation;
 - (ii) any transaction or series of related transactions in connection with which (whether by means of merger, consolidation, share exchange, combination, reclassification, recapitalization, acquisition or otherwise) a majority of the Corporation's capital stock is exchanged for, converted into, acquired for, or constitutes solely the right to receive, other securities, cash or other property; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that any merger, consolidation, share exchange or combination of the Corporation pursuant to which the Person or Persons that directly or indirectly Beneficially Owned all classes and series of the Corporation's capital stock immediately before such transaction directly or indirectly Beneficially Own, immediately after such transaction, more than fifty percent (50%) of all classes or series of capital stock of the surviving, continuing or acquiring company or other transferee, as applicable, or the parent thereof, in substantially the same proportions vis-à-vis each other as immediately before such transaction, will be deemed not to be a Change of Control pursuant to this clause (ii); or
 - (iii) the sale, exchange, lease, or transfer of all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets, determined on a consolidated basis (other than a sale, exchange, lease, or transfer to one or more entities where the stockholders of the Corporation immediately before such sale, exchange or transfer retain, directly or indirectly, at least a majority of the beneficial interest in the voting stock of the entities to which the assets were transferred, in substantially the same proportions vis-à-vis each other as immediately before such transaction).

- (g) "Close of Business" means 5:00 p.m., New York City time.
- (r) "Code" has the meaning set forth in Section 17.
- (s) "Common Stock" means the common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of the Corporation.
- (t) "Consolidated Debt" has the meaning given to such term or any analogous term in the Credit Agreement then in effect; provided, that if a Credit Agreement is no longer in effect, "Consolidated Debt" shall have the meaning set forth in the Credit Agreement as most recently in effect.
- (u) "Consolidated EBITDA" has the meaning given to such term or any analogous term in the Credit Agreement then in effect; provided, that if a Credit Agreement is no longer in effect, "Consolidated EBITDA" shall have the meaning set forth in the Credit Agreement as most recently in effect.
- (v) "Consolidated Leverage Ratio" means, as of any date, the ratio of (x) Consolidated Debt to (y) Consolidated EBITDA for the most recent four fiscal quarters for which financial statements of the Corporation are available.
 - (w) "Constituent Person" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(j)(iii).
- (x) "Conversion Price" means five dollars and twenty-five cents (\$5.25) per share of Common Stock, subject to adjustment as described in Section 7(g).
- (y) "Conversion Rate" means the number of shares of Common Stock into which each share of Series A may be converted, equal to the Stated Amount of the shares of Series A being converted *divided by* the Conversion Price.
 - (z) "Corporation" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- (aa) "Credit Agreement" means that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of [April 30], 2021, among the Corporation, Garrett LX I S.À R.L., Garrett Motion Holdings, Inc., Garrett Motion SÀRL, the lenders and issuing banks party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as amended, restated, amended and restated, modified or otherwise supplemented from time to time, or any replacement or successor thereto that is at the applicable time of determination the senior secured credit facility of the Corporation with the largest amount of undrawn commitments plus aggregate principal amount outstanding.
- (bb) "<u>Disinterested Directors</u>" means all members of the Board of Directors other than any member of the Board of Directors who is, or is an employee, director, officer, partner, member or stockholder of, or is otherwise Affiliated or Associated with, any Person who Beneficially Owns shares of Series A with an aggregate Series A Fair Market Value greater than or equal to [\$50,000].1

- (cc) "Disinterested Directors' Committee" shall mean a duly convened committee comprised solely of each of the Disinterested Directors.
- (dd) "<u>Distribution</u>" shall mean the transfer of cash or other property (including capital stock of the Corporation or rights to acquire capital stock of the Corporation) without consideration whether by way of dividend or otherwise, other than: (i) repurchases of Common Stock (or securities convertible into Common Stock) in individually negotiated transactions or
- (ii) any other repurchases or redemptions of capital stock of the Corporation approved by (A) the holders of a majority of the outstanding shares of capital stock of the Corporation entitled to vote on matters on which holders of Common Stock are entitled to vote and (B) a Majority In Interest.
 - (ee) "Dividend Junior Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(c).
 - (ff) "Dividend Parity Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(c).
- (gg) "<u>Dividend Senior Stock</u>" means any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors with the approval of a Majority In Interest in accordance with Section 8(c)(i), the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks senior to the Series A as to the right to payment of dividends.
 - (hh) "DTC" means The Depository Trust Company.
 - (ii) "Effective Date" means [April 30], 2021.
 - (jj) "Exchange Act" means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
 - (kk) "Exchange Property" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(j)(iii).
- (ll) "Fallback Exchange" means the principal U.S. national or regional securities exchange other than a Principal Exchange on which the Common Stock is then listed or, if the Common Stock is not then listed on a U.S. national or regional securities exchange, the principal other market on which the Common Stock is then traded.

(mm) "Family Member" means with respect to an individual (i) such individual's parent, grandparent, any present or former spouse, children and siblings, whether by blood, marriage or adoption, and any issue of the foregoing, (ii) the trustees of any trust now or hereafter in existence from which or as to which any individual or individuals described in clause (i) of this definition shall be entitled to receive all or part of the income or shall be a remainderman or remaindermen and (iii) in the event of such individual's death, such individual's heirs, executors, administrators, testamentary transferees, legatees and beneficiaries.

Note to Draft: Corporate governance guidelines will provide that no Disinterested Director may acquire any shares of Series A during such Director's term of office.

- (nn) "Holder" shall mean the person or entity in which the Series A is registered on the books of the Corporation, which shall initially be the person or entity which such Series A is issued to, and shall thereafter be permitted and legal assigns which the Corporation is notified of by the Holder and which the Holder has provided a valid legal opinion in connection therewith to the Corporation and to whom such shares are legally transferred.
 - (oo) "Holder Conversion" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(a).
 - (pp) "Holder Conversion Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(a).
- (qq) "<u>Indebtedness</u>" has the meaning given to such term or any analogous term in the Credit Agreement then in effect; <u>provided</u>, that if a Credit Agreement is no longer in effect, "Indebtedness" shall have the meaning set forth in the Credit Agreement as most recently in effect.
- (rr) "<u>Liquidation Entitlement</u>" means, as of any date with respect to each share of Series A, the greater of (1) (a) the Stated Amount *plus* (b) the aggregate amount of cumulative unpaid Preference Dividends (whether or not authorized or declared) as of such date and (2) (a) the amount the Holders of Series A would receive if such shares were converted immediately prior to the Liquidation Event into Common Stock pursuant to Section 7(c) *plus* (b) the aggregate amount of cumulative unpaid Preference Dividends (whether or not authorized or declared) as of such date.
 - (ss) "Liquidation Event" means any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation.
 - (tt) "Liquidation Junior Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.
 - (uu) "Liquidation Parity Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.
 - (vv) "Liquidation Parity Stock Liquidation Preference" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a).
 - (ww) "Liquidation Senior Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.
 - (xx) "Majority In Interest" means Holders holding a majority of the then issued and outstanding shares of Series A.
- (yy) "Market Disruption Event" means (i) a failure by the Principal Exchange or Fallback Exchange, as applicable, to open for trading during its regular trading session or (ii) the occurrence or existence prior to 1:00 p.m. New York City time on any day on which the Principal Exchange or Fallback Exchange, as applicable, is open for trading for more than one half-hour period in the aggregate during regular trading hours of any suspension or limitation imposed on trading (by reason of movements in price exceeding limits permitted by the Principal Exchange or Fallback Exchange, as applicable, or otherwise) in the Common Stock or in any options contracts or futures contracts relating to the Common Stock.
 - (zz) "Notice of Holder Conversion" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(a).
- (aaa) "Over-the-Counter Market" means OTCQX or OTCQB of OTC Markets and the Over-the-Counter Bulletin Board of Financial Industry Regulatory Authority (or any of their respective successors).

- (bbb) "Person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization or government or other agency or political subdivision thereof. Any division or series of a limited liability company, limited partnership or trust will constitute a separate "Person" under this Certificate of Designations.
 - (ccc) "Preference Dividends" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(a).
 - (ddd) "Preference Dividend Payment Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(a).
 - (eee) "Preference Dividend Period" has the meaning set forth in Section 4(a).
- (fff) "Preferred Stock" means the Series A, the Series B, and any future series of preferred stock of the Corporation authorized in accordance with the terms of this Certificate of Designations.
 - (ggg) "Principal Exchange" means the [New York Stock Exchange] [Nasdaq Global Select Market] (or any of its successors).
 - (hhh) "Redemption" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(a).
 - (iii) "Redemption Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(c).
 - (jjj) "Redemption Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(d).
 - (kkk) "Redemption Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(a).
 - (lll) "Reorganization Event" has the meaning set forth in Section 7(j)(iii).
 - (mmm) "Securities Act" means the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended.
 - (nnn) "Series A" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.
- (000) "Series A Fair Market Value" means, with respect to each share of Series A, the arithmetic average of the volume-weighted average prices for a share on the principal United States securities exchange or automated quotation system on which shares of Series A trade, as reported by Bloomberg (or, if Bloomberg ceases to publish such price, any successor service chosen by the Corporation) in respect of the ten (10) Trading Days preceding the date of determination or, if the Series A is not traded on any such exchange or automated quotation system, such value as is determined in good faith by the Board of Directors.
 - (ppp) "Series B" means the Series B Preferred Stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of the Corporation.
- (qqq) "<u>Stated Amount</u>" means, in respect of each share of Series A, five dollars and twenty-five cents (\$5.25) per share, and, in respect of any other series of capital stock, the stated amount per share specified in the Certificate of Incorporation or applicable certificate of designations.

- (rrr) "<u>Subsidiary</u>" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person of which a majority of the securities or other interests having ordinary voting power for the election of directors or other governing body (other than securities or interests having such power only by reason of the happening of a contingency) are at the time Beneficially Owned, or the management of which is otherwise controlled, directly, or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, or both, by such first Person. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to a "Subsidiary" or to "Subsidiaries" shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of the Corporation.
- (sss) "<u>Trading Day</u>" means a day on which (i) no Market Disruption Event occurs and (ii) trading in the Common Stock occurs on the Principal Exchange or, if the shares of Common Stock are not listed on a Principal Exchange, the Fallback Exchange; <u>provided</u> that if the Common Stock is not so listed or traded, then "Trading Day" means a Business Day.

Section 4. <u>Dividends</u>. The Series A shall not accrue any dividends except as provided in this Section 4.

- (a) <u>Preference Dividends</u>. Holders of Series A shall be entitled to receive, when, as and if declared by the Disinterested Directors' Committee out of funds legally available therefor, cumulative cash dividends at the annual rate of eleven percent (11%) of (x) the Stated Amount per share plus (y) the amount of any accrued and unpaid dividends on each such share (collectively, the "<u>Preference Dividends</u>"), accumulating on a daily basis and payable quarterly on January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1, respectively, in each year (or, if any such date is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day, without any adjustment in the amount paid) (each, a "<u>Preference Dividend Payment Date</u>") with respect to the period from and including the last Preference Dividend Payment Date (or the Effective Date, with respect to the first quarterly period) to and including the day preceding such respective dividend payment date (or portion thereof) (the "<u>Preference Dividend Period</u>") to holders of record on the respective date, not more than sixty (60) nor less than ten (10) days preceding the Preference Dividend Payment Date, fixed for that purpose by the Disinterested Directors' Committee in advance of payment of each particular Preference Dividend. The amount of the Preference Dividend for each Preference Dividend Period (or portion thereof) will be calculated on the basis of a 360-day year consisting of twelve 30-day months. The Corporation shall not pay any additional interest, fee, penalty or other amount in respect of any Preference Dividend that may be in arrears on the Series A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Disinterested Directors' Committee shall not declare a Preference Dividend at any time when Consolidated EBITDA for the most recent four fiscal quarters for which financial statements of the Corporation are available is less than \$425,000,000. Preference Dividends shall accumulate whether or not (i) the Corporation has earnings; (ii) there are funds legally available for the payment of those divide
- (b) <u>Participating Dividends</u>. In addition to any cash dividends which may be declared and paid to Holders pursuant to Section 4(a), the Holders shall, as Holders of Series A, be entitled to such dividends paid and other Distributions made to the holders of Common Stock to the same extent as if such Holders had converted the Series A into Common Stock (without regard to any limitations on conversion herein or elsewhere) and had held such shares of Common Stock on the record date for such dividends and Distributions. Payments under the preceding sentence shall be made concurrently with the dividend or Distribution to the holders of Common Stock.
- (c) <u>Priority of Dividends</u>. So long as any share of Series A remains outstanding, no dividend whatsoever shall be paid or declared and no Distribution shall be made on any class of Common Stock or any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors (other than Dividend Parity Stock or Dividend Senior Stock) (collectively, referred to as the "<u>Dividend Junior Stock</u>"), other than a dividend payable solely in Dividend Junior Stock,

and no shares of Dividend Junior Stock shall be purchased, redeemed or otherwise acquired for consideration by the Corporation, directly or indirectly (other than as a result of a reclassification of junior stock for or into junior stock, or the exchange or conversion of one share of Dividend Junior Stock for or into another share of Dividend Junior Stock, and other than through the use of the proceeds of a substantially contemporaneous sale of other shares of Dividend Junior Stock), unless (i) all cumulative accrued and unpaid Preference Dividends on all outstanding shares of Series A have been paid in full and the full dividend thereon for the then current Preference Dividend Period has been paid or declared and set aside for payment and (ii) all prior redemption requirements with respect to Series A have been complied with. When Preference Dividends are not paid in full upon the shares of Series A and any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors with the vote or written consent of a Majority In Interest, the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks *pari passu* with the Series A as to rights to payment of dividends (collectively, referred to as the "Dividend Parity Stock"), all Preference Dividends declared upon shares of Series A and all dividends declared upon Dividend Parity Stock shall be declared *pro rata* so that the respective amounts of such dividends shall bear the same ratio to each other as all accrued but unpaid Preference Dividends per share on the shares of Series A and all accrued but unpaid dividends (payable in cash, stock or otherwise) as may be declared by the Board of Directors on any Dividend Junior Stock from time to time out of any funds legally available therefor.

Section 5. Ranking. The Series A shall, with respect to the right to be paid the Liquidation Entitlement upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (as provided in Section 6 below)²,), rank (i) senior to (A) all classes of Common Stock, (B) the Series B, (C) any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors (other than Liquidation Parity Stock or Liquidation Senior Stock established in accordance with Section 8(c)(i) or Section 8(c)(ii)) (the classes referred to in the foregoing clauses (A) through (C), collectively, referred to as the "Liquidation Junior Stock"), (ii) *pari passu* with any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 8(c)(ii), the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks *pari passu* with the Series A as to rights on the occurrence of a Liquidation Parity Stock") and (iii) junior to any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 8(c)(i), the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks senior to the Series A as to rights on the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (collectively, referred to as "Liquidation Senior Stock"). For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 5 shall not prohibit the Corporation from making any redemption payments on the Series B in accordance with the Series B Certificate of Designations.

Section 6. Liquidation Event Rights.

(a) <u>Payment of Aggregate Liquidation Entitlement</u>. In the event of the occurrence of any Liquidation Event, before any Distribution or payment out of the assets of the Corporation may be made to or set aside for the holders of any Liquidation Junior Stock, the Holders of Series A will be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Corporation legally available for distribution to its stockholders an amount equal to the Aggregate Liquidation Entitlement. If, after payment of any liquidation preferences otherwise payable to holders of any Liquidation Senior Stock in respect of any Distribution upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event, and

²⁻ Note to Draft: There is a distinction between dividend priority and liquidation priority—Series A is senior to Series B with respect to liquidation, but is not senior with respect to dividend payment

subject to applicable Law, the assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to pay all Holders of Series A the Aggregate Liquidation Entitlement in full and to pay all holders of any Liquidation Parity Stock the amounts otherwise payable to such holders in respect of any Distributions upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (a "Liquidation Parity Stock Liquidation Preference"), then the amounts paid to the Holders of Series A and to the holders of all Liquidation Parity Stock shall be *pro rata* in accordance with the respective Aggregate Liquidation Entitlement and the Liquidation Parity Stock Liquidation Parity Stock.

- (b) <u>Residual Distributions</u>. If the Liquidation Entitlement has been paid in full to all Holders of Series A, all Liquidation Parity Stock Liquidation Preferences, if any, have been paid in full to all holders of any Liquidation Parity Stock, and all other applicable liquidation preferences have been paid to holders of Liquidation Junior Stock which is senior to the Common Stock with respect to rights upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event, then holders of Common Stock shall be entitled to receive any and all assets remaining legally available for distribution to the Corporation's stockholders.
- (c) <u>Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Assets Not Liquidation</u>. For purposes of this Certificate of Designations, the merger, consolidation or other business combination of the Corporation with or into any other corporation, including a transaction in which the Holders of Series A receive cash or property for their shares, or the sale, conveyance, lease, exchange or transfer (for cash, shares of stock, securities or other consideration) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation, shall not constitute a Liquidation Event.

Section 7. Conversion.

- (a) <u>Conversion at the Option of the Holders</u>. Each share of Series A shall be convertible, at the option of the Holder thereof (a "<u>Holder Conversion</u>"), effective on January 1, April 1, July 1 and October 1 in each year (or, if any such date is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day, without any adjustment in the Additional Payment Amount), or on the third³ Business Day prior to a Redemption Date (provided, that the Corporation shall have received the Notice of Holder Conversion prior to the Close of Business on the Business Day prior to such Redemption Date) (any such date, the "<u>Holder Conversion Date</u>") into fully-paid, non-assessable shares of Common Stock at the Conversion Rate then in effect. In order to effectuate the Holder Conversion, the Holder must provide the Corporation a written notice of conversion in the form of <u>Annex A</u> hereto (the "<u>Notice of Holder Conversion</u>"). The Notice of Holder Conversion must be received by the Corporation (or, in the discretion of the Corporation, the transfer agent) no later than (A) with respect to any Holder Conversion Date scheduled to fall on January 1, April 1, July 1 or October 1 of any year, ten (10) Business Days prior to the applicable Holder Conversion Date or (B) with respect to any Holder Conversion Date falling on the third Business Day prior to a Redemption Date, prior to the Close of Business on the Business Day prior to such Redemption Date.
- (b) <u>Mechanics of Holder Conversion</u>. A Holder of Series A that has validly effected a Notice of Holder Conversion shall be deemed to be the holder of record of the Common Stock issuable upon such conversion as of the applicable Holder Conversion Date, notwithstanding that certificates (if any) representing such shares of Series A shall not have been surrendered at the office of the Corporation, that notice from the Corporation shall not have been received by any Holder of record of shares of Series A, or that the certificates evidencing such

Note to Millbank: See Section 9(d)(iv).

shares of Common Stock shall not then be actually delivered to such Holder. In order to effect a Holder Conversion, a Holder shall fax or email a copy of the fully executed Notice of Holder Conversion to the Corporation (or, in the discretion of the Corporation, the transfer agent): Attention: [•], with a copy (which shall not constitute notice) to: [•]. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if beneficial interests in shares of Series A are held through DTC or any other similar facility, a copy of the Notice of Holder Conversion may be given by the applicable Holders of Series A at such time and in any manner permitted by such facility. Upon receipt by the Corporation of a facsimile or emailed copy of a Notice of Holder Conversion from a Holder, the Corporation or the transfer agent shall promptly send, via facsimile or email, a confirmation to such Holder stating that the Notice of Holder Conversion has been received, the date upon which the Corporation or the transfer agent expects to deliver the Common Stock issuable upon such Holder Conversion and the name and telephone number of a contact person at the Corporation or the transfer agent regarding the Holder Conversion. Dividends payable on shares of Series A surrendered for conversion during the period from the Close of Business on any record date for the payment of a dividend on such shares to the opening of business on the date of payment of such dividend shall be payable to the holder of record of such shares as of such record date notwithstanding such conversion. Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, no payment or adjustment shall be made upon any conversion of shares of Series A on account of any dividends accumulated on such shares or on account of any dividends accumulated on the shares of Common Stock issued upon such conversion.

- (c) <u>Automatic Conversion</u>. Each share of Series A shall, on the third Trading Day following the date on which the Corporation delivers an Automatic Conversion Event Notice (the "<u>Automatic Conversion Date</u>") automatically be converted into fully-paid, non-assessable shares of Common Stock at the Conversion Rate then in effect on the Automatic Conversion Date, without any further action by the Holders of such shares and whether or not certificates representing such shares are surrendered to the Corporation or its transfer agent.
- (d) <u>Mechanics of Automatic Conversion</u>. Within ten (10) Business Days following the occurrence of an Automatic Conversion Event, the Corporation shall deliver a notice to the Holders of outstanding Series A stating that an Automatic Conversion Event has occurred and stating the Conversion Rate in effect as of the Automatic Conversion Date (the "<u>Automatic Conversion Event Notice</u>"). On the Automatic Conversion Date, each Holder of Series A shall be deemed to be the holder of record of the Common Stock issuable upon such conversion, notwithstanding that the certificates (if any) representing such shares of Series A shall not have been surrendered at the office of the Corporation, that notice from the Corporation shall not have been received by any Holder of record of shares of Series A, or that the certificates evidencing such shares of Common Stock shall not then be actually delivered to such Holder. Dividends payable on shares of Series A surrendered for conversion during the period from the Close of Business on any record date for the payment of a dividend on such shares to the opening of business on the date of payment of such dividend shall be payable to the holder of record of such shares as of such record date notwithstanding such conversion. Except as otherwise expressly set forth herein, no payment or adjustment shall be made upon any conversion of shares of Series A on account of any dividends accrued on such shares or on account of any dividends accrued on the shares of Common Stock issued upon such conversion.
- (e) <u>Reservation of Shares, Etc</u>. The Corporation shall at all times reserve and keep available, free from preemptive rights, out of its authorized but unissued Common Stock, solely for the purpose of effecting the conversion of shares of Series A, the full number of shares of Common Stock that would then be deliverable upon the conversion of all shares of Series A then outstanding. If any shares of Common Stock required to be reserved for purposes of conversion

of the Series A hereunder require registration with or approval of any governmental authority under any Federal or State law before such shares may be issued or freely transferred upon conversion, the Corporation will in good faith and as expeditiously as possible endeavor to cause such shares to be duly registered or approved as the case may be. If the Common Stock is quoted on the Nasdaq Global Select Market, New York Stock Exchange, or any other U.S. national securities exchange, the Corporation will, if permitted by the rules of such exchange, list and keep listed on such exchange, upon official notice of issuance, all shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of the Series A. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the reference to listing in the third sentence of this paragraph shall apply only when the Series A shall have become freely transferable under the federal securities laws.

- (f) <u>No Fractional Shares</u>. No fractional shares of Common Stock shall be issued upon conversion of Series A. If a number of shares of Series A (evidenced by one or more certificates) shall be surrendered for conversion at one time by the same holder, the number of full shares issuable upon conversion thereof shall be computed on the basis of the aggregate number of shares of Series A being converted at such time by such holder. Instead of any fractional share of Common Stock that would otherwise be issuable to a holder upon conversion of any shares of Series A, the Corporation shall pay a cash adjustment in respect of such fractional share of Common Stock assuming each share of Common Stock has a value equal to the Additional Shares Fair Market Value.
- (g) <u>Adjustment of Conversion Price</u>. In the event that outstanding shares of Common Stock shall be subdivided or split into a greater number of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Price in effect at the opening of business on the day following the day upon which such subdivision becomes effective shall be proportionately reduced, and conversely, in case outstanding shares of Common Stock shall each be combined into a smaller number of shares of Common Stock, the Conversion Price in effect at the opening of business on the day following the day upon which such combination becomes effective shall be proportionately increased, such reduction or increase, as the case may be, to become effective immediately after the opening of business on the day following the day upon which such subdivision or combination becomes effective. Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Corporation shall not make any adjustment to the Conversion Price if Holders of the Series A have the opportunity to participate, at the same time and upon the same terms as holders of Common Stock and solely as a result of holding Series A, in any transaction described in this Section 7(g), without having to convert their shares of Series A, as if they held a number of shares of Common Stock issuable to such Holder at the Conversion Price.
- (h) <u>Calculation of Adjustments</u>. All adjustments to the Conversion Price shall be calculated by the Corporation to the nearest 1/100th of a cent and all conversions based thereon shall be calculated by the Corporation to the nearest 1/10,000th of one share of Common Stock (or if there is not a nearest 1/10,000th of a share, to the next lower 1/10,000th of a share). No adjustment to the Conversion Price will be required unless such adjustment would require an increase or decrease to the Conversion Price of at least \$0.0100; <u>provided</u>, <u>however</u>, that any such adjustment that is not required to be made will be carried forward and taken into account in any subsequent adjustment; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u> that any such adjustment of less than \$0.0100 that has not been made will be made upon any Holder Conversion Date or Automatic Conversion Date or redemption or repurchase date.
- (i) <u>Successive Adjustments</u>. After an adjustment to the Conversion Price under this Section 7, any subsequent event requiring an adjustment under this Section 7 shall cause an adjustment to each such Conversion Price as so adjusted.

(j) *Reorganization Events*. In the event of:

- (i) any reclassification, statutory exchange, merger, consolidation or other similar business combination of the Corporation with or into another Person, in each case, pursuant to which at least a majority of the Common Stock is changed or converted into, or exchanged for, cash, securities or other property of the Corporation or another Person;
- (ii) any sale, transfer, lease or conveyance to another Person of all or a majority of the property and assets of the Corporation, in each case pursuant to which the Common Stock is converted into cash, securities or other property; or
- (iii) any statutory exchange of securities of the Corporation with another Person (other than in connection with a merger or acquisition) or reclassification, recapitalization or reorganization of the Common Stock into other securities;

other than, in each case, any such transaction that constitutes a Change of Control, with respect to which, for the avoidance of doubt, the provisions of Section 9 shall apply (each of which is referred to as a "Reorganization Event"), each share of Series A outstanding immediately prior to such Reorganization Event will, without the consent of the Holders and subject to Section 7(1) and Section 8(c), remain outstanding but shall become convertible into, out of funds legally available therefor, the number, kind and amount of securities, cash and other property (the "Exchange Property") (without any interest on such Exchange Property and without any right to dividends or distribution on such Exchange Property which have a record date that is prior to the applicable Holder Conversion Date or Automatic Conversion Date) that the Holder of such share of Series A would have received in such Reorganization Event had such Holder converted its shares of Series A into the applicable number of shares of Common Stock immediately prior to the effective date of the Reorganization Event using the Conversion Price applicable immediately prior to the effective date of the Reorganization Event, [assuming that the Corporation elected to issue Additional Shares in connection with such conversion and including such shares for the foregoing purposes]; provided that the foregoing shall not apply if such Holder is a Person with which the Corporation consolidated or into which the Corporation merged or which merged into the Corporation or to which such sale or transfer was made, as the case may be (any such Person, a "Constituent Person"), to the extent such Reorganization Event provides for different treatment of Common Stock held by such Constituent Persons. If the kind or amount of securities, cash and other property receivable upon such Reorganization Event is not the same for each share of Common Stock held immediately prior to such Reorganization Event by a Person (other than a Constituent Person), then for the purpose of this Section 7(j), the kind and amount of securities, cash and other property receivable upon conversion following such Reorganization Event will be deemed to be the weighted average of the types and amounts of consideration received by the holders of Common Stock.

(k) <u>Successive Reorganization Events</u>. The above provisions of Section 7(j) shall similarly apply to successive Reorganization Events and the provisions of Section 7(g) shall apply to any shares of capital stock of the Corporation received by the holders of the Common Stock in any such Reorganization Event.

- (l) <u>Reorganization Event Agreements</u>. The Corporation shall not enter into any agreement for a transaction constituting a Reorganization Event unless (i) such agreement provides for or does not interfere with or prevent (as applicable) conversion of the Series A into the Exchange Property in a manner that is consistent with and gives effect to Section 7(j), and (ii) to the extent that the Corporation is not the surviving corporation in such Reorganization Event or will be dissolved in connection with such Reorganization Event, proper provision shall be made in the agreements governing such Reorganization Event for the conversion of the Series A into stock of the Person surviving such Reorganization Event or such other continuing entity in such Reorganization Event.
- (m) <u>Notice of Adjustments</u>. Whenever the Conversion Price is adjusted as herein provided, the Corporation shall prepare, and shall keep at the Corporation's principal offices, and shall make available to any Holder upon request, a statement showing in reasonable detail the facts requiring such adjustment and the Conversion Rate that shall be in effect after such adjustment, and the Corporation shall also cause a notice stating that the Conversion Price has been adjusted and setting forth the adjusted Conversion Price shall forthwith be required, and as soon as practicable after it is required such notice shall be mailed by the Corporation to all Holders of Series A, at their last addresses as they shall appear upon the stock transfer books of the Corporation.
- (n) <u>Additional Payment Amount; Additional Conversion Shares</u>. Upon conversion of any share of Series A, the Holder thereof shall receive a payment in cash in an amount equal to the amount of cumulative unpaid Preference Dividends (whether or not authorized or declared) as of the Holder Conversion Date or Automatic Conversion Date, as applicable (the "<u>Additional Payment Amount</u>"); <u>provided</u>, that the Corporation may elect, in its sole discretion, in lieu of the payment of the Additional Payment Amount, to issue to such Holder an additional number of fully-paid, non-assessable shares of Common Stock equal to the Additional Payment Amount *divided by* the lesser of (i) the Additional Shares Fair Market Value and (ii) the fair market value of the Common Stock at the time of such conversion as determined in good faith by the Board of Directors (the "<u>Additional Shares</u>"). The payment of the Additional Payment Amount, or the issuance of the Additional Shares, as applicable, shall be made on or before the tenth (10th) Business Day following the Automatic Conversion Date or the date on which the Notice of Holder Conversion is actually received by the Corporation, as applicable.

Section 8. Voting Rights.

- (a) *General*. The Holders of Series A will have no voting rights except as set forth below or in the Certificate of Incorporation or as otherwise required by law.
- (b) <u>Right to Vote with Holders of Common Stock</u>. Subject to the other provisions of, and without limiting the other voting rights provided in, this Section 8, and except as provided in the Certificate of Incorporation or required by the Delaware General Corporation Law, the Holders will have the right to vote together as a single class with the holders of the Common Stock on each matter submitted for a vote or consent by the holders of the Common Stock, and, solely for these purposes, (i) the Series A of each Holder will entitle such Holder to cast a number of votes on such matter equal to the number of votes such Holder would have been entitled to cast if such Holder were the holder of record, as of the record date or, if there is no record date, other relevant date for such matter, of a number of shares of Common Stock equal to the whole number of shares of Common Stock that would be issuable upon conversion of such Series A assuming such Series A were converted in connection with an Automatic Conversion Event occurring on such record date or, if there is no record date, other relevant date; in each case assuming that the Corporation elected to issue Additional Shares in connection with such conversion and including such shares for the foregoing purposes (provided, that for the purposes of this Section 8(b), the number of Additional Shares shall not be greater than an amount equal

to the Additional Payment Amount *divided by* \$1.00) and (ii) the Holders will be entitled to notice of all stockholder meetings or proposed actions by written consent in accordance with the Certificate of Incorporation, the Bylaws, and the Delaware General Corporation Law as if the Holders were holders of Common Stock. For the avoidance of doubt, no Holder of Series A will be treated as the holder of the shares of Common Stock issuable upon conversion of such Series A except as set out in Section 7.

- (c) <u>Other Voting Rights</u>. So long as any shares of Series A are outstanding, in addition to any other vote or consent of stockholders required by law or by the Certificate of Incorporation, the approval of a Majority In Interest, voting as a class, given in person or by proxy, either in writing without a meeting or by vote at any meeting called for the purpose, will be necessary for:
 - (i) effecting or validating any amendment, modification or alteration of the Certificate of Incorporation (whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise) to authorize or create, or increase the authorized amount of, any shares of any class or series or any securities convertible into shares of any class or series of capital stock of the Corporation ranking senior to or *pari passu* with Series A with respect to the payment of the Preference Dividend or payment of the Liquidation Entitlement upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event;
 - (ii) any increase in the authorized number of shares of Series A, Dividend Party Stock or Liquidation Parity Stock or issuance of shares of Series A, Dividend Parity Stock or Liquidating Parity Stock after the date hereof;
 - (iii) effecting or validating any amendment, alteration or repeal (whether by merger, consolidation or otherwise) of any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation (including this Certificate of Designations and any other certificate of designations of the Corporation) or Bylaws that would have an adverse effect on the rights, preferences, privileges or voting power of the Series A or the Holders thereof in any material respect; provided, that for the avoidance of doubt, any merger, consolidation, or similar transaction shall not be deemed to have such an adverse effect so long as (A) the Series A remains outstanding with the terms thereof materially unchanged or the holders of the Series A receive equity securities with rights, preferences, privileges and voting power substantially the same as those of the Series A, and (B) the provisions of the certificate of incorporation or bylaws (or equivalent governing documents) of the surviving entity or successor entity in such transaction do not differ from the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws in any manner that would have an adverse effect on the rights, preferences, privileges or voting power of the Series A or such replacement equity securities or the Holders thereof in any material respect; provided, further, to the extent that the Corporation duly consummated its Redemption rights in connection with a Change of Control pursuant to Section 9 prior to the occurrence of such Change of Control, the Holders shall not have voting rights hereunder in respect of any amendment, alteration or repeal relating to such transaction; or
 - (iv) any action or inaction that would reduce the Stated Amount of any share of Series A (including, but not limited to, any reverse stock split, combination, or other adjustment).

Section 9. Redemption at the Option of the Corporation.

- (a) <u>Generally</u>. The Series A will not be redeemable by the Corporation except that, subject to the other terms of this Section 9, the Corporation may, at its election, redeem all but not less than all of the outstanding shares of Series A (i) at any time following [to insert the date which is six (6) years after the Effective Date] or (ii) in connection with the consummation of a Change of Control, in either case on the applicable Redemption Date (the "<u>Redemption</u>") for a cash purchase price equal to the Stated Amount *plus* cumulative unpaid Preference Dividends (whether or not authorized or declared) as of the Redemption Date (the "<u>Redemption Price</u>").
- (b) <u>Redemption Prohibited in Certain Circumstances</u>. The Corporation will not call for Redemption, or otherwise send a Redemption Notice in respect of the Redemption of, any Series A pursuant to this Section 9 unless the Corporation has sufficient funds legally available to fully pay the Redemption Price in respect of all shares of Series A called for Redemption.
- (c) <u>Redemption Date</u>. The "<u>Redemption Date</u>" for any Change of Control will be a Business Day of the Corporation's choosing on or after the date that such Change of Control is consummated that is no more than sixty (60), nor less than ten (10), calendar days after the date the Corporation sends the related Redemption Notice pursuant to Section 9(d).
- (d) <u>Redemption Notice</u>. Upon the election by the Corporation to call the Series A for Redemption pursuant to Section 9(a), the Corporation will send to each Holder a notice of such Redemption (a "<u>Redemption Notice</u>"). Such Redemption Notice must state:
 - (i) that the Series A has been called for Redemption;
 - (ii) briefly, if applicable, the events causing the Change of Control giving rise to the Corporation's right to elect to redeem and the expected consummation date for the Change of Control;
 - (iii) the Redemption Price per share of Series A;
 - (iv) that any Series A called for Redemption may be converted pursuant to Section 7 on or before the third Business Day prior to the Redemption Date (provided, that the Corporation shall have received the Notice of Holder Conversion prior to the Close of Business on the Business Day prior to the Redemption Date); and
 - (v) the Conversion Rate in effect on the date such Redemption Notice was sent.
- (e) <u>Payment of the Redemption Price</u>. The Corporation will cause the Redemption Price for each share of Series A called for Redemption to be paid to the Holder thereof on the applicable Redemption Date.

Section 10. <u>Incurrence of Certain Indebtedness</u>. The Corporation shall not, and shall cause its Subsidiaries that are "restricted subsidiaries" (or such similarly classified Subsidiaries under the Credit Agreement) not to, create, incur, assume or permit to exist any Indebtedness except:

- (i) for Indebtedness that is not prohibited from being created, incurred, assumed or permitted to exist pursuant to the terms of the Credit Agreement;
 - (ii) for Indebtedness created, incurred, assumed or permitted to exist with the approval of a Majority In Interest; or
- (iii) to the extent that the Consolidated Leverage Ratio, calculated on a pro forma basis in accordance with the terms of the Credit Agreement, would not exceed 3.00:1.00.
- **Section 11.** Expenses. In any action at law or suit in equity to enforce this Certificate of Designations or the rights of any Holder hereunder, the prevailing party in such action or suit (as determined by a court of competent jurisdiction) shall be entitled to recover its reasonable out-of-pocket attorneys' fees and all other reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred in such action or suit.
- **Section 12.** Record Holders. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Corporation and the transfer agent for the Series A may deem and treat the record holder of any share of Series A as the true and lawful owner thereof for all purposes, and neither the Corporation nor such transfer agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.
- **Section 13.** <u>Notices</u>. All notices or communications in respect of the Series A will be sufficiently given if given in writing and delivered in person or by first class mail, postage prepaid, or if given in such other manner as may be permitted in this Certificate of Designations, in the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws or by applicable law.
- **Section 14.** No Other Rights or Privileges. The shares of Series A will not have any voting powers, preferences or relative, participating, optional or other special rights, or qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, other than as set forth herein or in the Certificate of Incorporation.
 - Section 15. Certificates. The Corporation may at its option issue shares of Series A without certificates.
- **Section 16.** Technical, Corrective, Administrative or Similar Changes. The Corporation may, by any means authorized by law and without any vote of the Holders of shares of Series A, make technical, corrective, administrative or similar changes in this Certificate of Designations that do not, individually or in the aggregate, adversely affect the rights or preferences of the Holders of Shares of Series A in any way.
- **Section 17.** <u>Tax Matters</u>. The Corporation intends that the Series A not be treated as either (i) "preferred stock" for purposes of Section 305 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as amended (the "<u>Code</u>") or (ii) receiving any constructive or deemed distribution pursuant to Section 305(c) of the Code.
- **Section 18.** <u>Interpretation</u>. Whenever possible, each provision of this Certificate of Designations shall be interpreted in a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law and public policy. If any provision set forth herein is held to be invalid, unlawful or incapable of being enforced by reason of any rule of law or public policy, such provision shall be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating or otherwise adversely affecting the remaining provisions of this Certificate of Designations, and a suitable and equitable provision

shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision. No provision herein set forth shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed herein. If a court of competent jurisdiction should determine that a provision of this Certificate of Designations would be valid or enforceable if a period of time were extended or shortened, then such court may make such change as shall be necessary to render the provision in question effective and valid under applicable law. References herein to any payment shall mean a payment in cash in United States Dollars by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the applicable payee.

Section 19. Enforcement. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the provisions of this Certificate of Designations shall remain in full force and effect irrespective of (i) the failure of any Person to assert any claim or demand or to enforce any right or remedy under this Certificate of Designations or otherwise or (ii) any change in the corporate existence, structure or ownership of the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, or any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or other similar proceeding affecting the Corporation or any of its Affiliates.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF,	the Corporation has caused this	Certificate to be signed by [], its [President], this	[•] day of [•], 2021.

By:		
Name:		
Title:		

GARRETT MOTION INC.

Annex A

Form of Notice of Holder Conversion

[This Notice of Conversion is executed by the undersigned holder (the "Holder") in connection with the conversion of shares of the Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), pursuant to the terms and conditions of that certain Certificate of Designations of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc. (the "Certificate of Designations"), approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation on [•], 2021. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the respective meanings set forth in the Certificate of Designations.

Conversion: In accordance with and pursuant to such Certificate of Designations, the Holder hereby elects to convert the number of shares of Series A Preferred Stock indicated below into shares of Common Stock of the Corporation as of the date specified below.

Name of Holder:
Holder Conversion Date:
Number of Shares of Series A Held by Holder:
Amount Being Converted Hereby:
Preferred Shares Held After Conversion:
If the Shares of Series A to be converted are held through a nominee, please provide details of the brokerage account:
Broker:
DTC No.:
Acct. Name:
For Further Credit (if applicable):

Delivery of Shares: Pursuant to this Notice of Conversion, the Corporation shall deliver the applicable number of shares of Common Stock (the "Common Shares") issuable in accordance with the terms of the Certificate of Designations as set forth below. If Shares are to be issued in the name of a person other than the Holder, the Holder will pay all transfer taxes payable with respect thereto and is delivering herewith such certificates and opinions as reasonably requested by the Corporation in accordance therewith. No fee will be charged to the Holder for any conversion, except for such transfer taxes, if any. The Holder acknowledges and confirms that the Common Shares issued pursuant to this Notice of Conversion will, to the extent not previously registered by the Corporation under the U.S. Securities Act of 1933, as amended (the "Securities Act") be "restricted securities" within the meaning of Rule 144 under the Securities Act, unless the Common Shares are covered by a valid and effective registration statement under the Securities Act or this Notice of Conversion includes a valid opinion from an attorney stating that such Common Shares can be issued free of restrictive legend, which shall be determined by the Corporation in its sole discretion.

If the shares of Common Shares are to be delivered through E that will be issued as "restricted securities" are not eligible for	WAC, please provide details of the brokerage account for delivery (<i>Note: Common Shares</i> r settlement through DWAC):
Broker: DTC No.:	
Acct. Name:For Further Credit (if applicable):	<u> </u>

Exhibit 6

Revised Draft of Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc.

CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS OF

SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK OF

GARRETT MOTION INC.

GARRETT MOTION INC., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the "Corporation"), DOES HEREBY CERTIFY AS FOLLOWS:

The Board of Directors of the Corporation (including any committee thereof, the "Board of Directors"), at a meeting duly called and held on [•], 2021 in accordance with the provisions of the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, and the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, and applicable law, adopted the following resolution creating a series of Preferred Stock of the Corporation designated as "Series B Preferred Stock":

RESOLVED, that pursuant to Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law and the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws, the Board of Directors hereby establishes a series of Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of the Corporation and fixes and determines the voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof as follows:

Section 1. <u>Designation</u>. The distinctive serial designation of such series is "Series B Preferred Stock" ("<u>Series B</u>"). Each share of Series B shall be identical in all respects to every other share of Series B.

Section 2. <u>Number of Designated Shares</u>. The number of designated shares of Series B shall initially be 834,800,000. Such number may from time to time be decreased (but not below the number of shares of Series B then outstanding) by the Board of Directors. Shares of Series B that are redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation shall be cancelled and shall revert to authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stock undesignated as to series.

Section 3. Definitions. As used herein with respect to Series B:

- (a) "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any Person who, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with that Person, and the term "control" (including the terms "controlled", "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by contract (including proxy) or otherwise.
 - (b) "Aggregate Partial Early Redemption Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(a).

- (c) "Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference" means, as of any date, an amount equal to the sum of (A) the Deferred Scheduled Redemption Amount (*plus* any unpaid Deferred Interest Amount which has accrued in accordance with Section 8, Section 10(b) or Section 11(b)) plus (B) the Present Value.
 - (d) "Automatic Early Redemption" has the meaning set forth in Section 10(a).
 - (e) "Automatic Early Redemption Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 10(c).
- (f) "Automatic Early Redemption Event" means any of the following events: (i) a Change of Control occurs, (ii) the Corporation or the Board of Directors asserts in writing that any portion of the Series B or any of the Corporation's obligations under this Certificate of Designations is invalid or unenforceable, (iii) the indebtedness under the Credit Agreement is accelerated (and such acceleration is not rescinded prior to the Automatic Early Redemption Date), or (iv) the Corporation or any of its material Subsidiaries (defined for this purpose as any "significant subsidiary" as defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X) files for bankruptcy, reorganization, receivership, liquidation or similar proceedings affecting creditors' or equity holders' rights.
 - (g) "Automatic Early Redemption Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 10(d).
 - (h) "Beneficial Owner" or "Beneficially Own" have the meanings assigned to such terms in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act.
 - (i) "Board of Directors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- (j) "Business Day" means each Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or Friday on which banking institutions in The City of New York are not authorized or obligated by law, regulation or executive order to close.
- (k) "Bylaws" means the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, as amended, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time.
- (l) "Certificate of Incorporation" means the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, as amended, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time.
 - (m) "Change of Control" means any of the following events (whether in a single transaction or series of related transactions):
 - (i) a "person" or "group" (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), other than the Corporation or any of its wholly owned subsidiaries or any of the Excluded Parties, acquires, directly or indirectly, capital stock of the Corporation such that following such acquisition, such person or group becomes the direct or indirect Beneficial Owner of shares of the Corporation's capital stock representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation's capital stock representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation in a transaction pursuant to which the Common Stock ceases to be publicly listed on a national securities exchange in the United States, such transaction shall be considered a Change of Control;

- (ii) any transaction or series of related transactions in connection with which (whether by means of merger, consolidation, share exchange, combination, reclassification, recapitalization, acquisition or otherwise) a majority of the Corporation's capital stock is exchanged for, converted into, acquired for, or constitutes solely the right to receive, other securities, cash or other property; <u>provided, however</u>, that any merger, consolidation, share exchange or combination of the Corporation pursuant to which the Person or Persons that directly or indirectly Beneficially Owned all classes and series of the Corporation's capital stock immediately before such transaction directly or indirectly Beneficially Own, immediately after such transaction, more than fifty percent (50%) of all classes or series of capital stock of the surviving, continuing or acquiring company or other transferee, as applicable, or the parent thereof, in substantially the same proportions vis-à- vis each other as immediately before such transaction, will be deemed not to be a Change of Control pursuant to this clause (ii) (provided, that, in the case where stockholders of the Corporation receive securities in another company (such company, an "Acquiror") as consideration for such transaction, such Acquiror must be publicly listed on a national securities exchange in the United States); or
 - (iii) the sale, exchange, lease, or transfer of all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets, determined on a consolidated basis
- (n) "Common Stock" means the common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of the Corporation.
- (o) "Consolidated EBITDA" has the meaning given to such term or any equivalent term in the Credit Agreement then in effect; provided, that if a Credit Agreement is no longer in effect, "Consolidated EBITDA" shall have the meaning set forth in the Credit Agreement as most recently in effect. Except as otherwise set forth herein, "Consolidated EBITDA" shall be measured over the 12-month period that includes the most recent four fiscal quarters for which financial statements of the Corporation are available.
 - (p) "Corporation" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- (q) "<u>Credit Agreement</u>" means that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of [April 30], 2021, among the Corporation, Garrett LX I S.À R.L., Garrett Motion Holdings, Inc., Garrett Motion SÀRL, the lenders and issuing banks party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as amended, restated, amended and restated, modified or otherwise supplemented from time to time, or any replacement or successor thereto that is at the applicable time of determination the senior secured credit facility of the Corporation with the largest amount of undrawn commitments plus aggregate principal amount outstanding.
 - (r) "Deferral" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
 - (s) "Deferred Interest Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
- (t) "<u>Deferred Scheduled Redemption Amount</u>" means an amount equal to the number of Deferred Shares outstanding *multiplied by* the Stated Amount.
 - (u) "Deferred Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
 - (v) "Discount Rate" means a rate of 7.25% per annum.

- (w) "Early Redemption Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(c).
- (x) "EBITDA Margin" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
- (y) "EBITDA Threshold Requirement" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
- (z) "Effective Date" means [April 30], 2021.
- (aa) "Exchange Act" means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
- (bb) "Excluded Parties" means each of Centerbridge Partners, L.P., Oaktree Capital Management, L.P. and each of their respective Affiliates.
- (cc) "Full Early Redemption Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(b).
- (dd) "Holder" means the Person in which the Series B is registered on the books of the Corporation or any permitted transferee thereof pursuant to Section 13.
- (ee) "Holder Put Event" means an event which occurs if Consolidated EBITDA exceeds \$600,000,000 for two (2) consecutive fiscal quarters (measured as of the end of each such fiscal quarter).
 - (ff) "Holder Put Event Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(a).
 - (gg) "Holder Put Exercise Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(d)(i).
 - (hh) "Holder Put Redemption" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(a).
 - (ii) "Holder Put Redemption Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(c).
 - (jj) "Holder Put Redemption Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(a).
 - (kk) "Holder Put Right" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(a).
 - (ll) "Initial Deferral Payment Schedule" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
 - (mm) "Junior Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.
- (nn) "Law", with respect to any Person, means (a) all provisions of all laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, permits, certificates or orders of any governmental authority applicable to such Person or any of its assets or property or to which such Person or any of its assets or property is subject, and (b) all judgments, injunctions, orders and decrees of any governmental authority in proceedings or actions in which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its assets or properties is or may be bound or subject.
 - (00) "Liquidation Event" means any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation.
 - (pp) "Majority In Interest" means Holders holding a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Series B.
 - (qq) "Parity Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.

- (rr) "Parity Stock Liquidation Preference" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a).
- (ss) "Partial Early Redemption Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(a).
- (tt) "Person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization or government or other agency or political subdivision thereof. Any division or series of a limited liability company, limited partnership or trust will constitute a separate "Person" under this Certificate of Designations.
 - (uu) "Per Share Series B Liquidation Preference" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(c).
- (vv) "<u>Preferred Stock</u>" means the Series B, and any future series of preferred stock of the Corporation authorized in accordance with the terms of this Certificate of Designations.
- (ww) "Present Value" means, with respect to any date, the present value, as of such date, of all amounts to be paid to Holders to redeem all of the outstanding shares of Series B on future Scheduled Redemption Dates (excluding any Deferred Shares) pursuant to Section 8, calculated using the Discount Rate, an illustrative calculation of which is set forth on Annex B hereto.
 - (xx) "Scheduled Redemption Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
- (yy) "Scheduled Redemption Dates" means each date set forth on Annex A hereto and each anniversary of the final Scheduled Redemption Date on which shares of Series B remain outstanding.
 - (zz) "Senior Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.
 - (aaa) "Series A" means the Series A Preferred Stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of the Corporation.
 - (bbb) "Series B" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.
 - (ccc) "Series B Director" has the meaning set forth in Section 12(a).
- (ddd) "Stated Amount" means, in respect of each share of Series B, \$1.00 per share and, in respect of any other series of capital stock, the stated amount per share specified in the Certificate of Incorporation or applicable certificate of designations.
- (eee) "Subsidiary." means, with respect to any Person, any other Person of which a majority of the securities or other interests having ordinary voting power for the election of directors or other governing body (other than securities or interests having such power only by reason of the happening of a contingency) are at the time Beneficially Owned, or the management of which is otherwise controlled, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, or both, by such first Person. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to a "Subsidiary" or to "Subsidiaries" shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of the Corporation.

Section 4. Distributions; No Participation; Certain Restrictions.

- (a) The Series B shall not be entitled to any dividends or other distributions or payments other than the redemption payments and payments upon liquidation as provided in this Certificate of Designations.
- (b) The Series B shall not be entitled to participate in any distributions or payments to the holders of the Common Stock or any other class of stock of the Corporation.
- (c) Unless (i) the Deferred Scheduled Redemption Amount is \$0.00 and (ii) the Board of Directors has determined, in good faith, that the Corporation will be able to satisfy in full the payment of the upcoming Scheduled Redemption Amount on the next Scheduled Redemption Date after giving effect to such dividend, distribution or payment, no dividends, distributions or other payments may be made to holders of the Common Stock, the Series A (other than in connection with a conversion of any shares of the Series A in accordance with its terms), or any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors (unless the terms thereof expressly provide that such class ranks senior to the Series B as to right to payment of dividends and distributions and such class of Preferred Stock has been established in accordance with Section 7(b)(i)). For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 4(c) shall not prohibit the accrual of Preference Dividends (as defined in the Series A Certificate of Designations) which are not paid in cash in accordance with the terms of the Series A Certificate of Designations.

Section 5. Ranking. The Series B shall, with respect to the right to be paid the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (as provided in Section 6 below), rank (i) senior to (A) all classes of Common Stock and (B) any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors (other than Parity Stock or Senior Stock established in accordance with Section 7(b)(i) or Section 7(b) (ii), as applicable) (collectively, referred to as the "Junior Stock"), (ii) *pari passu* with any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 7(b)(ii), the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks *pari passu* with the Series B as to rights on the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (collectively, referred to as the "Parity Stock") and (iii) junior to (A) the Series A and (B) any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 7(b)(i), the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks senior to the Series B as to rights on the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (collectively, referred to as "Senior Stock").

Section 6. Liquidation Rights.

(a) <u>Payment of Series B Liquidation Preference</u>. In the event of the occurrence of any Liquidation Event, before any distribution or payment out of the assets of the Corporation may be made to or set aside for the holders of any Junior Stock, the Holders of Series B will be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Corporation legally available for distribution to its stockholders an amount equal to the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference. If, after payment of any liquidation preferences otherwise payable to holders of any Senior Stock in respect of any distribution upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event, and subject to applicable Law, the remaining assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to pay all Holders of Series B the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference in full and to pay all holders of any Parity Stock the aggregate liquidation preferences payable to such holders of such Parity Stock in respect of any distributions upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (a "<u>Parity Stock Liquidation Preference</u>"), then the amounts paid to the Holders of Series B and to the holders of all Parity Stock shall be *pro rata* in accordance with the respective Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference of Series B and the Parity Stock Liquidation Preference of such Parity Stock.

- (b) <u>Residual Distributions</u>. Without prejudice to the rights of the Corporation set forth in Section 9, if the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference has been paid in full to the Holders of Series B and all Parity Stock Liquidation Preferences, if any, have been paid in full to all holders of any Parity Stock, then the holders of Junior Stock will be entitled to receive all remaining assets of the Corporation according to their respective rights and preferences and the Series B shall not be entitled to receive any remaining assets.
- (c) <u>Per Share Series B Liquidation Preference</u>. Each share of Series B shall, from time to time, have a liquidation preference in an amount equal to the quotient of (i) the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference <u>divided by</u> (ii) the total number of outstanding shares of Series B (the "<u>Per Share Series B Liquidation Preference</u>").
- (d) <u>Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Assets Not Liquidation</u>. For purposes of this Certificate of Designations, the merger, consolidation or other business combination of the Corporation with or into any other corporation, including a transaction in which the holders of Series B receive cash or property for their shares, or the sale, conveyance, lease, exchange or transfer (for cash, shares of stock, securities or other consideration) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation, shall not constitute a Liquidation Event.

Section 7. Voting Rights.

- (a) General. The holders of Series B will have no voting rights except as set forth below or as otherwise required by Law.
- (b) <u>Other Voting Rights</u>. So long as any shares of Series B are outstanding, in addition to any other vote or consent of stockholders required by Law or by the Certificate of Incorporation, the Corporation shall not, either directly or indirectly by amendment, merger, consolidation or otherwise, do any of the following without the vote or written consent of a Majority In Interest (such right to vote or written consent to be limited to the following, except as otherwise set forth in Section 7(a), but, for the avoidance of doubt, without prejudice to any other rights of the Holders hereunder), given in person or by proxy if by vote, at any meeting called for that purpose, and any such act or transaction purportedly entered into without such consent or vote shall be null and void ab initio, and of no force or effect:
 - (i) <u>Authorization of Senior Stock</u>. Any amendment, modification or alteration of the Certificate of Incorporation to authorize or create, or increase the authorized amount of, any shares of any class or series or any securities convertible into shares of any class or series of Senior Stock, or any issuance after the date hereof of shares of Senior Stock that are authorized as of the date hereof, other than an amendment or alteration increasing the authorized amount of shares of Series A necessary to issue shares of Series A as distributions in kind on the Series A Preferred Stock to the holders thereof.
 - (ii) <u>Authorization of Parity Stock</u>. Any amendment, modification or alteration of the Certificate of Incorporation to authorize or create, or increase the authorized amount of, any shares of any class or series of Parity Stock or any issuance after the date hereof of shares of Parity Stock that are authorized as of the date hereof.
 - (iii) <u>Restriction on Series B Redemptions</u>. Entry by the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries into any agreement containing or imposing, directly or indirectly, any restriction (including, but not limited to, any covenant or agreement) on the ability of the Corporation to make required payments on or redeem the shares of Series B (other than

pursuant to any customary restrictions contained in any agreement governing indebtedness of the Corporation or its Subsidiaries that are on terms which are not, taken as a whole, materially less favorable to the Holders of Series B than the terms contained in the Credit Agreement in existence on the date hereof as determined by the Board of Directors in good faith).

- (iv) <u>Amendments</u>. Any amendment, modification, alteration or repeal of any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or any other certificate of designations of the Corporation that would have an adverse effect, in any material respect, on the rights, preferences, privileges or voting power of the shares of Series B or any Holder thereof or any amendment, modification, alteration or repeal of this Certificate of Designations.
- (v) *Increase of Size of Board of Directors*. Any increase in the number of members of the Board of Directors at a time when the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference is greater than \$125,000,000.
- (vi) <u>Other Actions</u>. Any action or inaction that would reduce the Stated Amount of any share of Series B (including, but not limited to, any reverse stock split, combination, or other adjustment).

Section 8. Scheduled Redemptions. On each Scheduled Redemption Date set forth on Annex A (or, if such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day) on which any shares of Series B remain outstanding, the Corporation shall redeem, pro rata from each Holder based on the total number of shares of Series B held by such Holder, an aggregate number of shares of Series B equal to the scheduled redemption amount set forth on Annex A hereto (the "Scheduled Redemption Amount") with respect to such Scheduled Redemption Date divided by the Stated Amount thereof, for a per share price equal to the Stated Amount; provided, that the Corporation shall not be obligated to redeem the shares of Series B on a Scheduled Redemption Date if, as of such date, (i) the Consolidated EBITDA measured as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal [year] is less than \$425,000,000 (the "EBITDA Threshold Requirement") or (ii) the Corporation does not have sufficient funds legally available to pay the applicable Scheduled Redemption Amount when due. Any shares of Series B which the Corporation has not redeemed on a Scheduled Redemption Date pursuant to the proviso of the foregoing sentence or the following sentence ("<u>Deferred Shares</u>") shall, subject to the terms of this Section 8, be redeemed in equal installments on the subsequent two Scheduled Redemption Dates following the Scheduled Redemption Date on which such shares were scheduled to be redeemed in accordance with Annex A for a per share price equal to the Stated Amount (such delayed redemption, a "Deferral", and such initial deferred payment schedule, the "Initial Deferral Payment Schedule"). Notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary: (i) all Deferred Shares outstanding as of [April 30], 2030 shall be redeemed on [April 30], 2030 (and shall not be subject to any further deferral at that time); (ii) if (x) as of any Scheduled Redemption Date the Corporation does not have sufficient funds legally available to redeem all Deferred Shares in accordance with the Initial Deferral Payment Schedule or (y) the difference between the Consolidated EBITDA measured as of the end of the most recent completed fiscal [year] prior to the applicable payment date for such Deferred Shares and \$425,000,000 (the "EBITDA Margin") is less than the amount of redemption payments that would otherwise be payable by the Corporation with respect to such Deferred Shares, the Corporation shall redeem a number of Deferred Shares equal to the lesser of (A) the maximum amount of Deferred Shares for which it has sufficient funds legally available to do so and (B) the EBITDA Margin divided by the Stated Amount, and any remaining additional Deferred Shares shall be redeemable on the next Scheduled Redemption Date subject to continued application of this clause (ii) (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Deferred Interest Amount (as defined below) shall continue

to apply thereto until such Deferred Shares are redeemed); and (iii) in the event of a Deferral, if the shares of Series B subject to such Deferral are not redeemed in accordance with the Initial Deferral Payment Schedule, such shares shall accrue interest from and after the time that the Corporation fails to make redemption payments in accordance with the applicable Initial Deferral Payment Schedule, at the Deferred Interest Amount and shall, for the avoidance of doubt be payable on the subsequent Scheduled Redemption Date in full, subject to the terms of this Section 8. "Deferred Interest Amount" means interest on the aggregate Stated Amount with respect to the relevant shares of Series B (with no compounding interest) at the annual rate of seven and one-quarter percent (7.25%). Such interest shall accrue daily but shall not be capitalized or added to the then Stated Amount.

Section 9. Early Redemption at the Option of the Corporation.

- (a) At any time during the eighteen (18)-month period following the Effective Date, but no more than once during such period, and subject to the terms of this Section 9, the Corporation may redeem, *pro rata* from each Holder based on the total number of shares of Series B of such Holder, the number of outstanding shares of Series B specified in an Early Redemption Notice ("<u>Partial Early Redemption Shares</u>"), for an aggregate purchase price equal to the Aggregate Partial Early Redemption Price, <u>provided</u>, that (i) immediately following the redemption of Partial Early Redemption Shares pursuant to this Section 9(a), the Present Value of all of the remaining outstanding shares of Series B shall be at least \$400,000,000 and (ii) the Corporation shall not redeem any shares of Series B pursuant to this Section 9(a) unless the Corporation has sufficient funds legally available to pay the Aggregate Partial Early Redemption Price. As used in this Certificate of Designations, "<u>Aggregate Partial Early Redemption Price</u>" means the difference of
- (A) the Present Value as of the applicable redemption date, calculated without giving effect to the redemption of any Partial Early Redemption Shares pursuant to this Section 9(a), minus (B) the Present Value as of the applicable redemption date, calculated as of immediately following the redemption of all of the Partial Early Redemption Shares pursuant to this Section 9(a).
- (b) Without prejudice to the rights of the Corporation set forth in Section 9(a), at any time while shares of Series B remain outstanding, and subject to the terms of this Section 9, the Corporation may redeem all, but not less than all, outstanding shares of Series B (the "Full Early Redemption Shares"), for an aggregate cash purchase price equal to the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference as of the applicable redemption date, calculated without giving effect to the redemption of the shares of Series B pursuant to this Section 9(b).
- (c) To call any Partial Early Redemption Shares or any Full Early Redemption Shares for redemption, the Corporation must send to the Holders a notice of such redemption (an "<u>Early Redemption Notice</u>") at least twenty (20) Business Days prior to the intended redemption date. Such Early Redemption Notice must state:
 - (i) the number of Partial Early Redemption Shares or Full Early Redemption Shares, as applicable, to be called from such Holder;
 - (ii) the redemption date for redemption of such Partial Early Redemption Shares or Full Early Redemption Shares, as applicable; and
 - (iii) the per share redemption price, calculated as the Aggregate Partial Early Redemption Price or Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference, as applicable, *divided by* the total number of Partial Early Redemption Shares or Full Early Redemption Shares, as applicable.

(d) The Corporation will cause any redemption price payable pursuant to this Section 9 to be paid to the Holders on or before the applicable redemption date.

Section 10. Early Automatic Redemption.

- (a) <u>In General</u>. Subject to the other terms of this Section 10, on the Automatic Early Redemption Date, the Corporation shall, redeem all outstanding shares of Series B (the "<u>Automatic Early Redemption</u>") for an aggregate cash purchase price equal to the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference as of the applicable redemption date, calculated without giving effect to the redemption of the shares of Series B pursuant to this Section 10.
- (b) <u>Funds Legally Available for Payment of Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 10, in connection with an Automatic Early Redemption (1) the Corporation will pay the maximum amount of such Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference permitted by Law, which payment will be made *pro rata* to each Holder based on the total number of shares of Series B of such Holder that were otherwise to be redeemed pursuant to such Automatic Early Redemption; and (2) the Corporation will cause all such shares as to which the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference was not paid in full to be returned to the Holder(s) thereof, and such shares will be deemed to remain outstanding, shall accrue interest at the Deferred Interest Amount from and after the date of the Automatic Early Redemption Event and shall be redeemed in full as soon as the Corporation has funds legally available to do so; <u>provided</u>, that, the Corporation will not take any action, or engage in any transaction, in furtherance of a Change of Control if the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference payable upon such Change of Control is not reasonably expected to be paid in full at the time due in accordance with Section 10(c).
- (c) Automatic Early Redemption Date. The "Automatic Early Redemption Date" will be (1) in the event of an Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (i) of the definition thereof that is authorized, approved or otherwise recommended by the Board of Directors (or a committee thereof), a Business Day of the Corporation's choosing which is on or prior to the date of such Automatic Early Redemption Event, (2) in the event of an Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (iv) (solely if such event occurs with respect to the Corporation) of the definition thereof, on the date thereof, provided that the timing for the payment of the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference will be in accordance with the law applicable to such bankruptcy reorganization, receivership, insolvency, liquidation or similar proceedings affecting creditors' or equity holders' rights and (3) in the event of any Automatic Early Redemption Event other than as set forth in the preceding clauses (1) and (2) of this Section 10(c), a Business Day of the Corporation's choosing that is no more than thirty (30) calendar days after the date the Corporation sends the related Automatic Early Redemption Notice (provided, that in the event of an Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (ii) of the definition thereof, such Automatic Early Redemption Event shall be deemed to be the Automatic Early Redemption Notice). For the avoidance of doubt, in the event of an Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (iv) of the definition thereof (solely if such event occurs with respect to the Corporation), the amount due to the Holders pursuant to this Section 10(c) shall be the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference, solely to the extent that any such amounts remain legally available for distribution following payment of any liquidation preferences otherwise payable to holders of any Senior Stock. It is understood and agreed that, in the event of an Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (iv) of the definition thereof (solely if such event occurs with respect to the Corporation), the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference shall be deemed not to include any unmatured interest prohibited by section 502(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Corporation shall not assert that the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference includes any unmatured interest prohibited by section 502(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.

- (d) <u>Automatic Early Redemption Notice</u>. As soon as reasonably practicable after the Corporation discovers that an Automatic Early Redemption Event has occurred or is reasonably likely to occur (other than in the event of an Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (ii) of the definition thereof, in which case such Automatic Early Redemption Event shall also be deemed to be the Automatic Early Redemption Notice), the Corporation shall send to each Holder a notice of such Automatic Early Redemption Event (an "<u>Automatic Early Redemption Notice</u>"); <u>provided</u>, that any Automatic Early Redemption effected in connection with such Automatic Early Redemption Notice shall be conditional upon the actual occurrence of such Automatic Early Redemption Event. Such Automatic Early Redemption Notice must state:
 - (i) a description in reasonable detail of the events constituting such Automatic Early Redemption Event;
 - (ii) the expected effective date of such Automatic Early Redemption Event;
 - (iii) the Automatic Early Redemption Date; and
 - (iv) the redemption price per share of Series B, equal to the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference as of the applicable redemption date *divided by* the total number of outstanding shares of Series B (the "Per Share Early Redemption Price").
- (e) <u>Payment of the Redemption Price</u>. Subject to Section 10(b), the Corporation will cause the Per Share Early Redemption Price for each share of Series B to be redeemed pursuant to an Automatic Early Redemption to be paid to the Holder thereof on or before the Automatic Early Redemption Date.

Section 11. Early Redemption at the Option of the Holder.

- (a) <u>In General</u>. Subject to the other terms of this Section 11, each Holder will have the right (the "<u>Holder Put Right</u>"), at its election, following the occurrence of a Holder Put Event, to require the Corporation to redeem all, but not less than all, of such Holder's shares of Series B on the Holder Put Redemption Date (the "<u>Holder Put Redemption</u>"), for an aggregate cash purchase price equal to the Per Share Early Redemption Price *multiplied by* the number of shares of Series B held by such Holder (the "<u>Holder Put Redemption Price</u>"); <u>provided</u>, that the Corporation shall not be obligated to effect the Holder Put Redemption unless a Majority in Interest elect to exercise the Holder Put Right in accordance with this Section 11. As soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event within five (5) Business Days) after a Holder Put Event has occurred, the Corporation shall send to each Holder a notice of such Holder Put Event (a "<u>Holder Put Event Notice</u>").
- (b) <u>Funds Legally Available for Payment of the Holder Put Redemption Price</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 11 in connection with a Holder Put Redemption, (1) the Corporation will pay the maximum amount of such Holder Put Redemption Price permitted by Law, which payment will be made *pro rata* to each Holder based on the total number of shares of Series B of such Holder that were otherwise to be redeemed pursuant to such Holder Put Redemption, as the case may be; and (2) the Corporation will cause all such shares as to which the Holder Put Redemption Price was not paid in full to be returned to the Holder(s) thereof, and such shares will be deemed to remain outstanding and shall accrue interest at the Deferred Interest Amount from and after the date of such Holder Put Event and shall be redeemed in full as soon as the Corporation has funds legally available to do so.

- (c) <u>Holder Put Redemption Date</u>. The "<u>Holder Put Redemption Date</u>" will be a Business Day of the Corporation's choosing that is no more than thirty (30) calendar days after the date the Holder sends the related Holder Put Exercise Notice pursuant to Section 11(d).
 - (d) Procedures to Exercise the Holder Put Right. To exercise its Holder Put Right the Holder thereof must deliver to the Corporation:
 - (i) Within twenty (20) Business Days after receiving the applicable Holder Put Event Notice, a duly completed, written Holder Put Exercise Notice with respect to such share(s) in the form of <u>Annex C</u> hereto (a "<u>Holder Put Exercise Notice</u>"); it being understood that if the Holder fails to deliver the Holder Put Exercise Notice within the such twenty (20) Business Day period, then such Holder Put Right in respect of such Holder Put Event shall lapse; and
 - (ii) such share(s), duly endorsed for transfer, to the extent such share(s) are represented by one or more certificates.

Within five (5) Business Days after receipt of the Holder Put Exercise Notice, the Corporation shall notify the Holder in writing of (A) the Holder Put Redemption Date and (B) the per share redemption price, which shall be equal to the Per Share Early Redemption Price.

(e) <u>Payment of the Per Share Early Redemption Price</u>. Subject to Section 11(b), the Corporation will cause the Per Share Early Redemption Price for each share of Series B to be redeemed pursuant to Holder Put Redemption to be paid to the Holder thereof on or before the later of (i) the Holder Put Redemption Date and (ii) the date the certificate in respect of such share (if any) is tendered to the Corporation or its transfer agent. If a Holder Put Exercise Notice is validly delivered but the Holder Put Redemption is prohibited by applicable law, the Corporation will redeem (at the Per Share Early Redemption Price for each such share of Series B) the maximum number of shares of Series B with respect to which redemption is permitted by Law, and will redeem any remaining share of Series B as promptly as possible following the date when such redemption is permitted by Law.

Section 12. Election of Directors.

(a) Provided that the aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference is greater than \$125,000,000, (i) the Majority in Interest will have the exclusive right, voting separately as a class, to elect or appoint one director to the Board of Directors (which, for the purposes of this Section 12, shall refer only to the Board of Directors of the Corporation and not any committee thereof), irrespective of whether the Board of Directors has nominated such Person (the "Series B Director"), (ii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the Certificate of Incorporation or in the Bylaws, a Majority in Interest shall have the exclusive right to remove any Series B Director at any time for any reason or no reason (with or without cause) by sending a written notice to the Corporation and, upon receipt of such notice by the Corporation, such Series B Director shall be deemed to have resigned from the Board of Directors, and (iii) in the event of the death, disability, resignation or removal of any Series B Director, a Majority in Interest shall have the exclusive right to designate or appoint a successor to fill the vacancy created thereby. In the event that any Series B Director offers to tender his or her resignation, the Board of Directors shall promptly determine whether to accept such resignation and, if the Board of Directors chooses to accept such resignation,

the Corporation and the Majority In Interest shall be immediately required to take any and all actions necessary or appropriate to cooperate in ensuring the removal of such individual; provided, that, for the avoidance of doubt, this sentence shall not be construed in any manner to limit the right of a Majority In Interest to remove the Series B Director at any time pursuant to clause (ii) above. At such time as the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference is not greater than \$125,000,000, any Series B Director shall be deemed to have resigned from the Board of Directors without further action by the Holders or the Corporation. Neither the Board of Directors nor any holders of Senior Stock or any Person or group of Persons (other than the Majority in Interest) shall have any right to remove any Series B Director from the Board of Directors without cause, such right of removal being vested exclusively with a Majority in Interest. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in the foregoing sentence shall be deemed to derogate the rights of the Corporation's stockholders to remove any Series B Director for cause to the extent provided by the Delaware General Corporation Law; provided, that, for the avoidance of doubt, no such removal shall in any way alter or impair the rights of the Majority in Interest to elect or appoint the Series B Director, including any replacement Series B Director.

- (b) The Corporation and its Subsidiaries shall reimburse the Series B Director for all reasonable and documented out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with his or her attendance at meetings of the Board of Directors, and any committees thereof, including travel, lodging and meal expenses, in accordance with the Corporation's reimbursement policies.
- (c) To the extent elected or appointed by the Majority In Interest, the Corporation shall, and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its directors, officers and employees to, take all actions necessary and within its and their control and to the extent permissible by Law to cause the election, appointment, removal or replacement of the Series B Director as provided for herein.
- **Section 13.** Transfer Restrictions. No Holder of shares of Series B may offer, sell, assign or transfer any portion of such Holder's shares of Series B without the approval of the Board of Directors, which consent the Board of Directors may grant or withhold in its sole discretion; provided, that, any Holder may offer, sell, assign or transfer any shares of Series B to any of its controlled Affiliates; provided, further, that if any such controlled Affiliate ceases to be an Affiliate of such Holder, such Series B shares must be assigned or transferred to the original Holder or a controlled Affiliate thereof. Any offer, sale, assignment or transfer of any shares of Series B in violation of any provision of this Certificate of Designations shall be null and void and without any effect. Each certificate (if any) evidencing shares of Series B shall bear a legend indicating that such shares of Series B are subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth herein.
- **Section 14.** Expenses. All reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by any Holder in successfully enforcing the right to receive any Scheduled Redemption Amounts or the Deferred Scheduled Redemption Amount in accordance with the terms of this Certificate of Designations shall reimbursed by the Corporation.
- **Section 15.** <u>Record Holders</u>. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Corporation and the transfer agent for the Series B may deem and treat the record holder of any share of Series B as the true and lawful owner thereof for all purposes, and neither the Corporation nor such transfer agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.
- **Section 16.** Notices. All notices or communications in respect of the Series B will be sufficiently given if given in writing and delivered in person or by first class mail, postage prepaid, or if given in such other manner as may be permitted in this Certificate of Designations, in the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws or by applicable law.

Section 17. No Other Rights or Privileges. The shares of Series B will not have any voting powers, preferences or relative, participating, optional or other special rights, or qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, other than as set forth herein or in the Certificate of Incorporation.

Section 18. Certificates. The Corporation may at its option issue shares of Series B without certificates.

Section 19. Interpretation. Whenever possible, each provision of this Certificate of Designations shall be interpreted in a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law and public policy. If any provision set forth herein is held to be invalid, unlawful or incapable of being enforced by reason of any rule of law or public policy, such provision shall be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating or otherwise adversely affecting the remaining provisions of this Certificate of Designations, and a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision. No provision herein set forth shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed herein. If a court of competent jurisdiction should determine that a provision of this Certificate of Designations would be valid or enforceable if a period of time were extended or shortened, then such court may make such change as shall be necessary to render the provision in question effective and valid under applicable law. References herein to any payment shall mean a payment in cash in United States Dollars by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the applicable payee.

Section 20. Enforcement. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the provisions of this Certificate of Designations shall remain in full force and effect irrespective of (i) the failure of any Person to assert any claim or demand or to enforce any right or remedy under this Certificate of Designations or otherwise or (ii) any change in the corporate existence, structure or ownership of the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, or any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or other similar proceeding affecting the Corporation or any of its Affiliates.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Corporation has caused this Certificate to be signed by [•], its [President], this [•] day of [•], 2021.			
	GARRETT MOTION INC.		
	Ву:		
	Name: Title:		

Annex A

Scheduled Redemptions

Scheduled Redemption Date	Schedu	led Redemption Amount
[April 30], 2022	\$	34,800,000
[April 30], 2023	\$	100,000,000
[April 30], 2024	\$	100,000,000
[April 30], 2025	\$	100,000,000
[April 30], 2026	\$	100,000,000
[April 30], 2027	\$	100,000,000
[April 30], 2028	\$	100,000,000
[April 30], 2029	\$	100,000,000
[April 30], 2030	\$	100,000,000

Annex B

Illustrative Calculation of Present Value

Discount Rate:	7.25%	Discount Rate Multiplier:
Present Value as of [April 30], 2021:	\$583,857,988	
[April 30], 2022	\$ 34,800,000	0.932401
[April 30], 2023	\$100,000,000	0.869371
[April 30], 2024	\$100,000,000	0.810603
[April 30], 2025	\$100,000,000	0.755807
[April 30], 2026	\$100,000,000	0.704715
[April 30], 2027	\$100,000,000	0.657077
[April 30], 2028	\$100,000,000	0.612659
[April 30], 2029	\$100,000,000	0.571244
[April 30], 2030	\$100,000,000	0.532628

Annex C

Form of Holder Put Exercise Notice

This Holder Put Exercise Notice is executed by the undersigned holder (the "Holder") in connection with the conversion of shares of the Series B Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), pursuant to the terms and conditions of that certain Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc. (the "Certificate of Designations"), approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation on [•], 2021. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the respective meanings set forth in the Certificate of Designations.

Bank Name:

Bank Address:

ABA/Routing No.:

SWIFT Instructions (as applicable)

Reference:

Annex 1 to Exhibit 6

Blackline of Draft of Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc.

CERTIFICATE OF DESIGNATIONS

OF

SERIES B PREFERRED STOCK OF

GARRETT MOTION INC.

GARRETT MOTION INC., a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware (the "Corporation"), DOES HEREBY CERTIFY AS FOLLOWS:

The Board of Directors of the Corporation (including any committee thereof, the "Board of Directors"), at a meeting duly called and held on [•], 2021 in accordance with the provisions of the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, and the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, and applicable law, adopted the following resolution creating a series of Preferred Stock of the Corporation designated as "Series B Preferred Stock":

RESOLVED, that pursuant to Section 151 of the Delaware General Corporation Law and the Certificate of Incorporation and the Bylaws, the Board of Directors hereby establishes a series of Preferred Stock, par value \$0.001 per share, of the Corporation and fixes and determines the voting powers, full or limited, or no voting powers, and such designations, preferences and relative, participating, optional or other special rights, and qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof as follows:

Section 1. Designation. The distinctive serial designation of such series is "Series B Preferred Stock" ("Series B"). Each share of Series B shall be identical in all respects to every other share of Series B.

Section 2. <u>Number of Designated Shares</u>. The number of designated shares of Series B shall initially be 834,800,000. Such number may from time to time be decreased (but not below the number of shares of Series B then outstanding) by the Board of Directors. Shares of Series B that are redeemed, purchased or otherwise acquired by the Corporation shall be cancelled and shall revert to authorized but unissued shares of Preferred Stock undesignated as to series.

Section 3. Definitions. As used herein with respect to Series B:

- (a) "Affiliate" means, with respect to any Person, any Person who, directly or indirectly, controls, is controlled by or is under common control with that Person, and the term "control" (including the terms "controlled", "controlled by" and "under common control with") means the possession, directly or indirectly, of the power to direct or cause the direction of the management and policies of such Person, whether through the ownership of voting securities or partnership or other ownership interests, by contract (including proxy) or otherwise.
 - (b) "Aggregate Partial Early Redemption Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(a).
- (c) "<u>Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference</u>" means, as of any date, an amount equal to the sum of (A) the Deferred Scheduled Redemption Amount (*plus* any unpaid Deferred Interest Amount which has accrued in accordance with Section 8, Section 10(b) or Section 11(b)) *plus* (B) the Present Value.

- (d) "Automatic Early Redemption" has the meaning set forth in Section 10(a).
- (e) "Automatic Early Redemption Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 10(c).
- (f) "Automatic Early Redemption Event" means any of the following events: (i) a Change of Control occurs, (ii) the Corporation or the Board of Directors asserts in writing that any portion of the Series B or any of the Corporation's obligations under this Certificate of Designations is invalid or unenforceable, (iii) the indebtedness under the Credit Agreement is accelerated (and such acceleration is not rescinded prior to the Automatic Early Redemption Date), or (iv) the Corporation or any of its material Subsidiaries (including, but not limited to, defined for this purpose as any "significant subsidiary" as defined in Rule 1-02(w) of Regulation S-X) files for bankruptcy, reorganization, receivership, liquidation or similar proceedings affecting creditors' or equity holders' rights.
 - (g) "Automatic Early Redemption Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 10(d).
 - (h) "Beneficial Owner" or "Beneficially Own" have the meanings assigned to such terms in Rule 13d-3 under the Exchange Act.
 - (i) "Board of Directors" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- (j) "Business Day" means each Monday, Tuesday, Wednesday, Thursday or Friday on which banking institutions in The City of New York are not authorized or obligated by law, regulation or executive order to close.
- (k) "Bylaws" means the Second Amended and Restated Bylaws of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, as amended, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time.
- (l) "Certificate of Incorporation" means the Second Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporation of the Corporation, dated as of [April 30], 2021, as amended, amended and restated or otherwise modified from time to time.
 - (m) "Change of Control" means any of the following events (whether in a single transaction or series of related transactions):
 - (i) a "person" or "group" (within the meaning of Section 13(d)(3) of the Exchange Act), other than the Corporation or any of its wholly owned subsidiaries or any of the Excluded Parties, acquires, directly or indirectly, capital stock of the Corporation such that following such acquisition, such person or group becomes the direct or indirect Beneficial Owner of shares of the Corporation's capital stock representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation's capital stock representing more than fifty percent (50%) of the combined voting power of all of the then outstanding shares of all classes and series of capital stock of the Corporation in a transaction pursuant to which the Common Stock ceases to be publicly listed on a national securities exchange in the United States, such transaction shall be considered a Change of Control;

- (ii) any transaction or series of related transactions in connection with which (whether by means of merger, consolidation, share exchange, combination, reclassification, recapitalization, acquisition or otherwise) a majority of the Corporation's capital stock is exchanged for, converted into, acquired for, or constitutes solely the right to receive, other securities, cash or other property; provided, however, that any merger, consolidation, share exchange or combination of the Corporation pursuant to which the Person or Persons that directly or indirectly Beneficially Owned all classes and series of the Corporation's capital stock immediately before such transaction directly or indirectly Beneficially Own, immediately after such transaction, more than fifty percent (50%) of all classes or series of capital stock of the surviving, continuing or acquiring company or other transferee, as applicable, or the parent thereof, in substantially the same proportions vis-à- vis each other as immediately before such transaction, will be deemed not to be a Change of Control pursuant to this clause (ii) (provided, that, in the case where stockholders of the Corporation receive securities in another company (such company, an "Acquiror") as consideration for such transaction, such Acquiror must be publicly listed on a national securities exchange in the United States); or
 - (iii) the sale, exchange, lease, or transfer of all or substantially all of the Corporation's assets, determined on a consolidated basis
- (n) "Common Stock" means the common stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of the Corporation.
- (o) "Consolidated EBITDA" has the meaning given to such term or any equivalent term in the Credit Agreement then in effect; provided, that if a Credit Agreement is no longer in effect, "Consolidated EBITDA" shall have the meaning set forth in the Credit Agreement as most recently in effect and. Except as otherwise set forth herein, "Consolidated EBITDA" shall be measured on an annualized basis (i.e., for aover the 12-month) period that includes the most recent four consecutive fiscal quarters): for which financial statements of the Corporation are available.
 - (p) "Corporation" has the meaning set forth in the Preamble.
- (q) "<u>Credit Agreement</u>" means that certain Credit Agreement, dated as of [April 30], 2021, among the Corporation, Garrett LX I S.À R.L., Garrett Motion Holdings, Inc., Garrett Motion SÀRL, the lenders and issuing banks party thereto and JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., as amended, restated, amended and restated, modified or otherwise supplemented from time to time, or any replacement or successor thereto that is at the applicable time of determination the senior secured credit facility of the Corporation with the largest amount of undrawn commitments plus aggregate principal amount outstanding.
 - (r) "Deferral" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
 - (s) "Deferred Interest Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
- (t) "<u>Deferred Scheduled Redemption Amount</u>" means an amount equal to the number of Deferred Shares outstanding *multiplied by* the Stated Amount.
 - (u) "Deferred Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.

- (v) "Discount Rate" means a rate of 7.25% per annum.
- (w) "Early Redemption Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(c).
- (x) "EBITDA Margin" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
- (y) "EBITDA Threshold Requirement" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
- (z) "Effective Date" means [April 30], 2021.
- (aa) "Exchange Act" means the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.
- (bb) "Excluded Parties" means each of Centerbridge Partners, L.P., Oaktree Capital Management, L.P. and each of their respective Affiliates.
- (cc) "Full Early Redemption Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(b).
- (dd) "Holder" means the Person in which the Series B is registered on the books of the Corporation or any permitted transferee thereof pursuant to Section 13.
- (ee) "Holder Put Event" means an event which occurs if Consolidated EBITDA exceeds \$600,000,000 for two (2) consecutive fiscal quarters (measured as of the end of each such fiscal quarter).
 - (ff) "Holder Put Event Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(a).
 - (gg) "Holder Put Exercise Notice" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(d)(i).
 - (hh) "Holder Put Redemption" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(a).
 - (ii) "Holder Put Redemption Date" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(c).
 - (jj) "Holder Put Redemption Price" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(a).
 - (kk) "Holder Put Right" has the meaning set forth in Section 11(a).
 - (ll) "Initial Deferral Payment Schedule" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
 - (mm) "Junior Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.
- (nn) "Law", with respect to any Person, means (a) all provisions of all laws, statutes, ordinances, rules, regulations, permits, certificates or orders of any governmental authority applicable to such Person or any of its assets or property or to which such Person or any of its assets or property is subject, and (b) all judgments, injunctions, orders and decrees of any governmental authority in proceedings or actions in which such Person is a party or by which it or any of its assets or properties is or may be bound or subject.
 - (oo) "Liquidation Event" means any voluntary or involuntary liquidation, dissolution or winding-up of the Corporation.
 - (pp) "Majority In Interest" means Holders holding a majority of the issued and outstanding shares of Series B.

- (qq) "Parity Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.
- (rr) "Parity Stock Liquidation Preference" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(a).
- (ss) "Partial Early Redemption Shares" has the meaning set forth in Section 9(a).
- (tt) "Person" means any individual, corporation, partnership, limited liability company, joint venture, association, joint-stock company, trust, unincorporated organization or government or other agency or political subdivision thereof. Any division or series of a limited liability company, limited partnership or trust will constitute a separate "Person" under this Certificate of Designations.
 - (uu) "<u>Per Share Series B Liquidation Preference</u>" has the meaning set forth in Section 6(c).
- (vv) "<u>Preferred Stock</u>" means the Series A, the Series B, and any future series of preferred stock of the Corporation authorized in accordance with the terms of this Certificate of Designations.
- (ww) "Present Value" means, with respect to any date, the present value, as of such date, of all amounts to be paid to Holders to redeem all of the outstanding shares of Series B on future Scheduled Redemption Dates (excluding any Deferred Shares) pursuant to Section 8, calculated using the Discount Rate, an illustrative calculation of which is set forth on Annex B hereto.
 - (xx) "Scheduled Redemption Amount" has the meaning set forth in Section 8.
- (yy) "Scheduled Redemption Dates" means each date set forth on Annex A hereto and each anniversary of the final Scheduled Redemption Date on which shares of Series B remain outstanding.
 - (zz) "Senior Stock" has the meaning set forth in Section 5.
 - (aaa) "Series A" means the Series A Preferred Stock, \$0.001 par value per share, of the Corporation.
 - (bbb) "Series B" has the meaning set forth in Section 1.
 - (ccc) "Series B Director" has the meaning set forth in Section 12(a).
- (ddd) "Stated Amount" means, in respect of each share of Series B, \$1.00 per share and, in respect of any other series of capital stock, the stated amount per share specified in the Certificate of Incorporation or applicable certificate of designations.
- (eee) "Subsidiary" means, with respect to any Person, any other Person of which a majority of the securities or other interests having ordinary voting power for the election of directors or other governing body (other than securities or interests having such power only by reason of the happening of a contingency) are at the time Beneficially Owned, or the management of which is otherwise controlled, directly or indirectly through one or more intermediaries, or both, by such first Person. Unless otherwise specified, all references herein to a "Subsidiary" or to "Subsidiaries" shall refer to a Subsidiary or Subsidiaries of the Corporation.

Section 4. Distributions; No Participation; Certain Restrictions.

- (a) The Series B shall not be entitled to any dividends or other distributions or payments other than the redemption payments and payments upon liquidation as provided in this Certificate of Designations.
- (b) The Series B shall not be entitled to participate in any distributions or payments to the holders of the Common Stock or any other class of stock of the Corporation.
- (c) If either Unless (i) the Deferred Scheduled Redemption Amount is greater than \$0.00 orand (ii) the Board of Directors has determined, in good faith, that the Corporation will not be able to satisfy in full the payment of the upcoming Scheduled Redemption Amount on the next Scheduled Redemption Date after giving effect to such dividend or, distribution, then or payment, no dividends, distributions or other payments may be made to holders of the Common Stock, the Series A (other than in connection with a conversion of any shares of the Series A in accordance with its terms), or any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors (unless the terms thereof expressly provide that such class ranks senior to the Series B as to right to payment of dividends and distributions and such class of Preferred Stock has been established in accordance with Section 7(b)(i)). For the avoidance of doubt, this Section 4(c) shall not prohibit the accrual of Preference Dividends (as defined in the Series A Certificate of Designations) which are not paid in cash in accordance with the terms of the Series A Certificate of Designations.

Section 5. Ranking. The Series B shall, with respect to the right to be paid the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (as provided in Section 6 below) and otherwise to receive the applicable redemption payments in accordance with the terms hereof), rank (i) senior to (A) all classes of Common Stock and (B) any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors (other than Parity Stock or Senior Stock established in accordance with Section 7(b)(i) or Section 7(b)(ii), as applicable) (collectively, referred to as the "Junior Stock"), (ii) pari passu with any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 7(b)(ii), the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks pari passu with the Series B as to rights on the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (collectively, referred to as the "Parity Stock") and (iii) junior to (A) the Series A and (B) any future class of Preferred Stock established hereafter by the Board of Directors in accordance with Section 7(b)(i), the terms of which expressly provide that such class ranks senior to the Series B as to rights on the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (collectively, referred to as "Senior Stock").

Section 6. Liquidation Rights.

(a) <u>Payment of Series B Liquidation Preference</u>. In the event of the occurrence of any Liquidation Event, before any distribution or payment out of the assets of the Corporation may be made to or set aside for the holders of any Junior Stock, the Holders of Series B will be entitled to receive out of the assets of the Corporation legally available for distribution to its stockholders an amount equal to the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference. If, after payment of any liquidation preferences otherwise payable to holders of any Senior Stock in respect of any distribution upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event, and subject to applicable Law, the remaining assets of the Corporation are not sufficient to pay all Holders of Series B the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference in full and to pay all holders of any Parity Stock the aggregate liquidation preferences payable to such holders of such Parity Stock in respect of any distributions upon the occurrence of a Liquidation Event (a "<u>Parity Stock Liquidation Preference</u>"), then the amounts paid to the Holders of Series B and to the holders of all Parity Stock shall be *pro rata* in accordance with the respective Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference of Series B and the Parity Stock Liquidation Preference of such Parity Stock.

- (b) <u>Residual Distributions</u>. Without prejudice to the rights of the Corporation set forth in Section 9, if the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference has been paid in full to the Holders of Series B and all Parity Stock Liquidation Preferences, if any, have been paid in full to all holders of any Parity Stock, then the holders of Junior Stock will be entitled to receive all remaining assets of the Corporation according to their respective rights and preferences and the Series B shall not be entitled to receive any remaining assets.
- (c) <u>Per Share Series B Liquidation Preference</u>. Each share of Series B shall, from time to time, have a liquidation preference in an amount equal to the quotient of (i) the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference <u>divided by</u> (ii) the total number of outstanding shares of Series B (the "<u>Per Share Series B Liquidation Preference</u>").
- (d) <u>Merger, Consolidation and Sale of Assets Not Liquidation</u>. For purposes of this Certificate of Designations, the merger, consolidation or other business combination of the Corporation with or into any other corporation, including a transaction in which the holders of Series B receive cash or property for their shares, or the sale, conveyance, lease, exchange or transfer (for cash, shares of stock, securities or other consideration) of all or substantially all of the assets of the Corporation, shall not constitute a Liquidation Event.

Section 7. Voting Rights.

- (a) General. The holders of Series B will have no voting rights except as set forth below or as otherwise required by Law.
- (b) <u>Other Voting Rights</u>. So long as any shares of Series B are outstanding, in addition to any other vote or consent of stockholders required by Law or by the Certificate of Incorporation, the Corporation shall not, either directly or indirectly by amendment, merger, consolidation or otherwise, do any of the following without the vote or written consent of a Majority In Interest (such right to vote or written consent to be limited to the following, except as otherwise set forth in Section 7(a), but, for the avoidance of doubt, without prejudice to any other rights of the Holders hereunder), given in person or by proxy if by vote, at any meeting called for that purpose, and any such act or transaction purportedly entered into without such consent or vote shall be null and void ab initio, and of no force or effect:
 - (i) <u>Authorization of Senior Stock</u>. Any amendment, modification or alteration of the Certificate of Incorporation to authorize or create, or increase the authorized amount of, any shares of any class or series or any securities convertible into shares of any class or series of Senior Stock, or any issuance after the date hereof of shares of Senior Stock that are authorized as of the date hereof, other than an amendment or alteration increasing the authorized amount of shares of Series A necessary to issue shares of Series A as distributions in kind on the Series A Preferred Stock to the holders thereof.
 - (ii) <u>Authorization of Parity Stock</u>. Any amendment, modification or alteration of the Certificate of Incorporation to authorize or create, or increase the authorized amount of, any shares of any class or series of Parity Stock or any issuance after the date hereof of shares of Parity Stock that are authorized as of the date hereof.

- (iii) <u>Restriction on Series B Redemptions</u>. Entry by the Corporation or any of its Subsidiaries into any agreement containing or imposing, directly or indirectly, any restriction (including, but not limited to, any covenant or agreement) on the ability of the Corporation to make required payments on or redeem the shares of Series B (other than pursuant to any customary restrictions contained in any agreement governing indebtedness of the Corporation <u>or its Subsidiaries that are</u> on terms which are not, taken as a whole, materially less favorable to the Holders of Series B than the terms contained in the Credit Agreement in existence on the date hereof <u>as determined by the Board of Directors in good faith</u>).
- (iv) <u>Amendments</u>. Any amendment, modification, alteration or repeal of any provision of the Certificate of Incorporation or any other certificate of designations of the Corporation that would have an adverse effect, in any material respect, on the rights, preferences, privileges or voting power of the shares of Series B or any Holder thereof or any amendment, modification, alteration or repeal of this Certificate of Designations.
- (v) <u>Increase of Size of Board of Directors</u>. Any increase in the number of members of the Board of Directors at a time when the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference is greater than \$125,000,000.
- (vi) <u>Other Actions</u>. Any action or inaction that would reduce the Stated Amount of any share of Series B (including, but not limited to, any reverse stock split, combination, or other adjustment).

Section 8. Scheduled Redemptions. On each Scheduled Redemption Date set forth on Annex A (or, if such day is not a Business Day, on the next succeeding Business Day) on which any shares of Series B remain outstanding, the Corporation shall redeem, pro rata from each Holder based on the total number of shares of Series B held by such Holder, an aggregate number of shares of Series B equal to the scheduled redemption amount set forth on Annex A hereto (the "Scheduled Redemption Amount") with respect to such Scheduled Redemption Date divided by the Stated Amount thereof, for a per share price equal to the Stated Amount; provided, that the Corporation shall not be obligated to redeem the shares of Series B on a Scheduled Redemption Date if, as of such date, (i) the Consolidated EBITDA measured as of the end of the most recently completed fiscal [year] is less than \$425,000,000 (the "EBITDA Threshold Requirement") or (ii) the Corporation does not have sufficient funds legally available to pay the applicable Scheduled Redemption Amount when due. Any shares of Series B which the Corporation has not redeemed on a Scheduled Redemption Date pursuant to the proviso of the foregoing sentence or the following sentence ("Deferred Shares") shall, subject to the terms of this Section 8, be redeemed in equal installments on the subsequent two Scheduled Redemption Dates following the Scheduled Redemption Date on which such shares were scheduled to be redeemed in accordance with Annex A for a per share price equal to the Stated Amount (such delayed redemption, a "Deferral", and such initial deferred payment schedule, the "Initial Deferral Payment Schedule"). [Notwithstanding anything else herein to the contrary: (i) all Deferred Shares outstanding as of [April 30], 2030 shall be redeemed on [April 30], 2030 (and shall not be subject to any further deferral at that time); (ii) if (x) as of any Scheduled Redemption Date the Corporation does not have sufficient funds legally available to redeem all Deferred Shares in accordance with the Initial Deferral Payment Schedule or (y) the difference between the Consolidated EBITDA measured as of the end of the most recent completed fiscal [year] prior to the applicable payment date for such Deferred Shares and \$425,000,000 (the "EBITDA Margin") is less than the amount of redemption payments that would otherwise be payable by the Corporation with respect to such Deferred Shares, the Corporation shall redeem a number of Deferred Shares equal to the lesser of (A) the maximum amount of

Deferred Shares for which it has sufficient funds legally available to do so and (B) the EBITDA Margin divided by the Stated Amount, and any remaining additional Deferred Shares shall be redeemable on the next Scheduled Redemption Date subject to continued application of this clause (ii) (and, for the avoidance of doubt, the Deferred Interest Amount (as defined below) shall continue to apply thereto until such Deferred Shares are redeemed); and (iii) in the event of a Deferral, if the shares of Series B subject to such Deferral are not redeemed in accordance with the Initial Deferral Payment Schedule, such shares shall accrue interest from and after the time that the Corporation fails to make redemption payments in accordance with the applicable Initial Deferral Payment Schedule, at the Deferred Interest Amount and shall, for the avoidance of doubt be payable on the subsequent Scheduled Redemption Date in full, subject to the terms of this Section 8. "Deferred Interest Amount" means interest on the aggregate Stated Amount with respect to the relevant shares of Series B (with no compounding interest) at the annual rate of seven and one-quarter percent (7.25%). Such interest shall accrue daily but shall not be capitalized or added to the then Stated Amount.].

Section 9. Early Redemption at the Option of the Corporation.

- (a) At any time during the eighteen (18)-month period following the Effective Date, but no more than once during such period, and subject to the terms of this Section 9, the Corporation may redeem, *pro rata* from each Holder based on the total number of shares of Series B of such Holder, the number of outstanding shares of Series B specified in an Early Redemption Notice ("<u>Partial Early Redemption Shares</u>"), for an aggregate purchase price equal to the Aggregate Partial Early Redemption Price, <u>provided</u>, that (i) immediately following the redemption of Partial Early Redemption Shares pursuant to this Section 9(a), the Present Value of all of the remaining outstanding shares of Series B shall be at least \$400,000,000 and (ii) the Corporation shall not redeem any shares of Series B pursuant to this Section 9(a) unless the Corporation has sufficient funds legally available to pay the Aggregate Partial Early Redemption Price. As used in this Certificate of Designations, "<u>Aggregate Partial Early Redemption Price</u>" means the difference of (A) the Present Value as of the applicable redemption date, calculated without giving effect to the redemption of any Partial Early Redemption Shares pursuant to this Section 9(a), minus (B) the Present Value as of the applicable redemption date, calculated as of immediately following the redemption of all of the Partial Early Redemption Shares pursuant to this Section 9(a).
- (b) Without prejudice to the rights of the Corporation set forth in Section 9(a), at any time while shares of Series B remain outstanding, and subject to the terms of this Section 9, the Corporation may redeem all, but not less than all, outstanding shares of Series B (the "Full Early Redemption Shares"), for an aggregate cash purchase price equal to the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference as of the applicable redemption date, calculated without giving effect to the redemption of the shares of Series B pursuant to this Section 9(b).
- (c) To call any Partial Early Redemption Shares or any Full Early Redemption Shares for redemption, the Corporation must send to the Holders a notice of such redemption (an "<u>Early Redemption Notice</u>") at least twenty (20) Business Days prior to the intended redemption date. Such Early Redemption Notice must state:
 - (i) the number of Partial Early Redemption Shares or Full Early Redemption Shares, as applicable, to be called from such Holder;
 - (ii) the redemption date for redemption of such Partial Early Redemption Shares or Full Early Redemption Shares, as applicable; and

- (iii) the per share redemption price, calculated as the Aggregate Partial Early Redemption Price or Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference, as applicable, *divided by* the total number of Partial Early Redemption Shares or Full Early Redemption Shares, as applicable.
- (d) The Corporation will cause any redemption price payable pursuant to this Section 9 to be paid to the Holders on or before the applicable redemption date.

Section 10. Early Automatic Redemption.

- (a) <u>In General</u>. Subject to the other terms of this Section 10, on the Automatic Early Redemption Date, the Corporation shall, redeem all outstanding shares of Series B (the "<u>Automatic Early Redemption</u>") for an aggregate cash purchase price equal to the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference as of the applicable redemption date, calculated without giving effect to the redemption of the shares of Series B pursuant to this Section 10.
- (b) Funds Legally Available for Payment of Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 10, in connection with an Automatic Early Redemption (1) the Corporation will pay the maximum amount of such Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference permitted by Law, which payment will be made pro rata to each Holder based on the total number of shares of Series B of such Holder that were otherwise to be redeemed pursuant to such Automatic Early Redemption; and (2) the Corporation will cause all such shares as to which the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference was not paid in full to be returned to the Holder(s) thereof, and such shares will be deemed to remain outstanding, shall accrue interest at the Deferred Interest Amount from and after the date of the Automatic Early Redemption Event and shall be redeemed in full as soon as the Corporation has funds legally available to do so; provided, that, the Board of Directors (or a committee thereof) may Corporation will not authorize, approve or otherwise effectake any action, or engage in any transaction, in furtherance of a Change of Control if the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference payable upon such Change of Control is not reasonably expected to be paid in full at the time due in accordance with Section 10(c), and any such Change of Control in which the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference is not paid in full shall be null and void and of no force or effect.).
- (c) <u>Automatic Early Redemption Date</u>. The "Automatic Early Redemption Date" will be (1) in the event of an Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (i) of the definition thereof that is authorized, approved or otherwise recommended by the Board of Directors (or a committee thereof), a Business Day of the Corporation's choosing which is on or prior to the date of such Automatic Early Redemption Event, (2) in the event of an Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (iv) (solely if such event occurs with respect to the Corporation) of the definition thereof, on the date thereof, <u>provided</u> that the timing for the payment of the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference will be in accordance with the law applicable to such bankruptcy reorganization, receivership, insolvency, liquidation or similar proceedings affecting creditors' or equity holders' rights and (3) in the event of any Automatic Early Redemption Event other than as set forth in the preceding clauses (1) and (2) of this <u>Section 10(c)</u>, a Business Day of the Corporation's choosing that is no more than thirty (30) calendar days after the date the Corporation sends the related Automatic Early Redemption Notice (<u>provided</u>, that in the event of an Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (ii) of the definition thereof, such Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (iv) of the definition thereof (solely if such event occurs with respect to the Corporation), the amount due to the Holders pursuant to this Section 10(c) shall be the Aggregate Series B

Liquidation Preference, solely to the extent that any such amounts remain legally available for distribution following payment of any liquidation preferences otherwise payable to holders of any Senior Stock. It is understood and agreed that, in the event of an Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (iv) of the definition thereof (solely if such event occurs with respect to the Corporation), the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference shall be deemed not to include any unmatured interest prohibited by section 502(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code. The Corporation shall not assert that the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference includes any unmatured interest prohibited by section 502(b)(2) of the Bankruptcy Code.

- (d) <u>Automatic Early Redemption Notice</u>. As soon as reasonably practicable after the Corporation discovers that an Automatic Early Redemption Event has occurred or is reasonably likely to occur (other than in the event of an Automatic Early Redemption Event pursuant to clause (ii) of the definition thereof, in which case such Automatic Early Redemption Event shall also be deemed to be the Automatic Early Redemption Notice), the Corporation shall send to each Holder a notice of such Automatic Early Redemption Event (an "<u>Automatic Early Redemption Notice</u>"); <u>provided</u>, that any Automatic Early Redemption effected in connection with such Automatic Early Redemption Notice shall be conditional upon the actual occurrence of such Automatic Early Redemption Event. Such Automatic Early Redemption Notice must state:
 - (i) a description in reasonable detail of the events constituting such Automatic Early Redemption Event;
 - (ii) the expected effective date of such Automatic Early Redemption Event;
 - (iii) the Automatic Early Redemption Date; and
 - (iv) the redemption price per share of Series B, equal to the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference as of the applicable redemption date *divided by* the total number of outstanding shares of Series B (the "<u>Per Share Early Redemption Price</u>").
- (e) <u>Payment of the Redemption Price</u>. Subject to Section 10(b), the Corporation will cause the Per Share Early Redemption Price for each share of Series B to be redeemed pursuant to an Automatic Early Redemption to be paid to the Holder thereof on or before the Automatic Early Redemption Date.

Section 11. Early Redemption at the Option of the Holder.

(a) <u>In General</u>. Subject to the other terms of this Section 11, each Holder will have the right (the "<u>Holder Put Right</u>"), at its election, following the occurrence of a Holder Put Event, to require the Corporation to redeem all, but not less than all, of such Holder's shares of Series B on the Holder Put Redemption Date (the "<u>Holder Put Redemption</u>"), for an aggregate cash purchase price equal to the Per Share Early Redemption Price *multiplied by* the number of shares of Series B held by such Holder (the "<u>Holder Put Redemption Price</u>"); <u>provided</u>, that the Corporation shall not be obligated to effect the Holder Put Redemption unless a Majority in Interest elect to exercise the Holder Put Right in accordance with this Section 11. As soon as reasonably practicable (and in any event within five (5) Business Days) after a Holder Put Event has occurred, the Corporation shall send to each Holder a notice of such Holder Put Event (a "Holder Put Event Notice").

- (b) <u>Funds Legally Available for Payment of the Holder Put Redemption Price</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Section 11 in connection with a Holder Put Redemption, (1) the Corporation will pay the maximum amount of such Holder Put Redemption Price permitted by Law, which payment will be made pro rata to each Holder based on the total number of shares of Series B of such Holder that were otherwise to be redeemed pursuant to such Holder Put Redemption, as the case may be; and (2) the Corporation will cause all such shares as to which the Holder Put Redemption Price was not paid in full to be returned to the Holder(s) thereof, and such shares will be deemed to remain outstanding and shall accrue interest at the Deferred Interest Amount from and after the date of such Holder Put Event and shall be redeemed in full as soon as the Corporation has funds legally available to do so.
- (c) <u>Holder Put Redemption Date</u>. The "<u>Holder Put Redemption Date</u>" will be a Business Day of the Corporation's choosing that is no more than thirty (30) calendar days after the date the Holder sends the related Holder Put Exercise Notice pursuant to Section 11(d).
 - (d) <u>Procedures to Exercise the Holder Put Right</u>. To exercise its Holder Put Right the Holder thereof must deliver to the Corporation:
 - (i) Within twenty (20) Business Days after receiving the applicable Holder Put Event Notice, a duly completed, written Holder Put Exercise Notice with respect to such share(s) in the form of <u>Annex C</u> hereto (a "<u>Holder Put Exercise Notice</u>"); it being understood that if the Holder fails to deliver the Holder Put Exercise Notice within the such twenty (20) Business Day period, then such Holder Put Right in respect of such Holder Put Event shall lapse; and
 - (ii) such share(s), duly endorsed for transfer, to the extent such share(s) are represented by one or more certificates.

Within five (5) Business Days after receipt of the Holder Put Exercise Notice, the Corporation shall notify the Holder in writing of (A) the Holder Put Redemption Date and (B) the per share redemption price, which shall be equal to the Per Share Early Redemption Price.

(e) <u>Payment of the Per Share Early Redemption Price</u>. Subject to Section 11(b), the Corporation will cause the Per Share Early Redemption Price for each share of Series B to be redeemed pursuant to Holder Put Redemption to be paid to the Holder thereof on or before the later of (i) the Holder Put Redemption Date and (ii) the date the certificate in respect of such share (if any) is tendered to the Corporation or its transfer agent. If a Holder Put Exercise Notice is validly delivered but the Holder Put Redemption is prohibited by applicable law, the Corporation will redeem (at the Per Share Early Redemption Price for each such share of Series B) the maximum number of shares of Series B with respect to which redemption is permitted by Law, and will redeem any remaining share of Series B as promptly as possible following the date when such redemption is permitted by Law.

Section 12. Election of Directors.

(a) Provided that the aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference is greater than \$125,000,000, (i) the Majority in Interest will have the exclusive right, voting separately as a class, to elect or appoint one director to the Board of Directors (which, for the purposes of this Section 12, shall refer only to the Board of Directors of the Corporation and not any committee thereof), irrespective of whether the Board of Directors has nominated such Person (the "Series B Director"), (ii) notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein, in the Certificate of Incorporation or in the Bylaws, a Majority in Interest shall have the exclusive right to remove any Series B Director at any time for any reason or no reason (with or without cause) by sending a written notice to the Corporation and, upon receipt of such notice by the Corporation, such Series B Director shall be

deemed to have resigned from the Board of Directors, and (iii) in the event of the death, disability, resignation or removal of any Series B Director, a Majority in Interest shall have the exclusive right to designate or appoint a successor to fill the vacancy created thereby. In the event that any Series B Director offers to tender his or her resignation, the Board of Directors shall promptly determine whether to accept such resignation and, if the Board of Directors chooses to accept such resignation, the Corporation and the Majority In Interest shall be immediately required to take any and all actions necessary or appropriate to cooperate in ensuring the removal of such individual; provided, that, for the avoidance of doubt, this sentence shall not be construed in any manner to limit the right of a Majority In Interest to remove the Series B Director at any time pursuant to clause (ii) above. At such time as the Aggregate Series B Liquidation Preference is not greater than \$125,000,000, any Series B Director shall be deemed to have resigned from the Board of Directors without further action by the Holders or the Corporation. Neither the Board of Directors nor any holders of Senior Stock or any Person or group of Persons (other than the Majority in Interest) shall have any right to remove any Series B Director from the Board of Directors without cause, such right of removal being vested exclusively with a Majority in Interest. For the avoidance of doubt, nothing in the foregoing sentence shall be deemed to derogate the rights of the Corporation's stockholders to remove any Series B Director for cause to the extent provided by the Delaware General Corporation Law; provided, that, for the avoidance of doubt, no such removal shall in any way alter or impair the rights of the Majority in Interest to elect or appoint the Series B Director, including any replacement Series B Director.

- (b) The Corporation and its Subsidiaries shall reimburse the Series B Director for all reasonable <u>and documented</u> out-of-pocket expenses incurred in connection with his or her attendance at meetings of the Board of Directors, and any committees thereof, including travel, lodging and meal expenses, in accordance with the Corporation's reimbursement policies.
- (c) To the extent elected or appointed by the Majority In Interest, the Corporation shall, and shall use its reasonable best efforts to cause its directors, officers and employees to, take all actions necessary and within its and their control and to the extent permissible by Law to cause the election, appointment, removal or replacement of the Series B Director as provided for herein.

Section 13. <u>Transfer Restrictions</u>. No Holder of shares of Series B may offer, sell, assign or transfer any portion of such Holder's shares of Series B without the approval of the Board of Directors, which consent the Board of Directors may grant or withhold in its sole discretion; <u>provided</u>, that, any Holder may offer, sell, assign or transfer any shares of Series B to any of its controlled Affiliates; <u>provided</u>, <u>further</u>, that if any such controlled Affiliate ceases to be an Affiliate of such Holder, such Series B shares must be assigned or transferred to the original Holder or a controlled Affiliate thereof. Any offer, sale, assignment or transfer of any shares of Series B in violation of any provision of this Certificate of Designations shall be null and void and without any effect. Each certificate (if any) evidencing shares of Series B shall bear a legend indicating that such shares of Series B are subject to the restrictions on transfer set forth herein.

Section 14. Expenses. All reasonable and documented out-of-pocket costs and expenses incurred by any Holder in successfully enforcing the right to receive any Scheduled Redemption Amounts or the Deferred Scheduled Redemption Amount in accordance with the terms of this Certificate of Designations shall reimbursed by the Corporation.

Section 15. Record Holders. To the fullest extent permitted by applicable law, the Corporation and the transfer agent for the Series B may deem and treat the record holder of any share of Series B as the true and lawful owner thereof for all purposes, and neither the Corporation nor such transfer agent shall be affected by any notice to the contrary.

Section 16. <u>Notices</u>. All notices or communications in respect of the Series B will be sufficiently given if given in writing and delivered in person or by first class mail, postage prepaid, or if given in such other manner as may be permitted in this Certificate of Designations, in the Certificate of Incorporation or Bylaws or by applicable law.

Section 17. No Other Rights or Privileges. The shares of Series B will not have any voting powers, preferences or relative, participating, optional or other special rights, or qualifications, limitations or restrictions thereof, other than as set forth herein or in the Certificate of Incorporation.

Section 18. Certificates. The Corporation may at its option issue shares of Series B without certificates.

Section 19. Interpretation. Whenever possible, each provision of this Certificate of Designations shall be interpreted in a manner as to be effective and valid under applicable law and public policy. If any provision set forth herein is held to be invalid, unlawful or incapable of being enforced by reason of any rule of law or public policy, such provision shall be ineffective only to the extent of such prohibition or invalidity, without invalidating or otherwise adversely affecting the remaining provisions of this Certificate of Designations, and a suitable and equitable provision shall be substituted therefor in order to carry out, so far as may be valid and enforceable, the intent and purpose of such invalid or unenforceable provision. No provision herein set forth shall be deemed dependent upon any other provision unless so expressed herein. If a court of competent jurisdiction should determine that a provision of this Certificate of Designations would be valid or enforceable if a period of time were extended or shortened, then such court may make such change as shall be necessary to render the provision in question effective and valid under applicable law. References herein to any payment shall mean a payment in cash in United States Dollars by wire transfer of immediately available funds to an account designated by the applicable payee.

Section 20. Enforcement. To the fullest extent permitted by law, the provisions of this Certificate of Designations shall remain in full force and effect irrespective of (i) the failure of any Person to assert any claim or demand or to enforce any right or remedy under this Certificate of Designations or otherwise or (ii) any change in the corporate existence, structure or ownership of the Corporation or any of its Affiliates, or any insolvency, bankruptcy, reorganization or other similar proceeding affecting the Corporation or any of its Affiliates.

[Signature Page Follows]

IN WITNESS WHEREOF , the Corporation has caused this Certificate to be signed by [•], its [President], this [•] day of [•], 2021.		
	GARRETT MOTION INC.	
	Ву:	
	Name:	
	Title:	

Annex A

Scheduled Redemptions

Scheduled Redemption Date	Sched	Scheduled Redemption Amount	
[April 30], 2022	\$	34,800,000	
[April 30], 2023	\$	100,000,000	
[April 30], 2024	\$	100,000,000	
[April 30], 2025	\$	100,000,000	
[April 30], 2026	\$	100,000,000	
[April 30], 2027	\$	100,000,000	
[April 30], 2028	\$	100,000,000	
[April 30], 2029	\$	100,000,000	
[April 30], 2030	\$	100,000,000	

Annex B Illustrative Calculation of Present Value

Attached.

Discount Rate:	7.25%	Discount Rate Multiplier:
Present Value as of [April 30], 2021:	\$ 583,857,988	
[April 30], 2022	\$ 34,800,000	0.932401
[April 30], 2023	\$100,000,000	0.869371
[April 30], 2024	\$100,000,000	0.810603
[April 30], 2025	\$100,000,000	0.755807
[April 30], 2026	\$100,000,000	0.704715
[April 30], 2027	\$100,000,000	0.657077
[April 30], 2028	\$100,000,000	0.612659
[April 30], 2029	\$100,000,000	0.571244
[April 30], 2030	\$100,000,000	0.532628

Annex C

Form of Holder Put Exercise Notice

This Holder Put Exercise Notice is executed by the undersigned holder (the "Holder") in connection with the conversion of shares of the Series B Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc., a Delaware corporation (the "Corporation"), pursuant to the terms and conditions of that certain Certificate of Designations of Series B Preferred Stock of Garrett Motion Inc. (the "Certificate of Designations"), approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation on [●], 2021. Capitalized terms used herein and not otherwise defined shall have the respective meanings set forth in the Certificate of Designations.

Redemption: In accordance with and pursuant to such Certificate of Designations, the Holder hereby elects that the Corporation shall redeem all of the outstanding shares of Series B held by the Holder.

Name of Holder: ______

Number of Shares of Series B Held by Holder: ______

Bank Account Information: Please provide bank account details for delivery of the redemption price.

Bank Account Information: Please provide bank account details for delivery of the redemption price.

Account Name:
Bank Account No.:
ABA/Routing No.:
SWIFT Instructions (as applicable)
Bank Name:
Bank Address:
Reference: